Organizational ambidexterity as a strategic decision: its relationship with strategic decision speed and the moderating role of CEO cognition and environmental dynamism under the global pandemic

Mary Skordia

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy



2022

Table of Contents

List of Tables	.vi
List of Figures	viii
Acknowledgements	.ix
Abstract	x
1. Introduction	. 1
1.1 Background	. 1
1.2 Greece as a Research Context	. 3
1.3 Strategic Management in Dynamic Environments	. 7
1.4 Research Questions and Objectives	10
1.5 Research Contribution	13
1.6 Chapter Summary and Thesis Structure	15
2. Strategy and the Rationale of this Study	19
2.1 Strategic Management and Strategic Management under Uncertainty and Turbulence	19
2.2 Microfoundations in Management and Strategy	24
2.3 Strategy Logics and Different Contexts	28
2.3.1 The Leverage Logic	30
2.3.2 The Position Logic	31
2.3.3 The Opportunity Logic	32
2.4 Identifying and Seizing Opportunities	34
2.5 Strategizing as an Entrepreneurial Activity, Strategy Creation view and Strategy-As-Practice	36
2.5.1 Strategy Creation View	38
2.5.2 Strategy-As-Practice	39
2.6 Strategic Choice Theory and Upper Echelon Theory	44
2.7 The Strategic Decision-Making Context Framework	48
2.7.1 Decision makers' characteristics	50
2.7.2 Company-specific characteristics	51
2.7.3 Environmental dimensions	51
2.7.4 Decision-specific characteristics	52
2.8 Theoretical Underpinnings of the Research	54
2.9 Chapter Summary	57
3. Literature Review	59
3.1 Organizational Ambidexterity	59
3.1.1 Paradoxes, Paradox Theory and Organizational Ambidexterity	60
3.1.2 Organizational Ambidexterity Definitions and Implementation	62

	3.1.3 Organizational Ambidexterity Outcomes	69
	3.1.4 Organizational Ambidexterity Antecedents	72
	3.2 Strategic Decision Speed	79
	3.2.1 Definitions of Strategic Decision Speed	79
	3.2.2 Strategic Decision Speed Antecedents	81
	3.2.3 Strategic Decision Speed Outcomes	84
	3.3 A Paradox View of Crisis	87
	3.4 Environmental Impact: Environmental Uncertainty, Turbulence, Velocity and Dynamism	90
	3.5 Crises versus Dynamic Environments and Crisis Management at the Firm Level	93
	3.6 Strategic Decisions and Strategizing under Crisis: a Microfoundations Approach based on Cognition	97
	3.7 The Role of the CEOs	. 101
	3.7.1 Paradox Mindset	. 103
	3.7.2 Optimism	. 104
	3.7.3 Education and Educational Level	. 106
	3.8 Organizational Performance	. 107
	3.9 The Key Debates	. 109
	3.10 Chapter Summary	. 112
4	4. Organizational Ambidexterity and Strategic Decision Making under Crisis: an Integrative Model	114
	4.1 Strategic Decision Speed and Organizational Ambidexterity	. 115
	4.2 Strategic Decision Speed and Organizational Ambidexterity Relationship Contingencies	. 117
	4.2.1 Paradoxical Thinking under Crisis	. 117
	4.2.2 Positivity and Optimism under Crisis	. 121
	4.2.3 Decision-makers' Educational Level	. 123
	4.2.4 Environmental Dynamism	. 125
	4.3 Ambidexterity and Performance under Crisis	. 127
	4.4 The Research Model	. 130
	4.5 Chapter Summary	. 133
	5. Methodology	. 134
	5.1 Philosophy of Research	. 134
	5.2 Research Ontology	. 136
	5.3 Research Epistemology & Research Paradigms	. 137
	5.4 Survey Research	. 141
	5.5 Research Context and Design	. 142
	5.6 Research Phases	. 146
	5.6.1 Pilot Phase	. 147

5.6.2 Main Survey Phase and Data Collection	157
5.6.3 Second Wave	158
5.7 Data Management and Preparation	159
5.8 Technical Testing	161
5.9 Research Ethics & Integrity	161
5.9.1 Data Confidentiality and Data Security	162
5.10 Main Variables Measures	163
5.10.1 Organizational Ambidexterity Measurement	163
5.10.2 Strategic Decision Speed Measurement	168
5.10.3 Organizational Performance Measurement	172
5.11 Moderators	176
5.11.1 Paradoxical Thinking Measurement	177
5.11.2 Optimism Measurement	179
5.11.3 Educational Level Measurement	182
5.11.4 Environmental Dynamism Measurement	182
5.12 Control Variables	184
5.12.1 Company and CEOs' Demographics	185
5.12.2 Social Desirability	187
5.13 Survey Questionnaire	188
5.14 Quality Assurance & Research Bias	196
5.14.1. Investigating and Controlling for Social Desirability Bias	196
5.14.2 Consistency Motif	197
5.14.3 Marker Variable	198
5.15 Hierarchical Regression and Moderation	198
5.16 Chapter Summary	199
6. Sample Analysis, Construct Reliability and Validity	201
6.1 Sample Description and Demographics	201
6.1.1 Company Demographics	203
6.1.2 Decision Makers' Demographics	207
6.2 Descriptive Statistics, Correlations and Multicollinearity Test	212
6.3 Common Method Bias	217
6.4 Construct Reliability	217
6.5 Construct Validity and Factor Analysis	219
6.6 Chapter Summary	221
7. Results	223
7.1 Direct Relationship between Strategic Decision Speed and Organizational Ambidexterity	/ 225

7.2 Moderators of the Strategic Decision Speed – Organizational Ambidexterity Relationship	p 226
7.2.1 The Moderating Effect of Paradox Mindset on the Strategic Decision Speed – Organizational Ambidexterity Relationship	226
7.2.2 The Moderating Effect of Optimism on the Strategic Decision Speed – Organization Ambidexterity Relationship	al 229
7.2.3 The Moderating Effect of Educational Level on the Strategic Decision Speed – Organizational Ambidexterity Relationship	231
7.2.4 The Moderating Effect of Environmental Dynamism on the Strategic Decision Speed Organizational Ambidexterity Relationship	ว่ — 238
7.2.5 The Simultaneous Moderating Effects of all Four Moderators	240
7.3 Organizational Ambidexterity – Performance Relationship	241
7.4 Mediation Analysis	242
7.4.1 Simple Mediation Model	243
7.4.2 Moderated Mediation with Paradox Mindset as the Moderator	244
7.4.3 Moderated Mediation with Optimism as the Moderator	246
7.4.4 Moderated Mediation with Educational Level as the Moderator	247
7.4.4 Moderated Mediation with Environmental Dynamism as the Moderator	249
7.5 Post-hoc Analysis	250
7.6 Contemporaneous Data	254
7.7 Synthesis of Results	255
7.8 Chapter Summary	259
8. Discussion	261
8.1 Discussion on Direct Relationships	266
8.2 Discussion on Moderators	268
8.2.1 Leaders' Cognition	268
8.2.2 Perceived Environmental Uncertainty: the Strategic Decision Speed – Organizationa	al
Ambidexterity Relationship in Different Perceived Contexts	271
8.3 Research Contributions	273
8.3.1 Theoretical Contribution	273
8.3.2 Managerial Implications	277
8.3.3 Summary of Contributions	280
8.4. Chapter Summary	282
9. Conclusion	287
9.1 Research Limitations	287
9.2 Future Research Directions	290
9.3 Closing Remarks	292
9.4 Chapter Summary	294

References	. 296
Appendix	. 358
1. Comprehensive Table of Ambidexterity Conceptualization, Implementation and Findings	. 358
2. Emails Sent for Participation to the Survey's First Wave	. 369
2.1 Initial email communication about first wave	. 369
2.1 Follow-up email communication about first wave	. 370
3. Emails Sent for Participation to the Survey's Second Wave	. 372
3.1 Initial email communication about second wave	. 372
3.2 Follow-up email communication about first wave	. 373
4. Participant Information Sheet	. 375
5. Participant Consent Form	. 377
6. Measures of Ambidexterity Considered	. 380
7. Measures of Strategic Decision Speed Considered: Scales in Quantitative or Mixed Methods	
Studies	. 386
8. Organizational Performance Scales Considered	. 389
9. Measures of Paradoxical Thinking Considered	. 391
10. Measures of Environmental Impact Considered	. 394
11. Social Desirability Scales Considered	. 397
12. Contemporaneous Data	. 400
12.1 Opening Remarks Summary of the Governor of the Bank of Greece	. 400
12.2 PWC Report	. 401
12.3 Piraeus Bank Report	. 402

List of Tables

Table 1: Comparison of Strategy Creation View and Strategy-as-Practice	42
Table 2: The Conceptualization of Ambidexterity in the Literature	66
Table 3: Organizational Ambidexterity Outcomes	70
Table 4: Antecedents of Ambidexterity	73
Table 5: Antecedents of Strategic Decision Speed	82
Table 6: Outcomes of Strategic Decision Speed	86
Table 7: Firm-Level Strategic Responses to Crises	96
Table 8: Research Hypotheses	131
Table 9: Profile of Participants in the Pilot Phase	150
Table 10: Different Ways of Measuring Ambidexterity in the Literature	164
Table 11: Different Ways of Measuring Strategic Decision Speed in the Literature	170
Table 12: Measurement of Organizational Performance in the Strategic Decision	
Making and Organizational Ambidexterity Literature	173
Table 13: Optimism Scale in Psychological Capital Questionnaire in Management	
Research	181
Table 14: List of Control Variables Considered for this Study	185
Table 15: Educational Background – Assigned Values	194
Table 16: Company Industry – Assigned Values	194
Table 17: Variables and Coding	195
Table 18: Type of Demographic Data Collected	202
Table 19: Company Size	203
Table 20: Company Age	205
Table 21: Industry Sector	206
Table 22: Family Companies in the Sample	207

Table 23: Respondents' Gender	208
Table 24: Educational Level of Respondents	209
Table 25: Respondents' Educational Background	209
Table 26: Respondents' Years of Experience	210
Table 27: Experience Abroad	210
Table 28: Experience in a Multinational Company	211
Table 29: Company Ownership	211
Table 30: Company Founders/Co-founders	211
Table 31: Descriptive Statistics of Observed Variables	214
Table 32: Descriptive Statistics and Correlation Matrix	216
Table 33: Internal Reliability	219
Table 34: Confirmatory Factor Analysis – Model Fit Results	221
Table 35: Results of Hierarchical Linear Regression Analyses	224
Table 36: ANCOVA Parameter Estimates	235
Table 37: Simple Mediation Analysis Results	243
Table 38: Moderated Mediation Analysis Results – Paradox Mindset	245
Table 39: Moderated Mediation Analysis Results – Optimism	246
Table 40: Moderated Mediation Analysis Results – Educational Level	248
Table 41: Moderated Mediation Analysis Results – Environmental Dynamism	250
Table 42: Post-hoc Analysis	253

List of Figures

Figure 1: Strategic Choice Theory	45
Figure 2: Upper Echelons Theory	47
Figure 3: Integrative Framework for Studying Strategic Decisions	53
Figure 4: Theoretical Underpinnings	56
Figure 5: Organizational Ambidexterity as a Strategic Decision under Crisis	131
Figure 6: The Research Onion	135
Figure 7: Research Phases	147
Figure 8: Accentuating and Reversing Interaction Effect of Paradox Mindset and	
Strategic Decision Speed on Organizational Ambidexterity	228
Figure 9: Accentuating and Reversing Interaction Effect of Optimism and Strategic	
Decision Speed on Organizational Ambidexterity	231
Figure 10: Substituting Interaction Effect of Educational Level and Strategic Decision	
Speed on Organizational Ambidexterity	237
Figure 11: Substituting Interaction Effect of Strategic Decision Speed and	
Environmental Dynamism on Organizational Ambidexterity	239
Figure 12: Simple Mediation Model	243
Figure 13: Moderated Mediation – Paradox Mindset	244
Figure 14: Moderated Mediation – Optimism	246
Figure 15: Moderated Mediation – Educational Level	248
Figure 16: Moderated Mediation – Environmental Dynamism	249
Figure 17: Research Contributions Summary	281

Acknowledgements

I gratefully acknowledge the support and guidance of my supervisors, Dr. Martina McGuinness, Senior Lecturer in Risk Management and Strategy, Management School, University of Sheffield; Professor Vasilis Theoharakis, Professor of Strategic Marketing, Cranfield School of Management; and Dr. Sarah Brooks, Lecturer in Organisational Behaviour, Management School, University of Sheffield. Thank you for providing me with constructive feedback and encouragement throughout this project. I would also like to acknowledge the contribution of Dr. Yuyan Zheng, Senior Lecturer in Organisation Psychology/Organisation Studies, University of Surrey, who acted as a supervisor for a part of the project's duration. Further, I would like to thank my personal tutor, Dr. Abbi Kedir, Senior Lecturer in International Business, Management School, University of Sheffield, for his encouragement and for sharing with me his valuable experience.

I am also grateful to the PGR support team at the University of Sheffield for their help, as well as to the research centers of IWP and ESIB for the enlightening discussions and trainings provided. Special thanks to the PGR community in the University for the vibrant interactions, support and sense of belonging.

On a more personal level, I thank my parents for their support specifically in the first phases of this project. Further, special thanks to my friends Sophia, Fotoula and Vicky, who have been tireless listeners and wise advisors in this journey. My final and biggest thanks and appreciation are directed towards my husband, Dionysis, and my son, Konstantinos, for their patience and amazing support. Thank you for always standing by my side. I hope this research makes you proud.

Abstract

The current study examines organizational ambidexterity as a strategic decision under the COVID-19 pandemic, incorporating ambidexterity in the process of decision making. Based on a survey on 144 organizational decision makers (CEOs) in Greece during the COVID-19 global pandemic crisis, the study examines how organizational ambidexterity is affected by fast decision making and the contingencies that affect this relationship, as well as whether being ambidextrous is beneficial for organizations under a global pandemic. The effects of CEOs' cognitive characteristics and of environmental dynamism are examined as moderating factors in the newly established relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity. This research connects the literatures on strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, by bridging micro and macro perspectives of strategic management. Findings suggest that reaching strategic decisions quickly is associated with achieving organizational ambidexterity, which in turn is associated with superior performance. Further, decision makers' cognition and environmental dynamism moderate the relationship between strategic decision speed and achieving ambidexterity. Overall, this study sheds light on strategic management in dynamic environments, focusing on the decision-making process concerning organizational ambidexterity.

1. Introduction

The purpose of this chapter is to introduce the focus of the research, through presenting information on the background, context, and research questions. Firstly, organizational ambidexterity is introduced and the fact that it is a strategic decision is briefly explained, a decision related with multiple other strategic decisions. Building on previous literature that has recognized ambidexterity as a decision, this study examines this crucial part of corporate strategy as part of strategic decision making. Next, why Greece is an appropriate setting to empirically examine ambidexterity as part of the strategic decision-making process is discussed. This leads to an overview of strategic decision making in dynamic environments, including how both organizational ambidexterity and strategic decision speed are essential parts of it, along with a brief presentation of the role of CEOs as decision makers. Then, research questions are presented. The chapter concludes by highlighting the potential research contribution to be made by the study.

1.1 Background

Strategic management is the field of management "that combines analysis, formulation and implementation in the quest of competitive advantage" (Rothaermel, 2017, p. 72). In this quest of competitive advantage, companies need to be effective in their existing line of business, and at the same time grow and generate new sources of revenues (Ansoff, 1965). Organizations need, thus, to be able to be competitive both in existing activities and in pursuing new activities. Organizational ambidexterity, defined as the ability of a company to simultaneously exploit existing knowledge, systems and competencies, and explore new knowledge and opportunities for growth (He & Wong, 2004; Lubatkin et al., 2006; O'Reilly & Tushman, 2013) is an area within strategic management that has attracted the attention of researchers in the last 30 years. The large number of studies examining ambidexterity has produced interesting results, but there is still room for empirical investigations and scope for new theoretical developments. Exploitation and

exploration are the product of contradictory knowledge-creation processes, creating conflict in the role and actions of decision makers (Floyd & Lane, 2000), reflected in tensions between strategic activities, like adapting versus aligning (Gibson & Birkinshaw, 2004) and radical versus incremental innovation (Jansen et al. 2006). Exploitation includes all those organizational activities that have to do with efficiency, control and improving existing processes, whereas exploration entails flexibility, experimentation, and search (March, 1991). The two activities are by nature contradictory (Luger et al., 2018) and entail tensions. How these tensions are managed and what relevant strategic decisions are made in that context are crucial for organizations (Smith, 2014), making organizational ambidexterity a central strategic decision (Døjbak Håkonsson et al., 2016; Gupta et al., 2006; Kortmann, 2015). Further, ambidexterity is related with other decisions like for example decisions about how knowledge is disseminated within an organization (Mom et al., 2007) or whether a business unit should continue or cease its operations (Hill & Birkinshaw, 2008).

Building on previous work that has recognized organizational ambidexterity as a strategic decision, this study examines this crucial aspect of firm strategy as part of the strategic decision-making process (Elbanna & Child, 2007). This process has to do with the ways in which strategic decisions are reached and their respective context (Elbanna et al., 2020). One key aspect of the strategic decision-making process has to do with the time between starting to discuss a decision and reaching it, which Eisenhardt (1989) introduced as strategic decision speed. In the process of making strategic decisions, organizational leaders gather relevant information and the time until the decision is made significantly affects the decision's outcomes (Forbes, 2007). Organizations that wish to achieve ambidexterity need to be able to identify, evaluate, decide and act on opportunities for both exploration and exploitation. If this strategic decision making process takes too long, there is the risk of the exploration and exploitation opportunities not being available or relevant anymore.

According to the opportunity logic of strategy (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008), which is extremely relevant in uncertain and changing environments (Furr & Eisenhardt, 2021) a sustainable competitive advantage is achieved when opportunities are identified and seized earlier and faster than competitors. Under this strategy logic, strategic decision speed affects the timing, pace and outcomes of identifying and seizing strategic opportunities. Hence, deciding quickly is important for achieving a competitive advantage in dynamic environments. With this in mind, and taking into account that decisions about exploration and exploitation opportunities form the basis for achieving organizational ambidexterity, this study examines for the first time the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity in the dynamic environment of a global pandemic. More specifically, the link between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity is empirically tested during the COVID-19 pandemic in Greece. In addition, the outcome of ambidexterity is investigated, in order to evaluate whether choosing to pursue ambidexterity was beneficial for organizations during the global pandemic.

1.2 Greece as a Research Context

Several different geographical areas were considered as the context for this research, which was conducted between October 2020 and March 2021. During data collection, the global pandemic crisis was in progress and the business environment was severely disrupted. Greece was among the countries to impose a national lockdown in the spring of 2020, and again in the fall of 2020. When data was collected, the pandemic crisis had been already ongoing for six months in Greece, punctuated by discrete events, like lockdowns, curfews, or the occurrence of new variants, which were followed by international travel restrictions, difficulties in the supply of goods across countries, and disruptions in organizational and everyday life activities. In mid-June 2019, a few months prior to the beginning of the pandemic when an appropriate context for this study was

discussed, Greece topped the Global Business Complexity Index 2019 (TFM Group Report). This report measures complexity "in terms of how complicated and unpredictable a business environment is – and how difficult it is to understand and operate in" (Global Business Complexity Index 2019, p. 4). Therefore, the difficult and complex conditions of the Greek business environment were viewed as the ideal setting to investigate strategic decisions and the process of reaching them; with the country having just recently started to recover from a long and very intensive financial crisis in 2019, the leaders in Greece were facing more tensions and challenges than their peers in other countries.

According to the International Monetary fund (source: https://www.cfr.org/timeline/greeces-debtcrisis-timeline), the Greek crisis lasted for ten years (2009-2018). The crisis created multiple problems to organizations operating in Greece, many of which experienced a remarkable decline in their performance (Georgopoulos & Glaister, 2018). Companies that operated in Greece under the crisis have reported negative growth rates and reductions in the number of employees (Giotopoulos et al., 2022). Until 2013, Greece had already lost about 25% of its GDP, whereas unemployment had increased to 27% and there was a decrease in private consumption by 30% (European Commission, 2013). Furthermore, the uncertainty created by the Referendum in 2015 and the financial restrictions that followed made the situation even more difficult for organizations and their leaders in Greece. In general, there was a huge loss of productive capacity, whereas investment activities were paused (Vassilopoulou et al., 2019). This pause of investment activities was repeated also during the pandemic, as indicated in several reports on the pandemic period (please refer to section 7.6). This is in line with Hofstede's (1980) analysis of Greece's cultural characteristics, since Greece ranks extremely high on uncertainty avoidance, indicating that adopting a wait and see approach (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008) would be the obvious choice under crisis for organizational leaders in Greece. This is also in line with the suggestion that cultural characteristics affect the process of reaching strategic decisions (Dimitratos et al., 2011).

During the Greek crisis, organizations had faced liquidity problems (Tsebelis, 2016), extreme political instability, and social unrest (Lapavitsas, 2019). In 2019, organizations in Greece had just gotten out of a long and intense crisis exhausted, and entered a new one at the beginning of 2020, enormously disruptive and challenging. The Greek financial crisis has severely affected organizations, challenging their sustainability and disrupting business activities over the course of ten years. Functions that were previously relatively simple or standardized became very complicated due to the Greek crisis, like access to supplies or funding. Organizations operating in Greece were, therefore, entering the pandemic crisis disadvantaged compared to organizations in other countries, but at the same time their leaders had experience in managing the challenges created by a crisis. Compared to organizational leaders in other countries, organizational decision makers in Greece were, thus, equipped with more experience in crisis management. Nevertheless, the long Greek financial crisis is not comparable to the COVID-19 pandemic, as the disruption caused by the pandemic occurred in significantly less time. In other words, there were elements of the pandemic crisis with which decision makers in Greece were not familiar and had no previous experience.

The extended duration of the crisis in Greece compared to the effect of the global financial crisis in other countries renders Greece a very interesting research context when investigating business activities in crisis environments (Machias et al., 2016). This research was conducted right after the end of the Greek financial crisis, when a new, global crisis had just begun. Studying decision making and its outcomes in such an environment may provide useful insights in terms of those elements of strategic decision making that are important in order for firms to perform well under crisis. Despite the uniqueness of the Greek environment, findings may be generalized in environments of similarly high levels of uncertainty and unpredictability, as well as in environments of very high complexity. The very interesting and unique environmental elements of Greece as a context for this research were embedded in research design through examining environmental dynamism as an important dimension in the research model. More specifically, the CEOs that participated in this research were asked to evaluate the environment in terms of how dynamic and rapidly changing its technical, economic, and cultural dimensions were. Further, there were questionnaire items referring to CEOs' perceptions about risk and the impact of false steps, as well as in terms of how stressful, exhausting, and hostile the environment was. This enabled the researcher to examine the impact of the macro environment and of how it was perceived and experienced by different companies and organizational leaders.

To sum up, the decision, to conduct research in Greece was made taking into consideration that studying countries or geographical regions are essential to business and economics research (Gerring, 2016), and was based on the fact that environmental pressures for organizations in Greece were very intense, given the fact that the environment was already very complex prior to the beginning of the pandemic. Thus, there was immense pressure on organizational leaders in Greece to reach effective strategic decisions and examining the strategic decision-making process in the context of the country was expected to provide useful insights. Thus, Greece was the context selected for this research, being perceived by the researcher as a very interesting dynamic context, undergoing change again and characterized by increased unpredictability again, within a very short period of time since change and unpredictability were evident in the environment. Such dynamic environments provide significant insights concerning strategic management. Strategic management in dynamic contexts is briefly discussed in the next section.

1.3 Strategic Management in Dynamic Environments

In uncertain and rapidly changing environments, previous strategic management research has identified organizational ambidexterity as a crucial firm characteristic (e.g. Benner & Tushman, 2003; Junni et al., 2013). Organizational ambidexterity is related with a company's ability to plan for the future, through exploration, and to create clarity concerning current day-to-day organizational tasks, through exploitation (Fourné et al., 2019); both are very important in dynamic environments. Exploitation enables the focus and improvement of existing organizational knowledge assisting organizational members with their short-term challenging tasks in a turbulent environment, ensuring survival; and exploration relates to creating new knowledge that focuses on the firm's long-term success. Indeed, in environments characterized by high uncertainty and rapid change, organizational ambidexterity has proven very beneficial for organizations, since it is associated with enhanced performance, survival and growth (Hughes, 2018; Junni et al., 2013; Raisch et al., 2009). Ambidexterity is a key strategic decision that affects the amount and balance of exploration and exploitation activities (Døjbak Håkonsson et al., 2016) and is related with the decisions concerning seizing the respective opportunities for each. These decisions are crucial in dynamic contexts, as they may affect the firm's survival (Hill & Birkinshaw, 2014).

In dynamic environments, strategic decision speed, like organizational ambidexterity, has also been found to predict organizational success (Baum and Wally, 2003; Bourgeois & Eisenhardt, 1988; Halevi et al., 2015; Hmieleski & Ensley, 2007; Kownatzki et al., 2013). In crisis environments, which are similarly characterized by increased uncertainty and fluidity, decisions are need to both be effective and made in a timely manner (Pearson & Clair, 1998). Previous research has suggested that deciding fast in environments where change is rapid, enables companies to recognize opportunities and take advantage of them before they become unavailable or obsolete (Eisenhardt, 1989). Fast decisions entail rapid information collection and interpretation

regarding the decisions considered (Atuahene-Gima & Li, 2004). Therefore, collecting and interpreting information about exploration and exploitation decisions, i.e. information related to organizational ambidexterity (Im & Rai, 2008), needs to occur fast in a crisis environment. Slow strategic decision making in dynamic environments entails the risk of recognizing opportunities, including opportunities for exploration and exploitation, later than competitors and missing the chance to take advantage of them. Therefore, there are indications of strategic decision speed enabling the recognition and pursuit of exploration and exploitation opportunities in the literature.

The decisions concerning which exploration and exploitation opportunities to pursue are part of strategic decision making, which is the responsibility of top management teams, led by the person who is at the top of the hierarchy, usually the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Although other top management team members actively participate in decision making, CEOs are ultimately responsible for formulating corporate strategy and are held accountable for the quality of the strategic decisions and their implementation (Crossland et al., 2014; Sariol & Abebe, 2017). Specifically concerning decisions related to organizational ambidexterity, CEOs are the key persons in organizations, as they are assigned with dealing with tensions and issues that arise from pursuing exploration and exploitation (Kiss et al., 2020).

The central role of organizational leaders – and, hence, CEOs – in strategic management is emphasized in strategic choice theory (Child, 1972 & 1997) and upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 2007). According to both theories, different organizations may be operating in the same environment, but may be facing different tensions. In other words, it is erroneous to assume that there is a common set of tensions across the environment that all organizations face. It is vital to examine how individual organizational actors interpret and experience these tensions. How individual leaders perceive the environment is important and their individual characteristics (psychological and demographic) are crucial in the process of reaching

strategic decisions and acting upon them. More specifically, both theories underline the role of the decision makers' cognition in interpreting the situation and deciding how to proceed. Strategic choice and upper echelons theory share some assumptions, which are also important in this research:

- 1) decisions made by organizational leaders are important,
- decisions made by organizational leaders are significantly influenced by contextual factors (including organizational and environmental factors), and
- cognition-related characteristics of the decision makers play an important role in the decisionmaking process.

The second assumption above posits that the environment influences strategic decisions. Supporters of environmental determinism (Hrebiniak & Joyce, 1985), argue that companies are closely linked with their environments (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978) and thus strategic decisions are affected by environmental characteristics (Hitt & Tyler, 1991). Especially when there is rapid change and the effect of making mistakes may be detrimental for the company, sensemaking and decisions are notably affected by environmental conditions (Le Bris et al., 2019). Additionally, in hostile environments decision makers are not open to new information (Dean & Sharfman, 1993), whereas in munificent environments they tend to incorporate new information faster in decision making (Baum & Wally, 2003). Campling and Michelson (1998) posit that organizations evolve based on the interdependent influences of the strategic choice of leaders and environmental impact. This view is very relevant with this study. The choices that organizational leaders make influence the type of opportunities the companies pursue and have both short-term and long-term impact on the pursuit of competitive advantage. At the same time, the pandemic has created an unpredictable and rapidly changing environment, which affects the types of strategic decisions and the process of reaching them.

To sum up, this study views organizational ambidexterity as the strategic decision to pursue both exploration and exploitation opportunities. The study's focus lies on the process of reaching the ambidexterity decision and on its outcomes. The speed of reaching strategic decisions is considered as an important element of strategic decision making that cannot be overlooked. This study embeds ambidexterity in the strategic decision-making process, examining the relationship between deciding quickly and ambidexterity; strategic decision speed is examined as an antecedent of organizational ambidexterity, based on the opportunity logic of strategy. Drawing on strategic choice theory (Child, 1972 & 1997) and upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 2007), CEOs cognitive characteristics, environmental and organizational features, are incorporated in the research, as factors that may influence the speed – ambidexterity relationship. Further, the study examines the outcomes of ambidexterity in terms of organizational performance under crisis. The following section presents the research questions and objectives in more detail.

1.4 Research Questions and Objectives

Strategic decision making is extremely important under crisis, since there is higher risk of noneffective decisions leading to detrimental outcomes and affecting not only firm performance, but also firm survival. Hence, decision making under crisis is a vital process for organizations (Weick, 1988). At the core of strategic decision making are decisions related to the type, number and balance of opportunities that the company will pursue including exploration and exploitation opportunities, as well as how quickly they are reached. However, the connection between rapidly identifying and seizing these opportunities and achieving organizational ambidexterity has not yet been examined. Previous research has shown that slow or ineffective responses to disorder and change in the environment have been proven to negatively affect organizational outcomes (Henderson, 1993) and specifically performance (e.g. Bourgeois & Eisenhardt, 1988; Souitaris & Maestro, 2010). Similarly, organizational ambidexterity has been associated with superior firm performance (e.g. He & Wong, 2004; Junni et al., 2013). Hence, if both ambidexterity and speed are aspects of strategy associated with enhanced performance, the question about the relationship between the two arises naturally.

This study aims to investigate the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity under the rapidly changing environment of the global pandemic. Was it those companies that decided faster or slower that were able to capture exploration and exploitation opportunities in the disruptive environment of the COVID-19 pandemic? If there is indeed a relationship between these two key aspects of strategic management, the factors that affect this relationship need to be explored. This research considers potential factors that impact the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity at multiple levels (individual, organizational and environmental), aiming to incorporate different dimensions of strategic decision making. The impact of individual-level factors on organizational-level outcomes is the focus of microfoundations in organizations; microfoundations examine the origins of macro-level features at the micro (individual) level, with a focus on how individual behavior aggregates to the macro level (Barney & Felin, 2013). This study integrates microfoundations with a multi-level approach, where the interplay between different levels is examined.

Further, organizational ambidexterity has been found to be beneficial for organizations in dynamic environments (e.g. Junni et al., 2013), but little is known at the moment about the outcomes of organizational ambidexterity under an intense and long-lasting crisis like the global pandemic crisis. Crises are dynamic environments (Comfort et al., 2001) since they are characterized by turbulence and uncertainty. However, some crises are very intense, have an extended duration and threaten the lives of individuals, characteristics that are not necessarily characteristics of dynamic environments. In other words, such intense and long-lasting crises like the global pandemic, may be viewed as supersets of dynamic environments, as they entail turbulence and uncertainty, but also characteristics that are threatening the lives of individuals and create increased levels of anxiety and fear. The study investigates the effect of organizational ambidexterity on performance under the pandemic crisis, acknowledging that pursuing organizational ambidexterity is a difficult task in general (Benner & Tushman, 2003; Smith & Tushman, 2005), let alone in such difficult circumstances. Under such conditions, organizational leaders may prefer to only exploit due to the fact that the results of exploitation are considered more predictable (March, 1991) or they may delay the implementation of strategic decisions, waiting until there is a clearer picture of the situation (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008). So, ascertaining whether those CEOs who decided to both exploit and explore during this intense and enduring crisis achieved superior performance is very important, since it would provide insights about the value of pursuing different types of strategic opportunities under crisis.

Understanding CEOs as key organizational decision makers is fundamental for strategic management under crisis. Their characteristics and behaviors have been found to affect organizational ambidexterity in numerous previous studies (e.g. Kammerlander et al., 2014; Lin & McDonough, 2011; Sariol & Abebe, 2017), as CEOs are in essence responsible for managing strategic tensions (Plambeck & Weber, 2010; Smith & Tushman, 2005). This research focuses on CEOs' individual characteristics, and more specifically those related to their cognition, since decision makers' cognition and perceptions are related to their ability to make sense of the situation (Weick, 1993) in order to make strategic decisions. Among cognitive characteristics of leaders, this study focuses on paradox mindset (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018) as a way to deal with the tensions created by the pandemic crisis; optimism (Tiger, 1979) as an unusual framing of an intense crisis; and educational level as a proxy of the overall cognitive abilities of individuals.

The above have led to forming the following research questions:

Q1: What is the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity?

Q2: How is organizational ambidexterity beneficial for organizations under crisis?

Q3: How do CEOs' cognition-related characteristics, namely paradox mindset, optimism and educational level, affect the relationship between the speed of decision making and organizational ambidexterity?

Q4: How does perceived environmental dynamism affect the relationship between speed of decision making and organizational ambidexterity?

The next section describes how answering these questions contributes to different areas of strategic management research.

1.5 Research Contribution

This project contributes in four areas of management literature. First, it contributes to the strategic management literature by placing organizational ambidexterity within the strategic decision-making framework. Viewing ambidexterity as a decision entails an examination of how the different elements of the strategic decision-making process and context interact with it. This opens new possibilities concerning the kind and number of factors that potentially influence organizational ambidexterity, incorporating different dimensions of the strategic decision-making process and context, and including factors both internal and external to organizations. By empirically examining organizational ambidexterity as part of the strategic decision-making process, hopefully this work will be the starting point for combining research on strategic decision making and organizational ambidexterity.

Secondly, this project contributes to the ambidexterity literature, by adding strategic decision speed to the organizational ambidexterity antecedents. This novel link between these two aspects of strategic management is important, especially since it was tested and validated under the crisis

conditions of the COVID-19 pandemic: a global pandemic that was unprecedented in the recent history (Jang & Lee, 2022). Apart from the theoretical contribution concerning the antecedents of ambidexterity, the relationship between organizational ambidexterity and strategic decision speed also has significant managerial implications for leaders and decision makers; it enables investigating the impact of reaching decisions quickly on managing the exploration-exploitation tension and being able to be flexible and efficient (Adler, Goldoftas & Levine, 1999).

Thirdly, this study contributes to the literature on strategic decisions by providing insights concerning the potentially missing link between strategic decision speed and performance, by inserting ambidexterity as a mediator. Previous research has identified this as a significant question (Eisenhardt, 1989), while previous findings have created confusion about the relationship between time pressure, speed of decision making, and firm performance. For example, in dynamic environments, Forbes (2005) and Perlow et al. (2002) found a negative relationship between strategic decision speed and performance, whereas Baum & Wally (2003) found a positive one. Furthermore, Chen & Hambrick (1995) found a negative relationship between strategic decision speed and firm performance in stable environments. Therefore, although the need for deciding fast has been identified as an important factor related to achieving competitive advantage in dynamic environments, it was not clear how fast decision making actually affected performance in such environments (Perlow et al., 2003) and there is insufficient evidence about the value of fast decision making in stable environments. This study aims to provide insights on how strategic decision speed leads to superior performance.

Last but not least, this study contributes to the crisis literature, by adding to the discussion about the role of ambidexterity during crisis. Previous research has identified the positive impact of ambidexterity on performance when the environment is dynamic or highly uncertain (Du & Chen, 2018; Heracleous et al., 2017; Junni et al., 2013). Further, Raisch et al. (2009) have found that ambidexterity is positively associated with firm survival under crisis. However, the magnitude and duration of the pandemic crisis has created unprecedented conditions and this study has tested the role of ambidexterity during a long, intense crisis within which smaller nested crises occurred, i.e. a fractal crisis (Topper & Lagadec, 2013). This work contributes in the area of crisis management, by investigating the benefit of organizational ambidexterity under the conditions of a fractal crisis, adding to the discussion concerning the type of opportunities that should be pursued by organizations operating in such environments.

To sum up, this study examines organizational ambidexterity in relation to dimensions of the strategic decision-making process as suggested by Elbanna et al. (2020), whereas it considers multiple demographic and psychological characteristics of organizational leaders simultaneously as suggested by Hambrick (2007). In addition, the study empirically examines for the first time two key aspects of strategic management that have been up till now examined separately, i.e. strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, connecting two so far separate literatures and creating promising new directions for future research. Overall, this dissertation integrates dimensions at the individual level and behavioral approaches of strategic management with strategic decision making at the firm-level, offering an integrated, multi-level view of the process of reaching the decision to pursue organizational ambidexterity and its outcome under the conditions of a fractal crisis.

1.6 Chapter Summary and Thesis Structure

This introductory chapter presented the background of this study, why Greece was selected as the research context, and research questions and contributions. Strategic management is vital for organizations in dynamic and crisis environments, as it may affect the firm's survival. Hence, the nature and process of the strategic decisions reached are very important. One of the major strategic

decisions of organization is related to the balance between exploitation and exploration activities, i.e. organizational ambidexterity. The process of reaching the ambidexterity decision includes strategic decision speed, i.e. how fast the strategic decisions about exploration and exploitation opportunities are reached. Further, individual characteristics of the decision makers and environmental dimensions also affect the ambidexterity decision, which is crucial for organizational performance. Therefore, this study empirically examines for the first time the potential relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, the factors that may influence this relationship, and the relationship between ambidexterity and performance under the conditions of the global pandemic in Greece. Greece has been selected as the ideal setting for examining strategic management, because of its challenging business environment before the pandemic began. This study contributes to the strategic management literature, the strategic decision-making literature, and specifically to the ambidexterity literature, and to the strategic speed literature. It also contributes to crisis literature examining the strategic responses of Greek companies to the pandemic and assessing the benefits of organizational ambidexterity under a fractal crisis.

This dissertation includes eight more chapters. The second chapter includes an overview of the evolution of research on strategy-related literature, including strategic management in general and under crisis, the microfoundations perspective, the different logics of strategy with a focus on the opportunity logic (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008) that is highly relevant in dynamic environments, and the main theories underlying the research: strategic choice (Child, 1972 & 1997) and upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 1997). The study's theoretical underpinnings are presented at the end of this chapter.

The third chapter consists of a literature review on the topics relevant to this study, focusing on organizational ambidexterity, strategic decision speed, the specific cognition-related

characteristics examined (i.e. paradox mindset, optimism and educational level), environmental uncertainty, and organizational performance.

The fourth chapter synthesizes the theoretical elements discussed, in order to provide an integrative model on organizational ambidexterity and strategic decision making under crisis. In this chapter, the relationship between the different variables of the study is illustrated based on theory and the six hypotheses tested in this research are presented. This chapter concludes with the research model.

The fifth chapter presents the methodology in terms of ontology and epistemology, but also concerning the research design and how it was implemented. The different research phases are described in detail, along with data management and preparation, quality assurance and research ethics. Further, why survey research and hierarchical regression were selected is explained, along with the choice of the measures for the variables examined. The chapter concludes with presenting the survey questionnaire.

The sixth chapter presents an analysis of the sample in terms of the demographics of both the respondents and their companies. The chapter also presents issues related to construct reliability and validity, while it explains how the sample is a good representation of the Greek business environment.

The seventh chapter presents results based on hierarchical regression, but also other methods used like ANCOVA and mediation analysis. Findings indicate that all hypotheses are supported apart from Hypothesis 4 that is partially supported (because a different type of moderation was hypothesized). At the end of the chapter, there is a synthesis of the results that helps the reader holistically understand the effect of all variables included in the study, including control variables.

The eighth chapter discusses the findings of this study, how they fit within existing literature, and why they are important for both theory and practice. Areas of theoretical and managerial contributions are discussed in detail.

The ninth and final chapter acknowledges research limitations and suggests future research directions for empirical studies that can possibly expand and widen this research's findings. The chapter concludes with some closing remarks and a personal reflection on the process of conducting research in general and more specifically during the pandemic.

2. Strategy and the Rationale of this Study

This Chapter provides an overview of what strategic management is and presents the evolution of research on strategy in an attempt to explain the rationale of this study. In order to better understand the different specific aspects of strategic management, it is essential that strategic management in general and under uncertainty is discussed. Further, the microfoundations perspective in management and strategy is briefly presented, in order to explain how decisions made at the individual level affect organizational outcomes. The different logics of strategy are presented next, illustrating how the opportunity logic of strategy is relevant in dynamic contexts and suggesting that its application can be expanded in other contexts as well. Thus, the process of identifying and seizing opportunities is a central decision-making process in this research and some relevant insights from entrepreneurship research are presented next. The chapter concludes with the two main theories on which the study draws, strategic choice theory and upper echelons theory, and with the strategic decision-making framework as an appropriate framework for this work. Overall, the synthesis of strategic choice and upper echelon with the opportunity logic within the strategic decision-making framework provides this study's theoretical underpinnings.

2.1 Strategic Management and Strategic Management under Uncertainty and Turbulence

Strategy is a set of interrelated activities through which companies aim to produce and capture value (Porter 1996). Strategic management is the field of management that investigates strategy and "combines analysis, formulation and implementation in the quest of competitive advantage" (Rothaermel, 2017, p. 72). Those responsible for strategic management, i.e. top executives, are making strategic decisions in order to achieve desired outcomes concerning the company's performance compared to competitors, through examining and deciding upon viable strategic options, taking into account organizational and environmental constraints (Barney, 1986). These viable strategic options are opportunities (Kirzner, 1997), the recognition and seizing of which is

a key driver of competitive advantage (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008). Although there are differences when seeking and pursuing opportunities in unstable environments compared to more stable ones, as opportunities may quickly and unpredictably become unavailable or irrelevant in volatile environments because of environmental change, pursuing opportunities in a timely manner is also important in stable environments, as they may become unavailable not due to environmental change, but because competitors have seized them. Hence, the process of reaching strategic decisions, and how much it takes to do so, is important. Opportunities are central in strategizing in general, both in new ventures and established organizations (Roundy et al., 2018) and their timely identification and pursuit is important in all environments as they can lead to first-mover advantages (Lieberman & Montgomery, 1988).

In unpredictable and changing environments, the usual strategic planning process where there is an effort to predict the future is not enough (Allaire & Firsirotu, 1989), as there is lack of information and lack of certainty about what the future will be, sometimes even in the short term. In fact, dealing with uncertainty is a key challenge of strategic management (Thompson, 1967) and effective strategic management enables organizations to manage uncertainty, through being responsive to environmental change and at the same time shaping the environment (Allaire & Firsirotu, 1989). When there are major disruptions in the environment, like under crisis, it is more difficult to identify opportunities, because of the high levels of uncertainty and the conflicting or difficult to handle amounts of information (lack of information or new information too often) that disruptions produce (Milliken, 1987). Hence, strategizing is more difficult in highly uncertain and volatile environments.

The decisions reached as part of strategizing are crucial in any environment (Elbanna, 2006), but are even more important in dynamic and crisis environments (Janis, 1989). The process of reaching decisions in dynamic environments has been a popular research topic in the field of strategic management, and interesting – often contradictory, as reported below – findings have been reported. Nevertheless, previous work underlines the importance of understanding environmental conditions: failing to perceive uncertainty and turbulence may lead to reaching detrimental decisions for the organization (Dess & Beard, 1984), hence decision makers need to be able to perceive the level of environmental uncertainty and reach decisions accordingly. Furthermore, since decisions are difficult to alter and to reverse once reached (Wilson, 2003), their impact is crucial under conditions that are threatening the organization.

An important question in strategic management under uncertainty has to do with the effect of rationality in decision making Contradictory findings have been reported regarding the relationship between rationality, i.e. a reasonable and understandable behavior under given conditions (Butler, 2002), and organizational outcomes under uncertainty. For example, Goll & Rasheed (1997) found that there is a positive relationship between rationality and performance in dynamic environments, whereas Deligianni et al. (2016) found a positive relationship with international performance. Contrarily, Daft & Lengel (1986) have found that when there is uncertainty in the environment, decision makers rely more on intuition. Elbanna & Child (2007a) suggest that decision uncertainty is what makes a difference, and have found that rationality positively relates to the effectiveness of a strategic decision, but this relationship is weaker when the decision is highly uncertain. Moreover, the fact that inconsistent findings have been reported regarding the relationship between company size and rational decision making processes (e.g., Dean & Sharfman, 1993; Fredrickson & Iaquinto, 1989; Papadakis et al., 1998), suggests that indeed the effect of environmental conditions need to be further investigated (Elbanna & Child, 2007b).

Similarly, research on comprehensiveness – also referred to as procedural rationality (Petrou et al., 2020), i.e. the rationality of the process of reaching decisions – of the decision-making process has

produced conflicting findings. Comprehensiveness refers to a process of reaching decisions during which decision makers collect a lot of information, identify multiple different alternatives, and evaluate them prior to reaching the decision (Miller et al., 1998). Previous work suggests that organizational leaders rely on comprehensiveness when reaching important decisions (Meissner & Wulf, 2014). Yet, research concerning comprehensiveness has provided arguments and findings that suggest a negative relationship between comprehensiveness and decision outcomes including performance and innovation (e.g., Albin & Foley, 1998; Dane & Pratt, 2007; Kolbe et al., 2020; March, 2006), but also a positive relationship between the two (Bagozzi et al., 2003; Idson et al., 2004; Samba et al., 2018). Interestingly, in their meta-analysis, Samba et al. (2021) found that environmental dynamism does not moderate the relationship between decision comprehensiveness and outcomes. Similarly, Meissner & Wulf (2014) found that perceived environmental uncertainty does not act as a moderator, but is directly related to comprehensiveness.

Based on the above, it is obvious that examining the effect of environmental characteristics on the strategic decision making process is another important question in strategic management. The actual environmental characteristics are translated into perceptions by decision makers (Miller, 2006) and these perceptions are very important inputs in the decision making process. Dimensions of the environment, such as uncertainty or munificence, have been found to moderate the relationship between decision making processes and organizational performance (e.g., Bourgeois & Eisenhardt, 1988; Fredrickson, 1984; Goll & Rasheed, 1997; Shepherd et al., 2020). On the other hand, Elbanna et al. (2011) found that the environment does not have an interaction effect on the relationship between conflict and decision effectiveness, but environmental dynamism has a moderating effect on the relationship between using both intuition and rationality, and decision quality. Thus, teams that rely both on intuition and on rationality achieve better outcomes than teams that use exclusively intuition or rationality in dynamic environments (Thanos, 2022), a very interesting finding, since it indicates that intuition and rationality may seem contradictory (Tabesh

& Vera, 2020), but are paradoxical and complementary (Kaufmann et al., 2014). Moreover, intuitive decisions are faster compared to rational decisions that require more time (Kaufmann et al., 2017), and the speed of decision making makes a difference in dynamic environments (Eisenhardt, 1989). This dissertation is contributing to the discussion about the effect of environmental conditions on the decision making process, examining the environmental impact on the nature of the reached decisions and the type of strategic opportunities pursued based on those decisions through investigating organizational ambidexterity as a strategic decision.

Organizational ambidexterity is a way to cope with environmental uncertainty and turbulence, because it is closely related to an organization's capacity for change (Judge & Blocker, 2008). When the environment changes rapidly there is the need for the organization to be responsive to the environment by paying attention to the level of both internal fit - reflected in processes and systems, i.e. exploitation - and external fit - reflected in activities related to exploration (Judge & Blocker, 2008). But apart from being responsive to the environment, organizational ambidexterity entails also shaping it: organizational ambidexterity means that the company may be adopting novel technologies (Lubatkin et al., 2006), leading competitors to also adopt them; it may be creating new products or services (Gibson and Birkinshaw, 2004), creating new market niches that did not exist; it may optimize its internal processes (Auh & Menguc, 2005) in ways that competitors also find beneficial and try to apply; or it may penetrate more aggressively in its existing customer base (Lubatkin et al., 2006), making it impossible for competitors to share a part of a specific market. Thus, being ambidextrous implies being able to adapt to environmental change and shaping the environment through the various exploitation and exploration activities, whether this shaping occurs deliberately or not. The beneficial role of organizational ambidexterity as an effective strategy in unstable environments has been proven in previous research (e.g. Junni et al, 2013), as strategic activities and processes related to exploration and exploitation opportunities enable firms to use and adapt existing knowledge in order to create new knowledge through pursuing new opportunities (Judge & Blocker, 2008).

When strategizing, strategic processes need to consider organizational and environmental constraints (Barney, 1986), but these constraints are not the only ones that must be taken into consideration while strategizing under uncertainty. In order for strategic management to be effective, strategies must also fit with the constraints related to the individual decision makers, and more specifically their psychological characteristics and perceptions (Parnell et al., 2000). Strategic management is a holistic view of a company, both internally and externally, but under uncertainty, it is more closely related with the decision makers' cognition (Furr & Eisenhardt, 2021) that enables them to identify and take advantage of opportunities sooner and faster than their rivals, based on their cognition and psychological characteristics. This view is extremely relevant with this study: under the highly uncertain environment of the COVID-19 pandemic, organizational leaders needed to focus on identifying and taking advantage, sooner and fast than competitors, of opportunities related to exploration and exploitation, based on their perceptions and cognitive skills. Therefore, individual-level characteristics of the decision makers affect outcomes at the organizational level; this is central in the microfoundations perspective in organizations, which is presented as follows.

2.2 Microfoundations in Management and Strategy

Microfoundations as a word includes two parts: micro and foundations, each with equal importance. Micro refers to the significance of the role of individuals and, in agreement with individualism (Simmel, 1974; Weber, 1949), suggests that individuals are the building blocks of societies and social phenomena. As such, individuals and their characteristics are central in examining any social phenomenon. Nevertheless, just examining individuals and individual-level

factors is not enough; the foundation part in the word microfoundations entails that something that is situated elsewhere, at a different level, is founded in this very level, i.e. the micro level. Again in line with individualism, there is the assumption that what is happening at the individual level influences what is being observed at the macro level. In other words, there are effects of microlevel factors on macro-level ones. Using a microfoundations approach, then, is not solely about looking at the individuals and how they interact; it goes beyond examining the micro-micro interactions and includes micro-macro interactions and, more broadly, vice-versa macro-micro effects (Barney & Felin, 2013).

The micro-macro and macro-micro effects are central in social sciences, including management and strategy, which increasingly examine how the individual level, i.e. the micro level, is associated with what occurs at the firm level, i.e. macro level (Harper & Lewis, 2012)¹. Whether focus should lie on the micro or macro level is a key debate across academic fields (Barney & Felin, 2013), the origins of which go back to Durkheim (1962). Durkheim suggested that sociology and the social sciences in general should examine higher-level social factors like religion, culture, and countries, rather than individuals and individual-level features. This view, called Durkheimian collectivism, has been the basic assumption for researchers who emphasize institutions and how institutional factors interrelate, in other words a macro-macro analysis. The main argument of collectivists is that institutional features cannot be further reduced or decomposed; they emerge at the institutional level.

The argument that contradicts the basic argument of collectivism posits that understanding any social phenomenon entails understanding its parts, and that the parts of social phenomena are individuals and their interactions (Simmel, 1974; Weber, 1949). This stream of social science is

¹ The firm level is mentioned as the meso level, usually in cases where the term macro refers to the overall environment.
called individualism and suggests that individuals are the basic elements of societies and social phenomena, and therefore their views, beliefs, and interests should be the starting point for examining what is happening within societies, for investigating social phenomena, and for building social theories. According to individualists, a social scientist needs to shed light on the origins of the various macro factors, and these origins need to be sought at the individual level, by studying individuals and the ways in which they interact (Coleman, 1990). Thus, there is an assumption of causality between the micro and the macro level. The relationship between the micro level and the macro level is at the core of the microfoundations view.

Barney & Felin (2013) have clarified what microfoundations are by addressing relevant misconceptions: a) microfoundations are not just about studying individuals through a focus on psychology or human resources, but about how individual characteristics and behaviors impact macro level dimensions; b) shifting the application of concepts from the individual to the firm level, like for example shifting the application of learning from the individual to organizational learning, is not a microfoundations approach; there is the need for explaining the mechanisms and the changes in the concept underlying this shift; c) microfoundations are not about continuously reducing the scope of analysis, by looking into lower levels within the individual level (e.g. genetic factors); the individual is the basic level, the starting point of analysis; and d) microfoundations view acknowledges the significance of the macro level by focusing on identifying the factors that influence it. Overall, microfoundations are about finding the origins of macro-level features at the micro level and examining how individual behavior aggregates to the macro level (Barney & Felin, 2013).

The microfoundations approach in management and strategy implies that there is a connection between individual-level characteristics and organizational dimensions and processes like innovation, strategic decision making or performance. This study is taking an integrated multilevel approach, by considering how individual perceptions and cognition of CEOs influence the strategic decision-making process at the firm level and the pursuit of organizational ambidexterity under crisis. Therefore, a relationship between the micro and the macro level is assumed and the aim of this dissertation is to shed light on the interaction between them. Furthermore, this work looks at how individual perceptions and cognition scale and are reflected in strategic decisions that affect the organization and its performance. Looking at how scaling or aggregation occurs is an important question that is "scarcely addressed in the extant organizational literature" (Barney & Felin, 2013, p.146). This study adopts the view of aggregation suggested by literature that focuses on top executives, according to which organizations are a reflection of their top executives (Hambrick & Mason, 1984) and their individual perceptions, views, cognition and decisions scale to the firm level and affect organizational outcomes. This view adopted in this study does not imply that top executives are independent of executives at other levels or that their interactions with them are not important; rather, it implies that decisions concerning ambidexterity are reached based on the cognition and perceptions of CEOs, which are formed and informed through their interaction with other individuals and the environment. In other words, this study assumes that decisions about strategy are reached at the higher levels of organizational hierarchy, but they are affected by the interactions of top management with multiple organizational levels.

In order to provide a better understanding of the multi-level approach of this study, it is essential to present the underlying logic of strategy based on which the study is based, which is the opportunity logic (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008). The following section briefly presents the three different strategy logics and explain how they are relevant to different contexts. The opportunity logic is described in more detail and how it links the micro, meso and macro levels is explained.

2.3 Strategy, Strategy Logics and Different Contexts

Strategy is at the core of organizational activities, as it is strategy that relates to achieving a competitive advantage (Porter, 1980 & 1996). Scholars have been examining strategy, developing multiple different theories. Among the most popular early theories, Porter's (1980) competitive forces approach was dominating the field in the early 1980s and suggested that a company can defend its position in an industry against competitors, by evaluating five forces that are present in any industry: competition, potential of new entrants, suppliers' power, customers' power and threat of substitute products. Following Porter's (1980) suggestion about strategy that focused on the industry, the focus shifted on the company through revisiting the resource-based view (RBV) of the firm (Penrose, 1959), which suggests that a competitive advantage is related with a company possessing key resources that are rare, inimitable, valuable, and non-substitutable. Hence, under the RBV, companies need to develop or acquire resources that will enable them to perform better than competitors. The RBV of the firm was acknowledged to explain how a competitive advantage can be achieved, but it did not explain how it was sustained (Teece et al., 1997). In an effort to do so, Teece et al. (1997) introduced dynamic capabilities as a potential answer to this question, defining dynamic capabilities as the ability to achieve new forms of competitive advantage and, thus, to sustain it. This theorizing attempt attracted remarkable attention until very recently, with multiple literature reviews on dynamic capabilities being produced (e.g., Ambrosini & Bowman, 2009; Barreto, 2010; Laaksone & Peltoniemi, 2018; Piening, 2013; Wang & Pervaiz, 2007; Zahra et al., 2006).

Nevertheless, there has also been a lot of skepticism concerning dynamic capabilities for various reasons. Firstly because the plethora of work on reviewing dynamic capabilities is not accompanied by a plethora of respective rigorous empirical work that proves a link between dynamic capabilities and sustainable competitive advantage (Wright, 2021). Furthermore, the

dynamic capabilities framework has been criticized as confusing (Winter, 2003), faddish (Giudici & Reinmoeller, 2012), too simplistic (Arend & Bromiley, 2009), and ambiguous, including a questionable conceptualization of human action (MacLean et al., 2015).

The researcher is sceptic about this framework as well. Adding to the aforementioned flaws of the dynamic capabilities framework, the following fact is perceived as problematic – and it particularly relates to this work: Eisenhardt & Martin (2000) have used the dynamic capabilities framework as a way to explain how competitive advantage is sustained in high velocity contexts, i.e. in highly dynamic environments. However, in a 2020 article by Eisenhardt & Furr on strategy in highly dynamic environments, it is suggested that dynamic capabilities are not relevant in highly, but rather in moderately dynamic environments. This indicates that dynamic capabilities have not been thoroughly conceptualized in the first place. In general, the researcher believes that the concept of dynamic capabilities is too broad and over-simplistic: anything that a company does can be viewed as a dynamic capabilities has not been chosen for this work. Yet, the framework is mentioned as it has been perceived as relevant to specific strategy logics, in stable or moderately dynamic environments – another reason why it is not relevant with this study, which was conducted under the highly dynamic environment of the global pandemic.

Strategy in organizations has been examined based on three different logics: the leverage logic, the position logic and the opportunity logic. The leverage logic was the first to be introduced and a major theoretical framework for examining strategy and strategic management, the resource-based view of the firm (Penrose, 1959), is associated with it. The other two strategy logics are posterior. The position logic takes a different perspective on the resource-based view, while the opportunity logic is not relevant with it and suggests a different approach to strategy. All three logics are briefly presented as follows.

2.3.1 The Leverage Logic

According to the resource-based view of the firm, a company's competitive advantage and superior performance are based on the possession of key resources that are rare, inimitable, valuable, and non-substitutable (Penrose, 1959). In this way, companies create combinations of unique resources at the unit and the firm level, which enable them to perform better than competitors (Collis & Montgomery, 2005; Penrose, 1959). The underlying logic of the resource-based view of the firm is the leverage logic (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008), under which strategy entails recognizing, creating, and taking advantage of a set of core resources that are rare, inimitable, valuable and non-substitutable in existing markets, and transferring (leveraging) the competitive advantage that they create into new markets, where these same resources still possess the same set of characteristics (value, inimitability, rareness, and non-substitutability).

The leverage logic of strategy is highly relevant in relatively stable markets, where information about which resources possess value, inimitability, rareness, and non-substitutability is available and clear (Furr & Eisenhardt, 2021). However, in highly uncertain and dynamic environments, the leverage logic entails two significant challenges: a) information about which resources are rare, inimitable, valuable and non-substitutable may not be available, specifically under times when the environment is highly disrupted (like under a global pandemic), and b) even if this information exists, it is not static; unexpected, difficult to predict changes in the environment may alter the significance of one or more resources, which used to be, but may no longer be, a source of competitive advantage (Barney, 1991). Hence, the leverage logic and the resource-based view of the firm become less relevant in uncertain, dynamic environments (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008; Furr & Eisenhardt, 2021), because the pace of environmental change makes it impossible to know which resources are core for organizational success.

2.3.2 The Position Logic

A second strategy logic is the position logic (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008) under which a company achieves and sustains competitive advantage through performing differentiated activities compared to competitors or performing similar activities but in a distinct way (Porter, 1996). The position logic is not based on identifying which resources are valuable, rare, inimitable, and non-substitutable, but on creating inter-resources links that are synergistic and strong, whereas the strength of these connections is continuously enhanced over time. Such tight links among resources, called activity systems (Porter, 1996), enable the company to occupy a unique and valuable strategic position in the market. The difference between the position logic and the leverage logic lies on the fact that the resources that belong in any activity system may not necessarily be individually valuable, rare, inimitable and non-substitutable under the position logic, but their combination is more valuable for the company than any resource individually is, specifically as they become more interdependent and mutually reinforcing (Miller & Friesen, 1980). Again, the position logic refers to the unit level and the firm level, as the resources linked are identifiable at these levels.

Similar to the leverage logic, the position logic is also problematic under rapidly changing and uncertain environments. The position logic assumes a stable, unchanging and unambiguous environment (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008; Porter, 1980); when the environment is rapidly changing, what was considered a valuable position at some point in time may not be valuable at a different time point, and the time difference between the two points may not be substantial or predictable. In addition, even if organizational leaders recognize that there is the need to modify the activity system(s) by changing which resources are linked, and how closely they are linked, it is very difficult to disconnect them and rapidly alter the links between them (Lengnick-Hall & Wolff, 1999). Strategy under the position logic focuses on enhancing the links among the different resources in an activity system, while adding more resources to it in order to produce a

progressively reinforced strategic position. The process of enhancing the links among resources decreases the firm's flexibility and ability to adapt to changes in the environment, which is a major disadvantage when the environment is uncertain and volatile.

2.3.3 The Opportunity Logic

A third logic of strategy is the opportunity logic (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008), under which strategy has to do with identifying and seizing opportunities faster and more effectively than competitors. An opportunity may be recognized as a market need that has not yet been defined in detail, as a novel way of taking advantage of existing resources that are not fully used or as a way of using new resources (Kirzner, 1997). Eisenhardt & Sull (2001) associated the opportunity logic with opportunities like internationalization, strategic alliances, and new product development. These opportunities are all opportunities for exploration, i.e. they create new revenue. However, Eisenhardt & Martin's (2000) definition of the opportunity logic entails creating revenue and creating profits. Profits stem from opportunities for both exploration (related to creating new revenue streams through introducing new products and services or entering new markets) and exploitation (related with creating profits through cutting costs and optimizing internal systems and processes). Thus, the opportunity logic is related to organizational ambidexterity. Moreover, timing is crucial under the opportunity logic of strategy, as part of the source of competitive advantage is associated with the early capture of opportunities (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008). Therefore, strategic decision speed lies at the heart of the opportunity logic, since it helps companies to identify and take advantage of opportunities timely, faster and earlier than competitors, enabling them to achieve a competitive advantage.

Contrarily to the leverage and position logics of strategy that are not relevant in uncertain and dynamic environments, the opportunity logic is highly relevant in such contexts (Furr & Eisenhardt, 2021). Under the opportunity logic, achieving superior performance relies on focusing

on a few organizational processes related to promising opportunities (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008). These processes are not tightly linked and firmly structured; rather, they are semi-structured and more flexible (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008). The fact that the opportunity logic relates to semi-structured processes allows the company to capture opportunities as they become available and change which resources are used for seizing the opportunities and how they are interconnected. This is possible because the links between resources are not tight, and, thus, modifying the links and removing or replacing the resources in any activity system require less time and entails less complexity. Therefore, the opportunity logic is applicable and relevant in highly uncertain and volatile environments.

Although in previous work the opportunity logic has been associated only with dynamic environments and specific types of organizations in less dynamic environments (Eisenhardt & Bingham, 2017; Furr & Eisenhardt, 2021), it is worth considering that opportunities and their timely pursuit are equally important in different contexts. In reality, the opportunity logic is relevant in all contexts, including crises contexts and stable/predictable environments, because a failure to identify and seize opportunities leaves room for competitors to do so and provides them with a first-mover advantage, an important advantage that needs to be further managed after it has been achieved irrespective of the type of environment that the company operates in (Lieberman & Montgomery, 1988). The leverage logic entails opportunity seeking, in order for the company to be able to recognize in which new markets the existing valuable, rare, inimitable and nonsubstitutable resources can be leveraged; and the position logic entails opportunity seeking in order for the company to be able to recognize the areas in which the activity systems that link resources are expected to produce the desired outcomes. Hence, in reality, the opportunity logic is relevant in environments with varying degrees of unpredictability and change, as it is inherent in strategizing. The opportunity logic is extremely relevant with the integrated multi-level approach of this study, as opportunities are identified, evaluated, and pursued by individuals, but the outcomes of pursuing these opportunities concern the firm level. Which opportunities are identified, how they are recognized, and which are pursued are related with individual choices, as suggested by strategic choice theory (Child 1972 & 1997), and these choices depend on individual perceptions, values and interests, as suggested by upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 2007). In the process of identifying and seeking opportunities, decision makers act like entrepreneurs, trying to create new activities and new business (Stevenson et al., 1985) in order to achieve superior firm performance. The process of identifying and seizing opportunities is briefly presented in the following section, in order to understand how different decision makers recognize, evaluate and act on opportunities when they are strategizing.

2.4 Identifying and Seizing Opportunities

As explained in the previous section, strategizing under the opportunity logic is an activity that bears similarities with entrepreneurial activities: decision makers identify and pursue opportunities faster, earlier and more successfully than competitors in order to achieve a competitive advantage (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008). Therefore, strategizing – which includes identifying and seizing opportunities – requires decision making and acting (McMullen & Shepherd, 2006); it is not enough to identify an opportunity, which is related to thinking (about) strategy; the opportunities cannot be pursued, which is related to doing strategy. Solely identifying opportunities cannot be characterized as strategizing. However, the opportunity identification phase is crucial, because if an opportunity is not recognized, then it will definitely be missed. Hence, between identifying an opportunity and pursuing it, there is a decision-making process that helps the decision makers evaluate whether the opportunity is worth pursuing or not.

McMullen & Shepherd (2006) provide a two-stage model of how opportunities are identified and pursued by entrepreneurs, which can also be applied to strategic decision makers' process of identifying and seizing opportunities. McMullen & Shepherd's conceptual model suggests that there are two types of opportunities: a third-person opportunity, which is "a potential opportunity for someone in the marketplace" (McMullen & Shepherd, 2006. p. 137), and a first-person opportunity, which is an opportunity that the specific person finds promising. A third-person opportunity is not necessarily an opportunity for everyone; but it reflects the existence of potential for individuals, entrepreneurs and/or decision makers, with the right abilities and characteristics. This is the first stage of the model, where the existence of a third-person opportunity is identified; so the statement *this is an opportunity* is relevant here. The next stage concerns deciding whether the third-person opportunity identified is actually an opportunity for the specific company, i.e. a first-person opportunity; so the question is this an opportunity for us? is relevant here. The first stage is the attention stage, where attention focuses on recognizing that there is something that the market does not know related to this opportunity. This idea of market ignorance as a source of opportunity was suggested by Kirzner (1973). So, once the recognition that there is something that the market is missing is made, a third-person opportunity is recognized. The second stage suggested by McMullen & Shepherd (2006) is the evaluation stage, where the uncertainty associated with specific actions related to the opportunity is evaluated. Obviously, without acknowledging the existence of third-person opportunities, i.e. in absence of the attention stage, stage two is not applicable, as the decision maker will not have identified the opportunity that needs to be evaluated and then pursued.

McMullen & Shepherd's (2006) model is very relevant with this dissertation, as it distinguishes between the identification of an opportunity and the decision to seize it, while taking into account the relevant uncertainty. The central assumption of this study is that organizational ambidexterity is a strategic decision, which entails the identification and seizing of opportunities for exploration and exploitation. Having recognized exploration and exploitation opportunities does not necessarily mean that they will be pursued; decision makers will evaluate these opportunities in order to decide if they are opportunities for the company under the current conditions, based on their individual perceptions, acknowledging that these conditions are not stable and taking into account the pace of environmental change. There will be third-person opportunities for exploitation and exploration that will remain unexploited, because the decision makers may believe that they are not worth pursuing based on their individual perceptions and cognition. Hence, strategy is shaped while some opportunities are ignored, others are evaluated and rejected, and others are evaluated and pursued. The following section presents how different views of strategy take into consideration the process of strategizing, and the degree of relevance of these views with this study, which is based on the opportunity logic of strategy.

2.5 Strategizing as an Entrepreneurial Activity, Strategy Creation view and Strategy-As-

Practice

When pursuing opportunities, i.e. under the opportunity logic of strategy, decision makers act like entrepreneurs, since recognizing and seizing opportunities is considered to be a key ability of successful entrepreneurs (Stevenson et al., 1985). To take advantage of available opportunities, decision makers need to identify and evaluate them, before pursuing them (Ardichvili et al., 2003). Opportunities are recognized and pursued as individuals shape basic, initial ideas into strategic action plans, through a) perceiving that there are new market needs and identifying resources that are underemployed, b) discovering which resources fit with these new market needs, and c) connecting previously unconnected needs and resources (Hills, 1995). According to De Koning (2003), opportunity recognition and development entails a sociocognitive process, based on combining a set of cognitive activities (collecting information, thinking, and evaluating resources) with social interactions (discussing with people in the entrepreneur's network). Similarly, Baron

(2006) suggests that identifying opportunities is based on using cognitive frames to analyze and evaluate changes and events in the environment. Hence, thinking and cognition are important in identifying and pursuing opportunities under any context.

Especially under uncertainty, recognizing and seizing opportunities is more challenging and entails some degree of improvisation, as previous experience may or may not be relevant; thus, decision makers combine experimenting with some basic rules of thumb relevant to the decision makers' prior experience (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008) when pursuing opportunities in unpredictable and changing environments. Successful strategists are able to decide the varying degrees of combining improvisation and structure, while taking into consideration changes in the environment and the availability of opportunities (Davis et al., 2009). To do so, they are engaged in thinking, based on their cognitive skills that enable them to make sense of the environment (Furr & Eisenhardt, 2021). In other words, strategy by thinking under uncertainty is related with cognition: when the environment is unpredictable and changes rapidly, decision makers are more able to create and execute better strategies (Met et al., 2017).

An important suggestion of the opportunity logic is that just recognizing opportunities is not enough. According to Koller (1998), entrepreneurs often recognize opportunities but do not proceed with pursuing them, so the opportunities identified are missed. The process of collecting information on opportunities, analyzing it and taking advantage of the opportunities is not necessarily linear, but it involves multiple iterations (Ardichvili et al., 2003). If these iterations do not lead to strategic actions, opportunities are left unexploited. To seize opportunities, decision makers need to be involved in "strategy by doing" (Eisenhardt & Bingham, 2017, p. 246). Strategy by doing has to do with acting and being flexible in response to environmental changes. When the environment is volatile and uncertain, emphasizing stability and avoiding change leads to missing current information and novel opportunities (Eisenhardt & Bingham, 2017). Strategy by doing and by thinking are related with recognizing and taking advantage of opportunities and can be combined during strategy formulation (Ott & Eisenhardt, 2020). Overall, strategizing under the opportunity logic lies on a combination of strategizing by thinking, through using cognitive skills, and strategizing by doing, through adapting strategy according to environmental change.

2.5.1 Strategy Creation View

Adding on the concept of strategy by thinking and doing, Furr & Eisenhardt (2021) introduced the strategy creation view of strategy that they view as relevant in uncertain environments, which also includes strategy by shaping. Shaping has to do with realizing that the firm's interaction with the market actually affects the market, and consciously deciding how much of this shaping is achievable and desirable. Hence, the decision makers imagine what the desirable situation would be and create a shared understanding about it within the organization, in order for the relevant actions to be planned (thinking) and taken (doing). When pursuing opportunities in dynamic environments, decision makers are involved in all three types of strategizing: doing, thinking and shaping (Furr & Eisenhardt, 2021). To do so, decision makers need to choose how much shaping versus adapting (through doing and thinking) to the environment will be beneficial and possible. Therefore, strategic management under uncertainty does not rely on resources or the links between them, as suggested by the resource-based-view, but on the processes that generate strategies in order to take advantage of opportunities.

The strategy creation view is a recent suggestion about how strategic management is associated with the degree of uncertainty in the environment. Furr & Eisenhardt (2021) advocate that in stable environments strategy relies on the resource-based view of the firm and is guided by the leverage logic, since it is clear which resources are going to lead to achieving a competitive advantage. Further, when the degree of environmental change is moderate and there is some predictability, a

hybrid strategy is used, based on the resource-based view, under which resources are viewed as dynamic capabilities (Teece et al., 1997). Under this view, organizations renew their resources according to the (relatively low) pace of external change in order to sustain their competitive advantage over time (Eisenhardt & Martin, 2000). To the contrary, in highly uncertain and turbulent environments, the resource-based view strategy and the dynamic capabilities view, which is an extension of the resource-based view, are not relevant. In highly uncertain and turbulent environments, strategy entails being flexible and able to learn, using cognition to make sense of the changes, and shaping the environment while interacting with it. The strategy creation view bears some similarity with another relatively new approach to strategy, which precedes the strategy creation view: strategy-as-practice, presented as follows.

2.5.2 Strategy-As-Practice

Strategy-as-practice posits that strategy is not based on what organizations possess (i.e. on resources), but rather on what organizational actors do (Whittington et al., 2003). More specifically, under the strategy-as-practice lens, strategy entails a main tension as it can be analyzed in recursive and adaptive forms, which occur across multiple levels: macro-institutional, industry, firm, and individual as expressed by the strategists' cognition (Jarzabkowski, 2004). Recursive forms consist of routinized strategic practices and entail the reproduction of past actions with the belief that they can address a new situation (Clark, 2000). Hence, recursiveness in the strategy-as-practice lens may be associated with exploitation activities that are based on existing knowledge. On the other hand, adaptive forms of strategy focus on adjusting strategic activities according to the situation and emphasize strategic choice and the timing of strategic actions (Jarzabkowski, 2004). Therefore, adaptation in the strategy-as-practice lens may be associated with exploration activities that enable decision makers to adjust the company's strategy by creating new knowledge that is used towards change and reorientation. Strategy-as-practice looks into how these recursive and adaptive forms are combined, through identifying indirect effects of

organizational "actors' practices upon patterns of action that scholars may assert are strategic, despite neither articulating strategic performance goals nor associated strategy processes" (Jarzabkowski et al., 2021).

Strategy-as-practice is a lens that includes several different aspects of strategy investigated in the strategic management literature, but it approaches them in a broader way concerning what strategy actually means and who performs the strategy-related activities. What strategy is relates to activities that are not necessarily associated with performance, but have important consequences on a broader range of organizational members; and those involved in strategic actions are not necessarily top executives, but organizational actors across levels who are involved in strategic activities. Furthermore, the strategy-as-practice stream uses a level-less approach, based on Giddens' (1984) structuration theory, according to which the autonomy of individuals is affected by structure, and structure is influenced by the exercise of agency. Structuration is, hence, the interface where actors and structure meet. Based on the concept of structuration, strategy-as-practice suggests that the distinction between the micro and the macro level is not necessary, and a level-less ontology is more appropriate, where practice is the interface where individual actors (i.e. the micro level) and the organization (i.e. the macro level) meet and influence each other.

Strategy-as-practice is based on a basic dilemma of strategic decision makers, who need to manage the co-existing and contradictory need for stability and change (Jarzabkowski, 2004). The stabilitychange tension is similar to the tension between improvisation and structure during the strategy by thinking process of the strategy creation view (Furr & Eisenhardt, 2021). In addition, strategy by doing under the strategy creation view is related to experimentation and trial and learning, which are similar to adaptive forms of strategy under the strategy-as-practice lens. And strategy by shaping suggested by the strategy creation view is relevant to the strategy-as-practice suggestion that strategy practice is a continuing social process that entails an interaction between organizational actors and the environment, an interaction that can actually shape it (Jarzabkowski, 2004; Jarzabkowski & Bednarek, 2018). Hence, strategy-as-practice includes thinking and cognition, as well as doing and shaping, but with a different focus: instead of focusing on activities by top executives that are traditionally considered strategic, it examines the day-to-day practices of organizational actors at different levels that are defined as strategic according to their degree of influence across a wide spectrum of organizational actors. However, strategy-as-practice is a lens for strategy; it is a broader way to define and examine strategy, whereas the strategy creation view is a suggestion about what strategy entails in uncertain and turbulent environments. The strategy creation view can be viewed under the strategy-as-practice lens, through examining how organizational actors at all levels (and not only top executives) are engaged in thinking, doing and shaping in uncertain and rapidly changing environments.

Table 1 summarizes similarities and differences between the opportunity logic, the strategy creation view and the strategy-as-practice lens. As the table indicates, the strategy creation view is based on the opportunity logic, whereas the strategy-as-practice is an umbrella, a lens that may change the focus of the discussion on strategy and strategic management. The comparison between the three strategy perspectives in Table 1 helps explain why the strategy-as-practice lens is not relevant in this study, although it is recognized as an important and insightful perspective of strategic management.

	Opportunity logic	Strategy creation	Startegy-as-practice
Overview	A competitive advantage	Strategy has to do with	Strategy is defined as
	stems from identifying and	thinking (cognition and	activities that influence a
	seizing opportunities faster	framing), doing	significant number of
	and more effectively than	(experimentation and trial and	organizational actors.
	competitors. Strategy is	error) and shaping	Strategy is not necessarily
	associated with performance	(imagination, story telling.	associated with performance,
	(competitive advantage).	Strategy is associated with	but includes a broader set of
		performance.	activities.
Context	Highly uncertain and rapidly	Highly uncertain and rapidly	Any context
	changing environments, but is	changing environments	
	inherent in strategizing in all		
	types of environments		
Level	Top executives	Top executives	Any hierarchical level
Туре	General logic underlying	View of strategy under	Lens for strategy irrespective
	strategy, which may include	specific circumstances, which	of context, including different
	different views of strategy	is based on a specific logic	views and logics

 Table 1: Comparison of Strategy Creation View and Strategy-as-Practice

If this study was viewed under the strategy-as-practice lens, optimism and paradox mindset would be considered as strategic practices, since they are not goals related to performance and they are not traditionally viewed as strategy processes. The assumption that paradoxical thinking and optimism are strategic practices would be based on the fact that they are affecting a wide range of organizational actors. Further, viewing optimism and framing as practices would explain examining their indirect effects on the more traditional strategic processes, like strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity. Educational level would (again) be used as a proxy of the overall cognitive ability of decision makers, whereas perceived environmental dynamism would reflect the interaction between the organizational actors and the environment. However, this study cannot be based on a level-less ontology, since organizational ambidexterity is viewed as a strategic decision under the basic assumption that strategic decisions are made at the top hierarchical level of organizations. Perceptions and cognition of top executives are extremely relevant with the decision to pursue ambidexterity (Wilms et al., 2019), whereas the actions of organizational actors at other levels do not significantly affect this decision, although they may affect ambidexterity implementation and, hence, its outcomes (Swart et al., 2019). Hence, a levelless ontology is not relevant, and the strategy-as-practice lens cannot be applied in this study that integrates the micro, meso and macro level.

The strategy creation view is certainly more relevant with this research, as it is related with strategizing under high uncertainty and high levels of change in the environment. Yet, this study has not looked into suggested dimensions of the strategy creation view, like experimentation and learning through trial and error that are included in strategy by doing, or storytelling in order to create a shared vision of the future that is included in strategy by shaping. However, this study is examining strategy by thinking through investigating how decision makers' cognition affects strategic decision making and specifically focuses on the role of framing (paradoxical thinking and positive framing through optimism). This study is based on the opportunity logic of strategy, which is the logic that underlies the strategy creation view.

This research examines the decision-making process that has to do with identifying exploitation and exploration opportunities and seizing them, in order to achieve organizational ambidexterity. Looking into the strategic decision-making process concerning organizational ambidexterity entails the assumption that the decisions made by organizational leaders matter, which is a central assumption of strategic choice theory (Child 1972 & 1997) and upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 2007). Further, both theories posit that decision making is influenced by individual perceptions of the environment and by individual cognition, which are central in this study. In the following section, strategic choice theory and upper echelons theory are presented in more detail, as the way to bridge the individual cognitive abilities and perceptions of uncertainty of decision makers, which are related to identifying and pursuing opportunities, with strategic decision making concerning organizational ambidexterity.

2.6 Strategic Choice Theory and Upper Echelon Theory

In 1972, Child criticized previous models explaining organizational evolution and success, which were solely based on considering contextual variables, and introduced strategic choice theory. According to this theory, decision makers exercise strategic choice when they are leading their organizations, through analyzing and evaluating both internal and external information in order to be able to identify opportunities, and their decisions are crucial for organizational success (Child, 1972 & 1997). Strategic choice, hence, posits that organizational success is dependent on decisions made by what Pfeffer & Salancik (1978) called the dominant coalition, i.e. those individuals within the organization that have major impact on strategic goal setting. CEOs are part of the dominant coalition along with other top management team members, but their role is even more crucial, as they are the ones held accountable for the outcomes of strategic decisions (Crossland et al., 2014; Sariol & Abebe, 2017). Hence, the decisions of organizational leaders make a difference for organizational success and are reached taking into consideration the organization's environment. Strategic choice theory integrates the different levels that influence strategic decision making and that are also influenced by it. Figure 1 demonstrates the model suggested by strategic choice theory:



Figure 1 – Strategic Choice Theory (Child, 1972)

As demonstrated in Figure 1, environmental conditions serve as an input to strategic choice, but are also influenced by it. Furthermore, the choices made are influenced by the decision makers' ideology, explained by Child when revisiting the theory in 1997 as the subjective part of strategic choice, related to leaders' values, beliefs, perceptions and interests, i.e. their cognition. In addition, the dual focus of information collection and analysis both internally and externally suggests a link between ambidexterity and strategic choice theory, where internal information is related with exploitation (mentioned as operational effectiveness or efficiency in Figure 1) and external information with exploration (mentioned as market efficiency and environmental receptivity). When revisiting strategic choice theory in 1997, Child mentioned organizational tensions and the paradox of continuity versus change in organizations, which can be viewed as related with exploitation (continuity) and exploration (change), i.e. organizational ambidexterity. Therefore, organizational ambidexterity can be approached through applying strategic choice theory.

Moreover, the goal of gathering and evaluating information for strategic decision making in strategic choice theory is the identification of opportunities (Child, 1972). Thus, there is a link between strategic choice theory and the opportunity logic of strategy, which is the key strategy perspective for this study. Overall, strategic choice theory views the role of organizational leaders and their interaction with the environment as crucial for organizational success (Child 1972 & 1997; Hrebiniak and Joyce 1985).

Strategic choice theory significantly enabled the evolution of strategy research, by suggesting that an organization's position is not only a result of what is happening in the external environment, as was mainly suggested till then based on the environmental determinism perspective (Hrebiniak & Joyce, 1985). Child (1972) suggested that organizational leaders are influencing organizational shapes, structures and processes based on their preferences. The evolution of strategic choice theory suggests that although there are limitations to the impact of the decisions of top executives, due to external and internal conditions, the final outcome of decisions is significantly affected by organizational leaders' decisions (Child, 1997). Thus, the focus shifted from considering solely environmental impact to recognizing that the position of a company is associated to leaders' actions and the degree to which these actions are responsive to the environment (Miles et al., 1978). Strategic management researchers have extensively adopted the strategic choice view (e.g. Campling & Michelson, 1998; Ericson, 2010), which was the basis for forming upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984).

Upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984) builds on strategic choice theory, by explaining how decision makers make strategic choices. Upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 2007) suggests that organizational outcomes, and more specifically strategic decisions and performance, are affected by the decision makers' choices, which are in turn affected by the decision makers' characteristics. The theory especially emphasizes those characteristics related to the decision makers' cognition and values, and posits that these affect strategic choices, which in turn affect performance, but there is also a direct effect of the decision makers' characteristics on performance (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick Finkelstein, 1987). According to upper echelons theory, strategic choices entail a significant behavorial element, which "reflects the idiosyncrasies of decision makers" (Hambrick & Mason, 1984, p. 195). These idiosyncrasies are a set of individual characteristics that include information or assumptions about the future, the understanding of different alternatives, and the consequences of selecting each alternative. Hambrick & Mason recognize that this set of individual characteristics is their cognitive base, which along with the decision makers' values are the two filters used for evaluating the situation under consideration. The evaluation phase is based on the values and cognitive base of decision makers and results in strategic choice, as Figure 2 demonstrates:



Figure 2 – Upper Echelons Theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984)

As Figure 2 demonstrates, cognition plays a key role in the analysis and evaluation of information for reaching strategic decisions in upper echelons theory. In their initial seminal work, Hambrick & Mason (1984) suggested that observable (demographic) characteristics of top executives are used as proxies of cognitive skills, since cognitive and psychological characteristics are very difficult to measure. When revisiting upper echelons theory in 2007, Hambrick recognized that it is important to look inside this "black box of organizational demography" (Lawrence, 1997, p.2)

and examined how demographic characteristics are translated into psychological ones. Hambrick (2007) suggested that a possible way of doing so is to measure cognitive and psychological characteristics. In addition, he noted that it is essential that views focusing on the micro level, i.e. the impact of characteristics and processes at the individual level, and the macro level, i.e. the effect of institutional and environmental features, are brought together. In line with the suggestion that organizations and their environments are closely related (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978), environmental impact is crucial in upper echelons theory. In reality, the very need to interpret situational (including firm and environmental) factors initiates the strategic decision making process. This strategic decision making process is the focus of strategic decision making researchers, who have suggested a framework for examining strategic decision making. The framework is presented in the next section.

2.7 The Strategic Decision-Making Context Framework

Strategy researchers suggested that the process of strategic decision making needs to be examined in more detail. Strategic decision making is concerned with "how strategic decisions are made in organizations" (Rajagopalan et al., 1993, p. 349). Early research in the field emphasized rationality and comprehensiveness in decision making, with different alternatives and their outcomes being very clear (Andrews, 1971; Ansoff, 1965). In addition, it was acknowledged that significant time is devoted to reaching decisions and the variations in the time needed to reach them, i.e. strategic decision speed, have different outcomes (Eisenhardt, 1989). Soon, it became obvious that the process of decision making is very complex and entails a political aspect (Narayanan & Fahey, 1982; Tushman, 1977), including conflicts, power, and different interests and goals within the organization. Today, the strategic decision-making process is viewed as a synthesis of multiple factors, including decision makers' behaviour and the time aspect of making strategic decisions (Elbanna et al. 2020; Shepherd et al., 2021). The stream of research on strategic decision making focuses on the different procedures that lead to making decisions and the various factors that affect these procedures. Different terms have been used as this area of research evolved, like strategic decision-making processes (Papadakis et al., 1998), strategic decision-making process (Elbanna & Child, 2007), strategic decision processes (Rajagopalan et al., 1993), strategic decision making (Eisenhardt & Zbaracki, 1992; Miller, 2008; Papadakis et al., 1998), strategy-process research (Hutzschenreuter, T., & Kleindienst, 2006), and strategic decision-making context (Forbes, 2007), to name a few. All these terms were in reality describing the same thing: concepts and relationships that describe strategic decision making, for which, however, a theory has not been yet developed, although the term is mentioned by Baum & Wally (2003) and the need for a theory is emphasized in a recent paper by Shepherd et al. (2021). All work relevant to strategic decision making recognizes that it is is a complicated process, affected by multiple factors, situated at different levels, both internal and external to organizations.

One very important aspect of strategic decision making, which is internal to organizations, is strategic decision speed (Eisenhardt, 1989). Strategic speed is the time that organizations need in order to reach strategic decisions, starting from the consideration of different alternatives and ending at the point where a commitment is made for specific actions (Eisenhardt, 1989). In her seminal study, Eisenhardt (1989) found that this time varied significantly across organizations, ranging between less than four months and over a year. Eisenhardt identified several potential problems related with slow strategic decision making, including the inability of decision makers to remain current with the situation, as well as changes in the composition of the decision-making team, which can create even more delays. In addition, when many months are needed to reach strategic decision speed may impede firms from taking advantage of opportunities before they become unavailable (Stevenson & Gumpert, 1985). Thus, strategic decision speed impacts identifying and seizing opportunities.

In general, the process of strategic decision making is complex, and it often involves multifaceted and interrelated decisions (Wu et al., 2017), including decisions about exploitation and exploration opportunities. These decisions are made by individuals (often working in teams or cooperating and interacting with other individuals); they are made at specific times, when firms have specific organizational characteristics (which of course are subject to change), under current environmental conditions (which, again, are most often not stable). Furthermore, different strategic decisions may have various degrees of importance and different motives, affecting their outcomes. Thus, the strategic decision-making context includes four types of factors: decision makers'-specific (individual), company-specific, environmental-specific, and decision-specific characteristics (Elbanna et al., 2020; Elbanna & Child, 2007; Papadakis et al., 1998; Papadakis et al., 2010; Shepherd & Rudd, 2014). Each factor is briefly discussed as follows.

2.7.1 Decision makers' characteristics

As already mentioned, the view that decision makers and their characteristics matter is at the core of strategic choice theory (Child, 1972 & 1997) and upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 2007). Previous research in the field of strategic decision making has proven the significance of leaders' characteristics for organizations (e.g. Andreou et al., 2017), including demographics and psychological characteristics (Elbanna et al., 2020) and examining these various characteristics as antecedents (e.g. Wally & Baum, 1994) and/or control variables (e.g. Souitaris & Maestro, 2010) in different studies that included strategic decision speed. In addition, the more demanding the task challenges of higher executives (which is the case in crisis environments), the more important their individual characteristics (Hambrick & Finkelstein, 1987). This explains why leaders' cognition becomes more important under crisis, specifically if there is no previous experience in similar conditions (Hitt et al, 2021).

2.7.2 Company-specific characteristics

A variety of organizational characteristics has been examined as company-specific factors of the strategic decision-making context, as firm performance has been associated with various firm-level features (Hambrick & Mason, 1984). For example, company size (Elbanna et al., 2013; Fredrickson & Iaquinto, 1989; Papadakis et al. 1998), internal systems (Miller, 1987) and type of ownership (Papadakis et al., 1998) have been found to predict how decisions are made, whereas firm size and past performance (Baum & Wally, 2003) or firm size, age and type of industry (Souitaris & Maestro, 2010) have been used as control variables. An interesting effect of company-specific characteristics on how decisions are made is provided by Fredrickson & Iaquinto (1989), who found that a change in a company's size creates a similar effect in decision comprehensiveness, i.e. the degree of analysis of information when reaching strategic decisions (Fredrickson, 1984). In other words, when a company becomes smaller, it applies a less comprehensive and rational decision-making process, whereas when it becomes bigger, decision making becomes more comprehensive and rational. In general, different company-specific characteristics play an important role in strategic decision making and such characteristics have been used as main variables and/or as control variables in previous research (Elbanna et al., 2020).

2.7.3 Environmental dimensions

Environmental impact cannot be ignored when considering the strategic decision-making process. Environmental determinism suggests that a company's position is highly depended on its environment (Hrebiniak & Joyce, 1985; Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978) and that strategic management is significantly influenced by environmental characteristics (Hitt & Tyler, 1991). Specifically in highly uncertain and volatile environments that create threats to organizations, like crisis environments, sensemaking and the nature of the decisions reached are significantly affected by environmental conditions (Le Bris et al., 2019). Hence, organizations operate under both the strategic choice of leaders and environmental impact (Campling and Michelson, 1998), and these two dimensions interrelate. This study adopts the view that leaders' choices are significantly affected by environmental characteristics and more specifically by the decision makers' perceptions concerning environmental characteristics. During the pandemic, organizational leaders were facing threats and risks inherent in the business environment, threats and risks that decision makers were largely unable to control (Sharma et al., 2021). Perceptions of such environmental characteristics are subjective, and individuals may have different interpretations of the environment, even within the same company (Hardy et al., 2020; Huff et al., 2016). More specifically, perceptions about how predictable the environment is affect how organizational leaders perceive and pursue opportunities (Egfjord & Sund, 2020; López-Gamero et al., 2011). Hence, environmental impact is a central aspect of the strategic decision-making context framework.

2.7.4 Decision-specific characteristics

The last of the four factors in the decision-making context framework has to do with decisionspecific characteristics (Hutzschenreuter & Kleindienst, 2006), like decision importance (Shepherd & Rudd, 2014), decision uncertainty (Sharfman & Dean, 1997) and decision motive (Shepherd & Rudd, 2014). Decision importance has to do with the fact that certain decisions are judged as more important than others (Dean & Sharfman, 1996; Shepherd & Rudd, 2014). Therefore, these decisions may be prioritized in terms of time and resource allocation. Moreover, reaching strategic decisions entails uncertainty (Noorderhaven, 1995), because often there is increased unpredictability of the decision's outcomes (Sharfman & Dean, 1997). Increased decision uncertainty has been found to both enhance (Bourgeois & Eisenhardt, 1988) and reduce (Elbanna et al., 2013) decision rationality. Overall, the examination of decision-specific characteristics has produced confusing results (Elbanna et al., 2020). Figure 3 presents the framework for investigating strategic decisions in organizations suggested by Elbanna et al. (2020). The framework identifies dimensions in all four factors of the strategic decision-making context as input for reaching strategic decisions in organizations, as well as relevant influencing factors.



Figure 3 – Integrative Framework for Studying Strategic Decisions (Elbanna et al., 2020)

Through a comparison of figures 1 to 3, it is obvious that strategic choice, upper echelon and the strategic decision-making context framework share significant common elements: a) they all examine how strategic decisions are made with a chronologically increasing focus on the process of reaching them, b) they incorporate factors at different levels (internal and external) that affect the strategic decision-making process, c) they recognize the importance of organizational leaders' cognition, and d) they recognize the significance of environmental impact. The strategic decision-making context framework further builds on strategic choice theory and upper echelons theory

through adding decision-specific characteristics to the factors that need to be considered when examining strategic decision-making processes and outcomes. Therefore, upper echelons theory is the evolution of strategic choice theory, and the strategic decision-making context framework is an addition to upper echelons theory with a more detailed focus on decision-specific characteristics that were previously not included in the relevant models.

This study uses the strategic decision-making context framework as a tool for connecting the different factors examined across levels. Decision-specific characteristics were not included in this study, since there is only one strategic decision examined and comparisons between different decisions' characteristics would not make sense. In addition, excluding one of the four factors of the strategic decision-making context framework is not problematic, as the inclusion of three of the four dimensions is viewed as sufficient to provide a comprehensive representation of the situation (Elbanna et al, 2020). In this study, the strategic decision-making context is used as the framework in which organizational ambidexterity is incorporated as a strategic option. The theoretical underpinnings of this study are presented in the next section, based on the evolution of strategic management that has been presented so far.

2.8 Theoretical Underpinnings of the Research

According to strategic choice theory, strategic decisions are crucial for organizations, do make a difference and are informed by environmental conditions (Child, 1972 & 1997). These choices are influenced by the perceptions and cognition of the decision makers (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 2007) according to upper echelons theory. Hence, as strategic decisions, decisions about exploration and exploitation opportunities do make a difference and are affected by the cognition of the decision makers, as well as by environmental conditions. Companies are ambidextrous when both exploitation and exploration opportunities are identified and pursued

(Fourné et al., 2019). According to the opportunity logic, the faster and sooner strategic opportunities are identified and seized, the better for the company (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008). Therefore, when organizations are strategically quicker, they reach decisions concerning exploration and exploitation opportunities faster, and this makes strategic decision speed (Eisenhardt, 1989) crucial for achieving organizational ambidexterity.

Strategic speed is essential under the opportunity logic of strategy that emphasizes the early and fast identification and seizing of opportunities. Identifying exploration and exploitation opportunities is not enough for achieving organizational ambidexterity, i.e. strategic decision speed is not tautological with organizational ambidexterity; there needs to be an evaluation phase that will lead to pursuing the opportunities identified, as suggested by McMullen & Shepherd (2006), and how fast this evaluation phase is completed reflects the company's strategic decision speed. This view is in line with Eisenhardt's (1989) definition of strategic decision speed as the time between the beginning of discussion concerning a strategic decision and the agreement to pursue specific actions related to it. Companies may identify multiple opportunities at the same time (Barreto, 2012), including exploitation and exploration opportunities. Therefore, evaluating them quickly in order to decide which opportunities to pursue entails decision making, which needs to be rapid in order to enable organizations to take advantage of the opportunities recognized (Bakker & Shepherd, 2017).

Based on the opportunity logic of strategy and drawing on strategic choice theory and upper echelons theory, this study views ambidexterity as a strategic decision made at the top hierarchical level of organizations; a decision that includes and interrelates with different strategic decisions concerning exploration and exploitation opportunities. Hence, organizational ambidexterity is affected by how quickly the different exploration and exploitation opportunities are evaluated, i.e. by how quickly exploration and exploitation decisions are made. The strategic decision-making process concerning organizational ambidexterity is affected by perceptions of environmental conditions and by individual cognition-related characteristics of the decision makers. Based on the above, this project's theoretical underpinnings are presented in Figure 4 below:



Figure 4 – Theoretical Underpinnings

To sum up, the strategic decisions made by CEOs are important for identifying and seizing opportunities about exploration and exploitation, and the speed of reaching these strategic decisions is important for seizing opportunities earlier and faster than competitors. These decisions are affected by CEOs' cognition and perceptions about the environment and the speed of reaching them affects the balance between exploration and exploitation opportunities pursued. Hence, this study incorporates organizational ambidexterity in strategy process research (Elbanna & Child, 2007) and empirically examines the link between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity for the first time. Further, whether organizational ambidexterity is beneficial is examined in the dynamic and challenging environment of the global pandemic.

2.9 Chapter Summary

This chapter presented the evolution of strategy research and the different aspects of strategic management and strategic decision making that are relevant with this study. Strategic management has to do with pursuing a competitive advantage (Rothaermel, 2017) and decision makers reach strategic decisions while analyzing and evaluating organizational and environmental constraints (Barney, 1986). This process leads to recognizing possible viable strategic options (Kirzner, 1997), i.e. opportunities, the identification and pursuit of which is a key driver of competitive advantage (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008).

There are significant differences when strategizing in stable and unstable environments; among the three logics of strategy, i.e. the leverage, the position and the opportunity logic, the opportunity logic is the only one viewed as relevant in dynamic environments and it is the underlying logic for this study. Firms with a strategy based on the opportunity logic are able to recognize and take advantage of opportunities earlier, faster and more successfully than competition, and are thus more able to deal with uncertainty and change that might quickly render identified strategic opportunities irrelevant, unavailable or obsolete. Evaluating and acting quickly concerning promising opportunities, including exploration and exploitation opportunities, means that organizations decide fast concerning strategic issues (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008), exhibiting strategic decision speed (Eisenhardt, 1989). Furthermore, companies that operate under the opportunity logic avoid the risk of failing due to a lack of internal balance between flexibility and efficiency (Davis et al, 2009), which indicates that they are ambidextrous (He & Wong, 2004). Therefore, the opportunity logic is used as the basis for assuming that there is a relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, since deciding fast means that opportunities for exploration and exploitation are identified and seized earlier, faster and more effectively than competitors, leading to a competitive advantage.

Examining ambidexterity as a strategic decision, entails considering the strategic decision-making process and the outcomes of ambidexterity. Therefore, how quickly the organization reaches decisions (i.e. strategic decision speed) about strategic opportunities is important, as is identifying the factors that affect the strategic decision-making process. Whether a company takes advantage of opportunities in a timely manner is related to how quickly it reaches the decisions that concern these opportunities (Judge & Miller, 1991), but is not determined only by strategic decision speed. The type of opportunities pursued, i.e. whether there is a balance of exploration and exploitation opportunities is also important and the impact of organizational ambidexterity on firm performance is also examined in this study. Moreover, strategic decisions are framed by decision makers' cognition (Fredrickson & Mitchell, 1984) and are informed by perceptions of environmental conditions (Child, 1997; Hambrick, 2007). Hence, strategic decision speed, organizational ambidexterity, the relationship between them and the potential factors that affect them are crucial in this dissertation, along with firm performance. The following chapter briefly reviews the literature on these topics.

3. Literature Review

This Chapter presents a literature review on organizational ambidexterity and strategic decision speed, based on the fact that they are crucial aspects of strategizing, both in general and in dynamic environments. In addition, brief overviews of the literature on the moderators used in this study are provided, along with a synopsis of the importance of performance in strategic management.

3.1 Organizational Ambidexterity

Organizational ambidexterity is a central aspect of strategy for organizations, because it relates to how a firm chooses to allocate resources (Cao et al., 2009; Voss et al., 2008) and to compete in its field of activities, ensuring short-term and long-term viability (Levinthal & March, 1993). Ambidexterity is the concurrent pursuit of exploitation, i.e. of strategic activities related with efficiency, control and processes' optimization, and exploration, i.e. of activities related with flexibility, experimentation, and search (March, 1991). In other words, exploitation entails focusing on existing knowledge, operations, and systems, whereas exploration implies focusing on creating new knowledge and growing. Exploration and exploitation are contradictory (He & Wong, 2004; Luger et al., 2018), since they require a different focus on knowledge (existing versus new), but they are not mutually exclusive; they can be simultaneously pursued (e.g. Adler et al., 1999; Gibson & Birkinshaw, 2004).

Ambidexterity's association with positive outcomes like firm survival (Hughes, 2018) and enhanced performance (e.g. Junni et al., 2013) has highlighted ambidexterity as a key research topic in management research, specifically because it has been found beneficial in various different circumstances and contexts. Organizational ambidexterity is important for young firms (Hughes et al., 2021), but also for established firms (Kammerlander et al., 2014); for smaller firms (e.g. Chang & Hughes, 2012; Chang et al., 2011; Lubatkin et al., 2006), but also for larger firms (e.g. Jansen et al., 2009; Mom et al., 2015; Park et al., 2020). The plethora of research work on organizational ambidexterity has led to different conceptualizations and has examined its relationship with several phenomena occurring at different levels in organizations (individual, team, organizational, inter-organizational). Although a doctoral thesis cannot fully present previous work on ambidexterity, the researcher attempts to create a clear understanding of what ambidexterity is and how it has evolved over time in the past five decades. In order to better understand the concept of organizational ambidexterity, it is essential that paradoxes and paradox theory (Smith & Lewis, 2011) are briefly presented.

3.1.1 Paradoxes, Paradox Theory and Organizational Ambidexterity

A paradox involves "contradictory yet interrelated elements that exist simultaneously and persist over time" (Smith & Lewis, 2011, p. 382). Therefore, a paradox includes at least two parts that contradict one another and this contradiction does not disappear over time. At the core of paradox theory lies the fact that these contradictory elements do not necessarily entail an *either/or* decision, which means that they do not necessarily represent two (or more) mutually exclusive, alternative options; on the contrary, they can be combined and the one may complement the other. Paradox theory has provided a new perspective in strategic management, since it has explicitly expressed how leaders can make decisions combining contrasting elements and manage the tensions between them. While doing so, organizational leaders use paradoxical cognition, i.e. the ability to acknowledge that contradictory elements are not always mutually exclusive (Smith & Tushman, 2005). Organizational leaders are, thus, able to use a both/and approach when making decisions concerning conflicting activities (Kearney et al., 2019), like exploitative and exploratory activities of the firm's strategy.

The ability to use a both/and approach and to avoid perceiving all decisions as pertaining mutually exclusive alternatives is important, because people working together in organizations experience

several paradoxes every day. Organizational paradoxes are mainly grouped in four categories (Smith & Lewis, 2011): a) belonging, b) learning, c) organizing, and d) performing. For instance, belonging paradoxes include individual versus collective identities (Pratt & Foreman, 2000) learning paradoxes include building on the company's history versus destroying the past when building the future (March, 1991); organizing paradoxes include autonomy versus control (Lüscher & Lewis, 2008); and performing paradoxes include social versus financial performance goals (Margolis & Walsh, 2003).

The combinations of the aforementioned organizational paradoxes' main categories lead to interesting subcategories, covering a wide spectrum of organizational activities. For this specific study, two specific subcategories are extremely relevant: a) the learning/performing paradoxes that include existing versus new knowledge (Andriopoulos & Lewis, 2009), and b) the learning/organizing paradoxes that include efficiency versus flexibility (Eisenhardt & Martin, 2000). Both paradoxes are related to the essence of organizational ambidexterity, which was initially introduced as the dilemma between exploration and exploitation in organizational learning (March, 1991) and has also been defined as focusing on adaptability and alignment (Gibson & Birkinshaw, 2004). Today, organizational ambidexterity is widely defined as the concurrent pursuit of exploration and exploitation, based on the combination of exploratory & exploitative innovation strategies suggested by He & Wong (2004).

Hence, exploration and exploitation are contradictory organizational activities that need to be pursued simultaneously as part of a company's strategy in order for organizational ambidexterity to be achieved. The decision that concerns them is not an *either/or*, but a *both/and* type of decision for companies that are aiming to achieve organizational ambidexterity. Organizational ambidexterity means that leaders recognize that exploration and exploitation are not mutually exclusive, but paradoxical strategic activities. The decision to pursue both is central in strategic
management and, as such, examining the factors that affect this decision is essential. To better understand how the ambidexterity decision is made, it is important to first comprehend what ambidexterity is, how it is implemented, and what its antecedents and outcomes are. A review of these topics is provided in the next sections.

3.1.2 Organizational Ambidexterity Definitions and Implementation

Twenty five years after the introduction of Duncan's (1976) dual organizational structures, as a potential answer to the problems arising when companies are facing conflicting demands, March (1991) revisited this work and underlined the necessity for companies to not focus either on exploitation or exploration, but on both. Viewing exploration and exploitation as activities related to organizational learning, March suggested that balancing the two has beneficial outcomes for organizational performance. This seminal paper was the basis for further evolution in the field of strategic management, since it shed light for the first time on how exploration and exploitation can be combined and why it is important to do so. A few years later, Tushman & O'Reilly (1996) defined as ambidextrous those organizations that manage to successfully implement both minor, incremental change, as well as more substantial, revolutionary change. Although the terms exploration and exploitation were not mentioned in the Tushman & O'Reilly (1996) article, revolutionary change was associated with strategic activities related to new environments and technologies, similar to March's explorative activities, whereas incremental change was associated with improving efficiency, reducing costs and optimizing internal processes, describing a set of activities similar to March's exploitation.

Since then, organizational ambidexterity has been defined in multiple ways. Although Tushman & O'Reilly (1996) did not mention the term ambidexterity, but rather the term ambidextrous organization, there are multiple examples of research that defines organizational ambidexterity as "mastering evolutionary and revolutionary change" (Tushman & O'Reilly's, 1996, p. 24).

Organizational ambidexterity is also defined as a focus on both adaptation and alignment (Gibson & Birkinshaw, 2004), a definition that has also been extensively used in the literature. Another definition of organizational ambidexterity is related to He & Wong's (2004) suggestion of concurrent pursuit of exploratory & exploitative innovation strategies. The aforementioned definitions are quite similar, as they both describe a both/and approach towards exploration and exploitation, but with using different words. In general, organizational ambidexterity is widely defined as simultaneously pursuing exploration and exploitation (e.g. Gupta et al., 2006; Jansen et al., 2008; Lavie & Rosenkopf, 2006; Lubatkin et al., 2006). In reality, all different definitions can be reflected and incorporated in the widely accepted definition of simultaneous pursuit of exploration (He & Wong's, 2004), which is also the definition used in this study.

Despite the richness of findings and insights of the ambidexterity literature, there is still some confusion concerning how it is defined and implemented. There are different ways to implement ambidexterity and these different implementations that have been generally referred to as approaches of ambidexterity have undergone multiple shifts. Initially, Duncan (1976) had introduced a sequential approach (temporal separation) of explorative and exploitative activities. In 1996, Tushman & O'Reilly observed a structural approach to pursuing exploration and exploitation, with each strategic activity being assigned to different units. Next, contextual ambidexterity was introduced by Gibson & Birkinshaw (2004), where a single unit pursued both exploration and exploitation. Slightly after the introduction of contextual ambidexterity, Lavie & Rosenkopf (2006) suggested that exploration and exploitation can be pursued across different domains, like when organizations balance their exploratory and exploitative activities over time when forming strategic alliances (Lavie & Rosenkopf, 2006 & 2011). The domain approach was also expanded to include domains that may be separated internally and externally, at the project level (Hoand & Rothaermel, 2010; Bahemia & Squire, 2010) or through acquisition and evelopment activities (Ferraris et al., 2019).

Table 2 presents the conceptualization of ambidexterity in the literature in terms of its definitions and different ways of implementing it, along with some important findings and the methodologies used to examine ambidexterity in organizations, after having reviewed a selection of seminal papers in the years 1976 – 2009 (a more complete table that also includes a plethora of papers published in the years after 2009 is included in the Appendix (Appendix 1). As Table 2 indicates, there is a historical evolution of the conceptualization of ambidexterity concerning how compatiable exploitation and exploration are viewed. At first, exploitation and exploration were viewed as mutually exclusive activities that could not be combined or pursued within the same unit or by the same people. As research in the field evolved, this has changed and today exploitation and exploration are viewed as contradictory activities that can, however, be simultaneously pursued by the same group of people or individually.

It is useful to consider some milestones in the historical evolution of ambidexterity as a field of research. 1976 was the year when Duncan introduced dual structures, and exploitation and exploration, and 2009 was the year when Andriopoulos & Lewis (2009) proposed a detailed framework, based on qualitative work, that explained the connection of paradox with organizational ambidexterity. Earlier, Adler et al. (1999), Gibson & Birkinshaw (2004), and Judge & Blocker (2008) had suggested that exploration and exploitation should not be viewed as mutually exclusive, but as paradoxical activities, shifting the discussion concerning the two activities from an *either/or* to a *both/and* approach. In the aforementioned time period (up to the year 2009), ambidexterity has been defined as the paradoxical pursuit of exploration and exploitation, it has been introduced at different levels within and across organizations, and its measurement has been established. As the table indicates, initially exploration and exploitation were viewed as activities that needed to be separated, either over time (sequential ambidexterity) but as research

in the field evolved, exploration and exploitation were no longer viewed as mutually exclusive and the paradox approach prevailed. However, there were some cases in the past few years where the relationship between exploration and exploitation was viewed as a dilemma (Døjbak Håkonsson et al., 2016) or as a trade-off (Lee & Puranam, 2016). Yet, in both cases the focus was not on ambidexterity, but on exploration and on exploitation as activities per se.

Today, organizational ambidexterity is generally accepted as a paradoxical strategic decision and activity, entailing both exploration and exploitation. It is noteworthy that ambidexterity implementation is either mentioned in the paper as ambidexterity approach or judged by the researcher, based on the organizational ambidexterity literature so far. For example, the paradox approach is often not stated in the respective article, but is implied in cases where contextual ambidexterity is mentioned. This is understandable as paradox theory is posterior to some work on ambidexterity, like for example the work by Adler et al. (1999), but the approach described is the paradox approach, even if the authors did not know it/mention it at the time. In reality, the terms contextual ambidexterity and paradox approach in Table 2 are interchangeable.

Authors	Ambidexterity	Suggestions/	Ambidexterity	Methodology/
	concept/definition	Findings	implementation	empirical setting
Duncan	First introduction of	Organizations use dual	Sequential	Case studies
(1976)	organizational	structures when facing	ambidexterity	
	explorative and	contradictions, by using		
	exploitative activities.	cyclicality regarding		
		exploration and		
		exploitation		
Tushman &	In order for organizations	Different, separate	Structural	Case studies
O'Reilly	to be able to achieve	business units focus on	ambidexterity	research in the
(1996)	long-term success, they	alignment and others on		semi-conductor
	have to be ambidextrous.	adaptation.		sector
Adler et al.	Pursuing efficiency and	Efficiency & flexibility	Contextual	Case study of the
(1999)	flexibility entails trade-	were enabled by applying	ambidexterity/	ΤΟΥΟΤΑ
	offs that can be more	4 organizational	paradox approach	Production
	easily overcome by	mechanisms (meta-	(moving from	System/
	ambidextrous	routines, job enrichment,	<i>either/or</i> to	Qualitative
	organizations.	role switching, partitioning	both/and	research
		the company's structure).	approach)	(interviews)
		Leadership, learning and		
		trust were crucial during		
		the transition.		
Gibson &	Business units are able to	There is no trade-off	Contextual	Combination of
Birkinshaw	simultaneously align and	between adaptability &	ambidexterity/	qualitative and
(2004)	adapt, through contextual	alignment. Successful	paradox approach.	quantitative data;
	ambidexterity.	business units use simpler		survey with 4,195
		organizational structures		respondents from
		and less formality.		41 business units
He & Wong	The concurrent	An imbalance between	Continuous	CEOs survey on
(2004)	pursuit of exploratory &	exploratory strategies and	balance of	206
	exploitative strategies	exploitative ones	exploration/	manufacturing
	(new product	concerning innovation, has	exploitation	firms
	development/new	a negative effect on sales	through time.	
	markets entry) and	growth rate.		
	innovative strategies	Organizations with low		
	(improving current status	levels of exploration or		
	through technological	exploitation should not be		
	innovation)	viewed as ambidextrous.		

 Table 2: The Conceptualization of Ambidexterity in the Literature

Smith &	Ambidextrous	Top management teams	Structural	Theoretical model
Tushman	organizations have	develop	ambidexterity for	based on literature
(2005)	differentiated, separate	cognitive capabilities that	the organization	review
	business units assigned	help them balance	with separated	
	with exploration and	contradicting demands:	units, but	
	exploitation	short-term efficiency	contextual	
		(exploiting) versus long-	approach for top	
		term innovation	management	
		(exploring)	executives	
			(both/and	
			approach).	
Lubatkin et al.	The aptitude of	TMT behavioral	Contextual	Survey in 139
(2006)	organizations to	integration is critical to	ambidexterity/	SMEs, both CEOs
	simultaneously exploit	attaining ambidexterity in	paradox approach;	and team
	present competencies	SMEs. The simultaneous	inseparable nature	members
	and explore novel	focus on both exploration	of exploration and	
	competencies. This	and exploitation positively	exploitation as	
	combination leads to	affects performance.	facets of	
	organizational learning.	Ambidexterity is possible	organizational	
		at the business unit level.	learning.	
Lavie &	The concept of	Organizations intensively	Structural	Pooled time series
Rosenkopf	ambidexterity is	involved in R&D alliances	ambidexterity in	analysis of
(2006)	expanded to strategic	that generate knowledge,	partnerships, but	alliances formed
	alliances formation.	shift to	paradox approach	by U.S. software
	Firms tend to balance	marketing/production	is used over time	firms
	their exploratory and	partnerships that leverage	(sequential	
	exploitative activities	knowledge. A focus on	implementation)	
	over time and across	exploration in a specific	and across	
	domains, when forming	domain is balanced by a	domains.	
	domains, when forming strategic alliances.	domain is balanced by a shift in focus on	domains.	
	domains, when forming strategic alliances.	domain is balanced by a shift in focus on exploitation on another.	domains.	
Lin et al.	domains, when forming strategic alliances. A firm's alliance	domain is balanced by a shift in focus on exploitation on another. Firm size matters: Larger	domains. There is no single	Analysis of
Lin et al. (2007)	domains, when forming strategic alliances. A firm's alliance behavior is viewed as a	domain is balanced by a shift in focus on exploitation on another. Firm size matters: Larger firms benefit from	domains. There is no single implementation of	Analysis of empirical data
Lin et al. (2007)	domains, when forming strategic alliances. A firm's alliance behavior is viewed as a form of exploration and	domain is balanced by a shift in focus on exploitation on another. Firm size matters: Larger firms benefit from ambidextrous strategic	domains. There is no single implementation of ambidexterity; the	Analysis of empirical data from 5 U.S.
Lin et al. (2007)	domains, when forming strategic alliances. A firm's alliance behavior is viewed as a form of exploration and exploitation. Exploitative	domain is balanced by a shift in focus on exploitation on another. Firm size matters: Larger firms benefit from ambidextrous strategic alliances, whereas smaller	domains. There is no single implementation of ambidexterity; the approach needs to	Analysis of empirical data from 5 U.S. industries in 8
Lin et al. (2007)	domains, when forming strategic alliances. A firm's alliance behavior is viewed as a form of exploration and exploitation. Exploitative alliances aim to enhance	domain is balanced by a shift in focus on exploitation on another. Firm size matters: Larger firms benefit from ambidextrous strategic alliances, whereas smaller ones benefit more when an	domains. There is no single implementation of ambidexterity; the approach needs to take into account	Analysis of empirical data from 5 U.S. industries in 8 years, and
Lin et al. (2007)	domains, when forming strategic alliances. A firm's alliance behavior is viewed as a form of exploration and exploitation. Exploitative alliances aim to enhance existing capabilities,	domain is balanced by a shift in focus on exploitation on another. Firm size matters: Larger firms benefit from ambidextrous strategic alliances, whereas smaller ones benefit more when an alliance is either	domains. There is no single implementation of ambidexterity; the approach needs to take into account the various	Analysis of empirical data from 5 U.S. industries in 8 years, and expansion of
Lin et al. (2007)	domains, when forming strategic alliances. A firm's alliance behavior is viewed as a form of exploration and exploitation. Exploitative alliances aim to enhance existing capabilities, whereas exploratory	domain is balanced by a shift in focus on exploitation on another. Firm size matters: Larger firms benefit from ambidextrous strategic alliances, whereas smaller ones benefit more when an alliance is either exploratory or exploitative.	domains. There is no single implementation of ambidexterity; the approach needs to take into account the various external	Analysis of empirical data from 5 U.S. industries in 8 years, and expansion of theoretical

	new opportunities and to		organizational	network level by
	develop new capabilities.		characteristics.	building a
				computer
				simulation model.
Mom et al.	The ability to both	Top-down knowledge	Individual	Survey of
(2007)	explore, so as to be	positively relates to	ambidexterity.	managers in an
	prepared for the future,	exploitation activities;	Contextual	international
	as well as exploit and	bottom-up and horizontal	implementation	electronics firm
	meet current demands.	knowledge positively	concerning units,	(104 responses)
		relate to exploration	but structural	
		activities.	concerning	
			individuals	
			(production	
			managers focus	
			on exploitation,	
			product market	
			managers on	
			exploration).	
O'Reilly &	A capability and it refers	The role of the leadership	Structural	Theoretical paper
Tushman	to the managers' ability	team is critical; cognitive	ambidexterity for	based on literature
(2008)	to adapt to changing	and behavioral flexibility	units; paradox	review
	demands.	are needed.	approach at the	
		No trade-off between	organizational and	
		efficiency and innovation.	individual level.	
		Senior teams must be		
		flexible in order to		
		enhance exploration and		
		exploitation.		
Wang & Li	There is an optimal	Overexploration and	Contextual	Data drawn from
(2008)	degree of exploration and	overexploitation are	ambidexterity/	S&P's
	exploitation. Exploring	harmful for organizational	paradox approach	Compustat, U.S.
	and exploiting beyond	performance. However,		patent data, and
	the optimal level should	overexploration's harmful		the U.S. Census
	not be considered as	effect on performance is		of Manufacturers
	ambidexterity.	lower when there is		
		increased environmental		
		dynamism.		

	Theoretical paper
Blocker with exploring new change is an antecedent to approach:	based on literature
(2008) markets and exploiting strategic ambidexterity, ambidexterity is	review
existing ones. moderated by not a dilemma	
environmental uncertainty (either/or	
and organizational slack approach)	
(ability to adapt to	
dramatic external	
environment shifts).	
Andriopoulos Ambidextrous firms Managing paradoxes and Paradox	Data collection
& Lewis exploit existing products making ambidextrous approach:	over 4 years:
(2009) and this leads to decisions is a strategic intent	(1) semi-
incremental innovation; responsibility that is (profit versus	structured
and explore new shared across units and breakthroughs),	interviews,
opportunities and this levels in an organization, customer	(2) archival data,
leads to radical and is not the orientation (tight	(3) observation.
innovation. responsibility solely of top versus loose	
management. coupling), and	
personal drivers	
(discipline versus	
passion).	

The work on organizational ambidexterity has been based on different methodologies and designs, including qualitative research, quantitative research, mixed methods, and theoretical papers. The large amount of research work on organizational ambidexterity has allowed examining its outcomes in various sectors, in companies with various characteristics and in multiple contexts. An overview of the outcomes of ambidexterity identified in the literature so far is presented in the following section.

3.1.3 Organizational Ambidexterity Outcomes

Table 3 presents some key findings concerning ambidexterity outcomes in the literature. As the table indicates, the dominance of firm performance as an outcome of ambidexterity is evident in

the literature. In addition, other positive outcomes for organizations have also been associated with organizational ambidexterity, like firm survival and long-term success.

Authors	Outcome	Outcome Level	Context
Tushman & O'Reilly,	Firm's long-term success	Firm	Companies in the semi-
1996			conductor and Swiss watch
			industries
Gibson & Birkinshaw	Firm survival	Firm	Multinational firms in
(2004)			Canada, Japan, USA, India,
			France and South Korea
He & Wong (2004)	Firm performance	Firm	Manufacturing companies in
			Asia
Lubatkin et al. (2006)	Firm performance	Firm	SMEs in the USA
Geerts et al. (2010)	Firm growth	Firm	Belgian service firms
Patel et al. (2013)	Firm performance	Firm	High-tech SMEs in the USA
Hill & Birkinshaw	Survival of corporate venture	Firm	Companies in 8 countries in
(2014)	business unit		Europe and North America
Mudambi & Swift	Firm performance	Firm	Manufacturing firms in the
(2014)			USA
Solís-Molina et al.	Firm performance	Firm	Colombian manufacturing
(2018);			firms
Úbeda-García et al.	Firm performance	Firm	Spanish companies in the
(2018)			tourism industry
Venugopal et al. (2020)	Firm performance	Firm	Indian SMEs
Kafetzopoulos (2021)	Firm performance	Firm	Greek firms
Iyer et al. (2021),	Brand management processes and	Firm	Companies in the USA
	brand performance		
Belhadi et al., 2021	Sustainable supply chain	Firm	Companies in Africa,
	performance		Europe and Asia
(Silva et al., 2021)	Speed of SMEs	Firm	Portuguese SMEs
	internationalization		
Borini et al. (2022)	Knowledge creation concerning	Firm	Subsidiaries in Brazil
	new product development,		
	operations/production, marketing		
	or environmental management		
	practices		

Table 3: Organizational Ambidexterity Outcomes

In general, ambidexterity has been associated with positive outcomes, as it has been found to be a major driver of firms' long-term success (Tushman & O'Reilly, 1996) and has been positively connected with the growth of a firm (Geerts et al., 2010), the survival of a firm (Gibson & Birkinshaw, 2004) and the survival of a corporate venture business unit (Hill & Birkinshaw, 2014). Ambidexterity has also been associated with superior organizational performance, in numerous different circumstances, both in the manufacturing and in the service industries, and across different countries. Some examples include manufacturing companies in Asia (He & Wong, 2004); SMEs in the USA (Lubatkin et al., 2006); high-tech SMEs in the USA (Patel et al., 2013); manufacturing firms in the USA (Mudambi & Swift, 2014); Colombian manufacturing firms (Solís-Molina et al., 2018); Spanish companies in the tourism industry (Úbeda-García et al., 2018); Indian SMEs (Venugopal et al., 2020) and Greek firms (Kafetzopoulos, 2021). Moreover, in dynamic industries where conditions are not stable, organizational ambidexterity has a significant positive effect on performance (Junni et al., 2013). These findings indicate the importance of organizational ambidexterity, as it has been proven beneficial irrespective of the geographical location or industry type.

The absence of ambidexterity, contrarily, i.e. a significant imbalance between pursuing exploratory opportunities and exploitative ones, as well as low levels of exploration and exploitation, both have negative effects on sales growth rate (He & Wong, 2004). Similarly, overexploration and overexploitation are harmful for organizational performance (Wang & Li, 2008). In addition, firms' tendency to balance exploration and exploitation in strategic alliances is beneficial for larger firms, but smaller companies are doing better when an alliance is either exploratory or exploitative (Lin et al., 2007). Thus, a negative effect of ambidexterity in strategic alliances has been reported for smaller firms. Hence, in the majority of previous work, ambidexterity has been validated as a driver of superior firm performance for organizations.

Very recently, different outcomes of ambidexterity apart from performance have been examined, all at the organizational level. Examples of different outcomes of organizational ambidexterity considered include knowledge creation (Borini et al., 2022), brand management processes and brand performance (Iyer et al., 2021), sustainable supply chain performance (Belhadi et al., 2021), and speed of SMEs internationalization (Silva et al., 2021). Ambidexterity has been found to be positively associated with these outcomes, which are either dimensions of the firm's overall performance (like for example brand performance) or associated with it (like for example knowledge creation). Hence, the novel links between ambidexterity and outcomes other than firm performance may very well be associated with firm performance as different aspects of it or as leading to it. Overall, the relationship between organizational ambidexterity and performance is a key relationship and, as such, it has been examined in this study under the conditions of the global pandemic crisis.

Since organizational ambidexterity is beneficial for firm performance and performance is the key driver of organizational activities, it is important to understand what needs to be done in order to achieve ambidexterity. Organizational ambidexterity's antecedents are presented in the next section.

3.1.4 Organizational Ambidexterity Antecedents

Ambidexterity antecedents have been identified at multiple organizational levels (individual, team, firm and environment). Historically, there is a trend on the antecedents of ambidexterity research: from examining antecedents at the macro level (external environment) in the early years, to the meso level (organizations) starting in the first half of the first decade of the millennium, and increasingly the micro level (team and individual level) in the past ten years. This historic shift of focus concerning ambidexterity is important, since after a certain point (around the year 2005), antecedents at different levels were examined in parallel. Similarly, the level where ambidexterity

was observed has shifted from the organization and unit to the team and the individual level. However, organizational ambidexterity – that is examined in this study – occurs at the firm level. Table 4 presents a selection of important antecedents of ambidexterity and their historical evolution.

Authors	Antecedents	Antecedent level	Level of ambidexterity
Duncan (1976)	Contradictions	Environmental	Organizational
Tushman & O'Reilly	Discontinuous change of the	Environmental	Organizational
(1996)	environment (political and economic,		
	competitors' strategies, industry		
	conditions)		
Kaplan & Henderson	Major shift in the external	Environmental	Organizational
(2005)	environment		
Gibson & Birkinshaw	Context of stretch, discipline, trust,	Unit	Unit
(2004)	and support		
Smith & Tushman	Team design and leader coaching that	Team (TMT)	Organizational
(2005)	enhance the creation of paradoxical	level	
	framing and cognitive processing of		
	contradictions		
Beckman (2006)	Founding team members' common	Team (TMT)	Organizational
	prior affiliation, as well as diverse	level	
	prior affiliations		
Lavie & Rosenkopf	Inertia combined with absorptive	Organizational	Organizational
(2006)	capacity		
Lubatkin et al. (2006)	Behavioral integration of top	Team (TMT)	Organizational
	management team (free flow of	level	
	information, open communication,		
	joint decision making)		
Jansen et al. (2008)	Shared vision of senior team	Team (TMT)	Organizational
		level	
Tiwana (2008)	Strong ties and bridging ties between	Individual, inter-	Alliance ambidexterity
	individuals at different firms	firm level	(external, project level)
		(external)	
Andriopoulos &	Strategic intent, customer orientation	Organizational	Organizational
Lewis (2009)	and personal drives	and individual	
		level	

Table 4: Antecedents of Ambidexterity

Mom et al. (2009)	Managers' decision-making	Individual	Individual
	authority, participation in cross-		
	functional teams and connectedness		
	to other organizational actors		
Simsek et al. (2009)	HR practices and routines promoting	Organizational	Organizational
	creativity, innovation, flexibility &	and inter-	
	teamwork; strong technology	organizational	
	orientation; strategic intent, shared		
	management vision, strategic		
	alliances/interfirm mechanisms;		
	communicating knowledge within		
	and across organizations		
Simsek (2009)	Structural separation, organizational	Organizational	Organizational
	context, and TMT characteristics	and team	
Cao et al. (2010)	CEOs' network extensiveness and	Individual and	Organizational
	communication richness, functional	TMT	
	complementarity and power		
	decentralization in the TMT		
Chang & Hughes	Centralized decision making and	Organizational	Organizational
(2012)	cooperation across levels		
O'Reilly & Tushman	Environmental uncertainty and	Environmental	Organizational
(2013)	increased competitiveness		
Rogan & Mors	Sparse external networks of senior	Individual, inter-	Individual
(2014)	managers	firm level	
		(external)	
Chang (2015)	High performance work systems	Organizational	Unit
Kortmann (2015)	Ambidexterity-oriented decisions	Team level	Organizational
Laureiro-Martinez et	Attentional control, i.e. refocusing	Individual level	Individual
al. (2015)	attention and selecting actions related		
	to goals		
Jansen et al. (2016)	Team-level cohesion and	Team	Team
	efficacy		
Kauppila &	General self-efficacy of employees	Individual	Individual
Tempelaar (2016)	and paradoxical leadership of group		
	managers		
Luo et al. (2016)	CEO ambidextrous leadership and	Individual and	Team
	TMT-member risk propensity	TMT	

Ajayi et al. (2017)	Culture based on openness and	Organizational	Individual
	knowledge-sharing and decentralized		
	decision-making		
Caniëls et al. (2017)	Supportive organizational culture	Organizational	Organizational
Dai et al. (2017)	A venture's new product development	Organizational	Organizational
	alliances		
Hughes et al. (2018)	Marketing differentiation	Organizational	Organizational
Soto-Acosta et al.	IT capability, knowledge	Organizational	Organizational
(2018)	management capability and	and	
	environmental dynamism	environmental	
		(external)	
Zimmermann et al.	Understanding the need for	Individual	Organizational
(2018)	ambidexterity by frontline employees		
Rialti et al. (2018)	Big data analytics-capable business	Organizational	Organizational
	process management systems (BDA-		
	capable BPMS)		
Swart et al. (2019)	Integration, role expansion, and tone	Individual across	Individual
	setting for senior managers; gap	levels	
	filling for knowledge specialists		
Rao-Nicholson et al.	Formalized HR practices	Organizational	Organizational
(2020)			
Venugopal et al.	Behavioral integration	Team	Organizational
(2020)			

As the table indicates, Duncan (1976) initially suggested that environmental characteristics (contradictions) create the need for using dual structures. The existence of "discontinuous environmental change" (Tushman & O'Reilly, 1996, p.11) was perceived as the main requirement for evolutionary and revolutionary change in the early years of ambidexterity. Environmental change is an important driver of ambidexterity, as has been validated in more recent studies (Kaplan & Henderson, 2005; O'Reilly & Tushman, 2013). However, not all companies that face the same environmental challenges are ambidextrous. Therefore, internal organizational factors need to also be examined and this is very relevant to this research.

At the team level, TMTs' cognitive capabilities (Smith & Tushman, 2005) and agreement in the senior team concerning the ambidextrous strategy enhance organizational ambidexterity (O'Reilly & Tushman, 2011). Further, team composition (concerning the different levels of experience of founding members) is crucial for young companies (Beckman, 2006), whereas for SMEs the behavioral integration of the top management team is crucial (Lubatkin et al., 2006). In addition, shared vision by the senior team is essential in large companies (Jansen et al., 2008). And irrespective of company size, ambidexterity-oriented decisions made by the top management team (Kortmann, 2015) and team cohesion and efficacy lead to team ambidexterity (Jansen et al., 2016).

At the individual level, antecedents have been mainly related to leaders' characteristics and behaviors; antecedents of ambidexterity include sparse external networks (Rogan & Mors, 2014), attentional control (Laureiro-Martínez et al., 2015) and general self-efficacy (Kauppila & Tempelaar, 2016). Further, ambidexterity depends on individual employees' work-related actions like integration, on role expansion, on tone setting for senior managers, and on gap filling for knowledge specialists (Swart et al., 2019). Moreover, organizational actors at different levels also play an important role: Andriopoulos & Lewis (2009) found that personal motives of employees at different levels are important drivers of ambidexterity, whereas frontline managers who directly form firm mechanisms and processes must understand the need for the simultaneous pursuit of exploration and exploitation in order for ambidexterity to be achieved (Zimmermann et al., 2018).

At the unit level, firms that provide a context of discipline, trust, and support, create the circumstances for contextual ambidexterity (Gibson & Birkinshaw, 2004). This means that a culture of support and trust, coupled with a certain degree of structure, are associated with ambidexterity at the unit level. In addition, Hill & Birkinshaw (2014) reported a combination of antecedents for ambidexterity at corporate venture units, i.e. units that become separate from the organization, but are controlled by it, and are responsible for exploring new business opportunities.

Hill & Birkinshaw (2014) found that ambidexterity in such units is predicted by the existence of strong relationships with three diverse categories of actors: top executives of the parent firm, managers within the business unit, and distinguished venture capitalists. Further, high performance work systems at the organizational level have been found to enhance unit-level ambidexterity (Chang, 2015), showing once again that the antecedents may be located at a different level(s) than the level at which ambidexterity occurs.

At the organizational level, strategic intent and customer orientation are drivers of organizational ambidexterity (Andriopoulos & Lewis, 2009); inertia combined with absorptive capacity enhance ambidexterity (Lavie & Rosenkopf, 2006); and a culture based on openness and knowledge-sharing also promotes organizational ambidexterity (Ajayi et al., 2017). Similarly, HR practices that promote creativity and flexibility, as well as a strong technological orientation enhance ambidexterity (Simsek et al., 2009). Moreover, a culture that encourages a trial and error culture, as well as focusing on goals, promotes exploration and exploitation respectively (Alghamdi, 2018). In the recent years, antecedents related to the use of information technology (Dezi et al., 2018; Ko & Liu, 2019; Rialti et al., 2018) and HR design (Ferraris et al., 2019; Garaus et al., 2016; Park et al., 2019; Rao-Nicholson et al., 2020) have been repeatedly found to be antecedents of ambidexterity.

Among the numerous findings concerning organizational ambidexterity antecedents, there are some contradictory findings within companies of the same size. For instance, in SMEs, centralized decision making and cooperation between different levels of the firm enhance explorative and exploitative innovations and have a positive effect on performance in a dynamic environment (Chang & Hughes, 2012). But also in SMEs, decentralization, more shared knowledge and responsibility, and rapid reconfiguration to suit new circumstances, enhance employees' engagement, which leads to ambidexterity and increases the chances of firm survival (Ajayi et al., 2017). Thus, mixed results have been reported concerning the effect of centralized cultures on organizational ambidexterity in SMEs. Such contradictory findings are noteworthy and particularly interesting, since they have the potential of altering the interpretation and analysis of theory (Post et al., 2020). Centralization and decentralization constitute different processes of decision making, indicating that how decisions are reached, i.e. the decision-making process, affects organizational ambidexterity.

Despite the fact that various ambidexterity antecedents have been identified at the firm level and that strategic decision speed is considered a significant aspect of strategy at the firm level, strategic decision speed has not so far been examined as an antecedent of ambidexterity. Establishing a relationship between the two would advance the discussion about strategic management, as both strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity are crucial parts of strategy. This study contributes to the discussion on ambidexterity antecedents by suggesting a new direction for research, acknowledging the possibility that the aforementioned contradicting findings about ambidexterity. This study examines strategic decision speed as an ambidexterity antecedent for the first time, which opens up a direction of examining various other aspects of strategic decision making as ambidexterity antecedents in the future. Hopefully, this study can serve as the starting point for incorporating how different parameters of the strategic decision-making process, strategic decision speed, is examined in more detail in the following section, along with its antecedents and outcomes.

3.2 Strategic Decision Speed

As already mentioned, strategic decision speed is a central aspect of strategic decision making. Its introduction by Eisenhardt in 1989 led to an important discussion around the pace of reaching strategic decisions, which is still lively today, thirty years after the concept was introduced. The main discussion concerned, and still concerns, whether deciding fast has a positive or negative effect on decision accuracy (Dane & Pratt, 2007), with accuracy being judged by the decision's outcomes. With organizational performance being one of the most important organizational outcomes, the research on strategic decision speed has focused on the relationship between strategic decision speed and performance. Of course, antecedents and contingency factors have been examined as well. The following sections briefly present a selection of important studies in strategic management that include strategic decision speed, which are relatively few (Shepherd et al., 2021) especially compared to the number of studies that include organizational ambidexterity. This indicates that this area of strategic management research is still evolving. This study significantly contributes to this evolution, through introducing the link between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity.

3.2.1 Definitions of Strategic Decision Speed

Eisenhardt (1989) introduced the speed of strategic decision making by describing it as the time that organizations need to reach strategic decisions; counting this time starts with identifying different alternatives and ends when a commitment to acting in a specific way is made. This descriptive definition, although not stated as a definition in Eisnhardt's (1989) paper, is widely adopted by researchers and is used until today. However, other definitions of strategic decision speed or of different types of speed have also been introduced in the literature.

Different types of speed that are important for organizations have been introduced following Eisenhardt's seminal work. Kessler & Chakrabarti (1996) defined innovation speed as the time between the early stages of development of innovation, including identifying the opportunities and the actions to take in order to innovate, and commercializing the innovation process through the introduction of a new product or service. This definition is based on Eisenhardt's conceptualization of decision speed, but it focuses on the innovation process. Similarly, Prashantham & Young (2009) apply Eisenhardt's speed concept on the process of internationalization and focus on what is happening after a firm has launched international activities, defining post-entry speed as "the pace of international expansion" (Prashantham & Young, 2009, p.277) after that point. In a similar way, Homburg & Bucerius (2006) focus on mergers and acquisitions and define the speed of integration as the time period required to achieve the desired integration of processes, structures, and organizational activities of the two companies. All these definitions are activity-specific and are expanding Eisenhardt's (1989) initial conceptualization.

A more generic definition of strategic decision speed has been recently proposed by Dykes et al. (2019). This definition makes the distinction between recognition, decision, and execution of strategic decisions. More specifically, recognition speed is defined as the pace of recognizing opportunities, decision speed as the speed of reaching decisions, and execution speed as the promptness with which these decisions are implemented. This definition divides the strategic decision speed that Eisenhardt (1989) had introduced into steps; the second type of organization speed defined by Dykes et al. (2019) is what Eisenhardt (1989) described as decision speed and is used as strategic decision speed in the literature (and in this study). Thus, the term strategic decision speed that is used in this project refers to Eisenhardt's conceptualization as the time generally required for a firm to reach strategic decisions, i.e. decide how to act, without including the respective actions related to execution of the decisions.

3.2.2 Strategic Decision Speed Antecedents

Although this study does not focus on the antecedents of strategic decision speed, it is important to provide an overview of the factors that have been found to enhance fast decision making, in order to facilitate a better understanding of the strategic decision speed concept overall and to consider more broadly the position of strategic decision speed in the strategic management literature. As Table 5 presents, the antecedents of strategic decision speed are identified at multiple levels, including the individual level. Among the individual-level antecedents of strategic decision speed identified in previous work, the most relevant to this study is cognitive ability (Wally & Baum, 1994), which also includes educational level as a proxy of cognition. The fact that cognitive ability is found to be positively associated with strategic decision speed is very interesting, since this study examines the interaction effects of different combinations of strategic decision speed and cognitive ability (paradoxical thinking, optimism, and an overall proxy of cognitive ability, i.e. educational level) on ambidexterity.

Authors	Antecedents	Antecedent level	Endogenous/exogenous
Eisenhardt	-Highly experienced decision makers	Individual/team	Endogenous
(1989)	-Number of alternatives considered		
Judge &	-Highly experienced decision makers, but	Individual/team	Endogenous
Miller (1991)	this effect is contingent on environmental		
	velocity		
	-Number of alternatives considered		
	simultaneously		
Wally &	CEOs' risk tolerance, cognitive ability, and	Individual	Endogenous
Baum (1994)	intuition		
Baum &	-Decentralization of strategic management	Organizational	Endogenous
Wally (2003)	-Decentralization of operations		
	-Formalization of routines		
	-Informalization of non-routines (enhancing		
	the use of tacit knowledge and intuition)		
	Environmental dynamism and munificence	Environmental	Exogenous
Zehir &	Participation and autonomy of decision	Individual	Endogenous
Özşahin	makers		
(2008)	Technological sophistication and industrial	Environment	Exogenous
	competitiveness of the environment		U U
Souitaris &	Polychronicity, i.e. multitasking ability, of	Team	Endogenous
Maestro	decision makers		
(2010)			
Gu et al.	CEO's transformational leadership	Individual	Endogenous
(2012)	r i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		
Clark &	TMT potency, i.e. the confidence of the	Team	Endogenous
Maggitti	decision-making team that it is canable of		Zhuogonous
(2012)	reaching effective decisions		
Chen & Chang	Organizational structure: formalization	Organizational	Endogenous
(2012)	impedes strategic decision speed	organizational	Lindogonous
Elbanna et al	Intuition	Individual	Endogenous
(2013)		marviaau	Lindogenous
Kownatzki et	Relationship between beadquarters and	Organizational/unit	Endogenous
a1 (2013)	stratagia business unit: transparaney	Organizational/unit	Lhuogenous
al. (2013)	orientation towards the outcomes onbanced		
	participation towards the outcomes, emanced		
	participation, trust, and timely feedback		

 Table 5: Antecedents of Strategic Decision Speed

As indicated in Table 5, previous research has examined factors that are both internal and external to organizations as antecedents of strategic decision speed. Concerning factors internal to organizations and how they operate, Eisenhardt (1989) identified the presence of highly experienced decision makers as being positively related to strategic decision speed, however subsequent research has found this relationship to be dependent on the industry, varying between for-profit and not-for-profit firms (Judge & Miller, 1991). Moreover, CEO's leadership style has been found to affect strategic decision speed; Gu et al. (2012) found that CEOs' transformational leadership positively impacts strategic decision speed. Similarly, CEOs' risk tolerance, cognitive ability, and intuition have been identified as predictors of strategic decision speed (Wally & Baum, 1994). In addition, the number of alternatives examined was found to positively impact strategic decision speed (Eisenhardt, 1989), and specifically the number of them examined simultaneously (Judge & Miller, 1991). This was to some extend captured by Souitaris & Maestro (2010), who found that the multitasking ability of decision makers predicts decision speed. Moreover, TMT potency, i.e. the confidence of the decision-making team that it is capable of reaching effective decisions (Lester et al., 2002) has also been identified as an antecedent of strategic decision speed (Clark & Maggitti, 2012).

Further, internal processes related to control and formalization have been found to impact strategic decision speed. Decentralization of strategic management, decentralization of operations, formalization of routines, and informalization of non-routines that enhance the use of tacit knowledge and intuition have been positively associated with strategic decision speed (Baum & Wally, 2003). Chen & Chang (2012) reported negative effects of formalization on strategic decision speed. Similarly, Kownatzki et al. (2013) found that the way in which headquarters control the activities of strategic business units has a significant impact on the units' strategic decision speed: transparency, orientation towards the outcomes, enhanced participation and trust, and timely feedback are positively related with the speed of making decisions in these units.

Factors that affect strategic decision speed and are external to organizations include environmental dynamism and munificence (Baum & Wally, 2003), with dynamism referring to the degree of unpredictability and change in the environment, and munificence to the existence of growth opportunities within it as indicated by sales growth (Dess & Beard, 1984). It is worth mentioning that environmental factors have also been examined as moderators in relationships that include strategic decision speed (e.g. Shepherd et al., 2021) and as control variables (e.g. Bourgeois & Eisenhardt, 1998). In this study, the impact of the environment is examined as a moderator. Moreover, choosing to conduct the research in the specific country at the specific time is also related to controlling for environmental factors, since the Greek environment was extremely dynamic and the pandemic crisis was at its peak when data was collected. Overall, this study incorporates factors both internal and external to organizations, taking an integrated multi-level approach.

3.2.3 Strategic Decision Speed Outcomes

Strategic speed has mainly been associated with positive outcomes like enhanced performance (e.g. Bourgeois & Eisenhradt, 1988) and innovation (e.g. Chen & Chang, 2012), but is has also been found to have negative effects on performance (e.g. Perlow et al., 2002). What seems to be a key factor concerning the nature of strategic decision speed's outcomes is the degree and pace of change in the environment: the more volatile and unpredictable the environment, the more beneficial the outcomes of strategic decision speed according to previous work.

Reaching decisions slowly entails risks for organizations, related to having analysed information that is irrelevant when the decision is finally being made and with falling in the trap of inertia concerning strategy (Fredrickson and Iaquinto, 1989). Companies that delay decisions and responses to environmental changes are missing opportunities, because opportunities disappear quicker than the companies respond to them (D'Aveni et al., 2010). The above risks related to slow strategic decision making are relevant in any environment and have been found extremely important when the external environment is highly volatile. Hmieleski & Ensley (2007) confirmed the need for fast strategic decision making in dynamic environments and emphasized that fast decisions need to also be comprehensive, in accordance with Eisenhardt (1989), who suggested that reaching decisions quickly does not mean that less attention is devoted to strategic decision making. Contrarily, fast decision makers have been found to consider more alternatives and analyse more information than those deciding slower (Eisenhardt, 1989). So, decision quality may be harmed if collecting information is neglected in order to decide fast (Kahneman et al., 1982), but fast decision making does not mean that information is not collected or that the decision-making process is less comprehensive (Eisenhardt, 1989; Priem et al., 1995).

These arguments are supported by the multiple positive outcomes of strategic decision speed identified so far. Table 6 presents findings related to strategic decision speed outcomes in the literature, while reporting the environmental conditions under which the study was conducted. When the environment changes rapidly, shorter decision-making time frames enhance performance (Bourgeois & Eisenhardt, 1998; Judge & Miller, 1991) and this may be related to first-mover advantages for companies that decide fast (Eisenhardt, 1989; Lieberman & Montgomery, 1988; Makadok, 1998; Tippins & Sohi, 2003). A higher pace of strategic decision making has been found to predict subsequent profitability and firm growth in dynamic environments (Baum & Wally, 2003). In addition, Chen & Chang (2012) identified a positive relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational innovation, while strategic decision speed has also been positively associated with the financial performance of new ventures (Souitaris & Maestro, 2010). Further, strategic decision speed is positively related to international performance of SMEs (Adomako et al., 2021), whereas Rahimnia & Molavi (2021) report the mediating role of strategic decision speed on the relationship between effective communication between decision makers and performance.

As already mentioned, despite the mainly positive outcomes of strategic decision speed in the literature, some negative ones have been reported as well. Perlow et al. (2002) found that companies in which decision making focused on reaching decisions quickly fell in a "speed trap" (Perlow et al., 2002, p. 947); decision makers who felt obliged to make every decision quickly created a pathological context, reproducing the need for fast decisions even when decisions needed to be carefully examined and required more time, leading to inferior performance. Similarly, Forbes (2005) reported a negative impact of fast decisions on performance, and Chen & Hambrick (1995) found that when large firms deviate from their typical behaviour of deciding slower, they damage their performance. Shankar & Carpenter (1998) found that innovative companies who do not move fast, i.e. innovative late movers, outperform first-movers; however, they did not measure the speed of decision making, but the timing of entrance in the market. Findings concerning strategic decision speed outcomes are summarized in Table 6:

Authors	Outcome	Positive/Negative	Environment
Bourgeois & Eisenhradt	Organizational performance	Positive	Dynamic
(1988)			
Eisenhradt (1989)	Organizational performance	Positive	Dynamic
Judge & Miller (1991)	Organizational performance	Positive	Dynamic
Chen & Hambrick (1995)	Organizational performance	Negative	Stable
Forbes (2001)	Performance (of new ventures)	No effect	Dynamic
Perlow et al. (2002)	The speed trap created a negative effect	Negative	Dynamic
	on organizational performance		
Baum & Wally (2003)	-Profitability	Positive	Dynamic
	-Firm growth		
Forbes (2005)	Firm survival (of new ventures)	Negative	Dynamic
Zehir & Özşahin (2008)	Innovation performance	Positive	Dynamic
Souitaris & Maestro (2010)	Financial performance of new ventures	Positive	Dynamic
Chen & Chang (2012)	Organizational innovation	Positive	Dynamic
Shepherd et al. (2021)	Decision quality (self-reported)	Positive	Dynamism: moderator
Adomako et al. (2021),	International performance of SMEs	Positive	Dynamic
Rahimnia & Molavi (2021)	Innovation performance	Positive	Dynamic

 Table 6: Outcomes of Strategic Decision Speed

From what has been mentioned so far, it is obvious that the speed of making strategic decisions has been found to be crucial for firms in dynamic environments, but there have been some conflicting findings and it is not yet clear how focusing on speed impacts organizational outcomes and performance (Shepherd et al., 2021). This is a major contribution of this study, as it adds a piece to this puzzle: organizational ambidexterity, which has not been examined as an outcome of strategic decision speed yet. Further, based on the different findings concerning the outcomes of strategic decision speed, it makes sense to support that its outcomes also depend on other factors, which possibly are in-between strategic decision speed and firm performance. In addition, organizational ambidexterity and strategic decision speed share many common outcomes: firm performance, firm growth, firm survival, international performance, and innovation, specifically in dynamic environments. Therefore, it makes sense to explore the potential existence of a relationship between these two key aspects of strategic management in an uncertain and volatile environment. This study explores this relationship in the context of the COVID-19 global pandemic crisis. It is, hence, essential to define what a crisis is and what it means to strategize under crisis, which are pesented in the following sections.

3.3 A Paradox View of Crisis

Organizations usually evolve through periods of incremental change interrupted by gaps/discontinuities, where more significant change is observed (Tushman & O'Reilly, 1996). Such discontinuous and unexpected changes can be characterized as "environmental jolts" (Meyer, 1982, p. 516) or "cataclysmic upheavals" (Meyer et al., 1990, p. 93). Such situations require repeated activity mapping (Ancona et al., 2001) and make individuals' connections between the past, present and future (Butler, 1995) more complex. A crisis' evolution, with its unexpected and disruptive events, makes time perceptions and sensemaking by decision makers crucial, as this evolution is not easily predictable or linear.

If the world is viewed as linear, its linearity is occasionally interrupted by events that introduce change, different rules and different dynamics in the environment (Bertuglia & Vaio, 2005). Under the systems view of the world, organizations operate in a system, where the aforementioned nonlinear events are crises (Almond et al., 1973). A system would not normally be in crisis; a crisis is an atypical event that denotes an important change, the outcome of which is a problem that needs to be urgently solved (Luecke & Barton, 2004). On the other hand, the socio-political view of crises suggests that a crisis is a disaster or a cultural breakdown that occurs due to erroneousness or lack of adopted norms and beliefs (Turner, 1976). In other words, a crisis occurs when the ideologies and cultural symbols fail to provide a shared meaning to society or system members (O'Connor, 1987; Weick, 1993).

Whether viewing the world as a system or adopting the socio-political view of the world, the crisis per se can be viewed under two different lenses: the crisis as event lens (Hermann, 1963; James et al., 2011) and the crisis as process lens (Mitroff & Pearson, 1993; Roux-Dufort, 2007; Turner, 1976). The former defines a crisis as an unusual, low-probability, but high-impact event that creates change and threats to organizations (Pearson & Clair, 1998). Under this view, the crisis starts with the occurrence of the unexpected event and ends after a specific, although unknown a priori, period of time. On the other hand, the crisis as process lens suggests that a crisis is a procedure with an extended incubation period that is identified under the influence of an event, while it includes several phases like the warning signals prior to the event occurrence, the event occurrence and the phase right after it, an intensification period, and then resolution (Turner 1976; Mitroff & Pearson 1993; Gatot & Jacques, 1999).

However, in reality, many crises are a combination of the two approaches; a crisis is a process triggered by an event, including several phases, but it may also include multiple events. It is not

the initial event alone that defines and affects the crisis evolution, but rather the occurrence and interaction of the different events within a crisis that dynamically create the crisis itself. Further, decisions during the crisis affect its evolution and may solve problems or create new ones, impacting the intensity and duration of the crisis. In this paradox view of a crisis under both as an event and as a process, there are smaller crises nested within the main crisis. This view of multiple crises within the crisis, which bear similarity to the main crisis, was described by Topper & Lagadec (2013) as a fractal crisis.

A fractal in geometry is a geometric shape comprising of parts, which are similar to the initial shape in a reduced size (Mandelbrot, 1982 & 2005). The smaller parts are copies of the initial shape and this property is described as self-similarity. The crisis literature has advanced using the concept of fractal crises, specifically in cases of mega crises (Helsloot et al., 2012), i.e. of very large crises that last significantly longer than expected and create major disruption. The concept of fractal crisis becomes increasingly important, as these mega crises are considered as becoming the norm (Lagadec & Topper, 2012). Contemporary history with the global pandemic and the recent war between Russia and Ukraine unfortunately verify that this is increasingly true.

The crisis as event view is appropriate for describing a crisis that is attributed to a single event and has a relatively short duration (e.g. up to 6 months); the crisis as process view can describe more intense crises with a slightly longer duration; and the fractal crisis view is suitable for describing mega crises that last significantly longer and are characterized by smaller crises nested within the main crisis. Hence, the global pandemic crisis is a fractal crisis, with a prolonged duration and multiple crises within it. The impact of a fractal crisis on decision making cannot be ignored (Lagadec & Topper, 2012). A better understanding of how the environment affects strategic decision making can be obtained by interpreting different types of environmental dimensions, presented briefly in the following section.

3.4 Environmental Impact: Environmental Uncertainty, Turbulence, Velocity and

Dynamism

This study acknowledges the significance of environmental factors in strategic management and strategic decision making (Hrebiniak & Joyce, 1985; Hough & White, 2003) and adopts the view that three of the four decision-making context factors need to be included in research work in order to have a complete framework for strategic decision making (Elbanna et al., 2020). Thus, the impact of the environment is viewed as a factor that cannot be overlooked when examining the decision to pursue ambidexterity and the process leading to this decision. Indeed, the nature of the environment has been found to be essential for ambidexterity and strategic decision speed, since, in unpredictable and turbulent environments, ambidexterity is more likely to occur (e.g. Jansen et al., 2006, O'Reilly & Tushman, 2008) and strategic decision speed is considered to be more beneficial for organizations (e.g. Chen & Chang, 2012; Rahimnia & Molavi, 2021; Souitaris & Maestro, 2010).

In order to understand the impact of environmental characteristics on strategic management, it is important to comprehend how the different environmental features are defined. Aldrich (1979) and Dess & Beard (1984) defined environmental dynamism as the rate and unpredictability of change in the environment. According to this definition, dynamism includes turbulence and uncertainty (Aldrich, 1979). In 1997, Volberda & Van Buggen defined environmental dynamism as how often and how intensely an environment changes, whereas Mitchell et al. (2011) defined dynamic environments as those characterized by high unpredictability and unstable rates of change. On the other hand, Freel (2005) has conceptualized uncertainty, a dimension of dynamism, as the degree of change and the level of turbulence across levels (environment, industry, and firm). Similarly, Boyne & Meier (2009), Danneels & Sethi (2011), and Rego et al. (2022) defined the other dimension of dynamism, environmental turbulence, as the degree and unpredictability of change

in the environment; but this definition does not differ from Aldrich's (1979) and Dess & Beard's (1984) definition of dynamism.

Another concept similar to environmental dynamism is environmental velocity defined by Bourgeois & Eisenhardt (1988) as "rapid and discontinuous change in demand, competitors, technology and/or regulation, such that information is often inaccurate, unavailable, or obsolete" (Bourgeois & Eisenhardt, 1988, p.816). Hence, high velocity environments are those characterized by a high pace of change, which is discontinuous, and a high degree of unpredictability, due to the lack of information. Further, environmental velocity has multiple dimensions: competition, demand, technology, regulation and products (McCarthy et al., 2010). Furthermore, an environment may offer limited or multiple opportunities, irrespective of its rate of change and unpredictability. The number of opportunities in the environment is reflected in describing it as hostile or munificent (Dess & Beard, 1984), i.e. whether it entails threats, is dangerous and offers limited opportunities versus offering abundant opportunities for growth.

Overall, multiple environmental characteristics have been introduced and empirically tested in the literature. The various dimensions of environmental characteristics and their definitions bear similarities and differences. For example, the main difference between dynamism and velocity lies on the fact that high velocity environments are described as environments with discontinuous change, whereas this is not included in the definition of dynamic environments. However, dynamic environments are viewed as environments with discontinuities (e.g. Tushman & Anderson, 1986). Hence, the different definitions of environmental dynamism and the proximity between the definitions of different environmental variables have created some confusion, with different environmental terms often describing the same concept. In general, it seems that the concept of environmental dynamism has prevailed compared to other environmental characteristics in strategic decision-making research, as is obvious in Table 6 above.

Previous research has incorporated different environmental dimensions in strategy research with interesting findings, including moderation effects of environmental characteristics on relationships that include strategic decision speed (e.g. Baum & Wally, 2003; Judge & Miller, 1991; Shepherd et al., 2021) or organizational ambidexterity (e.g. Jansen et al., 2006). For example, in dynamic environments strategic decision speed leads to better decision quality (Shepherd et al., 2021). In addition, organizational leaders' perceptions of the environmental conditions are more significant than the conditions per se concerning decision making (Child, 1972; Duncan, 1972; Hambrick & Snow, 1977; Miller, 1988, Weick, 1969). This means that an environment may be unpredictable and fluid, but if decision makers perceive it as relatively stable, they will adjust their decision making according to their perceptions; and vice versa, they will be making decisions that they deem as appropriate for uncertain and changing environments to an environment that is relatively stable, if they perceive it as dynamic (Freel, 2005; Hambrick & Snow, 1977). Furthermore, centralized decision making is viewed as an effective response to unstable environments (Staw et al., 1991), as the conflict that may arise from discussions and disagreements when decision making is not centralized may create delays to reaching decisions (Hickson et al., 1986, Mintzberg et al., 1976). Therefore, in dynamic environments, the role of CEOs as decision makers and their perceptions are very important.

In this study, environmental dynamism has been selected as the variable that reflects the situation in the environment, based on the definitions by Aldrich (1979) and Dess & Beard (1984). Therefore, in this study, a dynamic environment is viewed as an environment characterized by high uncertainty and a high turbulence (or pace of change). Environmental dynamism has been measured by measuring its dimensions (uncertainty and turbulence) based on the perceptions of the CEOs of companies in the research sample. Environmental munificence has not been measured, although items 2 and 4 in the construct used to measure dynamism refer to environmental hostility, risks, and threats. The following section discusses how crises are dynamic environments, but also how fractal crises are a superset of dynamic environments, and presents strategic management responses to the crisis at the firm level.

3.5 Crises versus Dynamic Environments and Crisis Management at the Firm Level

As already mentioned, dynamic environments have been extensively examined in strategic management. Crises are examples of dynamic environments, since under crisis external change is rapid and there is increased unpredictability (Comfort et al., 2001). Specifically environments affected by crises related to health issues have been viewed as dynamic environments (Corbacioglu et al., 2016), because of their high degree of uncertainty and rapid change. In a dynamic environment, like a crisis environment is, environmental conditions need to be incorporated in strategic decision making, as the company's survival is at stake (Weick & Sutcliffe, 2006).

On the other hand, a fractal crisis is more challenging than a dynamic environment. Fractal crises are not single-event shocks, after which the environment can start recovering. As explained by Topper & Lagadec (2013), the crises experienced lately by humanity (and these did not include the COVID-19 pandemic, because it had not occurred when the paper was written) have shifted the dimensions of crises: from large scale to off-scale, affecting the whole planet and threatening hundreds of millions of lives; from being complex to being unreadable, making it very difficult to deal with multiple disruption dynamics; from being tightly-coupled to being completely interdependent, with crises within the crisis affecting one another; from fast-paced to instantaneous, with very short or no time intervals between the different fractals of the crises occurring in different places, while they are covered by global media instantly; and from locality to dislocation, with the direct vicinity of the initial event that caused the crisis being totally irrelevant with the geographical areas that are affected by the crisis. Last but not least, fractal crises shift the crisis' experience from uncertainty to ignorance. Decision makers are not just dealing

with uncertainty, which is a dimension in every crisis; they are constantly dealing with the unknown, with a complete inability to make any assumptions about the future or to create possible scenarios.

The COVID-19 pandemic crisis generated all the aforementioned shifts and repeatedly created major disruptions in the personal and professional lives of decision makers. As Jang & Lee (2022) explain, the COVID-19 global pandemic crisis had the combined effect of a natural disaster and an economic crisis; it threatened the lives of individuals within and outside the organization; it disrupted international and local business systems, processes and infrastructures; and its wide impact was self-enhancing, with nested crises creating further shocks and disruptions. This fractal crisis affected the whole planet and challenged the physical and mental health of decision makers (Pfefferbaum & North, 2020) making it very difficult for them to handle the stress, anxiety, fear and emotional distress experienced by individuals during the pandemic (Xue et al., 2020). Hence, the context of this study is a dynamic environment, but also goes beyond it. Therefore, investigating the impact of the pandemic fractal crisis on strategic management, taking into account that decision makers and organizations in Greece were already exhausted from the Greek financial crisis, can shed light on how previous findings in dynamic environments compare to strategic responses to this crisis.

Organizational responses to crises are diversified (James & Wooten, 2005) and previous work has identified a typology of them that includes four distinct responses stemming from different environmental conditions when the crisis occurs (Smart & Vertinsky, 1984). Smart & Vertinsky found that organizational responses to a crisis may be short-term or long-term. More specifically, they suggest that when the crisis discontinuities occur in a previously turbulent environment, this will induce long-term strategic responses, as organizations are already trying to cope with change and understand that a long-term entrepreneurial effort is needed to deal with the discontinuity. Similarly, a long-term response that has to do with planning is evoked when the crisis discontinuities occur in a predictable environment, as managers are more certain about the future when the crisis begins and feel more able to use preventive strategies against the crisis and develop long-term coping responses.

On the contrary, short-term responses are enacted when the crisis' discontinuities occur in static or complex environments. In a static environment prior to the crisis, organizations are executing their strategic plans with a long-term focus, due to the lack of uncertainty. Hence, they are less flexible to making long-term changes to their plans when the crisis occurs, and focus on making incremental, adaptive responses that Smart & Vertinsky (1984) describe as firefighting. Indeed, used to operating in a static environment, companies may not able to understand the need for longterm changes and adopt these fire-fighting strategies as possible ways of addressing the crisis, hoping that minor corrections in the short-term will be enough. Last but not least, and this is most relevant with this study, when companies operate in a complex environment prior to the crisis, organizations cannot easily predict the future because of the interaction of different complexity factors. Hence, organizational efforts focus on the short-term tactical aspects of strategy, which bring attention to strategic actions with immediate impact. These differ from firefighting activities in the sense that firefighting relates to incremental actions with limited impact, whereas tactical actions entail wider impact on the company's strategy, but still in the short-term.

Crisis management responses according to the type of environment in which the crisis occurs are summarized in Table 7. It is worth noting that static environments are not the same with predictable environments, since an environment may be undergoing change, but this change may still be predictable.

Type of environment	Response	Time Horizon	Response Type
Static	Firefighting	Short-term	Adaptive
Predictable	Planning	Long-term	Adaptive
Turbulent	Strategic	Long-term	Entrepreneurial
Complex	Tactical	Short-term	Entrepreneurial

Table 7: Firm-Level Strategic Responses to Crises

The Greek business environment was characterized by increased complexity right before the pandemic crisis began. In mid-June 2019, as already mentioned, Greece topped the Global Business Complexity Index 2019 (TFM Group Report). Therefore, the discontinuities caused by the global pandemic occurred in the case of Greece in a highly complex environment. Organizations operating in Greece are, hence, expected to have used tactical responses to the crisis, focusing on the short-term but considering the wider impact of these decisions. On the other hand, leaders who have experience in complex contexts are able to also consider the long-term effect of their strategic decisions (Holling, 1978). So, although companies operating in Greece when the pandemic began are expected to have preferred tactical strategic responses, the experience of their leaders may have led them to also consider the long term. Hence, once again it is obvious that Greece is a very interesting research context for examining strategy under the pandemic; it provides a good opportunity to examine the impact of individual decision makers' characteristics on organizational outcomes in a complex environment that is expected to have enacted tactical short-term responses related to exploitation, but where it is also possible that leaders were able to consider long-term strategic responses related to exploration. Where organizational leaders focus their attention is crucial for strategic decision making under crisis (Weick & Sutcliffe, 2006) and it occurs at the individual level. Strategic decisions and strategic decision making under crisis with a focus on the individual level is presented in the following section.

3.6 Strategic Decisions and Strategizing under Crisis: a Microfoundations Approach based

on Cognition

Strategic decisions are significant for organizations at all times, since they affect their advancement in time and their overall success (Walters & Bhuian, 2004). Such decisions entail a commitment to certain actions and specific resources (Mintzberg et al., 1976). Strategic decisions can be considered in two ways: a) in terms of the types of strategic decisions being made, and b) in terms of the procedures that lead to making strategic decisions. The former is covered by strategy content research and the latter by strategy process research (Elbanna & Child, 2007). When examining strategic decision-making processes, it is important to examine the procedures that lead to selecting goals and the factors affecting them (Elbanna & Child, 2007; Noorderhaven, 1995). Obviously, the content and processes of strategic decision making are interrelated (Mintzberg & Waters, 1985), whereas decision outcomes are related to both. These outcomes may be either intended or unintended (Elbanna, 2018; Papadakis et al., 1998; Shepherd & Rudd, 2014).

Crisis environments are very challenging for strategic decision making and the way in which leaders analyse and interpret the environment is very important (Marcy, 2015). The will to solve any problem depends on the problem's interpretation (Kiesler & Sproull, 1982), therefore how decision makers perceive the situation is very important; if they interpret it as too uncertain or difficult to address, they might not exert the will to take action. But leaders under crisis are required to take action (James & Wooten, 2005). Deciding to remain inactive under crisis may create undesired outcomes, because reaching decisions and acting under crisis entails that feedback on the actions is available and learning occurs (Weick, 1988). An unwillingness to make decisions and take action under crisis leads to a less clear understanding of the situation and, possibly, more mistakes (Weick, 1988). Thus, reaching strategic decisions and acting on them is important under crisis.
Decision makers do not know what to expect from their strategic decisions under crisis, due to uncertainty (James & Wooten, 2005). Strategic decisions may, thus, have unintended outcomes, which may be beneficial or negative for organizations. The risk of a non-beneficial decision being detrimental for an organization is higher under crisis, rendering decision making under crisis a crucial process (Weick, 1988). In such conditions, decision makers may tend to focus on survival and short-term strategies, but they also need to focus on the long-term and be prepared for the future (Hitt et al., 2021). Missing opportunities, including opportunities for exploration and exploitation, because of ineffective decisions under crisis may not be damaging in the short term, but it may very well be so in the long term. But strategic decision making that concerns both the short term and the long term indicates that the organization is ambidextrous. In other words, the decision to pursue ambidexterity under crisis is extremely important for a firm and it is driven by the individual perceptions and understanding of the decision makers. Major external changes caused by crises affect organizations by making organizational tensions more salient (Smith & Lewis, 2011), making decision makers realize that they need to manage these tensions.

The role of individuals in crisis environments is extremely important, as they experience the tensions caused by the crisis. Indeed, a crisis cannot be disconnected from the perceptions of those who are experiencing it (Habermas, 1975), as these individually experienced tensions aggregate to organizations and societies. A crisis entails change, a loss of shared meaning and increased ambiguity (Weick, 1993). Pearson & Clair (1998) explain that decision making under crisis is driven by perceived time constraints and cognitive limitations. A decision maker needs to understand that there is change, to perceive a problem and to feel time pressure in order to view a situation as a crisis (Billings et al., 1980). This process involves making sense of the situation, which entails decisions and actions (Weick, 1988). The unwillingness to be involved in sensemaking creates delays in understanding and facing the issues related to the crisis, and

produces more problems. Organizational leaders need to perceive that there is a crisis and try to make sense of it, while realizing that time is a significant dimension of the decision-making process. But how fast decision makers realize that there is the need to understand the crisis situation and act is related to how fast the decisions will be reached, i.e. strategic decision speed. Time is an important element of every crisis, since time for taking action is limited and there is the urgency of making both timely and effective decisions that will undo the damage created by the crisis (Pearson & Clair, 1998). Thus, the faster the decision makers understand the need to make choices and start doing so, the better the crisis is managed, making strategic decision speed a crucial aspect of decision making under crisis.

From what has been said so far, it is obvious that there is a link between how individuals (decision makers) perceive the crisis situation, including the opportunities and threats it entails, and making effective decisions under crisis that affect organizational outcomes. This suggests a microfoundations approach to strategic decision making under crisis, based on how individual decision makers interpret the situation. The interpretation and representation of the world by individuals is defined as cognition (Thagard, 1996). Individuals cannot acquire all information available in the world and, therefore, cannot perceive every single alternative available concerning any decision, so they use simpler, cognitive representations of reality to guide their decision making (Simon, 1955). Cognition includes the mental processes associated with acquiring, evaluating, using and retrieving information, as individuals attempt to understand a situation and simplify the problem or issue considered (Johnson-Laird, 1983). Hence, cognition is what helps individuals make sense of a situation (Weick, 1990) and what enables them to cope with the limited ability of processing information (Halford et al., 1993).

The role of cognition in strategic management has been identified as crucial, as cognition may explain the inability to respond to a changing environment, i.e. organizational inertia (Garud Rappa, 1994). In addition, cognition and cognitive representations influence how and whether search is conducted in a new environment, and how strategy is formulated and implemented based on organizational leaders' view of the world (Tripsas & Gavetti, 2000). A very influential view about the role of cognition in strategic management has to do with accepting that strategic management is shaped by how decision makers recognize and interpret change, and subsequently translate this interpretation into strategic choice (Daft & Weick, 1984). In other words, strategic management and strategic decision making enables organizations to cope with uncertainty and change (Allaire & Firsirotu, 1989), based on organizational leaders' individual cognition that guides strategic decision making and strategic actions. This study accepts this view and posits that individual cognition, including mental processes, individual framing, representations of reality, and perceptions of the environment, influence organizational processes like strategic decision speed, and organizational outcomes, like organizational ambidexterity and firm performance, and their interactions.

The responses required by firms in order to be able to survive in crisis environments are shaped by individuals and may differ from usual strategic planning and actions (Du & Chen, 2018). In a stable environment, the need to decide fast has not been viewed as necessarily imperative (Baum & Wally, 2003; Priem et al., 1995). Firms that take more time to reach decisions through using a longer comprehensive process in stable environments have not been reported to achieve inferior performance (Fredrickson, 1984: Fredrickson & Iaquinto, 1989; Fredrickson & Mitchell, 1984). Sill, deciding very slowly in a stable environment leaves room for competitors to capture opportunities and achieve first-movers' advantages, which are relatively easy to maintain in unchanging conditions (Lieberman & Montgomery, 1988). In addition, not pursuing organizational ambidexterity in stable environments will not necessarily harm performance, because opportunities for exploration and exploitation are addressed through existing routines (Ossenbrink et al., 2019). However, in uncertain and rapidly changing environments, ambidexterity is related to firm survival (O'Reilly & Tushman, 2008), enabling organizations and organizational leaders to take advantage of exploitation and exploration opportunities, and avoid neglecting either type of opportunities which could create substantial threats. Hence, this study aims to shed light on the impact of decision makers' cognition and perceptions on strategic decision making, specifically related to strategic decision speed and ambidexterity, during the pandemic.

Decision makers are accountable for strategy, including achieving ambidexterity and superior performance, as well as for shaping the decision-making process, by choosing how decisions are reached and by reaching them in a timely manner. CEOs under the pandemic crisis have been described as Chief Crisis Officers (Liu et al., 2022), since they were responsible for facing the crisis-related threats and for navigating the situation in a way that helped the organization overcome the difficulties, uncertainty and turbulence caused by the pandemic. The role of CEOs in strategic management and strategic decision making is presented in the next section.

3.7 The Role of the CEOs

If, in general, the role of individuals during crisis is very important (Habermas, 1975), the role of CEOs, as the ultimate decision makers in organizations operating in crisis conditions is crucial. CEOs or company owners need to handle the crisis, by facing and eliminating the threats to firm survival and by protecting the interests of stakeholders (Im et al., 2021; Steinbach et al., 2021). CEOs are responsible for making the right decisions, including decisions concerning exploration and exploitation opportunities, as they are the key persons in formulating strategic decisions (Crossland et al., 2014; Sariol & Abebe, 2017). Under any circumstances, stakeholders hold CEOs accountable to the firms' overall goals, as well as those related to innovation (Berger et al., 2016).

The choices that CEOs make include a variety of strategic decisions and significantly affect important organizational outcomes, including performance (Adams et al., 2005).

When there is disruption in the environment, top executives must recognize the need to act fast and make decisions quickly based on previous experience in similar situations (Oliver & Roos, 2005). To do so, they use affective reactions as mental shortcuts that enable them to decide fast (Netz et al., 2020). But what happens when CEOs do not have relevant experience in similar situations, like in the case of a global pandemic, on which they can draw for making decisions? Decision makers may experience a lack of knowledge concerning the causal effects of their actions even under non-crisis conditions (Mosakowski, 1997), but under crisis this causal ambiguity is even more intense. When changes in the environment demand rapid collection and effective interpretation of information (Atuahene-Gima & Li, 2004), but there is no prior knowledge and experience in similar circumstances, it is decision makers' perceptions about the environment that guide their decision. This involves a sensemaking process (Maitlis & Sonenshein, 2010), which has a significant impact on how firms adapt and react to the crisis.

From what has been said so far, strategic decision making under crisis is related with how CEOs, act within – and interact with – the decision-making context. CEOs interpret the dimensions of the context based on their cognition, in line with strategic choice theory (Child, 1972 & 1997) and upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 2007). There is a bidirectional interaction between decision makers' cognition/behaviors and the environment, which affects organizational outcomes, specifically in unstable and turbulent environments (Wood & Bandura, 1989). This study examines perceived (by CEOs) environmental dynamism and cognition-related characteristics of CEOs as potential moderators of the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, based on a multi-level, integrated approach to strategic management that embraces the microfoundations view.

As follows, the three CEOs' cognition-related characteristics included in the research model are presented: a) paradox mindset (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018) as it is very relevant to managing tensions, b) optimism (Seligman, 1991) as a way of thinking that would be contradictory to a crisis, which is usually framed using negative framing (James et al., 2011), and c) educational level as a proxy of the CEOs' overall cognitive ability (Hambrick & Mason, 1984).

3.7.1 Paradox Mindset

Before presenting paradox mindset, it is important to define what a mindset is, as there are different conceptualizations of mindsets across different disciplines. The cognitive psychology stream defines mindset as the aggregate cognitive processes related to a specific mission (Gollwitzer and Bayer, 1999; Gollwitzer 2012), connecting mindset to cognition concerning a particular task. On the other hand, the positive psychology stream defines mindset as a set of beliefs that serve as guidance to the way a situation is interpreted (Dweck, 2006); and the social psychology and organizational leadership stream definition views mindsets as cognitive filters (Gupta and Govindarajan, 2002) that are used as a frame of reference (Benson & Dvesdow, 2003) that structures our thinking (Oyserman et al., 2009). For this study, the social psychology and organizational leadership definition is more relevant, since it emphasizes cognition and individual perceptions about a situation (in this case the crisis). Mindset is, hence, used as guidance that leads to further action (in this case action concerning strategic decisions). In general, mindset research is considered appropriate when examining links between the individual and the organizational level (French, 2016) and strategic decision making.

Paradox mindset is the mindset related to paradoxical thinking and to dealing with the paradoxes that are salient in multiple different activities in organizations (Smith & Lewis, 2011). Therefore, paradox needs to be recognized, understood, and managed by organizational members (Handy,

1995). Miron-Spektor et al. (2018) defined the abilities related to recognizing, accepting, and viewing tensions in a positive way as paradox mindset. By its definition, it is obvious that a paradox mindset is crucial when aiming to transform tensions into potential (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018). When facing tensions, individuals use paradoxical framing in order to not only perceive their existence, but also in order to not be overwhelmed by them. Using a paradox mindset means that tensions and contradictory demands do not bear a negative connotation a priori, and are not viewed as dilemmas, but rather as paradoxes, where contradictory options are not mutually exclusive and can be combined.

A paradox mindset is expected to be an essential cognitive ability under crisis conditions, since it enhances complex thinking, i.e. the ability to analyze and combine opposing elements (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018; Tetlock et al., 1993). The application of paradoxical framing by individuals enhances managerial sensemaking and leads to inaction avoidance (Lüscher & Lewis, 2008), which means that a paradox mindset and the abilities related to it are crucial under crisis, where inaction could be detrimental for organizations (Weick, 1998). Further, a lack of resources makes paradoxical tensions more salient (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018; Smith & Lewis, 2011); but in crisis environments, there is often low availability of organizational resources (Campling & Michelson, 1998). Thus, a paradox mindset is an essential cognitive ability of decision makers under crisis, enabling them to deal with the paradoxical tensions that the crisis entails. Part of the definition of a paradox mindset has to do with viewing tensions in a positive way. The ability to do so is also connected with optimism, which is presented as follows.

3.7.2 Optimism

Optimism is the "mood or attitude associated with an expectation about the social or material future- one which the evaluator regards as socially desirable, to his [or her] advantage, or for his [or her] pleasure" (Tiger, 1979, p. 18). Optimism has to do with viewing positive factors as

permanent and connected to the individual self, while negative ones as disconnected with the individual self, impermanent and situation-specific (Seligman, 1991). Optimism is, therefore, a cognitive ability of individuals, as it has to do with a positive representation of the self, of a situation or of the self within a situation (Peterson, 2000). Individuals' decisions and actions are based on motivation, which entails comparing personal intentions, interests, and goals with expected outcomes, described by Wood & Bandura (1989) as cognitive comparison. In reality, optimism is both motivating and motivational, as it entails a cognitive evaluation dimension and an emotional dimension related to the need to be optimistic about certain issues (Peterson, 2000). Hence, someone may consciously decide to be optimistic.

The fact that optimism entails a degree of choice is reflected in its description as intentionally expecting that more positive than negative things will occur (Hmieleski & Baron, 2009; Langabeer & DelliFraine, 2011). Seligman (1991) defined flexible optimism as the ability of an individual to alternate from optimistic to pessimistic explanatory styles in situations that are risky and require prevention. So, individuals can apply optimism or pessimism according to the situation and the risks involved. This can also be related to paradoxical thinking, since the same individual can be both optimistic and pessimistic, depending on the circumstances, rather than being optimistic or pessimistic in general. Thus, decision makers may choose to be optimistic or pessimistic in different circumstances or may choose to view different decisions with varying degrees of optimism. This is related to strategic choice theory (Child 1972 & 1997), since choosing to be optimistic versus pessimistic about specific decisions could make a difference to the decisions leaders reach and to their outcomes.

The fact that individuals have a choice concerning optimism implies that optimism is not stable, but it can be viewed as a state-like capacity, which may be changed and developed (Luthans & Youssef, 2007a and 2007b). Optimism along with other positivity-related capacities can be a source of competitive advantage for organizations (Luthans et al., 2007a, 2007b, 2010). Positivity in organizations leads to change and produces exceptional performance and extraordinary outcomes (Luthans 2002), through emphasizing advantages, strengths, and potential rather than focusing on difficulties, threats and feebleness (Cameron, 2008). Further, optimism has been associated with technological and business innovation, as well as the ability to build relationships (Gao et al., 2020).

On the other hand, too much focus on positivity can be harmful for organizations, as in the case of false hope (Snyder & Rand, 2003); positivity beyond a certain level can be delusional, and optimism has been found to harm new ventures' performance (Hmieleski & Baron, 2009). Thus, whether optimism is beneficial for organizations is associated with the context. This study examines the effect of leaders' optimism under a fractal crisis, as a cognitive characteristic (Peterson, 2000) that plays an important role in strategic decision making (Langabeer & DelliFraine, 2011). Similarly to optimism, the education of decision makers as a proxy of their overall cognitive abilities, is expected to have a significant impact on strategic decision making, and it is presented in the next section.

3.7.3 Education and Educational Level

Upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984) suggests that demographic characteristics of top executives can be viewed as proxies of their cognition (Hambrick, 2007). Among the various demographic characteristics, education is considered very important, as it has been linked with enhanced cognitive ability (Herrmann & Datta, 2005). In previous research, education-related characteristics of leaders have been used as a proxy of their cognitive ability, skills and knowledge (Batsakis & Theoharakis, 2021; Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Herrmann & Datta, 2005; Mom et al., 2009). Previous research has repeatedly examined the effect of education on strategic management, mainly in two forms: educational background (e.g. Jukka, 2021) and educational

level (e.g. Dollinger, 1984). This study focuses on the level of education of decision makers as an important factor in reaching strategic decisions.

Previous literature has extensively examined the role of educational level in management and strategy. Highly educated decision makers are more able to learn and can more easily adjust to environmental changes (Bantel & Jackson 1989). Similarly, those with higher levels of education are greater innovators and more open to change (Kimberly & Evanisko, 1981; Wiersema & Bantel, 1992). Furthermore, individuals with higher educational achievements tend to gather more information and analyse it better (Dollinger, 1984), an ability that is particularly useful under crisis. Overall, the education level of individuals is extremely important in the strategic decision-making process, as it enhances their ability to reach quality decisions, to respond better to change and to find new ways of doing things. These abilities are extremely important in crisis situations, when there are high levels of unpredictability, disruption and change, and the requirement to make decisions that won't harm the organization is imperative (Pearson & Clair, 1998). Therefore, the educational level of CEOs has been included in this project as a moderator, in accordance with previous research (e.g. Zhu et al., 2018).

All cognitive characteristics of CEOs serve as filters that are used to make sense of the situation, in order to achieve superior performance. Organizational performance, its significance, and its different dimensions are briefly reviewed in the next section.

3.8 Organizational Performance

Organizational performance is by default important in organizations (Venkatraman & Ramanujam, 1986), as organizations that do not perform well are facing threats related to their survival. On the contrary, those who achieve better performance are in an advantageous position concerning how

they invest, and plan for the future. In other words, performance is the actual test of effectiveness for any strategic decision (Evered et al., 1980) and, therefore, it has been used in a plethora of studies in management research.

The conceptualization of performance has typically been based on financial data and economic indices in the past few decades (Haggerty & Wright, 2009). In the early years of management research, organizational performance has been described in various ways: Etzioni (1964) related performance to the realization of firm goals, like sales and profitability; Yutchman & Seashore (1967) to how resources internal and external to the organization are used; and Thompson (1967) to the degree of fulfilment of the stakeholders' needs, including internal and external stakeholders. In the following years, organizational performance was revisited in more detail. When companies were reluctant to provide performance data, subjective evaluations of performance were introduced as proxies of observed performance (Dess & Robinson, 1984). Further, performance started being viewed as a combination of financial data and included more than one dimension, like profits *and* growth of sales *and* stock performance (Judge & Miller, 1991). When possible, performance data was collected retrospectively or at multiple time points, and averages were used as better indications of organizational performance over time (e.g. Priem et al., 1995), and past performance was used as a predictor of future performance (e.g. Fredrickson, 1985).

A significant milestone in strategic management research was Porter's (1998) seminal work that suggested that successful strategic management entails organizations not only achieving, but also sustaining superior performance. Different dimensions of performance became salient both prior to and around the time that Porter's work was published and they were examined in numerous studies including employee productivity (Bae & Lawler, 2000; Cappelli & Neumark, 2001), organizational productivity (Huselid, 1995), return on assets and investments (e.g. Haleblian & Finkelstein, 1993), or customer satisfaction (Delaney & Huselid, 1996), among others.

The vast majority of work on strategic decision making has focused on performance at the organizational level combining more than one financial indicator (e.g. Papadakis et al., 1998)., and this is the approach of this study. As organizational-level performance is crucial for the survival of a firm under crisis, it is not enough for organizations to achieve high levels in one or some specific dimensions of performance. It is superior firm performance that makes a difference, not just superior performance concerning specific activities. In addition, a strong positive relationship between organizational ambidexterity and organizational performance has been repeatedly validated in previous work (e.g. Junni et al., 2013), whereas conflicting findings have been reported concerning the relationship between strategic decision speed and performance (e.g. Perlow et al., 2003). This study examines firm performance under the COVID-19 pandemic and how it is related with other aspects of strategy, aiming to shed light on strategic decision making under a fractal crisis.

3.9 The Key Debates

Strategic management literature has significantly advanced in the past decades, shifting from focusing on the external environment as the main input in the process of strategizing, to simultaneously examining different levels, internal and external to organizations as factors that influence strategy. Yet, there are some important debates that are still ongoing concerning different aspects of strategic management and this study aims to add to the discussion concerning some of these key debates. These debates can be categorized as relating more generally to strategic management and strategic decision making versus relating to specific aspects of strategy, like strategic decision speed or organizational ambidexterity that are both examined in this study.

The first key debate has to do with strategic management in general and concerns the level of influence that managers have, i.e. to what extent the characteristics and decisions of decision makers affect organizational outcomes, while viewing organizational ambidexterity as a key strategic decision. Strategic choice theory (Child, 1972 & 1997) and upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 2007) advocate that managerial choices and characteristics make a big difference. However, is this true under crisis conditions when there is increased environmental dynamism? In other words, to what level and in which ways can decision makers influence firm level outcomes related to strategy under the challenging environmental conditions of a crisis? The main paper on which this study aims to build concerning this debate is Furr & Eisenhardt's (2021) article on strategy under uncertainty, which suggests that in dynamic environments strategy has to do with thinking, doing and shaping. The study aims to contribute to the understanding of whether this is true and to what extent decision makers are involved in thinking, doing and shaping as strategists under crisis.

Another key debate that relates to strategic management in general, closely related to the first debate presented above, has to do with the factors that affect strategic decisions and their interaction, described as the context of strategic decision making by Elbanna et al. (2020). In other words, which factors affect the nature of strategic decisions and the process of reaching them, and how do they affect one another? A specific focus of this discussion has to do with the interplay between environmental impact and managerial actions, viewing environmental, individual and organizational characteristics as contextual factors of the decision-making process. This discussion on the context of strategic decisions making is a discussion that this study aims to add on, building on Elbanna et al.'s work (2020) through empirically considering different contextual factors simultaneously and examining their interplay. More specifically, this study incorporates individual characteristics related to CEO cognition, environmental dimensions and organizational features, and takes a holistic view of strategic decision making at different levels. Further, this study follows

Elbanna et al.'s (2020) suggestion to borrow concepts and ideas from the area of strategic decision making and applying them in a fundamental field of strategic management research, i.e. organizational ambidexterity.

The third debate relevant to this study specifically concerns strategic decision speed and the ongoing discussion concerning the effect of reaching strategic decisions quickly. The question here has to do with whether a high pace of reaching strategic decisions is beneficial for organizations or not, and previous research has produced mixed and contradictory findings: in some cases deciding quickly about strategic issues has been associated with superior performance (e.g. Baum & Wally, 2003), in others with poor performance (e.g. Perlow et al., 2002) and there were also cases where it was found to not affect firm performance at all (e.g. Forbes, 2001). The main paper on which this study aims to build on is the paper by Shepherd et al, (2021), which examines the decision quality of strategic decision speed. In this study, decision quality is specifically related with the outcomes of strategic decision speed and whether they are positive or negative for the organization. The potential outcomes of strategic decision speed examined in this study are organizational ambidexterity, empirically examined for the first time as an outcome of deciding quickly about strategy, and firm performance, which has been repeatedly examined with mixed findings.

The fourth and last debate relevant to this study is specific to organizational ambidexterity and has to do with whether it is beneficial and achievable for organizations in different contexts, specifically in dynamic and crisis contexts. So far, ambidexterity has been proven beneficial under uncertainty and instability (Heracleous et al., 2017) and when the environment is highly volatile, uncertain, complex, and ambiguous (Du & Chen, 2018). However, the outcomes of organizational ambidexterity have not yet been sufficiently researched under crisis (Jang & Lee, 2022), and especially under a fractal crisis like the global pandemic. Although there are indications of a

positive relationship between organizational ambidexterity and positive outcomes under crisis (e.g. Dolz et al., 2019; Jang & Lee, 2022), there is the need for multiple studies that examine the outcomes of organizational ambidexterity under different types of crisis and/or under different phases of the same crisis. Further, if it is beneficial for companies to pursue ambidexterity under crisis, an important issue arises: how easy is it for companies to achieve ambidexterity under crisis, when environmental dynamism is very high? This study aims to contribute to this discussion, viewing the Du & Chen (2018) article as a key paper in this discussion, since it raises the issue of applying ambidexterity in challenging environmental conditions.

Overall, this study is taking an integrated multilevel approach on strategic management, while focusing on strategic decision making under crisis, with the aim to add to the discussion on the three key debates presented above.

3.10 Chapter Summary

When the environment is rapidly changing and difficult to predict, previous literature has identified reaching decisions quickly and pursuing organizational ambidexterity as beneficial for organizations (e.g. Eisenhardt, 1989; Junni et al, 2013). A literature review on these key strategic aspects of organizations indicated that they share the same outcomes, like innovation, superior firm performance or firm survival. Hence, the question arises concerning whether strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity are related, based on the fact that how quickly opportunities are identified and pursued affects how quickly exploitative and explorative opportunities are recognized and seized. Strategic speed and organizational ambidexterity are both part of the strategic decision-making process in organizations. Strategic decision making is important at all times, but is even more crucial during a crisis. Therefore, apart from the literature on strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, a brief preview of crisis literature

was presented and the fact that pandemic crisis is a fractal crisis (Topper & Lagadec, 2013) was explained.

Organizations respond to crisis in four different ways according to environmental conditions when the crisis began. When the environment is complex, like in the case of Greece, companies are expected to use tactical responses that focus on the short-term. However, the role of decision makers is very important, as they are required to make sense of the situation in order to make decisions and take action (Weick, 1988). How decision makers perceive the crisis is crucial (Habermas, 1975), as reaching strategic decisions under crisis is based on perceived time constraints and cognitive limitations (Pearson & Clair, 1998). Therefore, the role of CEOs and their cognition is extremely important, as are perceptions about environmental factors. All the above influence strategic decisions reached under crisis, the process of reaching them and their outcomes, with the crucial outcome being firm performance. Hence, a presentation of the specific individual cognitive characteristics examined in this study, i.e. paradox mindset, optimism, and educational level, and the role of the environment, as well as performance were briefly reviewed.

Based on the rationale and theoretical background presented in Chapters 2 and 3, the following Chapter explains how hypotheses were formed and presents the research model under examination.

4. Organizational Ambidexterity and Strategic Decision Making under

Crisis: an Integrative Model

This chapter includes the deductive reasoning based on which the hypotheses for this study have been formed. In this dissertation, organizational ambidexterity is viewed as part of strategic decision making. This means that the study is focusing on the process of making the strategic decision to be ambidextrous and not on how the decision to pursue ambidexterity is implemented. However, the study examines whether the decision has been effectively implemented, i.e. whether firms in the sample have achieved organizational ambidexterity. Furthermore, apart from the strategy formulation part, the outcomes of organizational ambidexterity are examined, i.e. whether this has led to superior performance. Therefore, this study is concerned with what happens prior to making the decision to pursue ambidexterity or the set of decisions that the ambidexterity decision entails, and after having reached the decision(s).

The decision concerning the pursuit of ambidexterity may not be conscious, i.e. top executives may decide to pursue both exploration and exploitation without being familiar with what exploration and exploitation mean. However, ambidexterity requires decision makers to reach strategic and investment decisions that enable a balance between exploration and exploitation opportunities (Fourné et al., 2019). Thus, if ambidexterity is achieved, it means that the ambidexterity decision has been made at some point (consciously, or not). If ambidexterity is not achieved, there are three possible explanations concerning why the company is not ambidextrous: firstly, a decision has been reached to only focus on either exploration or exploitation opportunities, i.e. the company pursues one of the two types of opportunities; secondly, ambidexterity is pursued, i.e. the company is trying to pursue both types of opportunities, but ambidexterity implementation is problematic; or thirdly, the company is performing low both on explorative and exploitative activities, which may occur if a company remains strategically

inactive, i.e. is not implementing decisions concerning exploration and exploitation opportunities. In any case, whether decision makers realize it or not, they are involved in the strategic decisionmaking process related to ambidexterity.

As follows, the specific aspects of incorporating ambidexterity in the strategic decision-making process that are relevant to this study are described.

4.1 Strategic Decision Speed and Organizational Ambidexterity

Time is a basic dimension in all organizational phenomena, and it is inherent in behavioral research (Jones & Coviello, 2005). Strategic speed is a basic dimension of decision making related with time and there are important variations concerning the time needed by different companies to reach strategic decisions (Eisenhardt, 1989), leading to different organizational outcomes.

According to previous research, reaching strategic decisions quickly is essential in dynamic environments (e.g Halevi et al., 2015; Hmieleski & Ensley, 2007), because delaying decisions may lead to being misaligned with the pace of external change and missing opportunities (Shepherd et al., 2021); the missed opportunities include opportunities for exploitation and exploration. In dynamic environments, slower decision making entails the risk of basing the decision on obsolete information (Eisenhardt, 1989; D'Aveni et al., 2010); this may mean that the opportunity may no longer be available or relevant when the decision is made. So, reaching decisions quickly enables opportunity capture in dynamic environments, including exploration and exploitation opportunities. Therefore, strategic decision speed is expected to be positively associated with ambidexterity in dynamic environments.

On the other hand, reaching strategic decisions quickly in non-dynamic environments is also beneficial for opportunities identification and seeking, because in case of delays, opportunities will be taken by competitors; competitors will then enjoy first-mover advantages in an environment that is not significantly changing, which entails that they learn more by possible mistakes as early adopters and make the required changes quickly in order to impede late movers from capturing the opportunity (Lieberman & Montgomery, 1988). Thus, fast decision making enables the effective capture of opportunities (Bakker & Shepherd, 2017), including opportunities for exploration and exploitation, in non-dynamic environments. In other words, strategic decision speed is expected to be positively associated with ambidexterity in non-dynamic environments as well.

Furthermore, firms that act instead of just planning and waiting, exploit existing internal knowledge (Pfeffer & Sutton, 2000), while deciding fast creates new knowledge with leaders making more decisions in the specific time period and learning from them (Eisenhardt, 1989; Mosakowski, 1997). Thus, being ambidextrous requires deciding quickly based on using existing knowledge, in order to try to identify and capture the opportunities based on what is known so far – related to exploitation. At the same time, being ambidextrous requires trying and learning new things in order to pursue the opportunities, enhancing the creation of new knowledge – related to exploration. Delays in decisions entail not acting, hence neither using existing knowledge nor creating new knowledge. But knowledge and learning are inherent in organizational ambidexterity according to March (1991) who had initially conceptualized ambidexterity as the dilemma between exploratory and exploitative activities in organizational learning. In other words, fast decision making enhances opportunities identification and capture and enhances the use of existing knowledge (exploitation) and the creation of new knowledge (exploration) in organizations in all environments.

Overall, in any environment, opportunities for achieving ambidexterity are related to opportunities for creating new products or entering new markets and market segments (exploration opportunities), or to the improvement and optimization of internal systems, processes, and technologies (exploitation opportunities) (Benner & Tushman, 2003; Fourné et al., 2019). When the relevant decisions are reached fast, both types of opportunities have higher chances of being recognized and seized, both in dynamic and in non-dynamic environments. Strategic speed implies that exploitation and exploration opportunities are not overlooked, due to not being identified on time, and are not missed due to no longer being available because competitors have already seized them. This leads to forming the first hypothesis:

HYPOTHESIS 1: Strategic speed is positively related to organizational ambidexterity.

4.2 Strategic Decision Speed and Organizational Ambidexterity Relationship

Contingencies

Previous literature has separately examined relationships that include strategic decision speed (e.g. Shepherd et al., 2021) and organizational ambidexterity (e.g. Judge & Blocker, 2008) for moderating effects, using various factors as moderators, including individual leaders' characteristics and environmental factors. Recognizing the importance of moderators in correlational relationships, the proposed relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity was tested for moderators. The rationale behind each moderating hypothesis is presented as follows.

4.2.1 Paradoxical Thinking under Crisis

The COVID-19 global crisis entailed multiple paradoxes for organizations with some of them, like short-term versus long-term focus, social impact versus financial performance, performing versus

learning, and individual versus social focus, being recognized as crucial (Carmine et al., 2021; Sharma et al., 2021). Paradoxical thinking has been recognized as endogenous in human thought since the Ancient Times (Frazer, 2015) and as a central way of thinking that helps dealing with tensions (Smith & Lewis, 2011). When the tensions experienced by organizational actors are viewed through adopting a *both/and* approach (Seo et al., 2004), paradoxical thinking is enacted (Smith & Lewis, 2011). Paradoxical thinking becomes more important when major exogenous shocks affect the business environment (Smith & Lewis, 2011) and such shocks were created by the pandemic crisis. COVID-19 has had huge impact on the business environment, an impact with an extended duration that rendered the tensions that organizations faced salient and urgent (Carmine et al., 2021; Sharma et al., 2021).

When managing organizational tensions, leaders who use paradoxical thinking are able to combine agendas that may appear incompatible (Lewis, 2000; Smith & Tushman, 2005), like simultaneously recognizing and pursuing opportunities for exploration and exploitation. Therefore, decision makers who apply paradoxical thinking are not expected to view exploration and exploitation opportunities as mutually exclusive; combining these two types of opportunities in their strategic portfolio seems perfectly possible for them, even under crisis. Moreover, under crisis decisions need to be made quickly (Corbacioglu et al., 2016), something that further enhances the tensions experienced by organizational leaders. Paradoxical thinkers are expected to be more prone to navigate these tensions, including the tensions related to exploitation versus exploration opportunities.

Previous research findings suggest that a paradox mindset positively moderates the relationship between experiencing tensions and innovation, as well as experiencing tensions and in-role job performance (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018). But innovation is part of a company's exploratory activities and in-job role performance is part of its exploitative activities. In addition, high levels of a paradox mindset are beneficial for creating new products or services when resources are limited (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018), which is usually the case during a crisis. Thus, a paradox mindset is expected to affect organizational ambidexterity when there are tensions in the environment, like in the case of a crisis. Paradoxical thinkers are expected to both exploit and explore more than leaders who do not have a paradox mindset when there are tensions in the environment, since their individual tendency of accepting contradictions is a helpful mechanism that enables them to deal with the contradictory challenges (Lomranz & Benyamini, 2016).

Tensions experienced by decision makers are further enhanced, when there is the need for speed in decision making (Smith & Lewis, 2011). Decision makers who are required to decide fast under crisis and possess a paradox mindset are, therefore, expected to be able to recognize the tensions created by the crisis, not to be frustrated by them and to be able to think more clearly about their strategic options (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018). Paradoxical thinkers who reached decisions quickly under the pandemic are expected to have been able to understand that a quick decision should not ignore different options and should not be based on settling for suboptimal strategies (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018), as these leaders are more able to expand their attentional span and to be engaged in a more balanced examination of their options (Rothman & Melwani, 2017). In addition, paradoxical thinking is associated with inaction avoidance (Lüscher & Lewis, 2008), thus with taking action that is based on decisions; thus, decisions are not delayed. Therefore, leaders with a high paradox mindset, who are reaching decisions quickly under crisis, are expected to be more able to manage the tensions inherent in fast decision making, to consider the different opportunities that exploitation and exploration entail, and to pursue a balance of both in their strategy.

On the contrary, leaders who reach decisions fast under crisis and have a low paradox mindset are more likely to be overwhelmed by the time pressure and the tensions, and to probably focus on exploitation opportunities that are simpler to analyze. Under time pressure, individuals usually prefer solutions that entail lower risk and are less motivated to be creative (Bechtoldt et al., 2010). Non-paradoxical thinkers are expected to exhibit these typical behaviors under time pressure, which also include not considering multiple options (Amabile et al., 2003) and rejecting radical ideas (Madjar et al., 2011). The absence of a paradox mindset makes it seem natural that strategic decisions about opportunities are *either/or* ones, as the idea that one cannot do everything under time pressure prevails. Under the pressure to decide fast under crisis, those with low levels of paradoxical thinking are expected to base their strategic decisions on the idea that there are tradeoffs, and one needs to make choices between alternatives instead of combinations. Contrarily to those with a high paradox mindset, non-paradoxical thinkers view exploration and exploitation opportunities as mutually exclusive, and probably preferred to play it safe under crisis. Non-paradoxical thinkers are less able not understand that deciding fast and combining different types of opportunities can lead to a competitive advantage, as the opportunity logic suggests (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008), because they are overwhelmed by the time pressure and are less able to deal with the tensions it creates.

To sum up, decision makers with a higher paradox mindset are more likely to pursue both exploitation and exploration opportunities under crisis, as their paradoxical thinking helps them apply a both/and rationale concerning the uncertain and risky decisions under crisis. Thus, it is expected that, under crisis, a paradox mindset moderates the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity. This leads to the formation of the second hypothesis:

HYPOTHESIS 2: Under crisis, a paradox mindset moderates the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, such that this relationship is stronger at higher levels of CEO paradox mindset and weaker at lower levels.

4.2.2 Positivity and Optimism under Crisis

Crises place an undeniable psychological pressure on individuals (Pearson & Clair, 1998), as they challenge their belief that bad things cannot happen to them and the assumption that taking the right actions will produce a positive outcome (Janoff-Bulman & Frieze, 1982). This pressure is even greater for organizational leaders, because crises "threaten the most fundamental goals of organizations" (Weick, 1988, p. 305) and it is the leaders' responsibility towards their companies and employees to make sure that these goals are still achieved. Identifying any positive aspects in a crisis sounds like a very difficult task. Optimism has been described by Seligman (1991) as the cognitive ability to expect a positive outcome and react to negative situations with an enhanced sense of confidence. Remaining positive in the face of adversity has proven to be beneficial (Carver et al., 2002), since believing in a positive outcome has been associated with improved psychological adjustment to the factors that are causing pressure and stress (Scheier & Carver, 1992).

It is somehow unexpected that when facing a crisis that creates increased pressure and stress, a person responds with a positive view of the situation, but this is what optimistic individuals do. Optimists can better adjust to difficult situations using their positive emotions as a motivation (Solberg Nes et al., 2009). Moreover, optimism has been found to moderate the relationship between limited work resources and engagement, weakening the negative effect of the limited resources' (Salminen et al., 2014); and resources are limited during a crisis. Specifically during the pandemic crisis, individual optimism was found to have a positive relationship with the ability to adjust to work from home (Biron et al., 2020). This indicates that optimism enabled individuals to better adapt to change caused by the pandemic crisis. In addition, optimistic individuals experienced less fear during the pandemic and engaged in fewer preventive behaviors (Jovančević & Milićević, 2020).

Optimistic organizational leaders, as optimistic individuals, are expected to experience less fear under crisis; therefore, they are expected to be bolder and less worried about negative outcomes even when there is the pressure to reach decisions quickly. As decision makers, optimists that need to decide fast are expected to find it easier to to pursue exploratory opportunities, the outcomes of which are not always clear (March, 1991), because they disconnect themselves from negative outcomes or they perceive them as temporary (Seligman, 1991). Under the opportunity logic, organizations' strategy is led by the "attractiveness of opportunities flows" (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008, p. 250) and by the speed of decision making while deciding which opportunities are attractive. The more optimistic the decision makers, the more able they are to perceive both exploitative and explorative opportunities as promising and attractive, when they need to decide fast under changing and unpredictable conditions. In other words, optimistic leaders who reach decisions quickly in dynamic environments are more likely to consider and pursue both types of ambidexterity opportunities and do not reject opportunities a priori, because of their expectation that things will be fine in the end.

On the contrary, operating under the opportunity logic has the opposite effect for pessimistic leaders. The opportunity logic suggests that strategic decision makers apply simplified rules when deciding quickly (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008; Furr & Eisenhardt, 2021); these simplified rules applied by less optimistic or pessimistic leaders would be based on expecting non-beneficial outcomes in general and even more so when there is uncertainty and strategic decision speed, harming ambidexterity under crisis in two ways: firstly because pessimistic leaders will perceive the outcomes of exploration as negative and will not consider pursuing opportunities for exploration, and secondly by expecting negative outcomes overall, leading them to strategic inertia (Fredrickson and Iaquinto, 1989), not considering or pursuing strategic opportunities at all.

Overall, optimistic leaders were less scared during the pandemic (Jovančević & Milićević, 2020); hence, they are expected to not be afraid to pursue both exploration and exploitation opportunities when deciding quickly, as the fear of making the wrong decision due to the high pace of reaching decisions would be lower. Therefore, when making fast decisions, the identification and pursuit of opportunities for both exploration and exploitation would be easier for more optimistic leaders, compared to less optimistic ones who might focus solely on opportunities related to exploitation that have a more certain outcome. This leads to the formation of the third hypothesis:

HYPOTHESIS 3: Under crisis, CEOs' optimism moderates the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, such that strategic decision speed has a stronger impact on ambidexterity when leaders are more optimistic.

4.2.3 Decision-makers' Educational Level

As already explained, education is generally considered a proxy of individuals' cognition (Hambrick & Mason, 1984). This is evident in the amount of previous research work that has used the educational level of leaders as a proxy of the cognitive ability, skills, and knowledge of decision makers (e.g. Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Herrmann & Datta, 2005; Mom et al., 2019). The educational level of decision makers has been tested and validated as a moderator in relationships that include aspects of strategic management and their outcomes (e.g. Zhu et al., 2018).

The education level of individuals has been associated with the degree of information seeking and analysis (Dollinger, 1984). Thus, the more educated decision makers are more able to perceive, analyse and evaluate different strategic options. Previous research indicates that the level of education of CEOs enhances their capacity to solve complex issues (Goll et al., 2007) as well as to be involved in different activities (Papadakis et al., 1998). The opportunity logic suggests that perceiving and seizing opportunities early and quickly is central in a company's strategy (Bingham

& Eisenhardt, 2008); thus, highly educated CEOs that reach decisions quickly are expected to find it easier to be engaged in the process of identifying and pursuing different types of opportunities in general, and related to exploration and exploitation in particular. When reaching decisions quickly, highly educated CEOs are expected to be more able to address the complex situation related to pursuing both explorative and exploitative opportunities.

On the contrary, decision makers with lower levels of education lack the motivation to generate the cognitive processes related to facing complex issues and cannot easily handle the tensions created by strategic decision speed, falling in the trap of cognitive inertia (Arogyaswamy et al., 1995). Based on the opportunity logic, a key challenge in decision making is the challenge of maintaining an optimal level of simplicity (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008) under strategic decision speed. Leaders with lower education levels may find it difficult or lack the motivation to process the information needed in order to identify this optimal level, which combines flexibility and structure, i.e. they are expected to find it difficult to reach ambidexterity under time pressure. Strategic speed entails time pressure, which makes it difficult to follow rules (Davis et al., 2009) and decision makers need to rely on their cognitive ability when prioritizing or reprioritizing strategic options (Le Bris et al., 2019). Less educated decision makers are expected to be overwhelmed by these challenges, and to look for the simplest way to avoid conflicts and tensions in strategic decision making under crisis. To them, identifying and pursuing both exploration and exploitation opportunities when there is shortage of time would seem too complex a task. Thus, when deciding fast under crisis, less educated leaders are expected to try to reduce complexity by considering fewer opportunities instead of multiple types of opportunities, and by possibly focusing on exploitative ones that are more easily evaluated. The above lead to forming the fourth hypothesis:

HYPOTHESIS 4: Under crisis, CEOs' educational level moderates the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, such that the relationship is stronger for those with a higher educational level.

4.2.4 Environmental Dynamism

The impact of the environment is crucial for strategic decision making (Hrebiniak & Joyce, 1985; Hitt & Tyler, 1991). Previous research posits that how managers perceive the environment is actually more significant than the environment itself, and when it is perceived as uncertain and rapidly changing, decisions that are viewed as appropriate for unstable and volatile environments are more likely (Freel, 2005; Hambrick & Snow, 1977).

Under the opportunity logic, strategy is based on recognizing and seizing opportunities faster and earlier than competitors (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008). The entrepreneurship and applied psychology literatures offer conflicting perspectives on the effect of uncertainty on individual behaviour related to the identification and pursuit of opportunities, specifically those related to exploration; according to some researchers, uncertainty makes individuals experiment and try to find new solutions (Griffin et al., 2008), and hence leads to identifying new opportunities (Shane & Venkataraman, 2000; Van Gelderen et al., 2000). In line with this stream of research, previous work suggests that organizations are more likely to pursue ambidexterity in dynamic environments; Jansen et al. (2006) have found that firms with multiple units create ambidextrous units when competing in dynamic environments, whereas Jansen et al. (2005) found that environmental instability and change predicted organizational ambidexterity.

On the contrary, another stream of research suggests that uncertainty and rapid change leads to psychological entropy due to individuals experiencing tensions and conflict concerning their perceptions about options and opportunities (Hirsh et al., 2012). The increased level of uncertainty

about different opportunities makes decision makers exert avoidance behaviors, limiting the identification and pursuit of opportunities in general, with a trend to particularly avoid explorative opportunities (Hirsh et al., 2012; March, 1991; McMullen & Shepherd, 2006). Therefore, in line with this stream of research, one would expect that increased uncertainty and change would harm ambidexterity. The psychological entropy created by a fractal crisis would impede exploration, due to the high level of dynamism in a fractal crisis.

Hence, there is evidence of both positive and negative effects of environmental dynamism on pursuing opportunities in general and explorative ones in particular, in previous literature. Taking into account both streams of research, in this study it is expected that leaders who recognized the high levels of environmental dynamism that the fractal pandemic has created, were hesitant to pursue ambidextrous opportunities. A natural tendency for decision makers would be to either prefer safer opportunities or to wait and see concerning opportunities (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008), taking some time to evaluate the situation, and waiting until conditions and options about ambidexterity are clearer. The CEOs who actually perceived the pandemic as bearing the characteristics of a fractal crisis, are expected to have preferred the safe options related to exploitation opportunities (March, 1991) or to create a delaying effect in identifying and pursuing opportunities overall, as suggested by Bakker & Shepherd (2017).

Reaching strategic decisions quickly under a fractal crisis is expected to increase the perceived risks associated with pursuing both exploration and exploitation of opportunities, because the already high levels of unpredictability and ambiguity of the environment would be further enhance by pursuing the unpredictable – in terms of outcomes – explorative opportunities (March, 1991). Furthermore, the lack of confidence about the outcomes of pursuing opportunities in general (Dess & Beard, 1984) is expected to be even more intense under a fractal crisis, leading to delaying the pursuit of both exploratory and exploitative opportunities, even after the decisions to pursue them

has been made. Thus, those leaders who decide fast and perceive the environment as extremely dynamic are expected to either prefer exploitation over exploration, or to not proceed with the implementation of decisions that concern ambidextrous opportunities, weakening the effect of strategic decision speed on organizational ambidexterity. This leads to forming the fifth hypothesis:

HYPOTHESIS 5: Under crisis, environmental dynamism moderates the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, such that the relationship is weaker at higher levels of perceived environmental dynamism.

4.3 Ambidexterity and Performance under Crisis

Organizational ambidexterity has been found to be a major driver of firms' long-term success (Tushman & O'Reilly, 1996), being positively associated with new venture and firm survival (Gibson & Birkinshaw, 2004; Hill & Birkinshaw, 2014), firm growth (Geerts et al., 2010) and organizational performance (e.g. Gieske et al., 2020; He & Wong, 2004; Lubatkin et al., 2006; Patel et al., 2013). More importantly, ambidexterity is considered extremely useful and beneficial under uncertainty and instability (Heracleous et al., 2017), characteristics of dynamic environments. Being ambidextrous enhances value creation for the customer when volatility, uncertainty, complexity, and ambiguity (VUCA) in the environment are high (Du & Chen, 2018). Ambidextrous organizations are more able to focus on the crucial and contradicting elements of strategic management that have to do with the time element of crisis: they can face short-term issues that disrupt everyday activities by seizing exploitative opportunities, as well as pursue opportunities that ensure revenues and profits in the long term through exploration.

The opportunity logic of strategy (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008) suggests that the early and faster than competitors' recognition and pursuit of opportunities helps companies achieve a competitive advantage, specifically in dynamic environments (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008). Ignoring one type of opportunity, i.e. overlooking opportunities for either exploration or exploitation, would mean that this type of opportunity is not recognized early and fast, leading to missing these opportunities and to inferior performance, while leaving room for competitors to achieve superior performance. Previous findings support the link between ambidexterity and performance in dynamic environments (Junni et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2003; O'Reilly & Tushman, 2013; Simsek et al., 2009; Tempelaar & Van De Vrande, 2012). More specifically, Kafetzopoulos (2021) found that the link between ambidexterity and performance was higher for those companies who perceived the environment as highly uncertain.

Crises are highly uncertain environments, but the ambidexterity – firm performance link has not yet been sufficiently researched under crisis (Jang & Lee, 2022). Cao et al. (2009) suggest that balancing exploration and exploitation is beneficial for the performance of companies that operate in resource-constrained environments and crisis environments are characterized by limited resources. However, Doblinger et al. (2022) discovered a U-shaped relationship between ambidexterity and performance under crisis, where lower and higher levels of ambidexterity lead to better performance compared to mediocre levels of ambidexterity. However, once organizations are able to achieve a sufficiently high level of ambidexterity, i.e. a threshold of ambidexterity, further increasing exploration and exploitation positively impacts performance. Further, ambidexterity has been found to enhance firm survival under crisis (Dolz et al., 2019) and to predict superior performance under the COVID-19 pandemic crisis (Jang & Lee, 2022).

Based on the above, it is expected that ambidexterity is beneficial for companies operating in crisis environments. The argument that ambidexterity enhances performance during a crisis is based on the negative expected outcomes of focusing solely on exploitation or exploration under crisis (Schmitt et al., 2010). By focusing solely on exploitation during a crisis, there is the danger that the crisis discontinuities render strategic decisions outdated and since no new knowledge is created, the company falls in a trap of being unable to respond to change. The risk of an organization's inability to remain current on ongoing issues is higher when the environment is changing and ambiguous (Halevi et al., 2015; Hmieleski & Ensley, 2007), i.e. under crisis. Thus, performance is harmed when only exploitation opportunities are pursued under crisis; evidence of this happening was provided by D'Aveni (1989), who found that firms that go bankrupt are focusing more on existing strategies compared to firms who survive under crisis. Further, firms who do not survive a crisis focus more on internal processes related to exploitation, compared to surviving firms (D'Aveni & MacMillan, 1990).

Similarly, if companies solely rely on exploration opportunities during a crisis, there is the risk that the investment made to pursue exploration is too big for the company to handle, since too many firm resources are assigned to uncertain endeavours (Schmitt et al., 2010). The investments entailed by exploration may not yield returns (Levinthal & March, 1993) or may yield returns that are not enough to support the continuation of the company's operations. Under crisis, pursuing exclusively exploration opportunities may bring the company in unfamiliar situations that are difficult to handle and that may require a large proportion of the organization's financial and human resources, which are already limited under crisis (Schmitt et al., 2010). In case the exploration activities do not yield returns, resources that could be used for ensuring the firm's survival are lost. Hence, an exclusive focus on exploration under crisis may harm performance and negatively affect firm's survival.

Therefore, there is the need for balancing the recognition and pursuit of exploitation and exploration opportunities under crisis; the new knowledge created through exploration opportunities will lead to generating new revenues, while the optimization of internal processes through exploitation will ensure the firm's survival. In uncertain and rapidly changing environments, firms need to continuously acquire new knowledge, aligned with the external conditions at any given point in time, because information, product and service offerings may become quickly obsolete (Sørensen & Stuart, 2000). At the same time, companies need to integrate this new knowledge in their internal processes and systems, in order to achieve superior performance. Thus, identifying and pursuing both exploitation and exploration opportunities, i.e. organizational ambidexterity, is expected to have a positive effect on performance under crisis. This leads to the formation of the sixth hypothesis:

HYPOTHESIS 6: Under crisis, organizational ambidexterity is positively related to organizational performance.

4.4 The Research Model

Table 8 presents all the aforementioned hypotheses. Hypotheses 1 and 6 entail the examination of a direct relationship each, whereas Hypotheses 2 to 5 entail the examination of four moderation hypotheses concerning the direct relationship in Hypothesis 1. The first three moderation effects are hypothesized as positive (strengthening moderation effects), whereas the fourth one (Hypothesis 5), is hypothesized as negative (weakening moderation effect).

Hypothesis 1	Strategic speed is positively related to organizational ambidexterity.
Hypothesis 2	Under crisis, a paradox mindset moderates the relationship between strategic decision speed
	and organizational ambidexterity, such that this relationship is stronger at higher levels of
	CEO paradox mindset and weaker at lower levels.
Hypothesis 3	Under crisis, CEOs' optimism moderates the relationship between strategic decision speed
	and organizational ambidexterity, such that strategic decision speed has a stronger impact
	on ambidexterity when leaders are more optimistic.
Hypothesis 4	Under crisis, CEOs' educational level moderates the relationship between strategic decision
	speed and organizational ambidexterity, such that the relationship is stronger for those with
	a higher educational level.
Hypothesis 5	Under crisis, environmental dynamism moderates the relationship between strategic
	decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, such that the relationship is weaker at
	higher levels of environmental dynamism.
Hypothesis 6	Under crisis, organizational ambidexterity is positively related to organizational
	performance.

Table 8: Research Hypotheses

Based on the hypotheses formed, the model under examination is presented in Figure 5 below:



Figure 5 – Organizational Ambidexterity as a Strategic Decision under Crisis

In this study, organizational ambidexterity and strategic decision speed are the model's organizational characteristics. Strategic speed is not connected to one specific decision, but to the usual, average pace of reaching decisions at the firm-level (Adomako et al., 2021), including all

decisions about exploration and exploitation opportunities. Based on what has been previously presented in terms of how the speed of reaching decisions affects identifying and seizing opportunities for exploration and exploitation, strategic decision speed is examined as an antecedent of ambidexterity. The outcome of the decision to pursue ambidexterity is also examined in terms of relative performance compared to competitors, based on the suggestion that the effectiveness of a strategic decision is based by its impact on firm performance (Dane & Pratt, 2007).

Further, CEOs' cognition-related characteristics and environmental impact are examined as moderators of the relationship between strategic decision speed and ambidexterity under crisis. Concerning decision makers' characteristics, this study includes cognition-related ones, namely educational level, paradox mindset and optimism. The choice of these three specific individual characteristics is based on the following: a) educational level has been used as a proxy of the overall cognitive ability of individuals in previous research (e.g. Batsakis & Theoharakis, 2021; Mom et al., 2009), b) paradox mindset (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018) as relevant to managing tensions entailed by crises (Smith & Lewis, 2011), and c) optimism (Seligman, 1991) as a contradictory framing for a crisis, which is usually interpreted using negative framing (James et al., 2011). Concerning environmental impact, the environment is a significant source of data and information that is used for analyzing and evaluating strategic decisions (Scott, 1981); hence, through their perceptions of the environment, decision makers incorporate environmental features in the strategic decision-making process. In this study, the effect of environmental characteristics on strategic decisions (Hitt & Tyler, 1991) is included through the examination of environmental dynamism, which reflects the degree of unpredictability and the pace of change in the environment (Dess & Beard, 1984), as a moderator of the first direct relationship examined.

4.5 Chapter Summary

This Chapter explained how deduction is used to form the hypotheses tested by this research and presented the research model under examination, based on the theoretical background and the assumptions presented in the two preceding Chapters. Two direct relationships are tested in this study: the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, and the relationship between organizational ambidexterity and firm performance. Both relationships are examined under crisis, and more specifically under the fractal COVID-19 crisis. In addition, four moderation effects are examined on the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity: the effects of paradox mindset, optimism, and educational level, related to CEOs' cognition, and the effect of perceived environmental dynamism. The next Chapter presents the methodology followed in order to answer the research questions and to test the six hypotheses included in the research model.
5. Methodology

This Chapter presents the methodology of this study and explains the researcher's views on methodological issues. First, predominant research epistemologies in the field of social sciences and management (positivism, critical realism, interpretivism, post-modernism and pragmatism) are presented, followed by a presentation of research ontologies (deductive, abductive, and inductive research). Epistemological assumptions guiding the selection of research methods are presented in order to explain why a deductive, positivism approach is chosen for this study. A detailed examination of the research context and an explanation of how the context was incorporated into project design are presented next. Next the project phases are described, including sampling and data collection. Further, the ethics process, quality assurance process and the respective tools used are presented. The final sections of the Chapter present the variables and measures used, along with the rationale behind the selection of the specific measures.

5.1 Philosophy of Research

Social science research aims to explain, explore or describe how phenomena occur (Hart, 1998), while the Research Excellence framework defines research as a method of investigation that creates new understandings (HEFCE, 2009). It is essential for researchers to reflect on the diverse philosophical positions in research and identify a research paradigm that they view as representative of their view of the world before choosing the methodological approach for any specific research project (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). Research questions can be investigated using a qualitative, quantitative, or mixed approach. Hence, selecting an appropriate research paradigm should precede selecting a research method. Researchers need to comprehend and consider the different philosophical positions of research in order to be able to design the research and determine the nature of the study and its focus (Benton & Craib, 2010).

The concept of a research paradigm was introduced by Kuhn (1970), who defined it as a position about research and theory based on common views and ideas in a field. Subsequently, a research paradigm has been defined as a "basic belief system or world view that guides the investigator, not only in the choices of method but in ontologically and epistemologically fundamental ways" (Guba & Lincoln, 1994, p.105). Thus, a research paradigm includes the basic principles and beliefs that explain the relationship between the world and its parts (Guba & Lincoln, 1994); it offers a description of what is considered important and suitable to research, providing a view of the world based on which researchers make relevant decisions on research design and methodology (Smith, 2004).

Different research paradigms were introduced as research philosophy evolved over time. The predominant philosophical paradigms or research philosophies, as well as the different methodological choices, strategies and techniques are demonstrated in Figure 6:



Figure 6 – The Research Onion (Saunders et al., 2019)

Figure 6 illustrates different ways of approaching research and seeking answers to research questions. However, a common question that underlies any attempt to conduct research is related to the nature of the world and of reality. Research ontology is related to answering this question, and it is briefly presented in the following section.

5.2 Research Ontology

A basic issue in research philosophy is whether there is a commonly shared, objective reality for everyone. Research ontology deals with the question of the nature of reality, a question that is related with how a researcher understands the world (Saunders et al., 2019). There are two basic views on this issue: objectivism and subjectivism. Objectivism suggests that reality and objective evidence exists in the social world, and it can be measured (Becker et al., 2012; Bryman, 2012). This means that science and scientific tools can be used to conduct objective measurements of the objective - independent of perceptions - reality. On the other hand, subjectivism posits that there is not one objective reality, but reality is created by the perceptions and actions of social actors (Saunders et al., 2019). Therefore, reality is continuously created and managed by social objects that gather knowledge based on their individual, subjective meanings, shaping phenomena and realities within their well-defined social contexts (Wahyuni, 2012). There are also different nuances concerning how subjective reality is created: constructivists believe that knowledge and reality do not exist independently of the social world, but they are constructed and formed by the interactions of social actors locally (Kelemen & Rumens, 2011). The substantial difference between subjectivism and constructivism is that according to subjectivism, meaning is imposed by the individual, whereas according to constructivism, meaning emerges from the interplay of the individual with the world.

Management, and therefore strategic management, is a social phenomenon that can be researched in different ways, subjectively and objectively (Saunders et al., 2019). The researcher adopts the objectivism view, where management is perceived as an "objective entity" (Saunders et al., 2019, p.136) and the essential function of management is considered to be quite similar across organizations, although specific aspects of it may differ. Taking the objectivism ontological stance, the researcher investigates management behavior and tries to establish relationships between different aspects of strategic management under the global pandemic. Personal beliefs have been consciously set aside while conducting this study; however, the researcher understands that a degree of subjectivity is embedded in the research design, concerning which variables to measure and the selection of specific methodologies. It is worth noting that a large part of previous work on strategic management and strategic decision making in general, as well as on organizational ambidexterity and strategic decision speed in particular, has adopted an objectivism approach (e.g. Lubatkin et al., 2006; Shepherd et al., 2021).

Based on the fact that ontology and epistemology are related, different research epistemologies were considered. The following section briefly presents research epistemology and the five predominant paradigms (or philosophies) in management research (Saunders et al., 2019), and explains why a positivistic paradigm is adopted for this quantitative study.

5.3 Research Epistemology & Research Paradigms

Epistemology has to do with assumptions about knowledge. More specifically, the questions that epistemology aims to answer have to do with the ways in which knowledge can be sought, what constitutes acceptable knowledge, which data are considered good quality, and what are the different ways of contributing to knowledge (Saunders et al., 2019). The question of what constitutes acceptable knowledge is central in epistemology: what can be considered as legitimate,

valid, and acceptable knowledge (Burrell & Morgan, 2016). Saunders et al. (2019) describe this as adequate knowledge. The nature of management is multidisciplinary, so various different types of knowledge are considered legitimate, valid and acceptable, including different types of factual data (e.g. numerical data, texts, images and other visual data) and data based on opinions expressed in interviews, announcements, narratives, autobiographies, stories etc. Hence, there is a variety of choices concerning how to collect adequate knowledge, and different epistemologies are related to various ways of seeking adequate knowledge in research.

The main five epistemologies used in management research are positivism, critical realism, interpretivism, postmodernism and pragmatism (Saunders et al., 2019). Interpretivism studies indepth the meanings that individuals attribute to social phenomena focusing on individual differences within the same experience (Tsoukas & Chia, 2011), perceiving researchers as part of what is being researched. Postmodernism examines how language and power relations affect ways of thinking and enable marginalized views to be expressed (Saunders et al., 2019). For postmodernists, what is researched is not independent of the researchers, as there are power relationships between the two (Calás & Smircich, 1997), whereas reality is not objective, but socially constructed (Chia, 2003). Interpretivism and postmodernism take a subjectivism approach, and are, hence, not relevant with the views of the researcher or with this study.

Pragmatism focuses on research that leads to advancing organizational practice (Saunders et al., 2019), through claiming that a concept is relevant only where it supports specific action (Kelemen & Rumens, 2008). For pragmatists, reality can be subjective or objective, and research begins when a problem that needs practical solutions is recognized (Saunders et al., 2019). Pragmatists are less interested in abstract distinctions and focus on practical outcomes, aligning their research design, strategy, and methods with the research question; the research question concerns practical outcomes and guidance for future actions. Pragmatists accept that the world may be interpreted in

different ways and, hence, no single view can provide a complete picture of any situation. Pragmatism allows for the use of mixed or multiple methods, yet it is not implied that pragmatists always use more than one method; rather, they select the method(s) that enable them to collect data that are reliable and relevant to the research problem (Kelemen & Rumens, 2008). A pragmatist approach can be considered in this study: strategizing under crisis can be viewed as a problem that requires practical solutions and it can be considered the starting point of this research. However, the researcher is interested in abstract distinctions and theoretical implications, and not just in practical outcomes. Indeed, the focus of this study lies on outcomes that are not strictly practical, whereas findings entail theoretical contributions. Hence, a pragmatist epistemological approach was not adopted.

The remaining two paradigms, positivism and critical realism, both take an objectivism ontological approach. Positivism is the main philosophical stance of natural scientists and suggests that there is an objectively observable and measurable social reality; this reality can be used in order to produce generalizations (Crotty, 1998). Positivism is based on an objectivistic approach, taking the view that research produces accurate knowledge. Under positivism, understanding and analyzing theory serves as a way to explain the objective reality that is observed (Easterby-Smith et al., 2012). The majority of positivists usually use quantitative data and statistical methods, but there are cases were other methodologies are used (Saunders et al., 2019). Similarly to positivism, critical realism (Bhaskar, 2008) also takes an objectivism view, but a slightly different one: it examines not only what is observed, but also what is experienced. Critical realists perceive reality as external, like positivists do, but for them reality is not necessarily directly accessible by observation. Instead, they suggest that what we observe is not always an accurate representation of reality, because there is the possibility of being deceived by our senses and perceptions. Hence, what is observed is a representation of what is real, of the objective reality, through two steps: firstly, the observation, and secondly the mental processes that follow the observation and turn it

into an experience (Saunders et al., 2019). These mental processes occur not only at the time of observation, but continue for some time afterwards, when individuals think about events in the past and reason backwards (Reed, 2005). Critical realists posit that what is observed is a part of reality, and there is a need to try and understand the bigger picture. For critical realists, the focus of research lies in identifying which mechanisms lead to specific outcomes in a specific context (Jones, 2010); this was described by Brönnimann (2022) as "context-mechanism-outcomes model" (Brönnimann, 2022, p. 18).

The researcher believes that reality can be observed and measured, and hence measurable data are valuable. At the same time, depending on the research question, qualitative data are also useful as they enable researchers to gain a deeper understanding of a situation and are valuable and credible as well. This study, however, seeks to identify a relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, and how this relationship may be affected by cognitive characteristics of CEOs and their perceptions of the environment, based on a deductive methodology, where understanding and analyzing theory serves as a way to explain what is observed (Easterby-Smith et al., 2012). Positivism's suggestion that knowledge is validated by observing and assessing phenomena through measurements, which can refer to a phenomenon or its various different aspects (Krauss, 2005), is viewed as very relevant with this study. For this purpose, quantitative data have been used as the basis for identifying and measuring relationships and patterns within the phenomenon observed.

Hence, the study draws on the positivism view and its main ontological assumptions (Bryman 2012; Saunders et al., 2012). More specifically, the following assumptions are relevant: (a) objective evidence exists and it can be measured, (b) such measurements can be used to explain the relationships between different variables, and (c) statistical analysis may be used in order to predict outcomes in specific contexts. Survey research was used as an appropriate method for

examining relationships between latent constructs (Thietart, 2001) and statistical methods were used to analyze the data. Furthermore, cognitive interviewing, i.e. the collection of additional verbal information about the questionnaire by respondents, was used as a way of evaluating the design of the research and the questionnaire (Beatty & Willis; Presser et al., 2004; Willis, 2005). Overall, this study tests hypotheses related to the link between ambidexterity and strategic decision speed in the evolving field of behavioral strategy, bringing together cognitive and social psychology with strategic management (Powell et al., 2011).

Survey research is briefly reviewed as follows.

5.4 Survey Research

This is a quantitative research study, where responses were collected via a survey. A survey is defined as a way of gathering data from individuals with the aim of examining and/or assessing their behaviors and interactions in a standardized manner (Arlene & Mark, 1995). Surveys include "quantitative or numerical descriptions about some aspects of the study population" (Fowler, 2009, p. 2), through asking the respondents to answer a list of questions. These responses are the survey data, which then need to be processed and analyzed. In the vast majority of surveys, only a fraction of the whole population participates in the data collection process through answering the survey questions. Surveys and their findings are easy to interpret (Saunders et al., 2019) and they provide the opportunity to examine the relationship(s) between variables (Thietart, 2001). Hence, a survey seemed the appropriate choice for this project, where the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity is empirically examined for the first time.

In this quantitative project, the units of analysis are companies operating in Greece in 2020. Data was collected through an online survey of top executives of companies in Greece, mainly CEOs,

but also General Managers and company owners. The researcher has translated theory in specific hypotheses (stated above), which were subsequently tested in the specific context of a global crisis affecting an environment that had just recovered from a long-term crisis. Evidence was found in the literature to form and test hypotheses and a deductive approach (Bryman, 2012) was used. All measurements were based on existing scales (see sections 5.10 to 5.12), i.e., no new scales were developed and the relationships between different variables were tested. As some relationships were empirically tested for the first time in this project (e.g. the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity), it was important that the existence of such a relationship is tested and validated using quantitative data and statistics.

5.5 Research Context and Design

At the time when the research data was collected, the external environment was characterized by high uncertainty and turbulence. Most people were working remotely from home, some regions were in lockdown, and there was a night-time curfew in numerous cities across the country, including Athens and Thessaloniki where about 60% of the population lives. People had to send an SMS when going out of the house, indicating the reason for leaving the house and also their destination. Organizational leaders communicated with peers and employees online, and teams were not meeting in person. Further, there were major disruptions in the supply chains, and several sectors experienced huge decreases in revenues because consuming some goods and services was simply not possible while being restricted at home. Other sectors did not experience a decline in revenues (e.g. supermarkets), but they experienced dramatic changes in the way business was done: people were no longer physically in the shops, but mainly relied on online purchases. This has created immense pressure on decision makers who had to upgrade the technology available and find a way to deliver their products to almost 100% of their clients, when previously a relatively small percentage of clients was buying products online in Greece.

Another important aspect to consider is that this research was conducted in Greece during the pandemic crisis, with Greek companies having just recovered from the long Greek financial crisis. Organizational leaders were under more pressure because of their responsibility to ensure the sustainability of their companies again, within a short period of time that they were facing similar challenges, dealing with uncertainty and immense change. Time was very important while dealing with this change, because changes in regulations, restrictions and access to resources changed in a very short period of time and unexpectedly. Despite all this pressure, it is appreciated that the survey respondents took the time to fill in the questionnaire, and the pilot phase respondents devoted even more time required to provide feedback on the research design.

The research was designed as an online survey (via Qualtrics) before the pandemic began, which means that no changes were required concerning the way to collect data. The decision to conduct the survey online was based on the significant advantages of online surveys compared to paper surveys (Frippiat & Marquis, 2010), the most important of which are related to lower costs (Loosveldt & Sonck, 2008), the easier and faster collection of data (Schaefer & Dillman, 1998), accessibility to wider geographical audiences (Frippiat & Marquis, 2010), better data quality in terms of mistakes and omissions (Dolnicar et al., 2009) and easier data storage and processing (Cavana et al., 2001). Apart from those widely accepted advantages of online surveys, the decision to collect the data online proved even more important, as no changes needed to be made to the data collection process due to COVID-19 restrictions. The questionnaire was designed after conducting a literature review and having formed the hypotheses, with particular attention being paid to the selection of measures.

The online survey was created and uploaded on Qualtrics in Greek. All questions were translated by the main researcher (Greek native speaker) and the usual back translation process was followed. Back translation is the process of translating a text to its original language, after having translated it first to another language (Brislin, 1970), with the purpose of identifying differences with the original text after the back-translation. Although back translation does not mean that errors will not be made and there is some degree of inherent subjectivity in the process (Behr, 2017), back translation usually helps researchers identify at least a part of mistakes and confusing phrases. The back translation process included the following steps:

- 1. Translation of the questionnaire in Greek by the main researcher.
- 2. Discussion about the Greek version with two more native Greek speakers: one member of the supervisory team and one person external to the team, who is the Managing Editor of a highly ranked international academic journal.
- 3. Adjustments to the Greek version to facilitate understanding based on step 2.
- 4. Back translation of the Greek version into English by the main researcher.
- 5. Comparison of the original and back-translated versions of the questionnaire and identification of differences.
- 6. Discussion of the differences with the two persons mentioned in step 2, and evaluation of suggestions about what should be done concerning each difference.
- 7. Finalization of the pilot phase questionnaire in Greek.

Prior to the first wave, a pilot study with 10 CEOs was conducted. It was important to get feedback from business leaders concerning the design of the research, which was obtained through conducting short informal discussions with CEOs of companies in Greece. All ten participants in the pilot phase were contacted by phone and after these discussions, it was obvious that they felt extremely pressured by time and were experiencing the exploration – exploitation tension. Time pressure had to do with decision making, as well as carefully choosing how to spend their time. The hesitance expressed by most of them concerning participating in multiple waves of data collection led to the creation of a short questionnaire for the main survey and to a second wave

including only one question on relative performance. The pilot phase feedback was very helpful and led to actions aimed at improving the possibilities of participation for CEOs. According to pilot phase participants' feedback, adjustments were made to the survey questionnaire, which was finalized after the end of the pilot phase in the beginning of November 2020. Feedback was in line with previous suggestions according to which CEOs are more likely to fill in short surveys, surveys that are endorsed by other elite members and that offer an incentive, like a findings report (Bernard & Westphal, 2006). All these strategies were used in the research design.

Hence, although the way of collecting data was not affected by the pandemic as an online survey was already planned, the actual data collection was affected; organizational decision makers were overwhelmed by the disruption created by the pandemic and viewed responding to a survey under these circumstances as an item quite low in their priorities' list. One would expect the overall number of respondents to the survey after six months of effort to be higher; however, academic research was negatively affected and difficulties in collecting data during the pandemic have been reported by academic researchers especially in the first year of the pandemic (Fernandes, 2020; Mobaraka et al., 2022). In addition, the pressure CEOs felt in terms of time altered the initial design for the second wave, which was initially planned to include more questions.

Although the number of responses in both the main survey and the second wave were affected by the time pressure and overall pressure that the pandemic created for top executives, it is worth critically reflecting on the process of data collection. During the research planning phase, different recruitment strategies were considered. A strategy used lately for recruiting survey respondents is to use one of the platforms available, like for example Prolific (https://www.prolific.co/). Unfortunately the number of top executives of companies in Greece that were registered in the platform at the time was very low (below 10), so Prolific could not be used. Another possible way to recruit more participants would be to continue collecting data for a longer period of time.

However, given the constraints of a PhD project and the fact that the environment was rapidly changing, prolonging the data collection period was rejected. Overall, the experience of conducting research during a pandemic has been valuable and the lessons learnt will be very useful in future research work.

As follows, the various research phases are presented in a chronological order.

5.6 Research Phases

Deciding how to proceed in order to answer the research questions, entailed some preliminary research in terms of the research context. Initially, several different geographical areas were considered. The final decision, to conduct research in Greece, was based on the following criteria: (a) studying cases of countries or geographical regions are essential to business and economics research (Gerring, 2016), (b) the Greek environment was particularly interesting because there had already been a long financial crisis that ended about one year before the pandemic began. Examining how Greek executives responded to the disruption caused by the pandemic was simplified by the fact that the main researcher was Greek, eliminating potential language-related issues that non-Greek speakers might face. After deciding to conduct the research in Greece, the literature review was conducted and ethics approval was received. The detailed literature review supported by methodological decisions led to the creation of the questionnaire based on existing constructs, which was then translated in Greek and uploaded on an online platform. Then the questionnaire was technically tested and a pilot study was conducted, which was followed by changes in the questionnaire based on the pilot phase's feedback. After the questionnaire was finalized, the first wave of the survey was launched, followed by a second wave, which however had a low response rate. The last phases of research included analyzing the quantitative data collected and reporting findings. The following figure presents research phases:



Figure 7 – Research Phases

In the diagram, the rectangles represent background work conducted by the researcher without the participation of respondents, whereas ellipses and circles represent the stages where respondents were involved, and for which the respective analysis is presented.

5.6.1 Pilot Phase

The Pilot phase lasted about one month, from early October 2020 to early November 2020. Ten top executives, who were all at the top position of the company's hierarchy, were sent the questionnaire link, after having been contacted via telephone by the researcher in order for information to be provided about the research, its purpose and the intention to send the survey link. The companies in the pilot phase were selected in a way that companies with activities in the field of manufacturing, services, and groups of companies were represented with at least one participant (top executive) in this phase; in other words, it was assured that at least one manufacturing, services company and group of companies was included in the pilot. Pilot phase respondents were part of the researcher's wider network, so the researcher either already knew them or was referred to them. All ten executives replied to the survey (four of which had to be sent a reminder via email).

In order to better evaluate the research and the questionnaire design, participants in the pilot phase were either contacted by phone or had a virtual meeting on Zoom with the main researcher, in order to provide feedback based on the practices of cognitive interviewing (Presser et al., 2004; Willis, 2005). Cognitive interviewing can be defined as "the administration of draft survey questions while collecting additional verbal information about the survey responses, which is used to evaluate the quality of the response or to help determine whether the question is generating the information that its author intends" (Beatty & Willis, 2007, p. 287). It is important to note that cognitive interviewing is a non-qualitative method (Beatty & Willis, 2007) and that this is not a qualitative or a mixed methods project. However, cognitive interviewing involves discussions with respondents who belong to the target audience of the quantitative research, before the survey is launched, and obtaining feedback concerning the following: (1) how they chose to answer in the specific way they did, (2) how they understand the meaning of the questions, (3) any misunderstandings or issues they encountered, or (4) anything they believe that is relevant to the circumstances related to the research.

There are different ways in which cognitive interviewing may be conducted and analyzed (Beatty & Willis, 2007; Willis, 2005). Among them, the researcher chose to take notes during the discussions and analyzed them afterwards. Cognitive interviewing in this study was based on a semi-scripted protocol (Beatty & Willis, 2007), which included a few questions. The researcher paid attention to the evolution of the discussion during the phone calls and made sure to note things that were mentioned and were not included in the questions. The semi-scripted protocol used by the researcher is presented as follows.

5.6.1.1 Semi-scripted Discussion Guide for Pilot Phase Feedback

<u>Introduction</u>: The researcher thanked the survey respondent, briefly introduced herself and explained the purpose of the discussion, which was to make sure that the research design facilitates top executives' participation and that the right questions in terms of strategic management are included in the questionnaire. It was explained that the focus of the research was on strategic decisions and actions. Next, the researcher asked for some information on the respondent's position in the company and the company industry, while she noted the participant's gender.

Questions:

- 1) How did you find the survey overall? How long did it take you to complete the survey?
- 2) Did you identify any mistakes/issues? Was what you had to do clear, while feeling out the survey and moving from question to question?
- 3) How do you feel about participating in a similar second wave of the survey?
- 4) What are the main challenges you are facing now in terms of strategic decision making? Are you facing any tensions/contradictory demands?
- 5) What are the strategic decisions/actions you are making/taking?
- 6) How is the company doing? How do you perceive the business environment and how does it affect your strategic decisions?

Do you think that we have left something out? Please feel free to mention anything you find relevant.

5.6.1.2 Pilot Phase Analysis

Table 9 presents information about participants of the pilot phase. As the table indicates, there was only one female respondent in the pilot phase and the companies of which CEOs participated in the pilot phase had activities in various sectors.

	Gender	Position	Industry
1	Male	CEO	Production of coatings
2	Male	CEO	Pharmaceutical
3	Male	Managing Director	Group of companies (car retailer, airline industry)
4	Male	CEO	IT services
5	Male	Country General Manager	Retail (food & beverages)
6	Male	CEO	Production and distribution of coatings
7	Male	CEO	Manufacturing (Agricultural/environmental products)
8	Male	CEO	Fertilizers manufacturing
9	Female	CEO	Cosmetics
10	Male	Managing Director	Agricultural products

 Table 9: Profile of Participants in the Pilot Phase

Responses in the pilot phase, both in terms of answers to survey questions and in terms of cognitive interviewing insights (please see below), were analyzed in order to identify issues and mistakes. The following issue was identified based on the pilot phase data collected: a co-founder of a company replied "No" to the question "Have you or your family founded the company", because he assumed that "Yes" meant that he was the sole founder. Thus, "co-founding" was also added in the wording of the question, which was now worded as follows: "Have you or member(s) your family founded/cofounded the company".

This stage of looking into the pilot survey data was followed by analyzing the cognitive interviewing notes.

5.6.1.3 Cognitive Interviewing Phase and Preliminary Analysis

As already explained, the pilot phase participants were contacted by the main researcher in order to provide feedback on the survey design and to gain some insight on strategic management under the pandemic, in order to decide whether the right variables were included in the survey. Seven discussions were conducted over the phone, whereas three were conducted via Zoom. Most discussions lasted about 30-45 minutes, with the Zoom discussions lasting slightly longer (about 1 hour). During all ten cognitive interviews, the researcher took notes. At the beginning of each discussion, the pilot phase participants were thanked for their contribution, and the aim and focus of the research was explained. The feedback provided was highly informative for the subsequent research design, as well as views on the business environment and on the strategic decision-making process.

More specifically, concerning questions 1) How did you find the survey overall? How long did it take you to complete the survey? and 2) Did you identify any mistakes/issues? Was what you had to do clear, while filling out the survey and moving from question to question? of the semi-scripted protocol, feedback is summarized as follows:

1) Some typos were identified and corrected.

- 2) In the educational level scroll down menu, the College (2-year degree) option was inserted twice and the University Degree option was missing from the education level question.
- 3) The introductory parts of specific questions were confusing.
- 4) Specific minor rephrasing suggestions of survey items were made.
- 5) The fact that question headers in questions with multiple items were not visible for the lower items of the questions was reported as a problem.
- 6) The Ingram et al. (2016) Paradoxical Thinking scale was considered confusing by most participants. The main issues reported concerned items 2 and 3, i.e. two of the three items of the scale, namely:

2. It is possible to embrace the traditions that made this firm successful, while simultaneously changing to meet the demands of our current market.

3. It is possible to emphasize efficiency and standardization of work processes, while simultaneously looking for new ways to do things and finding new opportunities.

Concerning item 2, many pilot phase respondents stated that they did not understand what it meant to embrace traditions, while at the same time change in order to respond to current market

needs, while others claimed that this is not possible and that traditions often need to be left out of the future of a company when change is needed. Similarly, concerning item 3, most respondents viewed pursuing standardization and finding new ways of doing things as mutually exclusive. This scale was included in the pilot phase as an alternative for the recently (at the time) introduced Paradox Mindset scale (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018). During cognitive interviewing, the pilot phase participants reported an issue only with one item (out of the nine items overall) of the Paradox Mindset scale; although some confusion was expected due to respondents not being familiar with the concept of paradox, it seemed that the Ingram et al. (2016) Paradoxical Thinking scale more difficult to understand compared to Paradox Mindset. Hence, Paradox Mindset was preferred, both because it was clearer and because it included more items and removing one item of nine, in case this was decided after data collection, would create no problem with the measurement's reliability.

- 7) The fact that the Optimism subscale was the only one on a Likert-type scale from 1 to 6 was mentioned as an observation by one participant.
- 8) Six pilot phase participants mentioned that they wondered how someone can feel uplifted when realizing that two opposites are true, a statement that is mentioned in item 8 of the Paradox Mindset (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018) scale. The researcher initiated, then, a short discussion about paradoxes and a mindset that embraces them; all six participants said they were not familiar with paradox and when they were asked whether the question made more sense after having been informed about it, they all said yes. Because the concept of paradox was expected to be new to the main survey's respondents as well, it was decided to evaluate responses related to this specific item versus the other items of the scale when data collection would be completed. As described in section 5.11, this item was removed after conducting scale reliability analysis.

For issues 1) to 5), all suggested corrections were made by the researcher. Concerning issue 7), no action was taken, because the permission to use this subscale of the Positive Psychological Capital

questionnaire (Luthans & Youssef, 2004 & 2007) was provided under the conditions that no changes would be made. However, the researcher decided to include the research permission statement for the use of this construct in the respective items.

Concerning question 3) How do you feel about participating in a similar second wave of the survey? in the semi-scripted protocol that concerned participants' willingness to participate in a similar second wave of the survey, only three out of the ten participants stated that they were willing to fill in a second wave of similar length. These were the three participants who seemed really interested in the research and with whom the discussions lasted longer than 30 minutes. The remaining seven participants stated that their time was limited, that there was a lot of time pressure from their work, that they had to carefully select how to spend their time, and that they probably would not fill in a second wave of a similar length. The respondent asked those participants whether they would answer a shorter second wave, and six out of the seven participants replied no, encouraging the researcher to obtain all the information in this wave. One participant stated that he would consider if the survey took less than 3 minutes. Taking all these into consideration, the researcher decided to only include one question in the second wave, in order to make it less time consuming for respondents. The questions that were not included in the second wave concerned a second measurement of organizational ambidexterity that is the dependent variable in the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship, a second measurement of environmental dynamism to examine whether perceptions about the environment have changed, and some forward-looking questions concerning how respondents felt about the future.

Furthermore, the researcher also sought feedback on the respondents' view of the research content, with the aim of making sure that the right questions related to strategic decision making were asked and nothing that they viewed important and was part of strategic decision making was left out. The discussion concerning this part was guided by questions 4) to 6) of the semi-scripted protocol.

Concerning question 4) What are the main challenges you are facing now in terms of strategic decision making? Are you facing any tensions/contradictory demands? in the semi-scripted protocol, many respondents mentioned that a key challenge was that, due to COVID-19 related restrictions and the lockdown, rules and the overall situation about how the business was run (including employees presence or absence from the workplace, supply chain issues, competitors' responses to the pandemic and prices) were changing quickly. They underlined the need to be updated on such changes at least weekly (some even said daily depending on the issue) and that decisions had to be altered accordingly. Some said they could not rely on decisions made one month ago, while others more generally stated that strategic decision making needed to be fast and flexible. The content of these discussions led to the conclusion that including strategic decision speed in this research was a good decision. Furthermore, some participants mentioned that an important challenge was the difficulty of pursuing long-term performance goals, while making sure that the company did not fail in the long-term, which can be related to organizational ambidexterity (although the term ambidexterity was not mentioned).

Concerning question 5) What are the strategic decisions/actions you are making/taking? in the semi-scripted protocol), all respondents mentioned an effort to cut costs and to optimize processes like improving production/service times and quality assurance processes. These activities were related with exploitation, although no one among respondents mentioned this term. On the other hand, respondents also mentioned trying to establish strategic alliances that would facilitate supply chain issues, activities expansion to include more online channels of interaction with customers, and efforts to create new products/services in response to changes in demand due to the pandemic. This set of activities was viewed as closely related to exploration, although again this term was not mentioned by participants. The combination of activities in the two sets, which were pursued simultaneously, was viewed as an effort to achieve organizational ambidexterity, although this

term was not mentioned. Hence, although respondents were not necessarily familiar with the term organizational ambidexterity, they mentioned strategic decisions that suggest that some level of ambidexterity was pursued. So, the decision to include ambidexterity in this study was evaluated as appropriate. In addition, many pilot phase respondents mentioned contradicting demands in their answers while answering what strategic actions they were taking (e.g. reducing costs and at the same time improving the quality of products), but when they were asked whether they were dealing with tensions or contradicting demands, they replied that they did not. The above indicate that top executives in Greece may very well be unfamiliar with the concepts of tensions or contradictions in general, and with the concept of organizational ambidexterity.

Concerning question 6) How is the company doing? How do you perceive the business environment and how does it affect your strategic decisions? of the semi-structured protocol, some respondents surprisingly recognized that despite the fact that this was a difficult environment to operate in, it was not viewed as extremely difficult or stressful, but rather as moderately difficult and stressful. One respondent claimed that Greece has been a difficult environment for more than a decade, but there were other countries in which the environments were more hostile. Another respondent stated that executives need to be optimistic about the future, even under a pandemic, otherwise they will definitely fail. Another interesting response was that of an organizational leader who claimed that it is a leader's job to pursue the impossible under crisis, even if this is not realistic, because this is the only way to motivate employees to try to achieve superior performance. These responses were connected to optimism and paradoxical thinking, as they entail recognizing some negative aspects of the environment, yet choosing to remain positive and optimistic about the outcomes of operating in it. Responses concerning how the company was doing varied, with some respondents saying they believed they were doing better than competitors, others being in a similar position with competitors and some saying that they felt that they were somehow outperformed by their rivals.

Last but not least, responses to question 7) *Do you think that we have left something out? Please feel free to mention anything you find relevant* varied; one participant mentioned that it is important for leaders to stay true to their values under crisis, another mentioned that the corporate strategy emphasized exports (which is related to exploration), another mentioned the need to continue investing (again related to exploration), and quite a few mentioned the need for more communication internally and mentioned different ways of doing that compared to ways of communication prior to the pandemic. The statements concerning values and communication were viewed as very interesting, but it was beyond the scope of this research to examine them, since this is quantitative research focusing on the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, and examining the effect of values and changes in the ways of communication would require a different focus and a different research design (qualitative).

In general, the feedback provided through the discussions in the cognitive interviewing phase was very useful. After this phase, preliminary findings of the pilot phase were discussed and it was decided how to move forward. The questionnaire had significantly improved and was ready to be launched, in order for the main phase of data collection to begin. Moreover, the researcher was reassured that the study included variables that are important when studying strategic decision making in general and under crisis. About ten days after the completion of the pilot phase (during which a preliminary analysis of the ten pilot questionnaires was conducted, along with the analysis and discussion of the cognitive interviewing findings), the main survey of this study was launched.

At the end of the pilot phase, the decisions on which scales to use in order to measure both the main and the control variables in this study had been reached.

5.6.2 Main Survey Phase and Data Collection

The main phase of the data collection began in mid-November 2020 and ended at the end of March 2021. 144 responses were collected in total from top executives of companies operating in Greece.

The ICAP Greek Financial Directory (ICAP is an affiliate of the Gallup International Association in Greece) was used as a communication data source. ICAP is viewed as the most extensive list of Greek companies (Mavrommati & Papadopoulos, 2005; Souitaris, 2002) and has been extensively used in previous work on organizations operating in Greece (e.g., Machias et al., 2019; Metaxas & Tsavdaridou, 2013), including work on strategic management in Greek companies (e.g., Beneki et al., 2012; Souitaris, 2002). Hence, the ICAP directory was viewed as a reliable source. Companies that are not included in the ICAP directory are usually very small companies, usually sole proprietorships owned by freelancers or very small local businesses (for example small local bakeries, etc.). Including this type of companies was beyond the scope of this research.

It was decided to include companies with both manufacturing and service companies in the sample, so CEOs from both types of companies were contacted. CEOs were invited to participate in the survey via email followed by two reminders, whereas phone calls were made to their assistants to inform them on the research. In general, Greece is a difficult context for conducting research without recommendation (Souitaris, 2002), and previous quantitative research studies used snowballing as an effective method of data collection in Greece (e.g. Dodd & Patra, 2002; Souitaris, 2002). Initially, there were no plans to use snowballing and the ICAP Directory was used as a source of contact information about CEOs of Greek companies. However, after 5-6 weeks of sending emails to CEOs that were left unanswered and of unsuccessful efforts of trying to reach them on the phone, it was evident that indeed Greece is a very difficult research context when researchers are not referenced. Hence, it was decided that snowballing would be used, not only in line with aforementioned previous work in Greece, but also because CEOs belong in the

organizational elite and are, thus, very willing to help other elite members (McDonald & Westphal, 2011). Therefore, each CEO identified in the ICAP Directory that responded to the invitation to participate in this research was kindly asked to provide the contact information of at least one of their peers to the researcher. Snowballing proved once again an effective recruitment strategy for Greece and 144 responses were collected from CEOs of companies of various sizes and in various industries in Greece (10 in the pilot phase and 134 in the main survey phase). Although this research is not based on a narrowly defined random sample and the researcher was unable to control for company characteristics, the organizations in the sample were selected according to whether their CEO happened to know a previous respondent, indicating random selection. Hence, the sample includes companies from various industries, due to "the complex web of personal networks that are dominant in Greek management culture" (Souitaris, 2002, p. 886) and is a fairly good representation of the Greek business environment (please see section 6.1.1). Similar conclusions about the effectiveness of using snowballing in terms of the produced sample have been reported in previous work as well (e.g., Souitaris, 2002).

5.6.3 Second Wave

A second wave of data collection that included only one question (relative performance) was conducted six months after the end of the main survey. At the time when the second wave of data was collected (Fall 2021), there was major disruption caused by the pandemic globally and business in Greece and worldwide were struggling. An email was sent the CEOs who had responded in the first wave reminding them of the purpose of the research, assuring anonymity and confidentiality and kindly asking them to reply to the second wave question on relative performance. Unfortunately, the response rate in this second wave was very low; only 43 responses were collected from the 144 participants in the main survey, corresponding to a 29.86% response rate. This indicates that less than one out of three initial respondents replied to the second wave question. This percentage was similar to the percentage of respondents in the pilot phase who

replied that they would be willing to fill in a second wave for the purposes of this research. Despite the fact that reminder emails were sent and were followed by phone calls, the number of respondents in the second wave remained low. In several cases, the researcher was unable to directly speak to the organizational decision makers (CEOs and company owners) and instead talked to their personal assistants, who confirmed that they had informed the person who had replied in the first wave, but he/she was very busy and not available to participate in the second wave.

Since the second wave response rate was low and the data gathered could not be used, correlation analysis was conducted between the second wave relative performance responses and the first wave respective responses (respondents were matched by their email). The Pearson correlation between the two measurements of performance was 0.696. After evaluating the situation, it was decided to use only the first wave of data including relative performance data, accepting that a correlation of approximately 0.7 between the two measurements allows for the first measurement to be used as a proxy of organizational performance at time point 2, when the second wave incomplete data were gathered.

5.7 Data Management and Preparation

Managing and preparing data for analysis is a substantial part of any research project (Cox & Verbaan, 2018). Data management and preparation includes safely storing the data, ensuring respondents' anonymity by removing personal data, ensuring confidentiality by limiting access to the data only to specific people, as well as getting the data in a suitable format for statistical analysis (Saunders et al., 2019). Data management related to safety, anonymity and confidentiality, according to the University of Sheffield research ethics protocols and international research ethics and integrity standards, as already described.

Concerning data preparation for statistical analysis, this process is significantly simplified and facilitated through the use of online surveys (Sánchez-Fernández et al., 2012). The online survey was conducted on Qualtrics (www.qualtrics.com) and the statistical analysis was conducted using SPSS. Qualtrics offers various export options, as well as the option to directly export data to SPSS. However, the researcher preferred to export the data gathered on Qualtrics to an Excel file, in order to conduct some basic data management tasks related to coding and then imported the data to SPSS from the Excel file. After the end of data collection at the main survey (wave 1), all data collected was password protected and stored in a secure location. The emails of respondents were not removed yet at this stage, in order for the researcher to be able to send them the link to the second wave (single question on relative performance).

The basic data management tasks conducted in the Excel file included the coding or recoding of categorical variables. For example, the items of the educational level from the drop-down menu available in the questionnaire were assigned numerical values from 1 to 7, as follows: the lowest level of education (below high school) was assigned the number 1, and the highest level of education was assigned the number 7, with a 1-point difference between the consecutive items inbetween. In a similar way, the drop-down menu items in the company industry question were assigned values from 1 to 17 respectively (there was no company with activities in waste management and environmental protection in the sample, so this sector was eliminated from the analysis). Similarly, categorical variables where the possible answers were Yes or No were assigned the values of 1 and 0 respectively. For the gender variable, the answer "Other" was not selected by any respondent; hence, the value of 1 was assigned to women and the value of 0 to men. The clean dataset file was then imported to SPSS.

5.8 Technical Testing

As this research was planned to include an online survey, potential technical issues had to be resolved prior to the research launch. The researcher set up the questionnaire in Qualtrics and a few test rounds were conducted in order to make sure that the language used was grammatically correct and easily understood, that all responses were recorded properly, that the logical flow and sequence of questions was correct, and that the appropriate messages appeared at all stages of the questionnaire. Minor corrections were made to typos and the technical testing was completed at the end of September 2020, after which the Pilot phase began.

5.9 Research Ethics & Integrity

The researcher applied for and obtained Ethics Approval for this project in October 2019. All the ethical requirements related to conducting research were taken into consideration for this project, with all relevant risks being assessed. Potential participants, including participants in the pilot phase, received the Information Sheet and Consent Form in the initial e-mail that invited them to participate in this project, in order for them to decide whether they wish to participate or not. Follow-up phone calls were used in order for the researcher to be able to answer any questions the participants had. And follow-up emails were sent and served as reminders, along with phone calls when needed.

The Participant Information was sent as an attachment in the initial and follow-up emails, inviting top executives to participate in the research. The content of all emails sent to participants are included in the Appendix (Appendix 2 and Appendix 3). The Participant Information was also the landing page (first page) of the link leading to the survey, whereas the Consent Form was the landing page after participants clicked on the 'Next' button. In this way, participants needed to read the Participant Information page and give their consent before filling in the survey, by ticking

a box stating that they agree to participate in the research and wish to proceed with the online questionnaire. The Participant Information and the Participant Consent Form are presented in the Appendix (Appendix 4 and Appendix 5).

5.9.1 Data Confidentiality and Data Security

Data confidentiality and security have been considered, according to the University of Sheffield guidelines on conducting research (https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/library/rdm). Data was securely stored on the University's networked file servers, and copies were kept on the researcher's laptop. The files were encrypted and a password was needed in order to open them. The password is only known by the researcher. Also, the researcher's laptop is kept at home (remote student) and it is also encrypted (password access). Any personal data (like e-mails of respondents or URLs, which would make them traceable after filling in the online questionnaire) were removed from the data set before the data analysis phase began. Regular backup was conducted with the aid/guidance of the IT University staff. Passwords were changed on a regular basis according to the IT staff suggestions.

As already mentioned, the researcher was taking notes during the discussions, which were afterwards analyzed. The analysis of the pilot phase and on the cognitive interviewing phase are presented as follows.

5.10 Main Variables Measures

5.10.1 Organizational Ambidexterity Measurement

The literature on organizational ambidexterity offers different scales that measure exploration and exploitation in different contexts, usually as separate dimensions that are then combined to produce a measure for organizational ambidexterity. Often, exploration and exploitation may be termed differently (e.g. "adaptability" and "alignment" respectively by Gibson & Birkinshaw (2004)). Table 10 presents an overview of the different measures of organizational ambidexterity introduced in the years after 2000, their methodological assumptions and relevant terminology. Research articles that used one of these measures (again) after their initial introduction are not included in the table, since this would entail repetition. All different measures considered for the measurement of organizational ambidexterity are included in the Appendix (Appendix 6).

Authors (year)	Scales and terminology	Sample & methodology	Hypotheses/Findings
Gibson & Birkinshaw	Adaptability and	- Survey of 4,195	- Context is critical
(2004)	alignment for contextual	individuals in 41	- Ambidexterity mediates the
	ambidexterity	business units of	relationship between
	(multiplying these	multinational companies:	contextual characteristics and
	separate dimensions	top executives and	performance
	measures ambidexterity)	randomly selected	
		employees.	
		- Separate items for	
		adaptability and	
		alignment	
He & Wong (2004)	Explorative innovation	- Survey of 206 CEOs of	- Ambidexterity requires a
	strategy and exploitative	manufacturing firms	balance between exploration and
	innovation strategy	- Only firms engaged in	exploitation
	(separate dimensions)	technological innovation	- A context of innovation is
			assumed to make a difference
Auh & Menguc	Exploration and	- Survey of 260 CEOs	- Changing environmental
(2005)	exploitation as the two	- Average firm size 676	conditions matter
	poles of the	employees	- Firm performance is divided in
	organizational learning	- Variety of sectors:	efficient and effective
	continuum (separate	food, mining,	- Different types of ambidextrous
	measures)	automotive, construction	activities relate to effective firm
		materials, and chemicals.	performance for those with strong
		- 51% of firms were	orientation towards exploration
		freestanding and 68%	and exploitation respectively.
		were business-to-	
		business type firms.	
Lubatkin et al. (2006)	Exploratory orientation	- Survey of 154 CEOs	- SMEs have access to less
	and exploitative	and 405 TMT members	resources than larger companies,
	orientation (the addition	from 139 SMEs	which is why:
	of the two dimensions	- SMEs considerably	- The role of top members and
	measures ambidexterity)	older than startups	their teams is critical
		(average 24 years of age)	
		- 90% of the firms	
		privately held	
		- three industries mainly	
		represented in the	
		sample: manufacturing,	
		scientific & technical	

 Table 10: Different Ways of Measuring Ambidexterity in the Literature

		services, and	
		construction	
Mom et al. (2007)	Managers' exploration	- Survey of 104	The way that knowledge flows
	activities, managers'	managers and interviews	across the organization makes
	exploitation activities	with 12 managers in an	difference (bottom-up versus top-
	(viewed as separate	international electronics	down)
	dimensions of individual-	firm's specific division	
	level ambidexterity	(with over 7,000	
	possessed by managers)	employees)	
Jansen et al., (2009a)	Exploratory innovation &	- Survey at multiple	- Environmental dynamism plays
	exploitative innovation	autonomous branches of	a critical role
	(separate measures, not	a large financial services	- The type of leadership
	examined concurrently)	firm	(transformational versus
		- 89 CEOs and 305	transactional) plays a critical role
		senior team members	
		(different questionnaire	
		for each category of	
		respondents)	
		- Average branch size:	
		128.74 employees	
Cao et al. (2010)	Organizational	- Survey at 122 SMEs	- CEOs and TMTs are critical for
	ambidexterity (single-	- Both the CEO and the	ambidexterity
	factor ambidexterity	CTO of each firm	- The role of the CEO is more
	measure)	participated in the survey	important in SMEs than in larger
		- High technology	companies
		industry	- CEOs networking is important
			in transitional economies
Chang & Hughes	Explorative innovation	-243 SMEs in Scotland	-Product Design Managers play a
(2012)	and exploitative	-79 manufacturing	vital role in innovation
	innovation (separate	companies, 164 service	
	measures, their absolute	companies	
	difference is considered	-Managing Directors and	
	balanced innovation and	Chief Product Design	
	is labelled "BD")	Managers	
Patel et al. (2013)	Exploration and	- CEOs Survey at 215	- The role of CEOs is more
	exploitation	high-tech small SMEs	important in SMEs, because there
	(ambidexterity level is		are fewer hierarchical levels
	their average; congruence		
	is absolute difference)		

As expected, there is a chronological evolution of ambidexterity measures with researchers building upon /altering previous constructs developed by their colleagues. For example, Lubatkin et al. (2006) built upon the He and Wong (2004) scale, taking into consideration the Benner and Tushman (2003) conceptualization of ambidexterity, which expanded He and Wong's (2004) approach of product design-related ambidexterity to also include, apart from a company's technology/product features, a proximity of innovation that relates the existing market and customer base. In a similar way, Cao et al. (2010) built on the Lubatkin et al. (2006) ambidexterity scale considering the importance of top management teams in the process of achieving organizational ambidexterity. In the same way, Chang & Hughes (2012) built on the Jansen et al. (2009a) scale and concluded that there was separation of exploration and exploitation (Chang & Hughes, 2012). Interestingly, there is evidence that exploration and exploitation cannot be substituted, may co-exist and the one may reinforce the other (Cao et al., 2009; Gibson & Birkinshaw, 2004; He & Wong, 2004; Lubatkin et al., 2006).

In general, researchers have combined exploration and exploitation in various ways in order to create a measure for organizational ambidexterity: a product of the two has been suggested by Gibson & Birkinshaw (2004), as well as He & Wong (2004); the latter also suggested subtracting them, whereas Lubatkin et al. (2006) have thoroughly examined their mathematical combinations and concluded that their addition was a better measure, as it entailed the minimum information loss compared to alternatives.

Given the different measures of ambidexterity available, the researcher had to critically examine which were more relevant for this specific project. Some scales were rejected due to their narrow focus. For instance, the innovation ambidexterity scale created by Lin et al. (2012) was not selected for this project (and not included in Table 10), as it is quite narrow; the specific scale measures a firm's performance concerning incremental product innovation, which is viewed as a very specific aspect of ambidexterity (specifically of exploration). Similarly, the product exploration, product exploitation, market exploration and market exploitation measures developed by Voss & Voss (2013) were not selected (again not included in Table 10), because of their very specific focus and context (artistic industry).

When trying to select the measure of organizational ambidexterity, it is important to take into account the context of previous research, as well as the level considered, and to choose a measure that is most relevant with this study's context and level. Therefore, it is important to identify the different meaning of exploration and exploitation opportunities in different contexts (O'Reilly & Tushman, 2013). For example, in research where solely service companies are included, an explorative opportunity may refer to the introduction of a new way of offering the service, like a new business model; whereas in research where only manufacturing firms are included, exploration opportunities are usually related to the creation of a new product. Thus, it was important to select scales and measures that have been used and validated in previous research where both service and manufacturing companies were included in the sample, where established companies were considered (not new ventures), and where SMEs were a significant part of the sample (in this project where 83.3% of the companies are SMEs). Keeping this in mind, the Hill & Birkinshaw (2014) measures for exploration and exploitation were excluded, since they were developed specifically for new corporate venture units, which constitute a completely different context of organizational activity compared to established companies. Similarly, measures of individual ambidexterity were not considered (e.g. Mom et al., 2007; Ajayi et al., 2017), since this study examines organizational ambidexterity at the firm level. However, the Mom et al. scale was included in Table 10, as it has had a significant impact on posterior research (e.g. Alghamdi, 2018; Tamayo-Torres et al., 2017). Similarly, measures of team ambidexterity were not considered (García-Granero et al., 2018; Jansen et al., 2016).

Apart from context and level considerations, the ambidexterity measure choice was also based on the existence of similar assumptions. One of the main assumptions of this project is the microfoundations approach, i.e. the focal role of top executives in SMEs. This assumption was essential in Lubatkin et al.'s (2006) work, which also included both service and manufacturing firms. Moreover, Lubatkin et al. view ambidexterity as a broader process, beyond the narrower focus of other studies. Further, this scale is validated on CEOs and its reliability has been validated in subsequent studies (Kammerlander et al., 2014-SMEs, Ou et al., 2015, Venugopal et al., 2018; Mammassis & Kostopoulos, 2019). Consequently, the Lubatkin et al. (2006) scale for organizational ambidexterity was viewed as the right choice for this project. The scale was adjusted to range from 1 = Strongly disagree to 7 = strongly agree instead of from 1 = Strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree, in order to be consistent with response ranges among different questions.

5.10.2 Strategic Decision Speed Measurement

When Eisenhardt (1989) introduced strategic decision speed, she used qualitative data. However, she measured the time required for each of the decisions that were studied by noting the time difference between the starting point, i.e. the first time that an action related to the decision was mentioned (like arranging a meeting to discuss the decision), and the ending point, i.e. the time when commitment to specific actions was achieved. Then, Eisenhardt coded as fast those companies that had the lowest reported times concerning reaching decisions, and as slow those requiring more time. Hence, this initial measurement of strategic decision speed was not objective, but rather comparative, based on the different decision times reported for reaching strategic decisions. Yet, this initial measurement of strategic decision speed served as the basis for introducing different measures used in subsequent quantitative studies. This type of measurement requires ethnographic research, where the researcher is present in discussions that concern decisions and, thus, has the opportunity to observe and report how much time passes from the first time of discussion concerning a specific decision until the decision is made.

Strategic speed has been measured in three main ways in previous studies that were either purely quantitative or included a quantitative part (mixed method studies):

a) asking research participants to reflect on which was the most important strategic decision the company made previously; report how much time it took them to reach this strategic decision (Judge & Miller, 1991); and then creating a scale by attributing low strategic decision speed to those decisions that required longer time to reach,

b) asking about the time required to reach a decision concerning three specific scenarios (acquisition scenario, new product introduction scenario, and adopting a new technology scenario), and calculating the average of the three (Baum & Wally, 2003), and

c) asking participants to rate on a Likert-type scale how quickly the company reaches strategic decisions in general (Souitaris & Maestro, 2010).

Table 11 presents the different measure instruments used for strategic decision speed in the literature. Studies using the first way of measuring strategic decision speed (noted as a) above) are reported as using the Judge & Miller (1991) measurement scale, those using the second as using the Baum & Wally (2003) scale, and those using the third way are reported as using the Souitaris & Maestro (2010) scale.

All the different scales of strategic decision speed that have been considered for this study were used in quantitative and mixed studies and they are included in the Appendix (Appendix 7). Measures used in strictly qualitative studies or in studies that requested ethnography were rejected, because this is a quantitative study. Hence, the scale by Souitaris & Maestro (2010) was selected for measuring strategic decision speed. The choice of this scale was based on the following four arguments: firstly, it has been in quantitative methods studies (surveys); secondly, it is a self-reported scale, thirdly it has been validated on top executives, and fourthly, it is considered as an
appropriate instrument when measuring usual (average) speed of making strategic decisions (Adomako et al., 2021) at the firm level.

Authors (year)	Terminology	Measure	Scale	Methodology
Bourgeois &	Decision speed	Fast or slow decision	No scale	Mixed methods
Eisenhradt (1988)		making attributed to		study (interviews
		companies by the		and survey)
		researchers		
Eisenhardt (1989)	Decision	Time difference between	No scale; coding	Mixed methods
	speed/strategic	the first time there was an	firms as slow or fast	study (interviews
	decision speed	action related to the	based on qualitative	and survey)
		decision and the	data	
		commitment to specific		
		actions		
Judge & Miller	Decision-making	Reporting the duration of	Intuitive scale	Mixed methods
(1991)	speed	decision making for the	created by the	study (interviews
		most important strategic	researchers based on	and survey)
		decision over the study	the data	
		period; highest duration		
		was 24 months; each		
		value subtracted from 25		
		to create a reverse scale		
Chen & Hambrick	Response	Response announcement	No scale; using the	Mixed methods
(1995)	announcement	speed, response execution	reported times for	study (survey and
	speed, response	speed and action	each the three speeds	publicly available
	execution speed and	execution speed using	based on	qualitative data)
	action execution	Eisehardt's (1989)	Eisenhardt's (1989)	
	speed	measure	method	
Perlow et al. (2002)	Speed	Total time spent in	No scale; using the	Ethnography
		management meetings	average time per	
		divided by number of	strategic decision as	
		strategic decisions	a proxy of total	
			amount dedicated to	
			each decision	
Baum & Wally	Strategic decision-	Average of the time	Scale ranged from 2	Quantitative (survey)
(2003)	making	required to reach a	to more than 180	
	speed		days to reach the	

 Table 11: Different Ways of Measuring Strategic Decision Speed in the Literature

		decision concerning three	decision (and was		
		hypothetical scenarios	reversed)		
Forbes (2005)	Decision speed	Identification similar to	Judge & Miller	Quantitative (survey)	
		Judge & Miller (1991)	(1991) method	in new ventures	
Zehir & Özşahin	Strategic decision-	Average of the time	Baum & Wally	Quantitative (survey)	
(2008)	making	required to reach a	(2003) scale		
	speed	decision concerning three			
		hypothetical scenarios as			
		in Baum & Wally (2003)			
Souitaris &	Strategic decision	Adjusting the Schriber &	New, self-reported 5-	Quantitative (survey)	
Maestro (2010)	speed	Gutek (1987) work pace	point Likert type		
		scale to create a self-	scale, with three		
		reported measure of	items		
		strategic decision speed			
Chen & Chang	Decision speed	Expanding Baum &	New, self-reported	Quantitative (survey)	
(2012)		Wally's idea of three	scale 5-point Likert		
		scenarios to five important	type scale with five		
		strategic decisions;	items		
		participants reported the			
		firm speed of reaching			
		each of the five decisions			
Clark & Maggitti	TMT Decision	Participants chose how	New, self-reported	Mixed methods	
(2012)	Speed	fast the TMT makes	scale 5-point Likert		
		decisions, compared to	type scale with three		
		competitors, and	items		
		compared to the pace of			
		environmental change			
Mwangi (2012)	Strategic decision	Participants report how	Combination of the	Quantitative (survey)	
	speed	fast the firm makes	Chen & Chang		
		decisions	(2012) and Soutaris		
			& Maestro (2010)		
			scale		
Shepherd et al.	Decision speed	Similar to Clark &	Adjustment of the	Quantitative (survey)	
(2021)		Maggitti (2012) scale, but	Clark & Maggitti		
		Shepherd et al. used the	(2012) scale		
		observed time for a			
		specific decision, whereas			
		Clark & Maggitti asked			
		whether the usual decision			
		time is under three months			

Adomako et al.	Strategic decision	Souitaris & Maestro	Souitaris & Maestro	Quantitative (survey)
(2021)	speed	(2010) method	(2010) scale	
Rahimnia & Molavi	Strategic decision-	Mwangi (2012) method	Mwangi (2012) scale	Quantitative (survey)
(2021)	making speed			

The scale was adjusted in terms of the Likert-type scale to range from 1 = Strongly disagree to 7 = Strongly agree (while the initial scale was on a 5-point Likert-type system), and the third item was slightly rephrased compared to the initial item, in order to better express the question in the Greek language. Therefore, the scale used in this study for measuring strategic decision speed is the Strategic Decision Speed scale by Souitaris & Maestro (2010).

5.10.3 Organizational Performance Measurement

A general overview of how organizational performance has evolved as an essential variable in the management literature is provided in section 2.9. This section examines measures used in strategic management research and specifically in strategic decision-making studies and organizational ambidexterity studies. Table 12 presents the different types of measures for performance used by a selection of previous studies both in the area of strategic decision making and in the area of ambidexterity. As it is obvious from the table, more than one measure of performance has been used in the majority of studies, while relative and self-reported measures of performance have been increasingly used in the past two decades.

Authors (year)	Measure	Scale	Methodology	Area
Fredrickson	Two measures of	No scale; using actual	Mixed	Strategic
(1984),	performance in the past five	performance data	methods	decision-
Fredricskon &	years combined: average		(interviews,	making
Mitchell (1984)	after-tax return on assets,		scenario and	literature
	and (2) percentage change		survey)	
	in gross sales			
Bourgeois &	Combined measures of	Combination of self-	Mixed	Strategic
Eisenhradt	actual and perceived	reported scale by CEOs	methods	decision-
(1988)	performance: (1) order	and actual performance	(interviews	making
	backlog for each product,	data;	and survey)	literature
	(2) relative effectiveness	Effectiveness scale		
	compared to competitors on	relative to competitors		
	a 0-10, and (3) profits and	reported by CEOs		
	sales.			
Eisenhardt	Two measures of	No scale; using actual	Mixed	Strategic
(1989)	performance in the study	performance data	methods	decision-
	period combined: (1) return		(interviews	making
	on sales, and (2) sales trend		and survey)	literature
Chen &	Four combined measures of	No scale; using actual	Mixed	Strategic
Hambrick (1995)	performance: (1) market	performance data on	methods	decision-
	share change, (2)	the two market-related	(survey and	making
	percentage market share	and two profitability-	publicly	literature
	change, (3) Profit margin,	related measures used	available	
	(4) total operating profit per		qualitative	
	revenue passenger mile		data)	
	(RPM)			
Baum & Wally	Two measures of	No scale; using actual	Quantitative	Strategic
(2003)	performance in the past 4	performance data	(survey)	decision-
	years combined: sales and			making
	employees growth			literature
	combined into a growth			
	measure, and profit as a			
	percentage of assets			
Souitars &	Two combined measures of	No scale; using actual	Quantitative	Strategic
Maestro (2010)	performance: (1) return on	performance data	(survey)	decision-
	total assets, (2) return on			making
	sales			literature

Table 12: Measurement of Organizational Performance in the Strategic Decision Makingand Organizational Ambidexterity Literature

Shepherd et al.	Return on assets used as a	No scale; using actual	Quantitative	Strategic
(2021)	control measure	performance data	(survey)	decision-
				making
				literature
He & Wong	Single measure of	No scale; using self-	Quantitative	Ambidexterity
(2004)	performance: compounded	reported sales growth	(survey)	literature
	average sales growth rate of	rate, but checking its		
	last three years, self-	correlation with a		
	reported	database of 90		
		companies in the		
		industry		
Gibson &	Measuring the performance	Self-reported scale on	Quantitative	Ambidexterity
Birkinshaw	of the business unit based	business unit	(survey)	literature
(2004)	on a 4-item, self-reported	performance		
	scale			
Auh & Menguc	Two combined measures of	Two relative	Quantitative	Ambidexterity
(2005)	performance in the last 3	performance scales	(survey)	literature
	years: effectiveness (profit	adjusted from Spanos		
	growth, sales growth, and	& Lioukas (2001) in		
	market share growth) and	two subcategories,		
	efficiency (profitability,	reported by CEO		
	return-on-investments,			
	return-on-sales, and return-			
	on-assets).			
Lubatkin et al.	Multiple performance	Scale of relative	Quantitative	Ambidexterity
(2006)	measures including sales	performance compared	(survey)	literature
	growth, market share	to competitors,		
	growth, return on equity,	reported by CEO (8		
	And return on total assets,	items taken from the 12		
	compared to competitors	items of Gupta &		
	from 1 (much worse) to 5	Govindarajan (1986)		
	(much better)			
Chang & Hughes	Measuring the performance	Self-reported Gibson &	Quantitative	Ambidexterity
(2012)	of the company based on a	Birkinshaw (2004) 4-	(survey)	literature
	4-item, self-reported scale	item performance		
		scale, adapted to firm		
		level; reported by		
		Managing Director and		
		Chief Product Design		
		Managers		

Patel et al.	Single measure of	No scale; using the	Quantitative	Ambidexterity
(2013)	performance in the last	average of actual data	(survey)	literature
	three years: growth, but	on sales and employee		
	with two dimensions: (1)	growth for the last		
	sales, and (2) employees	three years		
	growth			
Luger et al.	Two measures of	No scale; using the	Quantitative	Ambidexterity
(2018)	performance combined:	average of actual data	(survey)	literature
	return on equity and total	on return on equity and		
	shareholder return	stock price returns for		
		the last three years		
Kafetzopoulos	Measuring the change to	Self-reported scale on	Mixed	Ambidexterity
(2021)	performance over time in	the company's	methods	literature
	terms of profitability, gross	performance	(survey and	
	margin, profit, productivity		interviews)	
	and return on investment			

The main self-reported performance measurement scales and their respective items are presented in the Appendix (Appendix 8). Self-reported measures of performance are being used when companies are not willing to disclose performance data, due to confidentiality reasons. This is often the case with private companies and small companies (Lubatkin et al., 2006). Further, there is evidence that self-reported measures of performance are highly correlated with actual performance data, specifically when the person reporting performance is the CEO (Dess & Robinson, 1984; He & Wong, 2004; Lubatkin et al., 2006). In addition, the use of relative performance measures has the advantage of considering the differences among firms and not just the absolute performance of a company (Gupta & Govindarajan, 1986). This is important because examined on its own, a company may be doing well, but the reality when compared to competitors may be very different.

Taking into account all the above, the search was narrowed down to self-reported measures of relative performance compared to competitors, which include several performance dimensions and are reported by CEOs. Among them, the Spanos & Lioukas (2001) scale was selected, based on

the following factors: a) the scale combines multiple measures of performance, b) it has been used in previous research in private firms (e.g. Auh & Menguc, 2005; Schreiner et al., 2009) that – just like small firms – are often reluctant to disclose objective performance data for research purposes and, thus, seemed relevant to this project where all firms are private and the majority are SMEs, c) it has been validated on CEOs who are the respondents in this study, and d) it measures relative performance, which is a better indication of performance under crisis than absolute performance. Indeed, many companies may experience a deterioration of performance during crisis, and this can be perceived as problematic viewed on its own; but if examined compared to what other companies in the industry are doing, it may very well be the case that the company is doing well in terms of performance.

Although the initial Spanos & Lioukas (2001) scale has a retrospective timeframe of three years, the researcher decided to change the timeframe to six months, since the pandemic started affecting Greece six months before this research began. Therefore, it made no sense to ask CEOs to reflect on their performance compared to competitors in the last three years, because the situation in the past six months was significantly different from the situation one year ago for example. Hence, organizational performance was measured in this study using the Spanos & Lioukas (2001) Performance scale, adjusted on a six-month retrospective timeframe.

5.11 Moderators

This section presents the constructs used in order to measure the moderators in this study, i.e. paradox mindset, optimism and educational level. All these moderator variables are individual-level variables, i.e. refer to the individual organizational decision makers (CEOs).

5.11.1 Paradoxical Thinking Measurement

Diverse measures of paradoxical thinking were examined, all presented in the Appendix (Appendix 9). It is important, here, to make the distinction between paradoxical thinking as a cognitive ability and its application in various activities, like leadership: the ability to think paradoxically is part of an individual's cognition, whereas paradoxical leadership is the application of this cognitive ability while performing the work of a leader. Thus, paradoxical leadership can be viewed as the ability to use paradoxical thinking in leadership, and not as a measurement of paradoxical thinking per se; one may be a paradoxical thinker, but may choose to not apply the paradox approach while leading or to apply the paradox approach in some aspects of leadership and not apply it in others. This study examines as a cognitive ability and not its applications.

However, various scales on paradoxical leadership were considered, in order to make sure that focusing rather on the cognitive ability than on its application was the right approach. For example, Zhang et al.'s (2015) scale of paradoxical leadership behaviors, as well as Zhang & Han's (2019) subsequent improvement of this scale, the "Paradoxical Leader Behavior in Long-term Corporate Development Scale" (Zhang & Han, 2019, p. 47), examine whether individuals are paradoxical in their leadership-related job tasks. Although both scales measure whether paradoxical behaviors are put in place by leaders, these measurements are limited to specific paradoxical actions (e.g. pursuing flexibility and stability or planning for the short- and the long-term) and do not measure the overall tendency of a leader to recognize and embrace paradox. Measuring a specific set of paradoxical behaviors of leadership may neglect to measure other such behaviors, which may be used by a leader while the ones measured may not be used (e.g. maintaining a global and local focus). Thus, scales measuring specific paradoxical leadership behaviors, while leaving out others, have been excluded. In addition, Kearney et al. (2019) suggest that empowering and visionary leadership are contradictory forms of leadership, since the former entails communion and the latter agency. Kearney et al. (2019) created a paradoxical leadership measure based on a synthesis of

these previously separate leadership constructs. The Kearney et al. (2019) paradoxical leadership measure requires leaders to be evaluated by their subordinates, whereas in this study responses were collected by CEOs themselves. Overall, paradoxical leadership scales, although very useful in examining specific aspects of leadership behavior, were not selected in this study that examines the role of decision makers' cognitive abilities in general, and not related to specific tasks.

Among the scales measuring paradoxical thinking as a cognitive ability, the Ingram et al. (2016) Paradoxical Thinking scale was considered. This was viewed as a scale that was closer to what was being measured, i.e. respondents' paradoxical thinking as part of their cognition, since it measures whether they view combining conflicting elements as possible. This scale was introduced earlier than the Paradox Mindset scale Miron-Spektor et al. (2018) and it is noteworthy that Ingram was part of the research team that developed the Paradox Mindset scale. Hence, it is evident that the Paradox Mindset construct by Miron-Spektor et al. (2018) is an evolution of the Ingram et al. (2016) scale. The Paradox Mindset scale's advantage lies on the fact that it measures whether the respondents experience tensions, how they feel about experiencing these tensions, and whether they are able to manage them using a both/and way of thinking. Hence, it takes a more holistic approach to paradoxical thinking than the Ingram et al. (2016) scale. Thus, this scale has been viewed as the most appropriate for this project. However, since the Paradox Mindset construct is relatively new and had not been extensively tested when the survey was launched, the Ingram et al. (2016) scale was also included in the pilot study, in order to compare this measure to the more recently introduced Paradox Mindset measure by Miron-Spektor et al. (2018). Nevertheless, it was a common comment by participants in the pilot study that two out of the three items in the Ingram et al. (2016) scale were very confusing, and consequently the scale was withdrawn from the questionnaire after the pilot phase. Therefore, the Miron-Spektor et al. (2018) scale was selected as the measure of paradoxical thinking for this study.

5.11.2 Optimism Measurement

Optimism has been measured in previous work as part of a wider scale that also included items not related to optimism. The main scales, in which optimism is also included, used recently in the literature include the revised Life Orientation Test (Scheier et al., 1994), the Positive Psychological Capital questionnaire (Luthans & Youssef, 2004 & 2007), the Psychological Well-being Scale (Diener et al., 2010), and the Positivity Scale (Caprara et al., 2012).

The Psychological Well-being Scale (Diener et al., 2010) only includes a single item that measures optimism ("I am optimistic about my future"). Although this would make sense in a more general scale that measures a person's overall wellbeing, this study focuses on optimism and single-item scales are considered problematic, in general, concerning their predictive validity (Diamantopoulos, 2012). Thus, this scale was not chosen. The Life Orientation Test was initially introduced by Scheier & Carver (1985) and was later improved by Scheier et al. (1994). This scale is based on viewing optimism as dispositional, which means that it is viewed as a stable personality variable. However, this is an outdated view of optimism, which is considered a state-like capacity that can be enhanced and learnt (Luthans & Youssef, 2004); therefore this measure was not selected. Similarly, the Positivity Scale by Caprara et al. (2012) uses the optimism Scheier et al.'s optimism scale (1994), which views optimism as a stable personality characteristic was rejected for the same reason.

On the other hand, the optimism subscale, which is part of the Positive Psychological Capital questionnaire, views optimism as an unstable state-like capacity. This scale is still considered relevant and is still being used in research work (e.g. Chen et al., 2021; Grözinger et al., 2021; Yao et al., 2022), although it was developed almost thirty years ago. In addition, the scale has been used in studies where organizational performance was examined (e.g. Baluku et al., 2016; McKenny et al., 2013; Guo et al., 2020), where CEOs were surveyed and performance was

examined (e.g. Peterson et al., 2009), as well as in difficult situations faced by organizations that required the use of coping mechanisms (Fang et al., 2020). Thus, the optimism subscale included in the short Positive Psychological Capital questionnaire was considered appropriate for this study, since it has been used in research under similar conditions, where the respondents were also CEOs.

Consequently, in this study optimism was measured using the Positive Psychological Capital (Luthans et al., 2007a) respective subscale, where optimism is not viewed as a stable characteristic, but is subject to learning and development. A permission to use the short version of the scale that includes two items was obtained by its creators. The permission was obtained to use the scale in this research, with the limitation of using it as it is. Thus, the optimism items were the only items rated on a 6-point Likert-type scale, as follows: 1 =Strongly Disagree, 2 =Disagree, 3 =Somewhat Disagree, 4 =Somewhat Agree, 5 =Agree, 6 =Strongly Agree. This scale has been used in a plethora of previous studies in the area of management, some of which are presented in Table 13.

A sample item from this scale is presented in the Survey Questionnaire section, as the scale creators only provide permission to display only one scale item of the construct.

Authors (year)	Work outcome associated with PsyCap
Larson et al. (2006)	Job satisfaction and organizational commitment
Luthans et al. (2008)	Employees' performance, satisfaction, and wellbeing
Avey et al. (2008)	Employees empowerment and problem solving (through examining a
	wider set of alternatives)
Avey et al. (2009)	Lower stress and lower intention to quit
Cole et al. (2009)	Employees' wellbeing
Peterson et al. (2009)	Transformational leadership (used three of four positive psychological
	traits: hope, optimism, and resiliency)
Clapp-Smith et al. (2009)	Team performance through the mediation of trust
Avey et al. (2010)	Extra-role organizational citizenship; lower cynicism, intention to quit and
	counterproductive behaviors.
Rego et al. (2010)	Performance (self-reported, but not supervisor-reported)
Walumbwa et al., (2010)	Leader PsyCap positively related to follower performance through the
	mediation of service climate
Avey et al. (2011)	Job satisfaction, commitment, well-being, citizenship, multiple
	performance measures (perceived self-performance, supervisor evaluation,
	and objective performance), low cynicism, stress, and anxiety.
Rego et al. (2012)	Creativity (hope and self-efficacy only)
McKenny et al. (2013)	Organizational financial performance (linked with organizational-level
	psychological capital)
Baluku et al. (2016).	Startup success (financial rewards, survival time, owner's satisfaction and
	generated employment)
Baron et al. (2016)	Wellbeing and low stress
Joo et al. (2016)	Work engagement
Baluku et al. (2018)	Entrepreneurial success (job satisfaction, commitment, meaning in life).
Bogler & Somech (2019)	Team-leader PsyCap is linked with team organizational citizenship
	behavior
Sun & Huang (2019)	Innovative behavior
Fang et al. (2020)	Coping mechanisms post-disaster and organizational resilience
Sri Ramalu & Janadari (2020)	Organizational citizenship behavior
Gao et al (2020)	Innovation and organizational performance.
Guo et al. (2020)	Political skill, social networks and organizational performance
Chen et al. (2021)	Organizational performance
Grözinger et al. (2021)	Creative innovation and performance (associated with firm-level positive
	psychological capital)
Yao et al. (2022)	Moderating the relationship between work engagement and job
	performance

 Table 13: Optimism Scale in Psychological Capital Questionnaire in Management Research

5.11.3 Educational Level Measurement

Educational level was a categorical variable ranging from below high school to PhD/Postdoctorate Degree. Similar or identical scales measuring educational level have been used in multiple cases in previous research (e.g. Herrmann & Datta, 2005; Mom et al., 2009; Rahimnia & Molavi, 2021). Often in previous work, some educational level categories were grouped together in the data analysis phase (e.g. Papadakis et al. (1998) created one category including CEOs with university degrees and grouped those without one together) through the creation of a dummy variable. This method was also used in this study's data analysis phase, as an appropriate method used when examining a categorical variable as a moderator (Dawson, 2014). Thus, educational level was measured as a categorical variable with seven categories (Lower than High School Degree; High School Degree; Some university lessons, but no university degree; Post-secondary 2-year degree; University Degree; Master's Degree; and PhD/Post-doctorate Degree) and a dummy variable was created in the data analysis phase (described in section 7.2.3).

5.11.4 Environmental Dynamism Measurement

In the process of deciding which measures to use in order to conceptualize environmental dynamism, constructs used in previous literature were examined. Since dynamism includes two dimensions, uncertainty and turbulence (Aldrich, 1979; Dess & Beard, 1984), constructs measuring these environmental characteristics were also considered apart from constructs measuring dynamism. All different measures considered for environmental impact are presented in the Appendix (Appendix 10).

One measure of environmental dynamism considered was the one used by Protogerou et al. (2012). This measure includes three items, one on the rate of change of products, one on the rate of change of technology and one that concerned the intensity of competition. This scale measures rate of change in terms of product and technology and competition, but it fails to consider unpredictability. Another measure considered was Volberda & Van Bruggen's scale (1997) which includes 19 items for environmental turbulence, based on Dill's (1958) previous work. This scale was excluded because it is too long, although it is very comprehensive. Jansen et al. (2006) used a scale of environmental dynamism by choosing five items from the Volberda and Van Bruggen (1997) scale. However, the scale used by Jansen et al. (2016) does not address the degree to which the environment is predictable or not, something that was included in the Volberda and Van Bruggen (1997) scale. The predictability of the environment or, reversely, its degree of uncertainty was a key environmental feature under the global pandemic. It is the high degree of environmental unpredictability during the pandemic that made the judgment performed by the decision makers particularly important when reaching strategic decisions. Thus, the inclusion of a scale that includes uncertainty was essential. The Perceived Environmental Uncertainty scale by Waldman et al. (2001) measures the degree of uncertainty of the environment relating uncertainty not only to how quickly the environment changes, but also to how risky and stressful it is for decision makers to operate in such an environment. All these environmental features were extremely relevant under the global pandemic crisis.

Nevertheless, the aforementioned scale alone was not sufficiently capturing the turbulence dimension of environmental dynamism and its effect on the company-specific market in term of products and customers. Thus, Wilden & Gudergan (2015) Market Turbulence subscale was also included in the survey, a scale that was part of the Environmental Turbulence scale by Wilden & Gudergan (2015) (i.e. Market Turbulence was a subscale in Wilden and Gudergan's scale). This scale was an evolution of the Jaworski & Kohli (1993) scale, which was also considered, but the Wilden & Gudergan scale seemed more relevant to a crisis context. The Market Turbulence subscale subscale combines the perception about the industry as well as demand, customers and products, with the first item combining customers, products and demand. Thus, this subscale seemed like a

good complementary scale for Waldman et al.'s (2001) Perceived Environmental Uncertainty scale, which captures the impact of the overall environment. Both scales combined address the effect of the pandemic crisis on the (Greek) environment, both concerning the external environment overall and concerning company-specific related environmental characteristics, as suggested by McCarthy et al. (2010). Therefore, the two scales (with the Perceived Environmental Uncertainty scale being adjusted on a 7-point Likert type scale) were combined into a single scale of 8 items for measuring environmental dynamism.

5.12 Control Variables

Control variables are used in quantitative studies to capture any alternative explanations to the model being examined. They are included in survey research in order to control for extraneous factors, making the analysis and results more accurate (Spector & Brannick, 2011). If the variable of interest is significant in a regression model after controlling for a set of other variables, then the relationship between the variables examined is viewed as valid. However, the blind use of control variables can be problematic (Spector, 2021). Spector (2021) describes a 7-step process, called Hierarchical Iterative Control (HIC) Approach, which ensures that control variables are meaningfully selected. This process starts with (1) generating the research question through conducting an initial literature review and continues with (2) conducting background literature review, (3) identifying the main relationship examined (in this case the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity), (4) discussing potential control variables, (5) testing them empirically, (6) interpret results, and (7) test for new/more control variables.

The steps of the HIC approach were followed in order to select the control variables in this study. The selection of the first group of potential control variables was based on the initial and the background literature reviews conducted, which revealed that CEO demographics, company characteristics and environmental factors have been used as control variables in previous work that included ambidexterity and strategic decision speed. Different control variables in these three categories (individual, organizational and environmental factors) were considered and tested as suggested in the HIC approach, and results were interpreted and discussed. The list of control variables used in this study is presented in Table 14:

Table 14: List of Control Variables Considered for this Study

Control variable considered
Gender
Years of work experience
Owner/CEO
Family company
Company size
Social desirability

The rationale behind the selection of the control variables and their measurement is discussed as follows.

5.12.1 Company and CEOs' Demographics

CEO and company demographics have been extensively used as control variables in previous studies on strategic decision speed. For example, Baum & Wally (2003) have used firm size and decision makers' characteristics as controls; Souitaris & Maestro (2010) have used firm size and age, along with demographics of top management team members as controls (age, tenure, education level, education diversity among others). Similarly, in studies focusing on ambidexterity, examples include Mom et al. (2009), who have used managers' characteristics as controls; García-Granero et al. (2018), who have used both managers' and company characteristics, as well as Jansen et al. (2006) and Birkinshaw & Gibson (2004), who have both

used company-specific characteristics as control variables. Such organizational and decision makers' features have been found to impact the process of strategic decision making (e.g., Hambrick, 2007; Miller et al., 1998).

Among the company-specific variables, this study uses CEO ownership as a control, based on previous findings that managers who are also company owners are more motivated to increase company value, because of bearing the costs of not doing so, and thus achieve better performance (Mueller & Spitz-Oener, 2006). Moreover, owners of Greek companies have been found to reach decisions less rationally than managers of multinational companies, when operating in Greece (Papadakis et al., 1998). Similarly, family ownership of a company affects decision making, since family members that run the company usually desire to retain control over decisions and are less tolerant to risk (Miller et al., 2009). Company size has also been found to affect the decision-making process, as small companies are usually able to decide faster and may not pay detailed attention to environmental constraints (Brouthers et al., 1998). Therefore, these three company-specific variables, i.e. CEO ownership, family ownership and company size, were considered essential as control variables.

Among the decision makers' demographic characteristics, gender has been used in studies that examined ways of thinking and where the micro perspective was central (e.g. Miron-Spektor et al., 2018). Given the increasing amount of women in top positions in the past few years and the tendency to appoint women CEOs during crisis (Sun et al., 2015), as well as the fact that almost one out of four respondents in this study were women (23.6%), including gender as a control variable was considered important. Further, this study was conducted under the global pandemic crisis and focused on cognition-related managerial characteristics. Decision makers' experience is important for cognition, since having previous experience in similar conditions offers an advantage for reaching decisions faster (Oliver & Roos, 2005); and the longer the professional experience of

CEOs, the more different conditions they have experienced. Therefore, years of experience was selected to test whether those CEOs with more experience were reaching decisions in a different way. Finally, social desirability was used as a control variable for reasons related to quality assurance and research bias.

Based on the HIC approach, years of experience, gender, and social desirability, along with company size, family company, and CEO ownership, were used as control variables in this study. All measurements of control variables, apart from social desirability, have been made using standard practices in previous research, where respondents selected their gender, whether a company is family-owned or not, etc., and have inserted their years of experience, number of company employees, etc., in respective fields. Social responsibility was measured using two items from the Crowne & Marlowe (1960) scale. The scales used to measure all control variables are presented in the Survey Questionnaire, as follows.

5.12.2 Social Desirability

Social desirability has to do with respondents in research surveys and experiments providing inaccurate responses in order to positively affect their image with their answers (Larson, 2019). Previous research has suggested that social desirability bias needs to be examined when self-reported measures are used (Perinelli & Gremigni, 2016), otherwise the value of the findings may be weaker (Kuokkanen & Sun, 2016). One appropriate solution for measuring and investigating social desirability bias is the use of a social desirability scale, which is used as a control variable (Fisher & Katz, 2000; Larson, 2019). There has been some criticism concerning this method, mainly related to the fact that some social desirability scales entail a self-deceptive component associated with personality traits (Paulhus, 1991). Among social desirability scales that have been developed in order to measure this effect, the two dominant are the Crowne & Marlowe (1960) scale and the Balanced Inventory of Desirable Responding (BIDR) Scale developed by Paulhus

(1998). Both scales are quite long, with the Crowne & Marlowe scale including 33 items and the BIDR scale including 40 items (short versions of the scales are included in the Appendix); hence, a common practice in quantitative research is to use a few items of either scale as a control variable. Between the two scales, the Crowne & Marlowe scale has been proven more reliable in identifying fake answers (Lambert et al., 2016) and is also considered as independent of the component related to self-deception (Fisher & Katz, 2000). Although the initial Crowne & Marlowe scale was a True – False scale, it has been adjusted and used as a Likert-type scale in previous work (e.g. Sepulveda et al., 2020). Therefore, the Crowne & Marlowe Social Desirability Scale was selected for this study, adjusted on a range from 1 to 7, with two items being used as control variables.

5.13 Survey Questionnaire

The Survey questionnaire is presented below (please note that only one item of the Optimism subscale of the Positive Psychological Capital scale is presented (Luthans & Youssef, 2007a), due to restrictions by the construct's creators). All items were measured on a 7-point Likert scale ranging (in general) from 1=Strongly disagree to 7=Strongly agree, apart from the Optimism scale which was measured on a 6-point Likert Scale (used exactly as in the Positive Psychological Capital Capital Construct according to the permission of use granted). The order of the items has been chosen in order to achieve proximal separation of items of the independent and dependent variables (Podsakoff et al., 2003; Weijters et al., 2009).

Organizational ambidexterity (Lubatkin et al., 2006)

In the following questions, please select the one that is closer to your company's strategy in the past six months, ranging from 1= Strongly disagree to 7 = strongly agree.

Exploratory orientation:

In the past six months, the firm:

- 1. looks for novel technological ideas by thinking "outside the box,"
- 2. bases its success on its ability to explore new technologies,
- 3. creates products or services that are innovative to the firm,
- 4. looks for creative ways to satisfy its customers' needs,
- 5. aggressively ventures into new market segments, and
- 6. actively targets new customer groups.

Exploitative orientation:

In the past six months, the firm:

- 7. commits to improve quality and lower cost,
- 8. continuously improves the reliability of its products and services,
- 9. increases the levels of automation in its operations,
- 10. constantly surveys existing customers' satisfaction,
- 11. fine-tunes what it offers to keep its current customers satisfied, and
- 12. penetrates more deeply into its existing customer base.

Paradox Mindset (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018)

- 1. When I consider conflicting perspectives, I gain a better understanding of an issue.
- 2. I am comfortable dealing with conflicting demands at the same time.
- 3. Accepting contradictions is essential for my success.
- 4. Tension between ideas energizes me.
- 5. I enjoy it when I manage to pursue contradictory goals.
- 6. I often experience myself as simultaneously embracing conflicting demands.
- 7. I am comfortable working on tasks that contradict each other.
- 8. I feel uplifted when I realize that two opposites can be true.
- 9. I feel energized when I manage to address contradictory issues.
- (As already explained, items 6 and 8 from the original scale were removed in the analysis phase).

Optimism (sample item from Luthans et al., 2007a)

I always look on the bright side of things regarding my job.

Strategic Decision Speed (Souitaris & Maestro, 2010)

- 1. We prefer to make strategic decisions quickly. (Rephrased in order not to be Reverse)
- 2. We generally believe in making quick strategic decisions.
- 3. Our company emphasizes on speed when planning or thinking about strategies. *

*Adapted from initial item: Please tick the extent on which your company places on: speed when planning or thinking about strategies.

Marker variable

I daydream and fantasize, with some regularity, about things that might happen to me.

Social desirability items (Crowne & Marlowe, 1960)

No matter who I am talking to, I am always a good listener.

I'm always willing to admit it when I make a mistake.

Performance (Spanos & Lioukas, 2001)

For the following questions, please select how your firm is performing compared with your main competitors in the past six months, from 1 = Much worse than competitors to 7 = Much better than competitors.

- (1 = Much worse than competitors, 7 = Much better than competitors)
- 1. Sales volume
- 2. Growth in sales volume

- 3. Market share
- 4. Growth in market share
- 5. Net profits
- 6. Profit margin
- 7. Return on own capital

Environmental Dynamism

a) Perceived Environmental Uncertainty (Waldman et al., 2001)

How would you characterize the external environment within which your corporation functions? In rating your environment, where relevant, please consider not only the economic but also the social, political, and technological aspects of the environment.

- 1. Very dynamic, changing rapidly in technical, economic, and cultural dimensions.
- 2. Very risky, one false step can mean the firm's undoing.
- 3. Very rapidly expanding through the expansion of old markets and the emergence of new ones.
- 4. Very stressful, exhausting, hostile, hard to keep afloat.
- b) Market turbulence (Wilden & Gudergan, 2015)

5. In our kind of business, customers' product preferences change quite a bit over time.

6. We are witnessing demand for our products and services from customers who have never bought them before.

7. We cater to many of the same customers that we used to in the past.

8. It is very difficult to predict any changes in this marketplace.

(As already explained, items 6 and 8 were removed in the analysis phase)

Demographics

Educational level

Please select your level of education:

Lower than High School Degree
High School Degree
Some university lessons, but no university degree
Post-secondary 2-year degree
University Degree
Master's Degree
PhD/Post-doctorate Degree
Work experience
Please indicate how many years of work experience you have:
Gender
Please indicate your gender: Male Female Other
Experience abroad
Please tick the box in case you have also worked in other countries other than Greece: \Box
Experience in a multinational company
Please tick the box in case you have worked in a multinational company in Greece or abroad: \Box
Educational background
Please select your main educational background:
Engineering / Informatics / Sciences
Business Administration
Social sciences
Art / Humanities
Medicine or life sciences
Accounting / finance
<u>CEO ownership</u>
Are you the owner of the company? YesNo
Company founders
Have you or your family founded the company? YesNo
Family company
Is this a family company? YesNo

Company age
When was the company established?
Company size (now and pre-Covid)
Number of employees in your firm: in the end of: December 2019Now
Company industry
Please select the industry in which your company operates:
Forestry, fisheries, agriculture, agriculture
Real estate / real estate management
Mining / Ores
Professional, scientific or technical services
Utilities
Construction company
Production / processing
Waste management / environmental protection
Educational services
Wholesale
Retail
Health / social protection services
Arts / entertainment
Transportation, storage & logistics
Tourism / Catering
Telecommunications / Informatics
Insurance / Financial Services
Management of other companies / group of companies

Coding of Data

Tables 15 and 16 present data coding for educational background and company industry.

Table 15: Educational Background – Assigned Values

Please select your main educational background:
Engineering / Informatics / Sciences = 1
Business Administration = 2
Social sciences = 3
Art / Humanities = 4
Medicine or life sciences $= 5$
Accounting / finance = 6

Table 16: Company Industry – Assigned Values

Please select the industry in which your company operates:
Forestry, fisheries, agriculture, agriculture = 1
Real estate / real estate management = 2
Mining / Ores = 3
Professional, scientific or technical services = 4
Utilities = 5
Construction company = 6
Production / processing = 7
Waste management / environmental protection (Not coded, because frequency was 0)
Educational services = 8
Wholesale = 9
Retail = 10
Health / social protection services = 11
Arts / entertainment = 12
Transportation, storage & logistics = 13
Tourism / Catering = 14
Telecommunications / Informatics = 15
Insurance / Financial Services = 16
Management of other companies / group of companies = 17

The following table presents a summary of information on the data collected related to the numerical variables measured:

Variable	Items	Coding	Scale
Organizational ambidexterity	12	explor1, explor2	Lubatkin et al., 2006
(exploration and exploitation)		explor3, explor4	
		explor5, explor6	
		exploit1, exploit2	
		exploit3, exploit4	
		exploit5, exploit6	
Paradox mindset	9	Paradox1, Paradox2,	Miron-Spektor et al.,
		Paradox3, Paradox4,	2018
		Paradox5, Paradox6,	
		Paradox7, Paradox8,	
		Paradox9	
Optimism	2	Optimism1, Optimism2	Luthans et al., 2007
Strategic decision speed	3	str_speed1, str_speed2,	Souitaris & Maestro,
		str_speed3	2010)
Social desirability	3	Soc_des1,	Crowne &
		Soc_des2	Marlowe,1960
Marker variable	1	MarkerVari	Braun et al., 2015
Performance (relative)	7	relperf1, relperf2,	Spanos & Lioukas,
		relperf3, relperf4, relperf5,	2001
		relperf6,	
		relperf7	
Perceived Environmental	8	env_uncer1, env_uncer2,	Waldman et al., 2001
Dynamism		env_uncer3, env_uncer4	
		(environmental uncertainty)	
		mkt_turb1, mkt_turb2,	Wilden et al., 2015
		mkt_turb3, mkt_turb4 (market	
		turbulence)	

Table 17: Variables and Coding

All measurements were conducted using 7-point Likert-type scales, with the exception of Optimism, which was measured on a 6-point Likert-type scale due to restrictions by the construct's creators. In addition, Qualtrics has built-in features that facilitate the minimization of response errors. For example, the selection of the respective number from 1 to 7 (or from 1 to 6) from a drop-down menu ensures choosing a one-digit number in the specific range as a response, or answering a question is compulsory before moving to the next question. In this way, data entry

mistakes and missing data were avoided. In the same way, data entry mistakes and missing data were avoided in the demographic section of the survey, which is presented in the following section.

5.14 Quality Assurance & Research Bias

The quality of a research, and therefore of the results and conclusions generated, may be negatively affected by different types of biases that are entailed by the measurement methods applied (Podsakoff et al., 2012). Common method bias is related to the variance generated by the measurement method rather than what is being actually measured (Podsakoff et al., 2003). Among the several types of common method biases related to research, relevant to this project are those related to surveys. The most common biases in survey research are social desirability bias and consistency motif.

5.14.1. Investigating and Controlling for Social Desirability Bias

As already mentioned, social desirability bias (SDB) may affect the results of research surveys and experiments (Larson, 2019), as respondents are concerned with their image and may often decide to provide certain answers that will make them look better. Apart from using a social desirability scale as a control variable, other measures than can reduce social desirability bias have been used at the research design phase, including assuring response anonymity and confidentiality, according to previous research findings and suggestions (Dodou & De Winter, 2014; Larson, 2019). The respondents were reassured that their responses would remain anonymous and confidential, and that no one but the researcher would have access to them. These assurances were repeated both in the Participant Information section, as well as in the Participant Consent Form, as presented below.

Other methods of reducing the effect of SDB include changing the wording of research items (Kuncel & Tellegen, 2009; Podsakoff et al., 2012), in order to eliminate words in self-descriptive items. However, since the questionnaire was constructed using items from existing scales, the

researcher preferred to use the original existing scales, which have been used and tested for validity (including tests for SDB) in various previous studies without changing the wording. Results related to social desirability bias are presented in the Results section (6.3).

5.14.2 Consistency Motif

Consistency motif has to do with the desire of participants to appear consistent in their answers, and hence try to find similarities between different questions and provide similar answers, whereas they might give a different answer if they weren't aware of such similarities (Johns, 1994; Podsakoff et al., 2003). This may affect the identified relationships between predictor and criterion variables. A solution to this problem is to collect data from different sources (Podsakoff et al., 2012) like different people, or people and secondary data sources (for example, two different data sources were used by Miron-Spektor et al. (2018) when they developed the Paradox Mindset scale). When using data from two sources is not possible, like in this project, a potential solution to the consistency motif issue is to apply proximal separation of items for the predictor and criterion variables (Podsakoff et al., 2003; Weijters et al; 2009). This decreases the participants' ability to identify relationships between items, which they would easily do if the items were closely located. Thus, the items measuring the dependent and those measuring the predictor variable in the model under examination were separated (proximal separation) and the order of the items was carefully examined, in order to decrease consistency motif.

Overall, the constructs and scales used in this research have been developed in previous work and tested taking into account different types of common method bias, with respective results having been published in esteemed peer-reviewed journals. Using existing scales is, hence, advantageous compared to using new ones concerning common method bias, and significantly reduces the risk of the types of common method bias that could be related to this project.

5.14.3 Marker Variable

Marker variables are used in survey research, and more specifically in cross-sectional research, in order to detect common method variance (Simmering et al., 2015). According to Lindell & Whitney (2001), marker variables that are not related theoretically to the variables in the study can be used as a way to examine whether the data suffers from common method variance. If conceptually there is no reason to expect a marker to be associated to other variables in the study, then the marker variable should not correlate with them. In this study, an item from the Interpersonal Reactivity Index (Braun et al., 2015) was used as a marker variable: "I daydream and fantasize, with some regularity, about things that might happen to me.", as theoretically it is not associated with any of the variables used in the study. The relevant results are presented in section 5.7.

5.15 Hierarchical Regression and Moderation

Hierarchical linear regression (Aiken & West, 1991) is a statistical method of analysis used in quantitative research when there is interest in examining the amount of variance in the dependent variable explained by different independent variables. In hierarchical linear regression, the different independent variables are added in different steps in order to examine their individual and combined effects as they are added progressively. Furthermore, moderation occurs when the size or the nature of the effect of an antecedent on an outcome varies under certain conditions (Aguiis et al., 2017; Dawson, 2014). Hence, at least one contingency factor (or more), the moderator (or multiple moderators), affects the magnitude of the relationship between the antecedent and the outcome. When the moderator is a continuous variable or a binary categorical variable, the method that is commonly used is moderated multiple regression (Aiken & West, 1991).

Hierarchical linear regression in which moderators are examined is called multiple moderated hierarchical regression. This method is considered suitable when examining how a moderating variable enhances or reduces the effect of the independent variable on the dependent one (Baron & Kenny, 1986; Cramer, 2003; Schriesheim, 1995). Further, multiple moderated hierarchical regression is appropriate when the data cases are not nested (Hofmann, 1997), in other words there is no shared variance among them; an example of shared variance would be gathering responses from employees of the same department, in which case these data should be compared to the data gathered from employees in another department of the same firm.

In this study, respondents were CEOs of different companies operating in Greece, therefore data were not nested. Furthermore, the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity was examined, and potential moderators of this relationship were considered. In line with multiple cases of previous research where multiple moderated hierarchical linear regression was used to examine moderating effects of relationships that include organizational ambidexterity (e.g. Li, 2013; Tuan, 2016; Zhang et al., 2017), moderated hierarchical linear regression was used in this project. The measures of the variables used in the model under examination are described in the next section.

5.16 Chapter Summary

This Chapter presented the methodological design of this study, based on the researcher's views on methodological issues. Different research paradigms were briefly presented and the choice of positivism was explained. Further, the reason for selecting survey research was explained, along with an overview of the Greek context and why it is an interesting setting for examining strategic decision making under crisis. Next, how the context was incorporated into project design was illustrated and the research phases were discussed. Hierarchical regression and moderation were briefly presented as quantitative research methodologies. In addition, the Chapter included a description of the research ethics and quality assurance process, as well as a detailed explanation of the choices of variables and the measures used. The Chapter concluded with the Survey Questionnaire, the creation of which was based on the literature review and the methods and processes described in the Chapter. The following Chapter presents research analysis, including a presentation of the sample demographics and analysis related to construct validity.

6. Sample Analysis, Construct Reliability and Validity

This Chapter presents an analysis of the sample demographics, both in terms of the decision makers who responded to the survey as well as their companies. Further, descriptive statistics and bivariate correlations are presented, whereas common method bias and construct reliability are analyzed. The Chapter concludes with construct validity and a presentation of the model fit.

6.1 Sample Description and Demographics

Demographics of both the respondents (individual decision makers at the top hierarchical level of companies in Greece) and their companies were collected, in order to a) better comprehend the degree of homogeneity, diversity and representativeness of Greek companies in the sample gathered for the purposes of this study, and b) enable the examination of various demographics as potential control variables in the research model, according to the Hierarchical Iterative Control (HIC) Approach described in section 4.8. One specific demographic at the individual level, educational level of the respondent, which is considered a proxy of the cognitive ability of respondents as already explained in section 2.11, was examined as a moderator of the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity. Table 18 presents a summary of the types of demographic data collected and their respective levels:

A/ B	Table	18:	Type	of Demo	ographic	Data	Collected
------	-------	-----	------	---------	----------	------	-----------

Variable	Туре	Response type	Level
Educational level	Categorical	Drop-down menu selection	Individual
Work experience	Numerical	Fill in	Individual
Gender	Categorical	Yes/No	Individual
Experience abroad	Categorical	Yes/No	Individual
Experience in a multinational company	Categorical	Yes/No	Individual
Educational background	Categorical	Drop-down menu selection	Individual
CEO ownership	Categorical	Yes/No	Individual
Company founders	Categorical	Yes/No	Individual
Company age	Numerical	Drop-down menu selection	Company
Company size	Numerical	Drop-down menu selection	Company
Company industry	Categorical	Drop-down menu selection	Company

The final sample consisted of 144 companies, represented in the sample by 144 decision makers (CEOs). There were a few cases where the respondent did not hold the title of the CEO, but was still at the top of the company's hierarchy. Such cases included subsidiaries of multinationals that had a Country General Manager or Managing Director in Greece and a CEO in another country, and smaller companies where the top executive held the position of General Manager (i.e. there was no CEO). In all cases, the respondents were at the top of the hierarchy of the organization in

terms of decision making. For simplicity reasons, and since all executives that participated in this study were at the top of the hierarchy and the vast majority of them held the title of CEO, they are referred to as CEOs. As follows, the sample characteristics, based on the demographic data collected, are presented.

6.1.1 Company Demographics

The following tables present the company demographics of the organizations in the sample, in terms of size, age and industry sector. As already mentioned, the fact that snowballing was used as a recruitment strategy made it difficult for the researcher to influence the type of organizations included in the sample. However, the final sample is a satisfactory representation of Greek companies, as explained below, and the random selection of companies – based on the criterion of whether their CEO was in the network of a CEO that had already responded to this research – led to a sample that was not confined to a specific industry, but included multiple different sectors in Greece (please see Table 21).

Table 19 presents the distribution of the companies in the sample in terms of size, which was measured as the number of the employees working in the company when the data collection was conducted:

 Table 19: Company Size

Company Size	Number	%
SMEs	120	83.33
Large	24	16.67
Total	144	100

SMEs are the backbone of the Greek economy. In total, 99.9% of companies in Greece are SMEs (source, Hellenic Statistical Authority website). However, although the percentage of companies

operating in Greece are SMEs is close to 100%, in 2020 they accounted for 83% of employment (Source: European Union SME Country's Factsheet). If this study included 99.9% small and medium size enterprises, this would entail that larger enterprises, in which about 17% of Greek employees work, would be completely left out. If the whole population of Greek companies was included in the sample, then the 0.1% percentage that they represent in the total sample, would mean that thousands of large samples would still be included. But in a sample of 144 companies, a percentage of 0.1% corresponds to 0.144 companies, i.e. to including no large companies at all. Therefore, the researcher believes that a sample with a more accurate representation of the Greek economy should also include large companies. The fact that 83.33% of companies in the sample is very close to the percentage of employment for which SMEs accounted for in 2020 (83%), is an indication that the sample is a good representation of the companies in the Greek economy. However, this study's findings indicate that the impact of company size is actually not significant in this study, since it was found statistically significant only in model 3 that examines paradox mindset as a moderator of the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship with a regression coefficient of 1.837E-05; therefore, the company size effect in this relationship is in reality minimal.

Table 20 presents the age of the companies in the sample, which was calculated by subtracting the year in which they were founded as inserted by respondents in the relevant field, from the current year, i.e. 2020 or 2021 respectively (depending on when the survey was filled in).

Company Age (Years)	Number	%
<10	36	25
(10, 20]	29	20.14
(20, 30]	23	15.97
(30, 40]	13	9.03
(40, 50]	19	13.19
(50, 60]	10	6.94
>60	14	9.72
Total	144	100

Table 20: Company Age

Data concerning the age of Greek companies are not easily available in general. For example, the number of young companies and startups is not easy to estimate and there are different numbers reported by different organizations (Source: Enterprise Greece - Report on the Greek startup scene by the Greek government). Nevertheless, it is important that both younger companies and established companies are represented in the sample. If younger companies, with less than ten years since having been founded, were excluded from the sample, this would entail overlooking the significant difficulties that these companies face compared to older, established firms during a crisis. Indeed, a crisis has disproportionally more negative impact on younger than on older firms and negatively affects their growth (Bartz & Winkler, 2016) and their access investments funding (Isatayeva et al., 2019) during the crisis. Hence, it is important to include both younger and older companies and a good representation of the Greek business environment would include companies with different ages, as is the case in this study.

Table 21 presents the industry sector in which the company operates, as selected by the respondent from the drop-down menu available on Qualtrics. A variety of industry sectors is represented in this study's sample. Overall, the Greek economy is a service economy. In 2020 when the research was launched, the service sector accounted for 68.56% and the production sector for 15% of the
national GDP (Source: <u>Statista</u>). As is presented in Table 21, the percentage of service companies in the sample is 65.97% and the percentage of production companies is 17.36%. These percentages are very close to the percentages in the whole population of Greek companies, which indicates that the industry sectors of companies in Greece in 2020 are fairly represented in this study's sample.

Industry sector	Services	Number	Percentage
Forestry, fisheries, agriculture, agriculture	No	1	0.69
Real estate / real estate management	Yes	2	1.39
Mining / Ores	No	1	0.69
Professional, scientific or technical services	Yes	23	15.97
Utilities	No	1	0.69
Construction company	No	5	3.47
Production / processing	No	25	17.36
Educational services	Yes	13	9.03
Wholesale	No	8	5.56
Retail	No	8	5.56
Health / social protection services	Yes	11	7.64
Arts / entertainment	Yes	6	4.17
Transportation, storage & logistics	Yes	3	2.08
Tourism / Catering	Yes	9	6.25
Telecommunications / Informatics	Yes	14	9.72
Insurance / Financial Services	Yes	11	7.64
Management of companies/group of	Yes	3	2.08
Total		144	100

Table 21: Industry Sector

It is important to mention that the Shipping Industry, one of the most important industries in Greece, has been excluded from this study. This is due to the fact that the Shipping Industry does not necessarily follow the rest of the economy. Indeed, different types of crises may affect and have affected the Shipping Industry, which have not necessarily affected the rest of the economic sectors. For example, in the past the Greek Shipping industry has been negatively affected by

competition from countries with lower labor costs (Source: <u>European Foundation for the</u> <u>Improvement of Living and Working Conditions</u>), by collision risks between ships and whales (Frantzis et al., 2019) or by environmental regulation related to the sea water (Sideri et al., 2021), which did not affect other industries in the Greek economy. In general, the shipping industry experiences crises that other industries do not experience and vice-versa. This is why shipping was excluded from the sample.

Last but not least, Table 22 presents the number of family companies in the sample. Data for this question were collected with respondents choosing between Yes or No concerning whether this is a family company. About half of the companies in the sample were family companies. This is further discussed in the next section, in combination with the questions of ownership and founding the company.

Family companyNumber%Yes6847.22No7652.78Total144100

 Table 22: Family Companies in the Sample

Overall, the sample is an accurate representation of the companies operating in Greece when the data for this research was collected, which is an important assumption of positivism (Gill & Johnson, 2010). The next section presents individual demographic data of respondents.

6.1.2 Decision Makers' Demographics

Tables 22 to 29 present information on the profile of the decision makers who responded to the research survey. All respondents were at the top of the hierarchy in their organizations. Among them, about one out of four were women (23.61%) as indicated in Table 22. It is worth mentioning

that although the options in the drop-down menu for this question were not binary, i.e. there was the "Other" option for gender, no respondent selected this option. This does not necessarily mean that the respondents identify themselves solely as men or women, though. Binary results in this question may be related to the fact that discrimination in Greece on the basis of sexual orientation is quite widespread (Papadaki & Papadaki, 2011). Gender has been examined and used as a control variable in this study.

Table 23: Respondents' Gender

Gender	Number	%
Woman	34	23.61
Man	110	76.39
Total	144	100

Table 24 presents the educational level of top executives in the study's sample, as they selected it from the relevant drop-down menu. As the table indicates, there were no participants who reported that their higher education degree was lower than high school. The majority of participants have obtained a Master's degree (53.47%). The research participants who hold at least a University degree correspond to 90.97%, which means that more than nine out of ten top executives in the sample have either a University or a higher degree (Master's, PhD, post-doc). This indicates that top executives in the sample are highly educated, even though the majority of companies are SMEs.

Educational level	Number	%
Lower than High School Degree	0	0
High School Degree	6	4.17
Some university lessons, but no university degree	2	1.39
Post-secondary 2-year degree	5	3.47
University Degree	49	34.03
Master's Degree	77	53.47
PhD/Post-doctorate Degree	5	3.47
Total	144	100

Table 24: Educational Level of Respondents

Table 25 presents the educational background of the research participants. The most popular educational areas for top executives in the sample is Business Administration (39.58%) and STEM (31.94%). These two areas combined account for more than 70% of respondents, which means that more than seven out of ten respondents in the samples have studied business administration or STEM. In addition, there is no one in this study's sample with a lower than high school education degree.

Table 25: Respondents' Educational Background

Educational background	Number	%
Engineering / Informatics / Sciences	46	31.94
Business Administration	57	39.58
Social sciences	8	5.56
Art / Humanities	12	8.33
Medicine or life sciences	7	4.86
Accounting / finance	14	9.72
Total	144	100

Table 26 presents the experience of survey respondents in years. Respondents filled in the relevant field with the number of years that corresponded to their experience. As is indicated by the Table,

the vast majority of respondents have more than 10 years of work experience (91.67%). Hence, more than nine out of ten executives in the sample have at least a decade of work experience.

Experience (Years)	Number	%
(5,10]	12	8.33
(10,20]	47	32.64
(20,30]	64	44.44
(30, 40]	20	13.89
>40	1	0.69
Total	144	100

Table 26: Respondents' Years of Experience

Table 27 presents whether the survey participants have experience abroad. Data for this question were gathered with participants selecting Yes or No concerning whether they have in the past worked in another country. As the table indicates, about 40% of the top executives who filled in the survey have work in other countries as well.

 Table 27: Experience Abroad

Experience abroad	Number	%
Yes	58	40.28
No	86	59.72
Total	144	100

Table 28 presents whether the survey participants have worked in a multinational company (MNC). Data for this question were gathered with participants selecting Yes or No concerning whether they have ever worked in a MNC. AS the table indicates, more than half of the respondents have experience in a multinational company.

Experience in a MNC	Number	%
Yes	79	54.86
No	65	45.14
Total	144	100

Table 28: Experience in a Multinational Company

Tables 29 and 30 present whether the respondent is the company owner and whether he/she, or a member of their family, has founded or co-founded the company. The percentage of company founders (65.97%) is higher than the percentage of company owners (60.42%), which indicates that there are cases where participants in the sample have founded the company but do not own it anymore. Moreover, according to Table 23, 47.22% of the companies in the sample are family companies. This indicates that about 19% of the companies in the sample (the difference between 65.97% - 47.22% = 18.75%) were founded by the respondent, but are not family companies. Similarly, slightly more than 13% of the companies in the sample (60.42% - 47.22% = 13.2%) are owned by the respondent but are not family companies. These numbers indicate that Greek entrepreneurs are not always inheriting companies from their families; hence, it is interesting to test whether CEO ownership makes a difference. A relevant finding is discussed in section 6.2.4.

Table 29: CEO Ownership

Owner	Number	%
Yes	87	60.42
No	57	39.58
Total	144	100

Table 30: Company Founders/Co-founders

Founder	Number	%
Yes	95	65.97
No	49	34.03
Total	144	100

In general, the analysis of the decision makers' demographic data indicates that the sample is comprised of highly educated and highly experienced executives, a significant percentage of whom have worked in another country and in a multinational company in the past.

6.2 Descriptive Statistics, Correlations and Multicollinearity Test

Descriptive statistics or descriptive analysis of data is used to provide summaries or overviews of quantitative data, in a way that facilitates the identification of patterns and relationships that are not easily traceable in raw data (Pallant, 2010). Descriptive statistics enable a preliminary understanding of the maximum and minimum values of data, their average (mean), and the degree of variation between different observations (standard deviation). Apart from this basic statistical information, descriptive analysis also includes examining the correlations between the variables measured. If the correlation between two predictor variables is above 0.7, this means that that these variables are in essence measuring the same phenomenon and the question of whether they should be used separately arises. When this occurs, there is multicollinearity, which means that the set of quantitative data examined is not reliable (Kumar, 1975).

A common practice in survey projects when examining moderation effects and testing for multicollinearity is to mean-center the variables examined (Irwin & McClelland, 2001). This process entails creating new variables from the raw (observed) data by subtracting the mean value from each observation. Mean-centering the variables facilitates the clarification of the regression coefficients and does not affect the model's overall R², which represents how much of the dependent's variable variance is explained by the model (Iacobucci et al., 2017). Therefore, the numerical variables in this study were mean-centered (Aiken & West, 1991).

As a first step for mean-centering the data set variables, their means were computed. Then, these means (indicated in Table 31) were used to compute at SPSS the centered variables for the numerical variables in the research model. Table 31 presents the main statistical information of the observed variables, including their mean, whereas Table 32 presents the descriptive statistics and correlation coefficients for all variable in the model, where the numerical variable have been centered. Both tables include all the variables that have been used in the model, excluding the demographic variables that were not used as control variables, but were included in the questionnaire based on the Hierarchical Iterative Control (HIC) Approach (please see section 4.8). As already mentioned, categorical variables were not mean centered.

As table 31 indicates, the distance between the minimum and maximum values of company size is quite large, a fact that is also reflected in the variable's standard deviation. However, company size has been used as a control variable and has not altered results. Moreover, as it is explained in the results section, the effect of company size is minimal with a regression coefficient that is almost zero (Please see section 6.3).

Variable	Min	Maximum	Mean	St. deviation
Organizational ambidexterity	1.92	7.00	5.49	0.90
Strategic speed	1.00	7.00	4.89	1.41
Relative performance	1.71	7.00	4.93	1.10
Paradox mindset	1.67	6.78	5.26	0.86
Optimism	2.00	6.00	4.86	0.90
Educational level	2.00	7.00	5.44	1.03
Environmental dynamism	2.17	6.83	4.22	0.92
Company size	2.00	61000.00	928.72	5331.45
Social desirability	3.00	7.00	5.45	0.83
Experience (years)	5.00	43.00	23.00	8.45
Gender	0.00	1.00	0.24	0.43
Family Company	0.00	1.00	0.47	0.50
CEO Ownership	0.00	1.00	0.60	0.49
Marker Variable	1.00	7.00	4.86	1.581

Table 31: Descriptive Statistics of Observed Variables

Table 32 presents the descriptive statistics and the correlations coefficients for all variables in the research model, where the numerical variables are now centered. From now on, whenever a reference is made to a numerical independent variable in the research model, it will be implied that the reference concerns the centered variable. As is indicated in Table 32, correlation coefficients for all variables are well below the threshold of 0.7. More specifically, the maximum bivariate correlation is 0.414, between relative performance and organizational ambidexterity, which are hypothesized to be positively associated, so a correlation between them is expected. Still, the value of the Pearson correlation between these two variables was significantly still well below the 0.7 threshold.

Further, the marker variable ("I daydream and fantasize, with some regularity, about things that might happen to me.") does not correlate with any variable in the model. As already mentioned, this item is part of the Interpersonal Reactivity Index (Davis, 1980) that is used to measure

empathy. It was selected as an item that is not relevant to the variables in the research model. Indeed, the marker variable item only correlates with social desirability with a Pearson correlation value of 0.166, significant at the 0.01 level. Correlations between items of the Interpersonal Reactivity Index and social desirability items have been reported in previous work (Braun et al, 2015) and do not affect the validity of results. Specifically for this dissertation, the item used for the marker variable only correlates with social desirability and this item is part of a scale that measures empathy, which is not examined in this study. Hence, the marker variable item is indeed not related (as it does not correlate) with variables in this study, indicating that the sample does not suffer from common method variance (Lindell & Whitney, 2001).

Table 32: Descriptive Statistics and Correlation Matrix

		Mean	S.D.	CR	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)
(1)	Organizational ambidexterity	5.489	0.909	0.924	0.712													
(2)	Strategic decision speed	-0.003	1.41	0.926	.353**	0.898												
(3)	Relative performance	4.93	1.10	0.941	.414**	0.151	0.833											
(4)	Paradox mindset	0.004	0.94	0.881	.231**	0.003	0.154	0.718										
(5)	Optimism	0.001	0.90	0.810	.377**	.216**	.233**	0.086	0.825									
(6)	Educational level dummy	0.958	0.20	n/a	0.007	-0.107	0.099	.174*	-0.052	n/a								
(7)	Environmental dynamism	0.000	0.92	0.865	0.042	0.139	-0.126	-0.091	-0.140	0.005	0.721							
(8)	Company size	928.72	5331.45	n/a	0.013	177*	-0.047	0.096	0.086	0.036	0.052	n/a						
(9)	Social desirability	0.00	0.834	n/a	.247**	0.129	0.126	0.102	.357**	-0.065	0.023	0.002	n/a					
(10)	Experience (years)	0.0003	8.21	n/a	0.053	0.094	-0.022	-0.095	0.114	0178*	0.123	-0.031	-0.006	n/a				
(11)	Gender	0.24	0.426	n/a	-0.111	-0.044	-0.049	0.065	0.022	-0.048	-0.092	0.162	.184*	-0.043	n/a			
(12)	Family company	0.47	0.501	n/a	-0.141	-0.072	-0.057	-0.113	-0.063	-0.012	-0.116	-0.132	0.003	-0.102	-0.002	n/a		
(13)	CEO Ownership	0.60	0.491	n/a	0.152	.180*	-0.162	-0.066	0.065	-0.027	-0.027	188*	0.080	-0.064	-0.085	.339**	n/a	
(14)	Marker variable	0.001	1.58	n/a	0.084	0.050	-0.081	0.144	0.036	0.026	-0.007	0.083	.166*	-0.146	0.080	0.083	0.010	n/a

Note: * Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed). **Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed). The diagonal in bold indicates the square root of the AVE values.

In addition, the Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) statistics were computed as another test for multicollinearity. All VIF values were below 2 (maximum VIF is 1.198), well below the cutoff value of 10 (Byrne, 2013; Neter et al., 1985). Thus, our sample does not suffer from multicollinearity.

6.3 Common Method Bias

Common method bias, which may occur in quantitative research when all variables (dependent, independent, mediating, and moderating) are collected using the same method, for example a survey, and at the same time (Jordan & Troth, 2020; Podsakoff et al., 2012). This study, although designed to include two waves, was based on only one wave of data collection. Hence, it needs to be examined in terms of common method bias. The Harman single factor test was conducted, and the maximum value of variance explained by a single factor is 11.3%, which significantly below the 50% threshold of a variance explained by a single factor usually used as a cutoff point. This in combination with the facts that a) the maximum correlation between variables in this study is 0.464, which is well below the threshold of 0.7, and b) the marker variable does not significantly correlate with any variable in the research model, suggest that the study does not suffer from common method bias.

6.4 Construct Reliability

In order to examine the reliability of the constructs used to measure this study's variables, Cronbach's alpha coefficient was used (Cronbach, 1970). This method evaluates the internal consistency reliability of an instrument, in other words how reliable are the specific items included in a variable for measuring this variable, based on a single measurement occasion. When the Cronbach's alpha value is greater than 0.8, then the instrument is considered to be reliable (De Vaus, 2002), whereas levels greater than 0.7 are considered reliable when the number of items in the variable is less than 10 (Nunnally, 1978). More recent studies suggest that Cronbach alpha values above 0.6 are acceptable (Wim et al., 2008).

Reliability analysis revealed that if items 6 and 8 from the Paradox Mindset (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018) scale were removed, the scale's reliability would improve (Cronbach Alpha with 7 items was 0.851 versus 0.833 of the original 9-item scale). Hence, although the survey measurement for Paradox Mindset (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018) included all nine items of the original scale, items 6: I often experience myself as simultaneously embracing conflicting demands, and 8: I feel uplifted when I realize that two opposites can be true, of the scale were removed. Specifically concerning item 8, the decision to remove it was also supported by feedback in the cognitive interviewing phase by the pilot phase respondents. Similarly, the reliability of the Environmental Dynamism construct would improve if items 2 and 3 were removed (Cronbach Alpha 0.680 versus 0.674); these items corresponded to the second and third items from the Market Turbulence scale (Wilden et al., 2015). Hence, these items were removed according to item purification processes (El Hajjar, 2018; Nunnally, 1978). Table 33 demonstrates that environmental dynamism is the only variable measured in this study with a Cronbach's alpha value lower than 0.7 (but still quite close to it). In previous research, environmental variables have been reported with similar or even lower Cronbach values. For example, e.g. Ang & Cummings (1997) reported a Cronbach value of 0.62 for technological uncertainty; Mitchell et al. (2011) reported a Cronbach value of 0.65 for environmental hostility; and Singh (1986) reported a Cronbach value of 0.58 for environmental turbulence and 0.56 for competitive pressure. Specifically when environmental variables are relatively broad, in other words when they include different dimensions, the acceptable range for the Cronbach alpha value lies between 0.55 and 0.70 (Van de Ven & Ferry, 1980). Therefore, since environmental dynamism includes uncertainty and turbulence as dimensions as already explained, its Cronbach value of 0.68 is within the acceptable range. Overall, the internal consistency reliability requirements are satisfied by the variables measured in this study.

Variable	Items	Cronbach's alpha	CR	AVE
Ambidexterity	12	0.921	0.924	0.507
Strategic speed	3	0.920	0.927	0.807
Relative performance	7	0.941	0.941	0.694
Paradox mindset (7 items)	7	0.851	0.881	0.516
Optimism	2	0.741	0.810	0.681
Environmental dynamism (6 items)	6	0.680	0.865	0.521

Table 33: Internal Reliability

Furthermore, composite reliability (CR) values were calculated for each construct measured and are included in Table 33 along with the respective average variance extracted (AVE) values. Given that all AVE values are above 0.5 and all CR values are above 0.8, no lowloading items were found that needed to be removed and construct reliability is achieved (Fornell & Larker, 1981).

6.5 Construct Validity and Factor Analysis

Factor analysis is a statistical method applied to quantitative data, in order to test the validity of the instrument used. There are two types of factor analysis (Russell, 2002): Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA), in which no assumptions are made concerning the relationships among factors (Fabrigar & Wegener, 2012) and with the purpose of decreasing the number of items in a research model, and Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA), which aims to evaluate "how well a hypothesized factor structure fits the observed data" (Russell, 2002). EFA is used when new scales, which have not been tested and validated yet, are included in a survey questionnaire, whereas CFA is used when researchers already know how many items are included in the measurement constructs and which of them load on the different factors that have been hypothesized. In this study, all scales included in the questionnaire were used and tested in previous studies; therefore, the appropriate method of factor analysis was CFA.

In order to conduct CFA on a data set, there is a minimum requirement concerning the sample size, since very small sample sizes are considered problematic for factor analysis; at least 100 cases are required (Boomsma, 1982). Previous research has examined the effect of sample size and number of parameters on the results of CFA (Jackson, 2001), and the conclusion was that it is indeed sample size that matters and not the number of variables measured. In addition, when there are smaller sampler sizes, the most important index in order to evaluate the CFA results is CFI, as it is not affected by sample size (Russell, 2002). Furthermore, Mundfrom et al. (2005) suggest that when the ratio of the number of items divided by the number of factors is 5, then the required sample size ranges between 130 and 170, whereas if the aforementioned ratio is 6, then the required sample size ranges between 110 and 140. In this study, the respective ratio is 5.28, which is between 5 and 6, so the number of cases (144) lies within the acceptable range. Therefore, different minimum sample size requirements for conducting a CFA are satisfied.

Confirmatory Factor Analysis was conducted on AMOS and multiple indices were used in order to evaluate the validity of the construct and the overall model fit (Hu & Bentler, 1998; Byrne, 2013). More specifically, the following indices and respective criteria are used (Hu & Bentler, 1998):

- Comparative Fit Index (CFI) with a cutoff value of 0.9 (adequate fit if CFI >0.9)
- Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI) with a cutoff value of 0.9 (adequate fit if TLI>0.9)
- Standardized Root Mean Residual with a cutoff value of 0.10 (adequate fit if SRMR<0.10)

• Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) with a cutoff value of 0.08 (adequate fit if RMSEA is <0.08)

Table 34 presents the model fit results:

Model Fit Index	Value	Criterion
CFI	0.907	> 0.90
TLI	0.896	> 0.90
SRMR	0.0887	< 0.10
RMSEA	0.059	< 0.08

Table 34: Confirmatory Factor Analysis – Model Fit Results

As Table 34 indicates, there is a good fit between the observed data and the hypothesized model, with only the TLI being slightly below 0.9, but very close to it. In addition, discriminant validity was examined by comparing the square roots of AVE in the diagonal in Table 32 with the corresponding row and column correlation values (off-diagonal) for each variable measured, according to the Fornel & Larcker (1971) criterion. The highest correlation value was 0.414 and the lowest square root of AVE value was 0.712, so all square roots of AVE were significantly higher than the respective correlations and the Fornell & Larker (1981) criterion is satisfied. Therefore, acceptable construct validity is achieved and there are no confounds between the main variable constructs that would indicate insufficient discriminant validity (Farrell, 2010).

6.6 Chapter Summary

This chapter included a presentation of sample demographics, descriptive statistics and bivariate correlations, along with an analysis of construct validity and reliability. The analysis of the demographics presented indicates that the sample is a satisfactory representation of the Greek market. Furthermore, the descriptive statistics, construct reliability and validity, and confirmatory factor analysis presented, demonstrate that the model fit is good and the sample does not suffer from multicollinearity or common method bias. The next Chapter presents in detail the regression results for the different model tests, in order to examine whether the hypotheses formulated are supported or not.

7. Results

This chapter presents the findings of this study through presenting the results of regressions and other methods used for testing the various hypotheses. A synthesis of results is presented in section 6.3, in which the effects of the control variables, including environmental variables and social desirability bias, are also discussed.

As already stated, the aim of this research is to investigate the importance of organizational ambidexterity under crisis conditions, and to examine the factors affecting the decision to pursue ambidexterity under crisis. Based on the literature review, this entails examining the direct relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity (Hypothesis 1), and the direct relationship between organizational ambidexterity and performance (Hypothesis 6). Moreover, the established relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity is further investigated in terms of moderating factors. Three moderators related to the CEOS' cognition were examined, namely paradox mindset (Hypothesis 2), optimism (Hypothesis 3) and educational level (Hypothesis 4), while environmental dynamism was also examined as a moderator (Hypothesis 5). Multiple moderated hierarchical regression (Baron & Kenny, 1986; Cramer, 2003; Schriesheim, 1995) was used, with interaction effects tested first individually and then simultaneously (all four interaction effects together). Table 35 presents all the hierarchical linear regression results, both for the two direct effects and the four moderation effects. For Models 1 to 5 the dependent variable is organizational ambidexterity, whereas for Model 6 the dependent variable is organizational performance. Models 1 to 5 present the results for Hypothesis 1 to 5, whereas Model 6 presents the regression results of strategic decision speed on organizational ambidexterity when all four moderators are inserted in the regression. Model 7 presents the regression results concerning Hypothesis 6.

Variable	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7
Company Size	7.738E-06	1.316E-05	1.204E-05	1.010E-05	3.959E-06	1.428E-05	-2.063E-
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Social Desirability	0.131	0.136	0.136	0.189*	0.167↑	0.217*	0.074
	(0.087)	(0.084)	(0.084)	(0.090)	(0.086)	(0.084)	(0.117)
Years of Experience	0.001	0.002	0.000	0.001	0.003	0.001	-0.004
	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.010)
Gender	-0.282↑	-0.318*	-0.320*	-0.318*	-0.337*	-0.415**	-0.161
	(0.161)	(0.156)	(0.156)	(0.160)	(0.158)	(0.148)	(0.208)
Family Company	-0.218	-0.173↑	-0.195	-0.222	-0.174	-0.134	0.217
	(0.143)	(0.139)	(0.138)	(0.141)	(0.141)	(0.132)	(0.180)
CEO Ownership	0.250↑	0.264↑	0.236	0.281↑	0.229	0.258*	-0.669***
	(0.148)	(0.142)	(0.142)	(0.146)	(0.144)	(0.135)	(0.186)
Organiz. Ambidexterity							0.423***
							(0.120)
Strategic Decision Speed	0.190**	0.161***	0.147**	-0.542↑	0.141**	-0.457	0.147
	(0.072)	(0.049)	(0.049)	(0.320)	(0.050)	(0.307)	(0.421)
Paradox Mindset	0.252**	0.188**	0.163*	0.147*	0.205**	0.141**	0.048
	(0.083)	(0.070)	(0.070)	(0.074)	(0.071)	(0.069)	(0.096)
Optimism	0.074**	0.224**	0.293***	0.240**	0.250**	0.256**	0.131
	(0.340)	(0.080)	(0.081)	(0.082)	(0.081)	(0.077)	(0.109)
Educational Level	0.031	-0.175	0.096	-0.391	0.017	-0.515	0.559
	(0.076)	(0.336)	(0.328)	(0.395)	(0.332)	(0.365)	(0.501)
Environmental Dynamism	0.190	0.019	0.040	0.037	0.060	0.059	-0.121
	(0.072)	(0.073)	(0.073)	(0.075)	(0.074)	(0.070)	(0.095)
Str.D.Speed X Parad.Mindset		0.140***				0.097**	-0.006
		(0.042)				(0.041)	(0.057)
Str.D.Speed X Optimism			0.166***			0.146**	0.062
			(0.049)			(0.048)	(0.067)
Str.D.Speed X Educ.Level				0.717*		0.603↑	-0.116
				(0.323)		(0.309)	(0.426)
Str.D.Speed X Env.					-0.142**	-0.113*	-0.152**
					(0.050)	(0.047)	(0.066)
Constant	5.430***	5.640***	5.365***	5.885***	5.517***	5.972***	2.438**
	(0.351)	(0.344)	(0.339)	(0.402)	(0.344)	(0.372)	(0.879)
R ²	0.312	0.366	0.367	0.337	0.351	0.450	0.315
ΔR^2	0.052**	0.054***	0.055***	0.025*	0.039**	0.024*	0.067***

 Table 35: Results of Hierarchical Linear Regression Analyses

Notes: p<0.10, p<0.05; p<0.01, p<0.05; p<0.01, p<0.01. Parentheses indicate error values. DV is performance in Model 7, and organizational ambidexterity in all other models. Model 2 includes the interaction term of Strategic Decision Speed and Paradox Mindset; Model 3 the interaction term of Strategic Decision Speed and Optimism; Model 4 the interaction term of Strategic Decision Speed and Educational Level; Model 5 the interaction term of Strategic Decision Speed and Environmental Uncertainty; Model 6 includes all interaction terms.

Results concerning both direct relationships as well as moderation effects are discussed as follows.

7.1 Direct Relationship between Strategic Decision Speed and Organizational

Ambidexterity

As already mentioned, two direct relationships are examined in this study: the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, and the relationship between organizational ambidexterity and organizational performance. Both relationships are examined under the crisis conditions created by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The hierarchical linear regression results for the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity under crisis are presented in Model 1 of Table 35 above. As indicated in Model 1, the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity is positive and significant (p=0.001933). Therefore Hypothesis 1 is supported, and there is a positive significant relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, with data being collected under crisis. Optimism and paradox mindset also have significant direct effects on organizational ambidexterity. In addition, the R², which represents the percentage of variance explained by the model, is 0.312. This means that if only strategic decision speed and the control variables are considered, 31.2% of the variance of organizational ambidexterity is explained through this model, while controlling for company size, social desirability, years of experience, gender, whether the company is a family company or not, and ownership of the company by the respondent. Hence, slightly less than one third of the variance of organizational ambidexterity is explained by this model. Examining moderating factors is expected to explain a part of the remaining variance. Moderating effects of this relationship are presented in the following section, which presents the multiple moderated hierarchical regression results concerning Hypotheses 2, 3, 4, and 5 (examining the moderating effects of CEOS' paradox mindset, optimism educational level, and environmental dynamism respectively on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship).

7.2 Moderators of the Strategic Decision Speed – Organizational Ambidexterity

Relationship

In order to examine potential moderators of the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship, the hypotheses 2 to 5 were tested using multiple moderated hierarchical regression. Multiple moderated hierarchical regression is widely used in strategic management research when examining potential moderating effects (Aguinis et al., 2017). Different regression models were run, where the dependent variable was organizational ambidexterity and the independent variable was strategic decision speed. Four potential moderators were considered: three were at the decision maker's (individual) level, namely paradox mindset, optimism and educational level, and one was at the environmental level, i.e. environmental dynamism based on the CEOs' perceptions. The moderators were inserted in the regression model in blocks. The respective results are discussed as follows.

7.2.1 The Moderating Effect of Paradox Mindset on the Strategic Decision Speed – Organizational Ambidexterity Relationship

Hypothesis 2 suggests that paradox mindset acts as a moderator of the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity under crisis. According to Hypothesis 2, the positive relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity becomes stronger when the paradox mindset of decision makers is high. The regression results for this moderation effect are presented in Table 35 (Model 2). As Model 2 indicates, there is a strengthening moderating effect of paradox mindset on the relationship between strategic

decision speed and organizational ambidexterity. Strengthening effects occur when the signs of the coefficients of predictor and the moderator are both positive or both negative (Gardner et al., 2017). If, in addition, the sign of the dependent variable coefficient is also the same as the other two coefficient signs (of the predictor and the moderator), then the moderating effect is accentuating and the moderator acts as a catalyst, which strengthens the relationship between the predictor and dependent variable. As Model 2 indicates, paradox mindset acts as a catalyst on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship with the interaction effect being significant at the 0.001 level; it also has a significant direct effect on ambidexterity, as does optimism, with both effects at the 0.01 level (p equals 0.008 and 0.006 respectively). The strengthening effect of paradox mindset on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship is accentuating. Therefore, the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity is stronger at higher levels of paradox mindset than at lower levels of paradox mindset, in support of Hypothesis 2. When paradox mindset increases by 1 unit, the effect of strategic decision speed on organizational ambidexterity becomes stronger by 14%. Figure 8 presents the moderation effect of paradox mindset on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship:



Figure 8 – Accentuating and Reversing Interaction Effect of Paradox Mindset and Strategic Decision Speed on Organizational Ambidexterity

Strengthening moderation effects may be disordinal, i.e. the graph resembles to an X and there is a crossing point within the observed range of data (Gardner et al., 2017). If the gradient is significant both at low and at high levels of the moderator, then the effect is called reversing (Gardner et al., 2017) and indicates a relatively strong effect of the moderation on the relationship examined. Results indicate that the strengthening, accentuating moderation effect of paradox mindset on the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity is indeed disordinal (Gardner et al., 2017), as shown in Figure 8, and reversing as indicated by slope analysis: the slope's value at lower levels of paradox mindset is negative (-0.435) with a p-value of 0.019, whereas at higher levels of paradox mindset it is positive (0.364) with a p-value of 0.000. In disordinal effects, the effect of the moderating variable on the examined relationship is relatively strong (Cohen et al., 2003) and the crossing point indicates the value of the predictor under which the dependent variable does not vary as a function of the moderator (Gardner et al., 2017). The crossing point is $X_1 = -0.188/0.140 = -1.343$, which means that when (the centered variable of) strategic decision speed is -1.343, paradox mindset makes no difference on the value of organizational ambidexterity. This value is below the mean of strategic decision speed (-0.003), which indicates that those with a high paradox mindset achieve superior levels of organizational ambidexterity compared to those with a low paradox mindset starting at paces of decision making considerably lower than the mean, and the difference between the levels of ambidexterity achieved is greater as strategic decision speed increases. Overall, slope analysis indicates that the moderation effect of paradox mindset on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship is significant and relatively strong, as the slope is negative for low levels of paradox mindset and becomes positive for higher levels of paradox mindset.

7.2.2 The Moderating Effect of Optimism on the Strategic Decision Speed – Organizational Ambidexterity Relationship

Hypothesis 3 suggests that under crisis, leaders' optimism acts as a moderator of the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, such that strategic decision speed has a stronger impact on ambidexterity when leaders are more optimistic. Model 3 on Table 35 presents the regression results for this moderation effect. As the table indicates, there is a significant strengthening, accentuating (Gardner et al., 2017) moderation effect of optimism on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship, since all regression coefficients for the predictor, moderator and interaction variable are positive. If optimism increases by one unit, the aforementioned relationship

becomes stronger (more positive) by 16.6%. Moreover, slope analysis indicates that the gradient of the slope is negative (-0.328) and significant (p=0.034) at low levels of optimism, whereas it becomes positive (0.336) and significant (p=0.000) at high levels of optimism, indicating a reversing effect. Therefore, Hypothesis 3 is supported and the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity becomes stronger at higher levels of CEOs' optimism. Table 35 also demonstrates the significant direct effect of strategic decision speed, optimism and paradox mindset on organizational ambidexterity when examining optimism as a moderator.

Figure 9 presents the moderation effect of optimism on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship. As already mentioned, optimism's moderation effect is strengthening, accentuating and reversing; it is also disordinal with a crossing point within the observed range of data (Gardner et al., 2017). The above indicate a relatively strong moderation effect. In this case, the crossing point is $X_2 = -0.293/0.166 = -1.765$, so when strategic decision speed is equal to -1.765, optimism makes no difference on the value of organizational ambidexterity, but for values of strategic decision speed greater than -1.765, when the leaders are optimistic the company achieves higher organizational ambidexterity. This value of strategic decision speed is even lower than the respective crossing value of the paradox mindset moderation, indicating that being optimistic makes a difference for organizational ambidexterity starting at lower values of strategic decision speed than paradox mindset does. Overall, moderation analysis and slope analysis show that the moderation effect of optimism on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship is significant and relatively strong, with optimism acting as a catalyst on the relationship examined.



Figure 9 – Accentuating and Reversing Interaction Effect of Optimism and Strategic Decision Speed on Organizational Ambidexterity

7.2.3 The Moderating Effect of Educational Level on the Strategic Decision Speed – Organizational Ambidexterity Relationship

Hypothesis 4 suggests that, under crisis, CEOs' educational level moderates the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, such that the relationship is stronger for those with a higher educational level. Educational level is a non-binary categorical variable with seven categories, which is ordinal, i.e. there is clear order between the different categories (lower values represent lower levels of education). In this study's data set, there are unequal sample sizes across educational level categories (34.03% of this study's respondents hold a university degree and 53.47% hold a master's degree, so the remaining categories are below 10%). This can be problematic, as in such cases the moderation effect can be underestimated (Alexander & DeShon, 1994; Aguinis et al., 2001). Even if the moderation effect is underestimated in this study, it still is a significant moderation effect (please see below), which could be even stronger. Taking into consideration that researchers have usually no control on the representation of different categorical variables categories in the sample (Aguinis et al., 2001), and that CEOs are in majority well educated, as has been also been the case in previous studies (e.g. Souitaris et al., 2010), the distribution of respondents in the different categories of educational level is not problematic.

In order to test the moderation effect of educational level on the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, a binary dummy variable was created for educational level as is required for categorical variables (Dawson, 2014). In the study's sample, no respondent had an educational level lower than high school (i.e. the value of 1 was not observed in the data set). For the creation of the dummy variable, the value of 0 was assigned to those having obtained up to a high school degree (representing the lowest educational level category observed in the sample corresponding to the value of 2) and the value of 1 was assigned to those having attended some form of higher education (representing the remaining five categories of educational level, corresponding to the values 3 to 7), according to relevant methodological suggestions (Dawson, 2014).

For the creation of the dummy variable, the value of 0 was assigned to those having obtained up to a high school degree (representing one educational level category) and the value of 1 was assigned to those having attended some form of higher education (representing the remaining six categories of educational level observed in the sample), according to methodological suggestions when testing categorical variables for moderation (Dawson, 2014). Then, multiple moderated hierarchical regression was used – similarly to the examination of the moderation effects of paradox mindset and optimism. In all following moderation analyses where educational level is included, regressions are run with the educational level dummy variable (not the initial variable with seven categories). An alternative approach for testing moderation effects of categorical variables with more than one category is to conduct an analysis of covariance (Dawson, 2014). Analysis of covariance or ANCOVA is a method introduced by Fisher (1932). This method was also used, in order to better interpret the multiple moderated hierarchical regression results. Model 4 in Table 35 indicates the moderation results of educational level on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship, while Table 36 presents the ANCOVA results.

As Table 35 indicates, the regression coefficients of educational level (-0.391) and strategic decision speed (-0.542) are negative, whereas the coefficient of the interaction term (Strategic Decision Speed X Educational level) is positive (0.717). This means that the interaction effect of educational level and strategic decision speed on organizational ambidexterity is not strengthening, but weakening, since the sign of the predictor coefficient (strategic decision speed's coefficient) is negative and the sign of the interaction term (*Speed X Educational level*) is positive. This weakening effect is significant at lower levels of education and is neutralized at higher levels of education. Further, when the moderator and the predictor coefficients have the same sign, the moderating effect is substitutive (Gardner et al., 2017). A substituting effect suggests that although the predictor and moderator have similar effects on the dependent variable (i.e. organizational ambidexterity), neither of them adds further value than the other and one can, thus, substitute the other. When an interaction effect is substituting, the conditional predictor-dependent variable relationship is significant in the lower range of the moderator (Gardner et al., 2017). Therefore, examining the effect of those with lower levels of education reaching strategic decision guickly is crucial.

In order to further investigate the moderation effect of educational level on the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, ANCOVA analysis was run. ANCOVA allows the examination of the covariance between the different levels of the categorical moderator variable and the independent variable, through investigating the interaction effect between each level of the categorical moderator (in this case educational level) and the predictor (in this case strategic decision speed). The analysis of covariance produced some very interesting results. The ANCOVA parameter estimates are presented in Table 36 (as already mentioned, no one in this study's sample has a lower than high school education degree, which means that the first category of the moderator variable, which corresponds to education below the high school level, does not appear in the ANCOVA results table):

Parameter	Estimate	Sig.	Observed Power ^b
Intercept	6.012***	0.000	1.000
	0.534		
Educational Level =2	-0.323	0.637	0.076
	0.682		
Educational Level =3	-0.651	0.670	0.071
	1.523		
Educational Level =4	-0.222	0.742	0.062
	0.673		
Educational Level =5	-0.514	0.350	0.153
	0.548		
Educational Level =6	-0.541	0.321	0.167
	0.543		
Educational Level =7	0 ^a		
Strategic Decision Speed	0.601**	0.017	0.672
	0.248		
[Educational Level=2] X Strategic Decision Speed	-0.921**	0.026	0.607
	0.410		
[Educational Level=3] X Strategic Decision Speed	-0.851	0.495	0.104
	1.245		
[Educational Level=4] X Strategic Decision Speed	-0.288	0.435	0.122
	0.368		
[Educational Level=5] X Strategic Decision Speed	-0.394	0.138	0.317
	0.264		
[Educational Level=6] X Strategic Decision Speed	-0.367	0.158	0.292
	0.258		
[Educational Level=7] X Strategic Decision Speed	0 ^a		

 Table 36: ANCOVA Parameter Estimates

Notes: 1) p<0.10, p<0.05; p<0.05; p<0.01, p<0.001. Parentheses indicate error values. 2) a. This parameter is set to zero because it is redundant. b. Computed using alpha = 0.05.

As Table 36 indicates, the only significant interaction between the different categories of educational level and strategic decision speed was found at the lowest educational level (CEOs with a high school degree) and this interaction effect was significantly negative (b=-0.921, p=0.026). This finding is in accordance with the fact that significance in substituting effects lies at the lower levels of the moderator as suggested by Gardner et al. (2017), and indicates that

when CEOs have an educational level of 2, i.e. their highest level of education is a high school degree, then reaching decisions quickly harms organizational ambidexterity. Put differently, it takes CEOs with (at least) some kind of tertiary education in order for strategic decision speed to be associated with organizational ambidexterity, whereas at educational level lower than high school, the effect of reaching strategic decisions quickly on organizational ambidexterity is negative.

The moderation effect of educational level on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship may, hence, be interpreted as follows: educational level moderates the aforementioned relationship such that the negative effect of strategic decision speed on organizational ambidexterity observed at lower levels of education is neutralized at higher levels of education, in accordance with Howell et al.'s (1986) interpretation of substituting moderation effects. Therefore, at higher levels of education the strategic decision speed organizational ambidexterity relationship is positive, whereas at lower levels it is negative. This is also demonstrated in Figure 10, which presents one more disordinal interaction effect. The slopes of the lines for low educational level (negative slope) and for high educational level (positive slope) intercept within the observed range of data. As Figure 10 indicates, the effect of strategic decision speed on organizational ambidexterity is negative for low levels of education, whereas the effect is positive for high levels of education. The effects at lower and higher levels of education are significant, indicating a reversing effect (Gardner et al., 2017). Slope analysis indicates that the gradient of the slope at low levels of education is -0.542 with a p-value of 0.093, whereas at high levels of education the gradient is 0.174 with a p-value of 0.01, illustrating how the significant negative effect at lower levels of education turns to a significant positive effect at higher levels of education.



Figure 10 – Substituting Interaction Effect of Educational Level and Strategic Decision Speed on Organizational Ambidexterity

Based on the substituting interaction effect of educational level and strategic decision speed, Hypothesis 4 is partially confirmed, as educational level acts as a moderator on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship, but based on the hypothesized moderation the effect should be strengthening, and the moderating effect found is not a strengthening effect. The crossing point for this moderation effect is X3 = 0.545, indicating that at levels of strategic decision speed higher than 0.545, deciding quickly leads to ambidexterity. Hence, the substituting interaction effect of educational level and strategic decision speed on organizational ambidexterity is significant and constitutes an important finding, which suggests that leaders with low levels of education that decide fast under crisis are not able to lead their companies to be ambidextrous. In other words, high levels of decision makers' education are needed in order for organizations to achieve ambidexterity when decisions are reached fast under crisis.

7.2.4 The Moderating Effect of Environmental Dynamism on the Strategic Decision Speed – Organizational Ambidexterity Relationship

Hypothesis 5 suggests that, under crisis, the higher the (perceived) dynamism of the environment, the weaker the effect of strategic decision speed on organizational ambidexterity. In other words, when decision makers interpret the environment as highly unpredictable and rapidly changing, they will be hesitant to pursue both exploration and exploitation opportunities when they reach decisions quickly. This could be related to March's (1991) suggestion that exploitation opportunities are perceived as less risky and uncertain compared to exploration opportunities or to freezing the implementation of strategic decisions and adopting a wait and see attitude, due to the high degree of unpredictability and change in the environment (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008). This is in line with the view that often decisions fail due to poor implementation (Tawse & Tabesh, 2021).

Model 5 in Table 35 presents the respective moderated regression results. As the table indicates, there is a negative moderation effect of environmental dynamism on the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, significant at the 0.01 level (p=0.006). This effect is weakening, as the predictor's and the interaction term's coefficients (0.141 and -0.142 respectively) have opposite signs; the effect is also substituting, as in the case of educational level, since the predictor's and the moderator's coefficients have opposite signs (Gardner et al., 2017). Hence, dynamism moderates the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity such that the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity such that the relationship between sweaker as dynamism increases. Figure 11 illustrates this substituting moderation effect.





Although the substitution effect is disordinal, it is not reversing: slope analysis indicates that the gradient at low levels of dynamism is 0.432 with a p-value of 0.000, but at high levels the gradient, although negative (-0.231), is not significant (p=0.119). Therefore, the moderating effect of environmental dynamism is substitutive and disordinal, with the crossing point being $X_4 = -(0.060/-0.142) = 0.423$. Therefore, when strategic decision speed is 0.423, perceived environmental dynamism makes no difference. For paces of strategic decision making higher than 0.423, i.e. considerably higher than both the average pace of decision making (-0.034) and the mid-point of strategic decision speed (-0.089), those who perceive the environment as more dynamic achieve lower levels of ambidexterity. So, hypothesis 5 is supported; the more dynamic the environment while reaching strategic decisions quickly, the less ambidextrous the organization. In the next section, all four moderating effects are examined simultaneously.

7.2.5 The Simultaneous Moderating Effects of all Four Moderators

Model 6 in Table 35 presents the regression results with all four moderators inserted in the model simultaneously. As Model 6 indicates, all four moderators are significant when inserted in the model simultaneously. The model's R-square value is 0.450, which indicates that 45%, i.e. slightly less than half, of the variance of organizational ambidexterity is explained by this model. Optimism (p=0.03), paradox mindset (p=0.019) and environmental dynamism (p=0.019) have more significant interaction effects than educational level (p=0.053). However, the coefficient of educational level (0.603) has the highest absolute value, followed by the coefficient of optimism (0.146), dynamism (-0.113) and paradox mindset (0.097). The lower coefficients of optimism and paradox mindset may be explained by the fact that they both have significant direct effects on ambidexterity: optimism's regression coefficient is 0.256 with a p-value close to 0.001 (p=0.001123), whereas paradox mindset's coefficient is 0.141 with a p-value of 0.044. Thus, paradox mindset and optimism have a direct effect on organizational ambidexterity and a moderating effect on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship.

In addition, among the control variables used in the model, social desirability (coefficient=0.217, p=0.011) and ownership of the company by the respondent (coefficient=0.258, p=0.058) have a positive significant effect at the 0.05 level, whereas gender has a negative effect significant at the 0.01 level (coefficient=-0.415, p=0.006). So, social desirability accounts for some of the variance of organizational ambidexterity and there is a positive effect on organizational ambidexterity when companies are run by their owners

compared to companies where the person at the top of the hierarchy is not the owner. Last but not least, companies that are run by men achieve higher ambidexterity than companies that are run by women (the gender variable was assigned the value of 1 for women and 0 for men).

Overall, the regression results of all moderation models examined suggest that there is a significant relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, and indicate how this relationship becomes stronger or weaker depending on the levels of optimism, paradox mindset, educational level and perceived environmental dynamism of CEOs. The main goal of CEOs is to enhance firm performance and the direct relationship between organizational ambidexterity and performance is discussed as follows.

7.3 Organizational Ambidexterity – Performance Relationship

In order to test the relationship between organizational ambidexterity and performance, a regression was run, which included all control variables, all four moderators and their interaction terms with strategic decision speed, and organizational ambidexterity as independent variables, and relative organizational performance as the dependent variable (Model 7). As Model 7 indicates, there is a strong positive relationship between organizational ambidexterity and performance (coefficient=0.423) significant at the 0.001 level (p=0.000610). 31.5% (almost one third) of the variance of organizational performance is explained by this model and the change in R-square is 0.067. Therefore, Hypothesis 6 is supported, which means that when companies are ambidextrous under crisis, they achieve superior performance.

Among the control variables, the only one with a significant effect on organizational performance is ownership of the company by the CEO (coefficient =-0.669, p=0.000475), suggesting that companies achieve better performance under crisis when they are not owned by
their CEOs. This suggests that companies are better off, when they operate in a crisis environment, if the top decision maker is not the company owner. Another important finding is that there is no direct effect of strategic decision speed on organizational performance under crisis; however there is a significant negative interaction effect of strategic decision speed and perceived environmental dynamism on performance (coefficient=-0.152, p=0.023). Hence, when reaching strategic decisions quickly, CEOs who perceive the environment as more dynamic achieve lower performance than those who perceive the environment as less dynamic. On the other hand, strategic decision speed is positively associated with organizational ambidexterity as indicated in Model 1, and ambidexterity is positively associated with firm performance as indicated by Model 7. This finding suggests that organizational ambidexterity mediates the relationship between strategic decision speed and performance under crisis. Mediation analysis for the strategic decision speed \rightarrow organizational ambidexterity \rightarrow firm performance relationship is presented in the next section.

7.4 Mediation Analysis

In order to validate the hierarchical regression findings that suggest that ambidexterity mediates the relationship between strategic decision speed and firm performance, mediation analysis was conducted. Mediation analysis is the method used when trying to investigate whether an independent variable (X) affects a dependent variable (Y) directly or whether this relationship passes through a third variable, the mediator (M) (Hayes, 2013). Simple mediation examines the mediation without the presence of moderators, whereas moderated mediation examines the mediation under the presence of moderators. Mediation analysis was run using the PROCESS macro on SPSS, both using the simple model without moderators, as well as using moderated mediation for each of the four moderators.

7.4.1 Simple Mediation Model

In the simple mediation model, the relationship between strategic decision speed and firm performance mediated by organizational ambidexterity is tested. Figure 12 demonstrates the two different paths from strategic decision speed to firm performance under the simple mediation model:



Figure 12 – Simple Mediation Model

Table 37 presents the mediation analysis results:

Table 37: Simple Mediation Analysis Results

Direct e	ffect of X	(on Y				
Effect	se	t	р	LLCI	ULCI	c'_cs
0.0274	0.0645	0.4243	0.6720	-0.1002	0.1550	0.0351
Indirect	effect(s)	of X on Y:	_			
		Effect	BootSE	BootLLCI	BootUL	CI
Ambidext	erity	0.1050	0.0360	0.0402	0.182	3
Complete	ly standa	rdized indir	ect effect	t(s) of X on	Y:	
		Effect	BootSE	BootLLCI	BootUL	CI
Ambidext	erity	0.1345	0.0481	0.0494	0.236	9

Note: Level of confidence for all confidence intervals in output: 95%

As the table indicates, the direct effect of strategic decision speed on firm performance is insignificant, whereas the 95% confidence intervals for the indirect effect do not include zero; therefore, the indirect effect is statistically significant at the 5% level. The standardized measure of the absolute indirect effect size is 0.1345. The mediation analysis results suggest a full

mediation of the relationship between strategic decision speed and firm performance by organizational ambidexterity under crisis. Consequently, as results indicate, strategic decision speed is not associated with firm performance directly, but the strategic decision speed – organizational performance relationship is mediated by organizational ambidexterity. This is a significant contribution of this study in the field of strategic management and strategic decision making, as it sheds light on the mixed findings of previous research: reaching decisions fast does not lead to superior performance, but enhances organizational ambidexterity. Then, organizational ambidexterity leads to superior performance.

7.4.2 Moderated Mediation with Paradox Mindset as the Moderator

The first moderated mediation examined is the one where paradox mindset is included as a moderator of the mediation relationship, whereas all other moderators (i.e. optimism, educational level and environmental dynamism) and interaction effects are included in the model as control variables. Figure 13 demonstrates the two different paths from strategic decision speed to firm performance under this moderated mediation model:



Figure 13 – Moderated Mediation (Paradox Mindset)

Table 38 presents the moderated mediation analysis results:

Ambidexterity
7

0.3971

0.1094

Model	Summa	ry						
R	R	-sq	MSE	F		df1	df2	р
0.6709	9 0.4	4502	0.5075	6.9864	15	.0000	128.0000	0.0000
Test(s	s) of l	highest	order un	ncondition	al into	eraction	1(s):	
	R ² -ch	ing	F	df1		df2	P	
X*W	0.02	241	5.6055	1.0000	128	.0000	0.0194	
Condit	cional	effects	s of the	focal pre	dictor	at valu	es of the	<pre>moderator(s):</pre>
Par.Mi	Indset	Effec	et s	se	t	р	LLO	CI ULCI
-0.945	57	-0.548	36 0.2	2988 -1	.8358	0.06	587 -1.2	1399 0.0427
0.168	36	-0.440	0.3	3084 -1	.4271	0.15	60 -1.0	0.1701
0.882	29	-0.370	0.3	3179 -1	.1658	0.24	-0.9	9996 0.2584
Notes:	1.Lev	vel of c	confidenc	ce for all	confi	dence in	tervals in	n output: 95%
2. W v	values	in cond	litional	tables ar	e the	16th, 50	th, and 84	Ath percentiles.
OUTCOM	IE VAR	IABLE: I	Performan	ice				
Model	Summa	ry						
R		R-sq	MSI	E	F	df1	df2	р
0.5603	3	0.3139	0.92	4.2	153	14.0000	129.000	0.0000
Direct	c effe	ct of X	on Y					
Effect	:	se	1	-	р	LLCI	ULC:	Γ

0.7833

-0.6763

0.8952

0.2756

As the table indicates, the confidence interval at the 95% confidence level for the interaction term does not include 0, so paradox mindset moderates the mediation. Further, the conditional effects of strategic decision speed at different levels of paradox mindset, and more specifically at the 16th, 50th, and 84th percentiles, indicate that strategic decision speed is not significant at levels of optimism between the 16th and 86th percentile. As already mentioned, slope analysis for the paradox mindset moderation has indicated that the slope's value at lower levels of paradox mindset is negative (-0.435) with a p-value of 0.019, whereas at higher levels of paradox mindset it is positive (0.364) with a p-value of 0.000; obviously strategic decision speed is significant at levels lower than the 16th percentile, and higher than the 84th percentile of paradox mindset. Overall, paradox mindset is found to moderate the mediation. Furthermore, the moderated mediation analysis confirms that there is no direct effect of strategic decision speed on firm performance.

7.4.3 Moderated Mediation with Optimism as the Moderator

The second moderated mediation examined is the one where optimism is included as a moderator, whereas all other moderators (i.e. paradox mindset, educational level and environmental dynamism) and interaction effects are included as control variables. Figure 14 demonstrates the two different paths from strategic decision speed to firm performance under this moderated mediation model:



Figure 14 – Moderated Mediation (Optimism)

Table 39 presents the respective moderated mediation analysis results.

Table 39: Moderated Mediation Analysis Results – Optimism

OUTCOME	VARIABLE	: Ambide;	terity				
Model S	ummary						
R	R-sq	MS	E	F	df1	df2	р
0.6709	0.4502	0.50	75 6.9	864 1	5.0000	128.0000	0.0000
Test(s)	of highe	st order	uncondit	ional in	teractior	n(s):	
	R ² -chng	F	df1	c	lf2	p	
X*W	0.0407	9.4634	1.00	00 128	.0000	0.0026	
Conditi	onal effe	cts of th	e focal	predicto	r at valu	es of the	<pre>e moderator(s):</pre>
Optimis	m Eff	ect	se	t	р	L	LCI ULCI
-0.0860	0 -0.5	822 0.	3142	-1.8532	0.066	52 -1.2	2039 0.0394
0.0140	0 -0.4	361 0.	3058	-1.4260	0.156	53 -1.	0411 0.1690
1.1400	-0.2	899 0.	3047	-0.9515	0.343	31 -0.3	8927 0.3129
Notes:	1.Level o	f confide	nce for	all conf	idence ir	ntervals :	in output: 95%
2. W va	lues in c	onditiona	l tables	are the	16th, 50)th, and	84th percentiles

OUTCOME VARIABLE: Performance

Model S	Summary					
R	R-sq	MSE	F	df1	df2	р
0.5523	0.3051	0.9393	4.0453	14.0000	129.0000	0.0000
Direct	effect of X	on Y				
Effect	se	t	р	LLCI	ULCI	
0.2118	0.4157	0.5095	0.6113	-0.6107	1.0343	

As shown in the table, the confidence interval at the 95% level for the interaction term of speed and optimism does not include zero, which means that optimism moderates the mediation. Again, the conditional effects of strategic decision speed at different levels of optimism indicate that, strategic decision speed is not significant at the 0.05 level when optimism is between the 16th and the 84th percentile. However, as slope analysis indicated speed is significant at lower levels and higher levels of optimism that obviously fall outside this range (i.e. below the 16th and above the 84th percentile). As slope analysis indicated, the gradient of the slope of the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship is negative (-0.328) and significant (p=0.034) at low levels of optimism (obviously lower than the 16th percentile), whereas it is positive (0.336) and significant (p=0.000) at high levels of optimism (obviously higher than the 84th percentile), indicating a reversing effect. Again, there is no direct effect of strategic decision speed on firm performance. Overall, optimism is found to moderate the mediation.

7.4.4 Moderated Mediation with Educational Level as the Moderator

The third moderated mediation examined is the one where educational level is included as a moderator, whereas all other moderators (i.e. paradox mindset, optimism and environmental dynamism) and interaction effects are included as control variables. Figure 15 demonstrates the two different paths from strategic decision speed to firm performance under this moderated mediation model:



Figure 15 – Moderated Mediation (Educational Level)

Table 40 presents the respective moderated mediation results:

OUTCOME VARIABLE. Ambiderterity

00100111	·····		ID TUCK C	CTTCY								
Model S	ummary											
R	R-se	न	MSE		F	(df1		df2			р
0.6709	0.450	02	0.507	5 6.	9864	15	.0000	123	8.000	00		0.0000
Test(s)	of hig	hest o	order u	ncondi	tional	L inte	eract	ion(s)):			
	R ² -chng		F	Ċ	df1	Ċ	lf2		- р			
X*W	0.0164		3.8126	1.	0000	128	.0000	(0.053	31		
Conditi	onal ef:	fects	of the	focal	predi	ictor	at v	alues	of t	the	mode	rator(s)
Educ.Le	vel E:	ffect		se		t		р		LLC	:I	ULCI
0.0000	-0	.4565	0	.3065	-1.	.4893	0	.1389	-	-1.0	631	0.1500
1.0000	0	.1461	0	.0468	3	.1199	0	.0022		0.0	534	0.2387
OUTCOME	VARIAB	LE: Pe	erforma	nce								
Model S	ummary											
R	R-s	sq	MSE		F		df1		di	E2		р
0.5550	0.308	31	0.935	3	4.1023	3 3	14.00	00	129.0	0000)	0.0000
Direct	effect d	ofXd	on Y									
Effect		se	t		р		\mathbf{LL}	CI	τ	JLCI	:	
0.0279	0.0	0649	0.4	297	0.668	31	-0.1	006	0	.156	3	

Table 40: Moderated Mediation Analysis Results – Educational Level

As the table indicates, the interaction effect of strategic decision speed and educational level is significant at the 0.10 level, but slightly above the 0.05 level (p=0.0531). Furthermore, the effect of strategic decision speed on organizational ambidexterity is positive and significant only at high levels of education (i.e. for CEOs with at least a university degree), whereas there is no

direct relationship between strategic decision speed and firm performance. Overall, educational level is found to moderate the mediation.

7.4.4 Moderated Mediation with Environmental Dynamism as the Moderator

The fourth moderated mediation examined is the one where environmental dynamism is included as a moderator, whereas all other moderators (i.e. paradox mindset, optimism, and educational level) and interaction effects are included as control variables. Figure 16 demonstrates the two different paths from strategic decision speed to firm performance under this moderated mediation model:



Figure 16 – Moderated Mediation (Environmental Dynamism)

Table 41 presents the respective moderated mediation results:

Table	41:	Moderated	Mediation	Analysis	Results	- Environmental	Dynamism
-------	-----	-----------	-----------	----------	---------	-----------------	----------

OUTCOME V	/ARIABLE:	Ambidexte	erity			
Model Sum	mary					
R	R-sq	MSE	F	df1	df2	р
0.6709	0.4502	0.5075	6.9864	15.0000	128.0000	0.0000
Test(s) c	of highest	c order un	nconditiona	l interacti	.on(s):	
R ² -	chng	F	df1	df2	p	
X*W 0.	0242	5.6415	1.0000	128.0000	0.0190	
Condition	nal effect	s of the	focal pred	ictor at va	lues of the	<pre>moderator(s):</pre>
Env.Dynam	nism Eff	fect s	se t	р	LLC	ULCI
-0.8820	-0.35	572 0.3	3087 -1.	1572 0.24	-0.96	680 0.2536
-0.0486	-0.45	511 0.3	3065 -1.	4716 0.14	-1.05	0.1554
0.9514	-0.56	537 0.3	3106 -1.	8148 0.07	19 -1.17	0.0509
Notes: 1.	Level of	confidenc	ce for all	confidence	intervals i	n output: 95%
2. W valu	les in con	nditional	tables are	the 16th,	50th, and 8	4th percentiles
OUTCOME V	ARIABLE:	Performan	nce			
Model Sum	mary		_	1.04	1.60	

R	R-sq	MSE	F	df1	df2	р
0.5218	0.2723	0.9836	3.4484	14.0000	129.0000	0.0001
Direct	effect of X	on Y				
Effect	se	t	1	D LLC	I ULCI	
0.1277	0.4284	0.29	80 0.7	662 -0.7	199 0.9752	

As the table indicates, the interaction effect of strategic decision speed and environmental dynamism is significant at the 0.05 level, but only slightly above the 0.01 level (p=0.019). Furthermore, the effect of strategic decision speed on organizational ambidexterity is not significant for values of environmental dynamism between the 16th and 84th percentile; however, slope analysis has indicated that strategic decision speed is significant for organizational ambidexterity at lower levels of environmental dynamism, obviously lower than the 16th percentile. Again, there is no direct relationship between strategic decision speed and firm performance. Overall, environmental dynamism is found to negatively moderate the mediation.

7.5 Post-hoc Analysis

Post-hoc analyses are additional statistical analyses used after the data have been collected and analyzed, in order to refine the theoretical implications of a piece of research work (Klockars & Hancock, 1998; Leung, 2011). In this study, the impact of perceived environmental dynamism was further investigated based on a post-hoc analysis, in order to better refine the

theoretical implications concerning the effect of environmental dynamism. The additional statistical analyses conducted examined perceived environmental dynamism as an independent variable, and how it affects the speed of decision making and ambidexterity as dependent variables; i.e. two direct relationships were examined, the one between environmental dynamism and strategic speed (Model 8) and the one between environmental dynamism and organizational ambidexterity (Model 9). Further, in order to examine whether there is a significance impact of strategic decision speed on firm performance, on more direct relationship was investigated, between strategic decision speed and performance. This relationship was examined both including the control variables and no moderators (Model 10), as well as including all control variables and moderators (but no interaction effects – Model 11).

Acknowledging that presenting new hypotheses developed after the data were collected as developed a priori is an unethical process (Leung, 2011), it is clearly stated that these hypotheses were not formed a priori, yet the researcher views them as ways of getting additional insights on the relationships between the different variables examined. Thus, complementary regression analyses were run and the respective regressions results are presented in Table 42.

Firstly, the impact of perceived environmental dynamism on strategic decision speed was examined (Model 8) and was found significant at the 5% level (coefficient=0.259, p=0.044). This indicates that the higher the perceived dynamism, the faster the decision-making process in organizations. On the contrary, the impact of environmental dynamism on ambidexterity (Model 9) was insignificant; so dynamism on its own does not affect ambidexterity. These findings indicate that when CEOs perceive the environment as more dynamic, they tend to reach strategic decisions quicker, but solely this perception about the environment does not make companies ambidextrous. On the other hand, the moderation and mediated moderation analyses

have indicated that the higher the perceived environmental dynamism, the weaker the relationship between strategic decision speed and ambidexterity. This sheds a light on what happens when fast strategic decisions are reached under high environmental dynamism and is in line with the view that exploration opportunities may be perceived as riskier (March, 1991). In addition, the

Concerning the effect of strategic decision speed on firm performance, this was found insignificant in both models (10 and 11), i.e. irrespective of whether moderators were included in the regression or not. This finding is in agreement with the regression results presented in Table 35 as well as with the mediated moderation results. This is a noteworthy finding concerning the impact of strategic decision speed under a dynamic crisis. So, organizational ambidexterity is a missing link between strategic decision speed and performance in dynamic environments, and whether this stands in more stable environments remains to be examined. The fact that no significant direct relationship was found between strategic decision speed and firm performance underlines the importance of this work in the area of strategic management and strategic decisions quickly under a dynamic crisis is not beneficial for firm performance, but it enables companies to be ambidextrous, a driving factor of performance. Hence, organizational leaders need to be well optimistic, well-educated and paradoxical thinkers in order to enhance the strength of the relationship between strategic decision speed and ambidexterity.

Cocnerning the role of perceived environmental dynamism, the findings of the post-hoc analysis combined with the results of the moderation and mediated moderation analyses suggest that although companies are deciding faster under high dynamism, in reality they are freezing their strategic activities and are remaining still; that is, although they are trying to move fast, they end up not taking action when leaders perceive the environment as highly dynamic. This is a very interesting finding about the effect of environmental dynamism on strategic decision making.

Variable	Model 8	Model 9	Model 10	Model 11
Company Size	-4.941E-05*	7.738E-06	-9.621E-06	-1.432E-05
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Social Desirability	0.043	0.131	0.182	0.098
	(0.149)	(0.087)	(0.112)	(0.117)
Years of Experience	0.005	0.001	-0.007	-0.004
	(0.014)	(0.008)	(0.011)	(0.011)
Gender	0.006	-0.282↑	-0.211	-0.214
	(0.276)	(0.161)	(0.220)	(0.216)
Family Company	-0.331	-0.218	0.046	0.070
	(0.244)	(0.143)	(0.196)	(0.192)
CEO Ownership Respondent	0.505*	0.250↑	-0.518*	-0.531**
	(0.250)	(0.148)	(0.204)	(0.198)
Organiz. Ambidexterity				
Strategic Decision Speed		0.160**	0.132	
		(0.051)	(0.067)	
Paradox Mindset	0.047	0.190**		0.116
	(0.124)	(0.072)		(0.097)
Optimism	0.341*	0.252**		0.222*
	(0.139)	(0.083)		(0.111)
Educational Level	-0.600	0.074		0.556
	(0.581)	(0.340)		(0.457)
Environmental Dynamism	0.259*	0.031		-0.142
	(0.128)	(0.076)		(0.102)
Str.D.Speed X Env. Dynamism				0.126
				(0.068)
Constant	0.467	5.430***	5,28***	4.748***
	(0.600)	(0.351)	(0.168)	(0.471)
R ²	0.398	0.559	0.294	0.401
ΔR^2	0.159*	0.312	0.087	0.161

Notes: p<0.10, p<0.05; p<0.01, p<0.05; p<0.01, p<0.001. Parentheses indicate error values. DV is Strategic Decision Speed in Model 8; DV is Organizational Ambidexterity in Model 9; DV is Relative Firm Performance in Models 10 and 11.

The following section briefly presents contemporaneous data concerning the responses of Greek companies to the pandemic in the same time period that this research was conducted. The researcher views these data as a complementary source of insights, concerning what was happening in the Greek business environment at the time.

7.6 Contemporaneous Data

This study has considered contemporaneous data from three sources concerning the responses of Greek companies during the pandemic: firstly, the opening remarks of Dr. Yannis Stournaras, Governor of the Bank of Greece, Member of the Board of Governors of the International Monetary Fund, and former Minister of Finance of Greece, during the joint seminar of the Bank of Greece and the European Investment Bank, organized in March 2022; secondly, a report by PWC (PriceWaterhouseCoopers) Greece titled "The response of the Greek companies to the pandemic" issued in 2020; and thirdly, a report by Piraeus Bank, one of the largest banks of Greece, titled "Tracking Greek corporate balance – sheets in and out of the pandemic" issued in August 2020. The survey data for this study were collected between October 2020 and March 2021 with participants being asked to provide answers on their company's strategy and performance in the past six months. The time period covered in the aforementioned three reports was more or less the same time period reflected in the survey participants' responses. All three historical data sources included valuable information about how Greek companies responded to the pandemic, and more specifically about the strategic decisions that they reached. The data are presented in detail in the Appendix.

The three reports share some important similarities: in general, the responses of companies to the pandemic, during the time period that this study was conducted, mainly focused on exploitation opportunities (as demonstrated by the decrease in operating costs). Exploration opportunities were pursued by fewer companies, although those companies that also pursued exploration opportunities were superior performers. These findings are in line with March's (1991) position that exploration opportunities are perceived as risky and uncertain, whereas exploration opportunities seem a safer choice under uncertainty. The decrease in investments indicates that, indeed, the pandemic crisis led to avoidance behaviors, with companies particularly avoiding explorative opportunities (Hirsh et al., 2012; March, 1991; McMullen & Shepherd, 2006). Therefore, the increased dynamism of the environment harmed organizational ambidexterity of companies in Greece, in general. However, there were companies that were able to be ambidextrous by pursuing both exploitation and exploration opportunities. To sum up, based on these supporting data that are publicly available, the responses of the Greek companies to the pandemic indicate a general trend to focus on exploitation; of course, there was some variation in the responses and the organizations that were ambidextrous achieved superior performance. Hence, on average, there was a hesitance of Greek companies to invest during the first year of the pandemic crisis, indicating that the implementation of decisions about exploration opportunities was possibly delayed or cancelled. Although this can only be interpreted as a trend and there are no specific data about the companies included in the study sample, it is in accordance with moderation analysis and post-hoc analysis findings that suggest that the link between deciding fast and ambidexterity is weaker when environmental dynamism is perceived as very high.

7.7 Synthesis of Results

As Table 35 indicates, there is a significant positive relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity in Models 1 (model testing the direct relationship between strategic decision speed and ambidexterity), 3 (model testing paradox mindset as a moderator), 4 (model testing optimism as a moderator), and 6 (model testing environmental

dynamism as a moderator), whereas this relationship becomes negative when educational level is examined as a moderator on its own, and becomes insignificant when all four moderators are examined. The fact that the effect of strategic decision speed changes when educational level is examined as a moderator is explained by the nature of the moderation, which is substitutive, i.e. educational level may substitute strategic decision speed, and thus the two are interchangeable and educational level takes away the effect of strategic decision speed when it is entered in the model. Furthermore, there is a positive significant effect of organizational ambidexterity on firm performance and no effect of strategic decision speed on firm performance as indicated in Model 2. There is also a significant negative effect of the interaction between strategic decision speed and perceived environmental dynamism on performance, indicating again that the more dynamic the environment when deciding fast, the poorer the performance of the firm. Therefore, reaching decisions quickly does not lead to superior performance directly; rather, achieving organizational ambidexterity mediates the strategic decision speed – firm performance relationship. This is a remarkable finding that sheds light on previous contradicting results concerning the effect of strategic decision speed on firm performance. Last but not least, paradox mindset, optimism, educational level and environmental dynamism have significant moderating effects on the strategic decision speed organizational ambidexterity relationship; the first two effects are accentuating and reversing, whereas the third and the fourth ones are substituting. Therefore, adopting a paradox mindset and being optimistic strengthen the aforementioned relationship, whereas it takes educated CEOs in order for strategic decision speed to be associated with ambidexterity. Further, at high levels of perceived environmental dynamism, the strategic decision speed - organizational ambidexterity relationship becomes negative. This was confirmed by insights from the qualitative data collected during the pilot phase and was also supported by contemporaneous data available about the responses of Greek companies during the first year of the pandemic.

Overall, this study's findings support Hypotheses 1, 2, 3, 4, and 6, but do not fully support Hypothesis 5, as it suggests a strengthening moderation of educational level on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship. A moderating effect of educational level on the aforementioned relationship was found, but it was a substitutive one, indicating that at low levels of education, strategic decision speed is associated with lower levels of organizational ambidexterity.

This study also reveals some interesting results concerning the role of the control variables. Years of experience are insignificant in all models in Table 35, whereas company size is only significant when educational level is tested as a moderator, probably because decision makers in smaller firms may have lower levels of education compared to those in larger firms. Moreover, gender has a negative significant effect in models 3-7, indicating that among CEOs who reach strategic decisions quickly, male CEOs achieve higher levels of organizational ambidexterity than female CEOs do. This finding is in line with previous work that suggests that women are less ambidextrous strategists than men when facing family interference with work (Yu et al, 2018), and Greece is a highly masculine society viewing women as responsible for taking care of the family and the household (Hofstede, 1980). Thus, women in Greece are probably experiencing family interference with work, which could explain why they are less ambidextrous strategists than men. Further, women face gender discrimination concerning the access to resources (Xie and Lv, 2016), making it harder for them to acquire resources that will enable them to pursue different types of opportunities and, hence, to be ambidextrous. However, as findings indicate, gender does not affect organizational performance. So, although being less ambidextrous than their male peers, there is no effect of CEO gender on firm performance.

Another interesting finding concerning the control variables is the positive effect of CEO ownership on organizational ambidexterity and its negative effect on performance. Hence, owners who are CEOs are not able to benefit from ambidexterity, as Table 35 indicates based on the negative effect of CEO ownership on organizational performance. This is an interesting finding compared to previous findings concerning CEO ownership, which was reported to lead to superior performance (Mueller & Spitz-Oener, 2006). On the other hand, CEO ownership has a significant positive effect on strategic decision speed (Table 42), i.e. CEOs who own the company are faster decision makers; this is expected, as they often do not need to obtain a consensus concerning strategic decisions, and is in line with previous research findings concerning owners of Greek companies using less rational approaches to decision making (Papadakis et al., 1998). Hence, a possible explanation for the negative relationship between CEO ownership and performance under crisis could be that the negative effect on performance is due to reaching strategic decisions faster than CEOs who are non-owners, since there is a negative interaction effect of strategic decision speed and environmental dynamism on performance. It is noteworthy, the effect of CEO ownership is insignificant for achieving ambidexterity in model 4 that examines optimism as a moderator, indicating that CEO ownership does not make a difference for ambidexterity when the CEO is optimistic.

Table 35 also indicates that social desirability has an effect in models 4 and 5 (significant at the 0.05 and the 0.10 levels respectively), which examine the moderating effects of educational level and perceived environmental dynamism, and model 6 (significant at the 0.05 level), which examines all moderators simultaneously. Hence, the respondents in this research appear to have replied, at least up to a certain extent, in a socially desirable way, which is very common in survey research. Individuals often tend to respond to survey questions in ways that will make them viewed more favorably in terms of socially acceptable behaviors (Steenkamp et al., 2010).

Although social desirability bias may threaten the validity of research findings (Kwak et al., 2021), it has been controlled for in this study, in line with the view that including social desirability as a control variable improves the research results accuracy (Larson, 2019). Therefore, it is important that the two direct relationships and four moderation effects examined in this study are all still significant when social desirability is used as a control variable. Further, in line with the view that social desirability bias is not problematic when its correlation with other variables is small, even though it is significant (Antonetti & Maklan, 2016; Polonsky et al., 2014), no respondents were excluded from the data set. Indeed, social desirability correlates with gender (correlation coefficient is 0.184), with organizational ambidexterity (correlation coefficient is 0.247) and with optimism (correlation coefficient is 0.357). The correlation with gender indicates that women in the sample tend to provide more socially desirable answers, but women constitute only 23.61% of the sample. Further, the highest correlation is observed between social desirability and optimism, which is expected. Nevertheless, all three correlations are considerably lower than the suggested threshold in the literature of 0.7 (Dormann et al. 2013). Overall, the effect of social desirability bias in this study is not viewed as problematic.

7.8 Chapter Summary

This chapter presented the results in terms of the hypotheses formulated. Findings support Hypothesis 1, i.e. there is a positive significant relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity under crisis. Hypothesis 2 is also supported, which means that, under crisis, companies that are ambidextrous achieve superior performance. In addition, all moderators hypothesized have been found to moderate the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship. However, hypothesis 5 is not fully supported, as a strengthening moderation was hypothesized, but a mitigating moderation was found. Overall, results indicate that deciding quickly under crisis leads to achieving ambidexterity and is

beneficial for organizations that are ambidextrous, since there is no direct relationship between strategic decision speed and performance. Moreover, being optimistic under crisis pays off, as does possessing a paradox mindset and having higher levels of education. Last but not least, when the environment is perceived as highly unpredictable and rapidly changing, decision makers who decide fast achieve lower levels of ambidexterity for their organizations. The aforementioned results are further discussed in the following section.

8. Discussion

This chapter further discusses the findings identified in Chapter 7 and how they fit with previous literature findings. The major contributions of this study, related to theory and managerial implications, are also presented.

The aim of this research was to examine strategic management under crisis, based on the opportunity logic of strategy (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008), according to which organizations achieve and sustain a competitive advantage through identifying and seizing opportunities for creating profits earlier, faster, and more successfully than competitors. Since profits can be created both by decreasing costs (through improving efficiency, i.e. exploiting) and by increasing revenues (through entering or expanding to new markets, introducing new products and services, i.e. exploration), the opportunity logic is associated with identifying and seizing opportunities for both exploration and exploitation. Hence, the opportunity logic is relevant in most environments and specifically in crisis environments, which are unpredictable and volatile. Moreover, a central aspect of strategic management under the opportunity logic is related to finding and taking advantage of exploration and exploitation opportunities, in other words with organizational ambidexterity, rendering organizational ambidexterity a key strategic decision (Døjbak Håkonsson et al., 2016; Gupta et al., 2006; Kortmann, 2015). The ambidexterity decision is interrelated with multiple other decisions about exploration and exploitation opportunities, like which exploration and exploitation opportunities to pursue or how knowledge about opportunities is shared in the organization (e.g. Mom et al., 2007). Furthermore, similar to organizational ambidexterity, strategic decision speed (Eisenhardt, 1989) is also central under the opportunity logic of strategy, as it enables identifying and seizing opportunities early and quickly, including opportunities for exploration and exploitation. Thus,

based on the opportunity logic of strategy, a relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity was hypothesized and confirmed in this study.

Till now, the alignment of strategic decision speed to the pace of external change (Clark and Maggitti, 2012; Shepherd et al., 2021) had been recognized as a factor related to firm performance, but not to organizational ambidexterity. The findings concerning the strategic decision speed – firm performance relationship were mixed and confusing, with positive relationships (e.g. Baum & Wally, 2003), negative relationships (e.g. Perlow et al., 2002) and no relationship (e.g. Forbes, 2001) having been reported. This study provides insights concerning how strategic decision speed is related with firm performance, indicating that in reality there is no direct relationship (a finding that helps explain previous confusing findings). Rather, strategic decision speed is positively related with organizational ambidexterity, which in turn is related with firm performance. This is an important findings concerning different aspects of strategic management and their interaction, which adds to the discussion on the third key debates presented earlier.

In addition, drawing on strategic choice theory (Child, 1972 & 1997) and upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 2007), this dissertation suggests that the decisions that CEOs reach under crisis make a difference; firstly, because the decision of pursuing ambidexterity has a significant effect on firm performance, and, secondly, because their cognitive abilities affect a key aspect of firm strategy: organizational ambidexterity. These findings contribute to the discussion on the first key debate presented earlier, that has to do with the level of influence that managers have over organizational outcomes. Based on this study's findings, it can be supported that CEOs have an increased level of influence on organizational

outcomes, and therefore the assumptions of choice theory (Child, 1972 & 1997) and upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 2007) are validated in this study.

Moreover, this study examined organizational ambidexterity (He & Wong, 2004) as part of the strategic decision-making framework (Elbanna et al., 2020) for the first time and identified the interplay between different dimensions of the strategic decision-making context (Elbanna et al., 2020) and ambidexterity. These findings add to the discussion of the second key debate presented above, examining the interplay between environmental impact and managerial actions, while incorporating organizational characteristics as contextual factors of the decision-making process as well. This study has borrowed concepts from the strategic decision-making field and has applied them in another important field of strategic management research, i.e. organizational ambidexterity. Therefore, this research adopted an integrated multilevel approach of strategic management, identifying how these multiple levels interact.

Last but not least, this study has examined the outcomes of organizational ambidexterity under the global pandemic crisis, which may be characterized as a fractal crisis (Topper & Lagadec, 2013), adding to the discussion on the fourth debate presented above. Organizational ambidexterity has to do with identifying and seizing opportunities for exploration and exploitation. Indeed, findings indicate that was beneficial for companies to pursue both types of opportunities in the context of the global pandemic crisis, in accordance with Du & Chen's (2018) suggestions about its positive outcomes in VUCA environments. However, the more dynamic the environment (based on the CEOs' perceptions), the more difficult it proved to turn fast strategic decisions into ambidextrous ones. Hence, there seems to be a difficulty for companies to be ambidextrous under increased uncertainty and turbulence of the environment. Taking a closer look at this study's findings, there are some additional theoretical implications worth discussing. Firstly, the focus on cognition-related characteristics of organizational decision makers is in line with the suggestion that cognition significantly affects strategic decision making under crisis (Maitlis & Sonenshein, 2010; Weick, 1993; Weick, 1998). Thus, it is important that the three cognition-related characteristics of CEOs that have been examined as moderating factors of the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity have been validated as moderators: paradox mindset (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018), optimism (Tiger, 1979) and educational level. Specifically, paradox mindset was chosen as a way of thinking that enables leaders to deal with the paradoxical tensions created by the pandemic (Carmeli et al., 2021); optimism as a cognitive skill that affects strategic decisions (Langabeer & DelliFraine, 2011); and educational level as a proxy of individuals' cognition (Hambrick & Mason, 1984). The fact that all three cognitive characteristics examined have been found to moderate the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity indicates that the assumption that cognition is crucial under crisis (e.g. Weick, 1998) is valid.

Secondly, previous research suggests that perceptions about the environment affect strategic decision making more than the actual conditions in the environment (Child, 1972; Duncan, 1972; Hambrick & Snow, 1977; Miller, 1988; Weick, 1969). Perceived environmental dynamism was examined as a moderator of the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship and it was found that the more the perceived environmental dynamism, the weaker the relationship between deciding quickly and being ambidextrous. Therefore, although all CEOs were exposed to the same crisis, the global pandemic, in the same country, Greece, and responses were collected in the same time period, it seems that their perceptions about the environment varied and indeed affected their strategic decisions.

Although it cannot be said that their perceptions affected strategic decision making more than the actual conditions of the environment as previous research suggests (e.g. Miller, 1988), it can be supported that environmental perceptions of decision makers do make a difference.

Thirdly, all four moderators examined can be associated with identifying and seizing opportunities: a paradox mindset enables a decision maker to perceive, consider and choose to pursue opportunities that may seem contradicting; optimism facilitates the process of understanding the potential positive outcomes of opportunities that may require more time or effort; higher levels of education permit viewing a situation holistically, without neglecting aspects that may be related to less obvious opportunities or to managing the complex task of pursuing multiple different opportunities; and perceived environmental dynamism affects how a CEO evaluates opportunities related to the risks and threats that the environment entails. All hypothesized moderators were confirmed, although the nature of moderation for educational level (substitutive) was different from the one hypothesized (accentuating), showing that the opportunity logic of strategy relates to individual characteristics and perceptions of decision makers.

One final important theoretical implication based on this study's findings is that the opportunity logic is important under crisis. Adding to the discussion on different strategy logics presented in the Furr & Eisenhardt (2021) paper, this study expands the relevance of the opportunity logic of strategy to crisis environments. Previous work has suggested that the opportunity logic is relevant in dynamic environments (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008; Furr & Eisenhardt, 2021). The study's findings indicate that being able to identify and seize opportunities faster than competitors under crisis is related with organizational ambidexterity, which in turn is associated with superior performance. Hence, organizational leaders under crisis may achieve a

competitive advantage for their companies through an ambidextrous strategy, balancing the pursuit of exploitation and exploration opportunities under crisis in a timely manner. Furthermore, this study indicates that strategizing by *thinking* as described in the strategy creation view (Furr & Eisenhardt, 2021) is extremely important under crisis, since it is the thinking component that guides the other two components of strategizing, i.e. *doing* and *shaping*. Although this study was not designed in order to test the elements of the strategy creation view under crisis, findings indicate that under the dynamic conditions of a fractal crisis, *doing* is often postponed and *shaping* is very difficult. Still, cognition and perceptions that guide the *thinking* element of the strategy creation view are crucial and, based on the qualitative insights from the cognitive interviewing phase, some part of the planned *doing* occurs. More work on strategizing under crisis is essential in order to examine the interplay between *thinking*, *doing*, and *shaping* during crisis under the opportunity logic of strategy. Hopefully, this study has contributed to the very interesting discussion about strategizing under crisis through adding important findings to existing work. These findings are discussed in more detail as follows.

8.1 Discussion on Direct Relationships

The two direct relationships examined in this study were the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, and the relationship between organizational ambidexterity and firm performance. Both relationships were found to be positive and significant, whereas the direct relationship between strategic decision speed and firm performance was not significant, indicating that deciding fast is not enough for achieving superior performance, even in dynamic environments.

Strategic management researchers have identified the question of how strategic decision speed leads to superior performance as an interesting question with no clear answer for decades (Eisenhardt, 1989; Shepherd et al., 2021). Indeed, previous research has reported mixed findings about the relationship between deciding fast and firm performance specifically in dynamic environments. In different pieces of work in dynamic environments, the effect of strategic decision speed on firm performance has been found to be positive (e.g. Baum & Wally, 2003), negative (e.g. Perlow et al., 2002) or insignificant (e.g. Forbes, 2001). In addition, in stable environments, empirical research has suggested that the relationship between strategic decision speed and firm performance is negative (Chen & Hambrick, 1995) and this has been the assumption in the discussion about strategic decision speed in stable environments in previous research. This study's findings suggest that under crisis, there is no direct link between speed and performance, but the route from strategic decision speed to performance passes through ambidexterity. Hence, ambidexterity may be a possible explanation for contradictory previous results and this may become an avenue of future research, where strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity are simultaneously examined.

So, speed is not directly associated with firm performance in a crisis environment. Rather, the process of achieving superior performance under crisis is a two-stage process: firstly, organizations need to decide fast in order to be ambidextrous, and secondly they need to be ambidextrous in order to perform well. Organizational ambidexterity has been repeatedly linked with enhanced performance in previous work in dynamic environments (e.g. Du & Chen, 2018; Heracleous et al., 2017; Junni et al., 2013), as well as in financial crisis environments (Dolz et al., 2019; Shmitt et al., 2010). In accordance with recent findings during the pandemic (Jang & Lee, 2022), this study confirms the positive relationship between organizational ambidexterity and firm performance in a fractal crisis environment, where the crisis is intense, long-lasting and includes smaller nested crises (Topper & Lagadec, 2013). Hence, this study validates that being ambidextrous at the firm level pays off during fractal crises, in line with the suggestion

that companies are able to eliminate the threats for firm survival and pursue opportunities that enhance their long-term performance when they are ambidextrous under challenging conditions (Hill & Birkinshaw, 2014; Schmitt et al., 2010). Thus, organizational ambidexterity is a key strategic decision under a fractal crisis.

Overall, both direct relationships hypothesized in this study have been confirmed. The following section discusses the four hypotheses concerning the moderating variables (paradox mindset, optimism educational level, and environmental dynamism) of the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship.

8.2 Discussion on Moderators

This study examined the role of four variables as moderators: paradox mindset, optimism, educational level and environmental dynamism. The first three moderatos considered are related to CEOs' cognition, whereas the fourth is related to the environment. All four variables were found to moderate the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship, although a different type of relationship was found for educational level (substituting) from the one hypothesized (strengthening and accentuating).

8.2.1 Leaders' Cognition

Findings concerning the importance of leaders' cognition under crisis confirm the findings and suggestions of previous work (Maitlis & Sonenshein, 2010; Weick, 1993). Indeed, this dissertation confirms that how CEOs perceive and make sense of a crisis situation matters, and specifically highlights the importance of their cognitive skillset, and of how they use (and choose to use) their cognitive skills.

Adopting a paradox mindset – a cognitive skill related to the cognitive ability to think paradoxically - is beneficial for decision makers who reach strategic decisions quickly under crisis, because it enables them to consider and pursue paradoxical opportunities for exploration and exploitation. The moderating effect of paradox mindset on the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity was found to be positive, accentuating and reversing, indicating a relatively strong moderation effect (Gardner et al., 2017). Thus, CEOs who decide fast and are characterized by high levels of paradox mindset help achieve significantly higher levels of ambidexterity for their organizations. Paradox mindset not only enhanced the effect of strategic decision speed on organizational ambidexterity, but also reverses the negative effect at lower levels of paradox mindset into a positive one at higher levels; in other words, CEOs with low levels of paradox mindset are harming organizational ambidexterity when deciding fast about strategy, whereas those with a high level are enhancing it. With the advantages of paradoxical thinking having been recognized in the past decade on various aspects of the personal and professional lives of individuals (Miron-Spektor et al., 2018; Smith & Lewis, 2011), this study suggests that a paradox mindset is beneficial for companies at the firm level, through its impact on strategic decision making and strategizing.

Moreover, an even stronger positive, accentuating and reversing moderating effect on the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity was found for optimism. In accordance with previous literature that suggests that remaining optimistic in difficult situations is beneficial (Carver et al., 2002), the findings suggest that the more optimistic the CEOs, the stronger the relationship between deciding fast about strategy and organizational ambidexterity. Low levels of optimism entail expecting negative outcomes (Seligman, 1991); so, when the environment is unpredictable and changing and there is the rush

to reach decisions quickly, pessimistic CEOs cannot achieve ambidexterity, because they tend to focus on safer opportunities related to exploitation. Therefore, this study suggests that being optimistic as an organizational leader under crisis pays off.

Furthermore, the moderating role of educational level on the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship was confirmed and it was substituting. This means that high levels of education are required in order for those who decide fast to be able achieve organizational ambidexterity; otherwise, reaching decisions quickly leads to lower ambidexterity levels. This finding is in line with previous research that suggests that highy educated CEOs are more able to solve complex problems (Goll et al., 2007) and to be engaged in multiple different activities (Papadakis et al., 1998). It seems that CEOs with lower levels of education lack the ability to deal with multiple sources of information about exploration and exploitation opportunities and find it more difficult to be involved in multiple and very different activities that relate to pursuing both. Therefore, deciding fast concerning strategic options without being adequately educated (i.e. without at least a university degree) harms organizational ambidexterity.

The above three cognition-related characteristics of CEOs have been found to significantly affect the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity. These characteristics are all at the individual level and the affect a relationship at the firm level, incorporating the microfoundations perspective. The impact of perceived environmental uncertainty, discussed as follows, is an environmental-level dimension based on individual perceptions, and the study examines how it affects the firm-level relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, incorporating a multi-level integrated approach to strategic management.

8.2.2 Perceived Environmental Uncertainty: the Strategic Decision Speed – Organizational Ambidexterity Relationship in Different Perceived Contexts

The moderating effect of perceived environmental dynamism has been found to be substituting based on the categorization by Gardner et al. (2017). This means that when CEOs perceive the environment as more dynamic, they tend to be less ambidextrous when reaching strategic decisions fast. In other words, the relationship between strategic decision speed and ambidexterity becomes weaker at higher levels of environmental dynamism. This finding is in line with the stream of research that views increased uncertainty as a cause of avoidance behaviors that limit the pursuit of opportunities in general, with a trend to particularly avoid explorative opportunities (Hirsh et al., 2012; March, 1991; McMullen & Shepherd, 2006). Therefore, it seems that although COEs are reaching decisions fast in order to follow the pace of change in the environment, in reality their companies are either becoming strategically unbalanced, mainly focusing on exploitation opportunities, or strategically inactive, tending to not pursue any opportunities (neither exploitation, nor exploration opportunities).

Furthermore, slope analysis showed the gradient of the strategic decision speed – organizational relationship line is positive and significant at low levels of dynamism, whereas it is negative but not significant at high levels of dynamism. This indicates potentially a significant positive relationship between strategic decision speed and ambidexterity in stable environments, which is an interesting avenue for future research. It is noteworthy that the coefficient of strategic decision speed in Model 5 is positive, indicating that the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship is positive and significant even when accounting for environmental dynamism. That is, under crisis, deciding quickly is positively and significantly

related with organizational ambidexterity; however, the higher the perceived environmental dynamism, the weaker this relationship becomes.

To sum up, under crisis, reaching fast decisions is positively related with organizational ambidexterity. Different perceptions about environmental dynamism provide significant insights concerning the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship, which becomes weaker as the levels of dynamism increase. This suggests that the more dynamic the environment is perceived by CEOs, the less ambidextrous their companies become when they are reaching strategic decisions quickly. This can be explained by their tendency to pursue less opportunities and/or focus on those opportunities that entail less uncertainty. Thus, higher levels of environmental uncertainty weaken the relationship between deciding fast and being ambidextrous, because leaders select either to pursue safer opportunities related to exploitation or to freeze the implementation of strategic decisions concerning pursuing opportunities all together, until the environment becomes less uncertain and more stable. This is in accordance with crisis literature suggestions that organizations become more concerned with tactical strategic issues when the crisis occurs in an environment that is already complex (Smart & Vertinsky, 1984), leaving the pursuit of opportunities with a long-term focus for a time when the environment is less dynamic. Indeed, Greece was a very complex environment prior to the beginning of the global pandemic, so this study's findings are in line with Smart & Vertinsky's (1984) suggestions. Further, a focus on exploitation was also a supported by the analysis of contemporaneous data included in reports concerning the responses of Greek companies to the pandemic during the time period that this study was conducted. These reports indicate that Greek companies were focusing on survival and tactics (i.e. on exploitation) rather than on investments and growing (i.e. exploration).

Overall, the moderation analysis findings empirically validate the importance of cognitive skills and individual perceptions in strategic management under crisis. Companies are better off when led by individuals who are paradoxical thinkers, optimistic and highly educated. Furthermore, the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity becomes weaker when the environment is perceived as more dynamic. These empirical findings entail important theoretical contributions and managerial implications discussed as follows.

8.3 Research Contributions

This project is bridging the macro, meso and the micro levels while examining strategic management in organizations, under the crisis conditions of the COVID-19 pandemic. Through identifying factors that affect strategic decision making at different levels, this study enables a holistic view of strategic management under crisis and enables a multilevel approach. Theoretical contributions and managerial implications of this project are presented below.

8.3.1 Theoretical Contribution

Before presenting the theoretical contribution of this study, it is essential to define what theory is. Although there are various definitions of theory and in the past there appeared to be no clear consensus on a single definition of what theory is (Sutton & Staw, 1995), the researcher finds the definition provided by Gioia & Pitre (1990) very helpful: theory is "any coherent description or explanation of observed or experienced phenomena" (Gioia & Pitre, 1990, p. 587). Although this is a rather broad definition, Gioa & Pitre examine how this definition is relevant to different research paradigms and conceptualize theory as an illustration of how a set of concepts, and the relationships between them, explain the occurrence of a phenomenon. Therefore, this study defines a set of concepts (organizational ambidexterity, strategic decision speed, organizational performance at the meso level; paradox mindset, optimism, and educational level at the micro

level; and environmental dynamism at the macro level) and explains how they interrelate, illustrating how strategic management occurs under crisis.

This study's findings entail important theoretical contributions to the strategic management literature in general, and particularly to the organizational ambidexterity, strategic decision speed and crisis management literatures. The relationship between organizational ambidexterity and strategic decision speed has not been examined so far, empirically or theoretically. This work considers organizational ambidexterity as a crucial strategic decision, involving and related to multiple other strategic decisions. These strategic decisions concern opportunities about exploration and exploitation that need to be implemented in order for organizational ambidexterity to occur, in accordance with Døjbak Håkonsson et al. (2016). Organizational ambidexterity is, hence, embedded in the strategic decision-making process.

Incorporating organizational ambidexterity in the strategic decision-making framework is important, since it suggests that organizational ambidexterity needs to be viewed as part of the overall strategic decision-making process within organizations, instead of considering it in isolation. Further, the interplay between different dimensions of strategic decision making and organizational ambidexterity can now be examined, making it possible to better understand the underlying mechanisms of ambidexterity. Consequently, this work contributes to the advancement of strategic management literature in general, suggesting that it is essential that the process of strategic decision making and organizational ambidexterity should not be considered separately, but should be integrated in the strategic decision-making framework (Elbanna et al., 2020).

Furthermore, this study's findings suggest that strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity are positively related. Delaying strategic decisions impedes ambidexterity, as opportunities to explore and exploit are missed. Reaching decisions slowly leads to pursuing opportunities that are unavailable or irrelevant, due to the high pace of environmental change in dynamic and crisis environments, whereas in stable environments slow decision making would leave room for competitors to seize opportunities first and make them unavailable. This study, hence, contributes to the organizational ambidexterity literature by adding strategic decision speed to organizational ambidexterity's firm-level antecedents. Companies that are interested in achieving organizational ambidexterity need to be aware and cautious of their speed of decision making. Adding strategic decision speed to the antecedents of ambidexterity is an important contribution, since it entails that strategic decision speed antecedents (which have not yet been associated with ambidexterity) may have a significant impact on organizational ambidexterity, with speed acting as a mediator on relationships between its antecedents and ambidexterity. Similarly, strategic decision speed outcomes, like for example innovation performance, may act as mediators of the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship.

At the same time, this work adds organizational ambidexterity to the strategic decision speed outcomes under crisis, contributing to the strategic decision speed and strategic decision making literatures. Findings indicate that strategic decision speed is not related with superior performance under crisis, but with organizational ambidexterity, which in turn leads to superior performance. So, organizational ambidexterity is a missing link between strategic decision speed and performance. Previous work has recognized the need to shed light on conflicting findings concerning the relationships between strategic decision speed and firm performance (e.g. Shepherd et al., 2020). Hence, this study sheds light concerning the consequences of strategic decision speed: achieving superior performance is not related with strategic decision speed under crisis; rather, deciding fast under crisis enables companies to be ambidextrous.

As already mentioned, this study's findings suggest that the role of CEO cognition and perceptions is central in strategizing under crisis. More specifically, companies under crisis are better led by optimistic, paradoxical, and highly educated CEOs. Among these three cognitionrelated characteristics, the most controversial in the literature concerning its outcomes is optimism; previous research suggests that too much optimism is not beneficial for organizations (Snyder & Rand, 2003; Hmieleski & Baron, 2009). This study provides support that optimism is beneficial for organizational leaders strategizing under crisis, with no indication that optimism is not beneficial above a certain point. On the contrary, the higher the optimism, the stronger its combined effect with strategic decision speed on organizational ambidexterity; and since ambidexterity is strongly related with firm performance under crisis, optimistic CEOs are enabling their organizations to perform better. Futher, the fact that a positive psychological state-like capacity (optimism) and a mindset (paradox mindset) are beneficial for decision makers under crisis, contributes to the positive organizational behaviour, mindsets, and paradox literatures. These findings add to the discussion about the role of cognition of organizational leaders in strategic management in general (e.g. Miller et al., 1998; Venugopal et al., 2018; Wilms et al., 2019) and under crisis in particular (e.g. Andreou et al., 2017; Billings et al., 1980; Weick, 1998), indicating that a combination of cognitive abilities is essential in order for organizational leaders to be able to face the challenges of a crisis environment.

Last but not least, this study contributes to the crisis literature and adds to the discussion about successful strategies under crisis, through examining the role of organizational ambidexterity during crisis. The work's findings support the beneficial outcomes of organizational ambidexterity under the conditions of a fractal crisis. Previous research has identified the positive impact of ambidexterity on firm survival (Raisch et al., 2009) and on performance when the environment is dynamic or highly uncertain (Du & Chen, 2018; Heracleous et al., 2017; Junni et al., 2013). However, the magnitude and duration of the pandemic crisis has created unprecedented conditions and this study has tested the role of ambidexterity during this fractal crisis (Topper & Lagadec, 2013), i.e. a long crisis within which shorter nested crises occurred. Organizational ambidexterity is, therefore, a crucial part of strategic management under crisis.

The aforementioned theoretical contributions also entail substantial managerial implications, which are discussed in the next section.

8.3.2 Managerial Implications

This study's findings offer insights for strategic management under crisis. First of all, strategic decision making should not be delayed under crisis. Eisenhardt's (1989) seminal study on strategic decision speed identified big variations in the time required to make strategic decisions, ranging from four months to over a year. Such time frames for strategic decision making, even at the lower end of the range, could be detrimental for an organizational operating in a crisis environment, where change is rapid. Organizational leaders need to adjust the pace of making decisions to the pace of change of the external environment (Clark and Maggitti, 2012). When decision-making time is counted in several months, the possibility for misreading the situation significantly increases (Mason and Mitroff, 1981), as the topics that decisions
concern at a specific point in time may no longer be relevant after a few months. In this way, opportunities are overlooked and missed. In the specific case of the global COVID-19 pandemic, time periods of less than four months were characterized by numerous, important changes in the environment. Companies that have not decided quickly on strategic issues have probably lost exploration and exploitation opportunities, which have been seized by competitors. Thus, delaying decisions is not the best strategy under crisis; organizational leaders should be cautious about decision-making times and keep track of them.

A possible way of keeping track of the time needed for strategic decision making is to identify the key meetings during which strategic decisions are made and report the timeframes for those meetings; then, individuals in decision-making teams need to to evaluate whether this time needs to be shortened during the crisis. In addition, attention needs to be devoted on how fast information is being acquired. In case the access to information is slow, possibly there is the need to change metrics and focus on metrics that can be obtained faster; or maybe there is the need for changing processes related to gathering information, assigning it to different people, and taking advantage of networks. Finally, as the dramatic and unexpected change caused by the pandemic demonstrated, companies need to be prepared to invoke crisis plans, and change plans as well if needed, at any moment. The horizon for strategic plans under a crisis needs to be both short-term and long-term, however sticking with decisions that are not beneficial for the company as the environment is changing may not be beneficial. Hence, companies need to be flexible and able to change plans related to pursuing strategic opportunities at the shortest notice. To sum up, organizations need to be monitoring the processes of strategic decision making under crisis, and to consider and discuss changes that will enable them to respond to the changing conditions faster and more effectively.

On the other hand, decision makers are human beings, who may be stressed, afraid, worried or even panic under crisis, which could delay decision making. This is where decision makers' cognition and way of thinking makes a big difference under crisis. Being optimistic and using paradoxical thinking are beneficial for organizational leaders when the environment is volatile and hostile. When leaders make decisions quickly under crisis, those who are optimistic and possess a high paradox mindset are able to pursue opportunities for both exploration and exploitation and achieve higher levels of organizational ambidexterity. Organizational ambidexterity is, in turn, associated with better performance against competitors. In addition, lower levels of education are associated with lower levels of organizational ambidexterity for those leaders who are reaching decisions quickly. Hence, only leaders with higher level of education are able to recognize both types of opportunities, i.e. exploitative and explorative ones, when deciding fast. These findings are important, as they not only confirm the importance of organizational leaders' education and skills, but they also underline the need for lifelong, soft skills training in organizations. Being optimistic is not necessarily genetic and static, but is nowadays viewed as a state-like capacity (Luthans & Youssef, 2004). This means that individuals can choose and learn how to be optimistic. Similarly, a paradox mindset – although considered as having a neurological basis (Hannah et al., 2013) – is not static. On the contrary, it is enhanced while aging (Lomranz & Benyamini, 2016), and can be cultivated through training and interventions (Lüscher & Lewis, 2008). Although this study did not test the effects of an intervention concerning CEOs' cognitive skills, this study suggests that organizations may benefit from training top executives on ways of thinking and mindsets, or that they should look for other ways to help top executives develop these cognitive abilities in case training interventions are not effective. This also means that training providers have to create new training proposals that will cover these new needs for training executives, at the board of directors' level, on paradox mindset and optimism.

Last but not least, this study's findings suggest that it is worthwhile for companies to continue investing under crisis and pursue ambidextrous opportunities. Often under crisis, organizational leaders tend to engage in defensive strategies like cutting costs, optimizing production times, or improving service quality. Although these are beneficial practices, companies are better off when they also try to grow and expand under crisis. Hence, decision makers need to overcome the natural tendency to adopt defensive strategies and focus only on exploitation, the beneficial outcomes of which are easier to perceive (March, 1991), and also pursue exploration opportunities. Organizational leaders need to realize that the beneficial effects of exploitation may be visible in the short term, but the company will be in an inferior position in the long term if exploration is neglected. Thus, ambidextrous opportunities should be consciously sought and ways of seizing them should be discussed in strategy meetings. This does not mean that all opportunities identified should be pursued, but that there should be a conscious effort to identify both types of opportunities. Then, top management teams should evaluate each opportunity according to the company's goals and environmental conditions. Good managerial practice under crisis or in dynamic environments would, consequently, entail that ambidextrous opportunities are discussed in strategy meetings, and, at the (next) stage of strategy implementation, a relatively balanced number of exploration and exploitation opportunities is pursued.

8.3.3 Summary of Contributions

Corley & Gioia (2011) introduced a way of summarizing the contributions of a research study based on two criteria: research utility and research originality. Research utility has to do with the degree of usefulness of the contribution in terms of science and practicality. Research originality includes two categories of contributions: revelatory and incremental, based on whether these contributions create something new or add on existing findings. The result of this categorization is a 2X2 matrix, presented for this study in Figure 17 below. As the matrix indicates, this study includes contributions to all four categories in the 2X2 matrix, with at least three items in each category.

Revelatory	 Deciding fast under crisis enables the pursue of both growth/expansion (exploration) and optimization/cost-reduction (exploitation) opportunities Deciding fast under crisis does not necessarily lead to superior performance Remaining optimistic even under extreme crisis conditions is important Pursuing both exploration and exploitation 	 Positive relationship between strategic speed and organizational ambidexterity CEOs' paradox mindset and optimism strengthen the strategic speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship High level of education are required in order for the with strategic speed – ambidexterity relationship to be positive Environmental dynamism weakens the
Originality Incremental	 ruisumg oom exploration and exploration opportunities pays off during a fractal crisis Effective strategic management under crisis entails deciding fast, as long as ambidexterity is achieved Top executives need to be trained on how to adopt a positive attitude and how to think paradoxical through training/interventions Growth and optimization opportunities should be identified and pursued under crisis 	 Incorporating organizational ambidexterity in the strategic decision-making framework Organizational ambidexterity is beneficial under a fractal crisis Strategic speed is not directly related to organizational performance Cognition of decision makers is crucial under crisis
	Practically useful	Scientifically useful

Utility

Figure 17 – Research Contributions Summary

Among the contributions presented in Figure 17, the contribution related with point 2 in the revelatory and practically useful category, i.e. that deciding fast under crisis is not necessarily related to superior firm performance, is extremely important. Deciding fast is not associated with enhanced firm performance under crisis. Rather, companies need to decide fast in order to achieve organizational ambidexterity, which leads to superior performance. Therefore, solely deciding fast does not lead to enhanced firm performance under crisis and it is not just the process of reaching decisions that makes a difference; the nature of decisions being made and, more specifically, the type of opportunities being pursued under crisis is crucial. Hence, attention needs to be paid to both the process of deciding about opportunities, which should not

be delayed, and the nature of opportunities pursued, which should include both exploitation and exploration opportunities.

Furthermore, the role of cognition and perceptions of decision makers concerning strategic management under crisis is confirmed in this study, in accordance with suggestions of previous work (e.g. Andreou et al., 2017; Weick, 1998). This entails implications about executive training that may substantially facilitate the work of organizational leaders under crisis. There is a need for shifting the focus of training from technical and subject-specific skills to soft skills and mindsets. This study indicates that it is important that CEOs are able to adopt an optimistic view and to employ paradoxical thinking when coping with a crisis. Both these cognitive skills are not stable and genetic, but can be learnt and developed (Luthans & Youssef, 2004; Miron-Spektor et al., 2018). Thus, organizations should plan their training and development activities accordingly, making sure that executives understand that their way of thinking is crucial for the organization and providing them with the skills that will facilitate their work.

Overall, this work has produced important findings both concerning the advancement of theory and related to managerial implications. These findings will hopefully serve as useful guidelines for organizational leaders and will open up new horizons for future research.

8.4. Chapter Summary

This chapter further discussed the findings identified in Chapter 7, along with the major contributions of this study. One key contribution of this dissertation is the identification of a positive relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity under crisis. This relationship has not been examined so far and it suggests that the missing link between deciding fast and achieving superior performance is being ambidextrous; organizational ambidexterity is a necessary mediating condition for turning fast strategic decisions to superior performance. Findings indicate that rapid decision making is not related to superior performance under crisis, as there is no direct relationship between the two. Therefore, this study sheds light on previous mixed and confusing findings concerning the outcomes of strategic decision speed.

Furthermore, this study examines organizational ambidexterity as part of the strategic decision making in organizations, both in terms of strategy context (what strategic decisions are made about exploration and exploitation opportunities), as well as strategy process (how fast these decisions are reached and what affects the decision-making process). Based on the opportunity logic of strategy (Bingham & Eisenhardt, 2008) that advocates that companies achieve a competitive advantage when they identify and seize opportunities faster than competitors, and drawing on strategic choice theory (Child 1972 & 1997) and upper echelons theory (Hambrick & Mason, 1984; Hambrick, 2008), this dissertation suggests that successful strategic management under crisis entails deciding fast in order to not miss opportunities for both exploration and exploitation. Indeed, a significant positive relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity was identified under the global pandemic fractal crisis, suggesting that organizations need to decide fast in order to be ambidextrous. Therefore, this work supports the idea that the opportunity logic is relevant under dynamic environments (Furr & Eisenhardt, 2021) and expands this relevance to crisis environments, as deciding fast leads to organizational ambidexterity, which in turn leads to enhanced performance.

In addition, CEOs' optimism and paradox mindset were found to positively moderate (strengthen) the aforementioned relationship under crisis. This indicates that adopting a positive

attitude and using paradoxical thinking are key cognitive abilities of organizational decision makers, specifically under crisis conditions. Furthermore, CEOs' educational level was found to have a substituting interaction effect with strategic decision speed on organizational ambidexterity, indicating that higher levels of education are required in order for fast decision making to lead to organizational ambidexterity when the environment is turbulent, hostile, and unpredictable. Furthermore, environmental dynamism negatively moderates the strategic decision speed – organizational ambidexterity relationship; therefore, the higher the perceived dynamism, the weaker the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity. The four moderating effects examined in this research are in line with a multilevel integrated approach, which bridges the micro, meso and macro level.

Last but not least, ambidextrous companies were found to perform significantly better under the global pandemic crisis compared to their rivals, illustrating that organizational ambidexterity is beneficial for organizations under a fractal crisis. This important finding builds on previous work concerning the beneficial role of ambidexterity under (smaller and/or shorter) crisis, by extending the advantages of being ambidextrous to conditions of a fractal crisis. The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted the business environment throughout the world very unexpectedly, with major changes occurring very rapidly but affecting the environment for longer periods of time, within which numerous smaller crises were nested. An important contribution of this study is that it proves that there is no direct relationship between reaching strategic decisions quickly and firm performance; instead, strategic decision speed leads to organizational ambidexterity, which in turn leads to superior performance under crisis. Therefore, an answer is provided to why reaching decisions quickly in dynamic environments is beneficial for organizations, establishing a mediator relationship by ambidexterity, another element of strategy, between strategic decision speed and organizational performance for the first time.

Although the relationship between strategic decision speed and ambidexterity was proven in a dynamic environment, it may well be valid under less turbulent and unpredictable environments where the opportunity logic still applies and where companies achieve a competitive advantage by pursuing opportunities for exploration and exploitation faster and earlier than competitors. In other words, in stable environments as well, reaching strategic decisions slowly leaves room for competitors to seize opportunities and these opportunities are missed by those firms responding slowly. The difference with dynamic environments is that in dynamic environments, there are two possible reasons for slow decision makers' failure to achieve a competitive advantage: firstly because the environment changes, so the opportunity may be irrelevant at a later stage, and secondly because competitors act and the opportunity may be unavailable at a later stage. In less dynamic environments, the first reason of missing to achieve a competitive advantage is less relevant, since the environment is stable and the opportunity will still be relevant later, when the decision is made. But the second reason still stands; allowing competitors to seize opportunities and remaining inactive will eventually lead to losing market share. Hence, ambidexterity will not be achieved, and performance will eventually start declining when strategic decisions are delayed even in stable environments.

In addition, four moderators of the relationship between strategic decision speed and performance have been identified: paradox mindset, optimism, and educational level, related to CEOs' cognitive skills, and environmental dynamism as perceived by the CEOs, related to the environment. CEOs who are paradoxical thinkers and optimistic are more able to achieve ambidexterity for their companies when reaching fast decisions, whereas only CEOs with high

levels of education are able to achieve ambidexterity when deciding quickly. On the other hand, the higher the perceived environmental dynamism, the weaker the relationship between strategic decision speed and ambidexterity. There are also some interesting findings concerning control variables like the fact that CEO ownership has a positive effect on ambidexterity, but a negative effect on performance.

The following Chapter presents the limitations of this study and suggestions for future research stemming from these limitations, but also more generally, in an effort to consider ways to further advance the relevant literature.

9. Conclusion

This Chapter presents this study's limitations in terms of the nature of methods and context. Ways of addressing these limitations are presented as recommendation for future research, along with more general ideas stemming from results.

9.1 Research Limitations

Although this study has been carefully planned and organizational leaders were consulted at the early stages of planning, it still entails limitations that also present opportunities for future work. Among the limitations of this research is the relatively low sample size (144), which is related with various factors. Firstly, the timing of data collection during a global pandemic that has significantly disrupted the business environment. Moreover, the fact that CEOs are part of the organizational elite, which makes very willing to help other elite members (McDonald & Westphal, 2011), but maybe less willing to interact with those that do not belong in the elite, like researchers. In addition, CEOS are very busy and tend to avoid survey research (Bernard & Westphal, 2006). Taking the above into account, the design of the survey for this study included all the features that have been proven beneficial in terms of increasing the probabilities of a CEO filling in a survey (Bernard & Westphal, 2006), in terms of length (limited number of items), endorsement from another elite member through the use of snowballing and incentives (report with findings). Hence, one would expect that the total number of respondents would be higher given that all these features were incorporated in survey design, as well as given the time and effort put into recruiting participants. However, the 144 responses collected, neither an extremely high number of responses but nor an extremely low, have provided important and useful insights concerning the role of CEOs in strategizing under crisis.

A second limitation is that, while initially it was planned to collect two measurements of performance at two different time points, the disruption caused by the pandemic created a low response rate for the study's second wave (29.86%) and consequently the second wave was not used. Thus, the second measurement of organizational performance was not included in the research analysis, and this dependent variable's measurement relied on measurement at a time point when all independent variables were measured as well, which could lead to common method bias (Jordan & Troth, 2020; Podsakoff et al., 2012). Further, there was one collection point concerning the strategic decision speed - organizational ambidexterity relationship. The limitations related to the relatively small sample size and the study being cross-sectional create further limitations concerning how the data was analyzed; a larger sample size (of at least 200 data points) would have allowed a more advanced statistical analysis, using structural equation modelling to test the conceptual model, which could provide more insight into the relationships examined. However, the uniqueness of the environment of Greece offered important insights concerning strategic management under crisis and collecting 144 responses from CEOs during the pandemic is an important achievement, specifically considering that academic research was severely affected and hampered particularly in the first year of the pandemic (Fernandes, 2020; Mobaraka et al., 2022). It is also important that, as already explained, the sample does not suffer from common method bias.

Another limitation of this study is connected to the use of single respondent, self-reported data. Podsakoff et al. (2003) argue that this may create bias in organizational research, specifically when the items measured are related to psychological characteristics, and can lead to common method variance. Although the sample does not suffer from common method variance, social desirability bias was found to be significant in some of the regression models. Still, social desirability bias is not problematic in this study, since its correlation with other variables was small, below 0.36 in all cases (Antonetti & Maklan, 2016; Polonsky et al., 2014). A move away from self-reported, single-respondent data would require a different research design and would further add to the difficulties of collecting data during a global pandemic. In addition, using self-reported data in management research is still considered an important and valid tool for examining relationships between variables. A solution related to potential common method variance issues in self-reported data research has been suggested by Podsakoff et al. (2003) and has to do with using measures that have already been validated in previous studies. This study has exclusively used such measures. Furthermore, survey data were complemented by qualitative insights from the cognitive interviewing phase and by an examination of publicly available data that were extremely relevant with this study concerning the response of Greek companies to the pandemic. Thus, what the single respondent survey data was indicating has been cross-checked through using other data.

A fourth limitation is related to snowballing, although snowballing is the method that in essence allowed and enabled data collection in this study. Snowballing is considered as an unorthodox approach of sampling (Dodd & Patra, 2002), because it does not allow the researcher(s) to select companies in a systematic way. Nevertheless, the outcome of snowballing in this study was a sample of 144 companies from various industries, which overall constitute a fair representation of the Greek business environment as discussed in section 6.1.1. Still, a systematic selection of companies from specific sectors or with specific characteristics in terms of size, age, etc., could possibly shed light on differences in strategic decision-making processes across companies with these different characteristics. Such conclusions cannot be drawn from this work.

Acknowledging the limitations above, the next section presents future research directions aiming to build on and expand this study's findings.

9.2 Future Research Directions

The newly established, in this study, relationship between organizational ambidexterity and strategic decision speed may produce interesting new theoretical and managerial insights in the future. Hence, this interesting new link between two important strategic management can now be further explored, opening up multiple possible directions for future research.

Building on this work, future research could further explore the relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity, by considering various decision-specific, individual, team, organizational and external to the organization factors as moderators and/or mediators. The fact that this work positions organizational ambidexterity within the strategic decision-making framework creates multiple options for examining different interactions between the framework's dimensions and organizational ambidexterity. Be they decision characteristics, psychological characteristics, demographics, top management team characteristics, firm-specific features, or factors related to partnerships, the local environment, the market or the global environment, this direction is fascinating. The more factors that future research examines, the better the understanding of the interplay between the two central strategic management aspects considered in this study and the process of strategizing in general.

In addition, interesting findings concerning the control variables used in this study could be further explored in the future. For example, CEOS who are also the company owners appear to achieve better results concerning organizational ambidexterity, but do not achieve superior performance. In other words, company owners are not able to benefit from ambidexterity and the link between ambidexterity and performance is somehow broken for them, at least under crisis. This could potentially be further examined by future research that focuses on CEO ownership or on family companies, investigating possible factors that mediate between ambidexterity and performance for these companies in dynamic and non-dynamic environments. For example, recent work by Borini et al. (2022) suggests that ambidexterity leads to knowledge creation about new products, operations/production, marketing, or environmental management practices. Could it be that owners who are CEOs fail to enable knowledge sharing and this harms firm performance? Such questions can be formed, shedding light on the role of CEO ownership on firm strategy and performance. Similarly, the role of gender can further be examined while strategizing: are women CEOs less ambidextrous because the have limited access to resources as the literature suggests? Exploring other factors that may possibly affect the ambidexterity of women CEOs, like psychological factors, could also provide interesting insights.

Moreover, additional insights could be provided by longitudinal studies on strategic decision speed, ambidexterity and performance with multiple time points. A longitudinal study design could provide significant insights on how different elements of strategy (strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity) and organizational outcomes (performance or other outcomes) interact over time. Previous work suggests that past performance is related with how well a decision is implemented (Elbanna et al., 2014). Future research could examine the impact of past performance on strategizing; interesting questions like whether companies that pursued ambidexterity and achieved superior performance in the past choose to pursue ambidexterity in the future, or whether those that reached decisions quickly in the past continue to do so and what the respective outcomes are, could then be examined.

Furthermore, replication studies could be very useful, i.e. studies that examine the same variables in different contexts. It would be interesting to examine whether the relationships

identified are valid under different environmental conditions. For example, crises of different duration and volume would be ideal research contexts in order to be able to compare the effect of different crises; similarly, examining these relationships in more stable environments would provide valuable insights about strategizing in different contexts. In other words, future work could assess the robustness of the relationships included in this study's model in different variations of hostility, turbulence and munificence of the environment.

To sum up, future work can examine multiple factors as antecedents, outcomes, moderators and/or mediators of the variables included in this study, across different levels (individual, team, organizational, inter-organizational, external environment) and in different contexts. Using this study as the starting point, the relationship between strategic decision speed and ambidexterity can be examined under different angles and provide a better understanding of what organizations need to do in order to thrive under different conditions.

The following section presents some closing remarks while reflecting on the process of doing doctoral research.

9.3 Closing Remarks

This doctoral research began in 2018, prior to the pandemic with a part-time mode of study, and was completed in the fall of 2022, having switched to a full-time mode about one and a half years previous to completion. The challenges faced in these four and a half years in total were diverse and often unexpected, but have helped me gain significant knowledge and skills.

First of all, there were numerous decisions that needed to be reached along the way, related to the research design and implementation. I am proud that I can claim ownership for these decisions, including basic choices like the decision to pursue a PhD, to pursue it at the specific university, or to choose this topic in which I am interested; but also crucial decisions like choosing Greece for a research context, selecting CEOs as the research participants, selecting the variables included in the study, choosing snowballing as the research recruitment process, deciding when data collection should stop, opting for the specific methodology, etc. Having said this, I am very grateful to my supervisors for their advice throughout this journey, part of which was also that I needed to reach my own decisions, because this is my PhD. So, I can proudly say now that this is my PhD! And the process of doing a PhD has turned me into a better decision maker, more able to consider different aspects of an issue and their consequences, as well as my own emotions, values and views.

Secondly, my main motivation for doing a PhD was the idea of creating new knowledge. As an active member of society, I value collective knowledge and have significantly benefited – and keep benefiting – from knowledge created by others. Building on existing knowledge created by members of the academic research community, I have contributed by adding new insights on the process of strategizing. I firmly believe that my dissertation makes an original contribution to knowledge in the area of strategic management, through connecting two aspects of strategy that had not been associated so far and examining the factors that affect their relationship. Hence, I am satisfied that doing a PhD has indeed led to contributing to knowledge and I am happy with this outcome.

Last but not least, I am satisfied that my work is of publishable standard, as proven by my PhD's original contribution to knowledge and the fact that I have received positive feedback after having presented this work, while it was still in progress, at academic conferences and paper development workshops. It is important that the feedback received from senior academics and editors in academic journals was very encouraging, indicating that this is a promising piece of

work that they would consider for publication. Again, I am extremely grateful to my supervisors for their constructive feedback along the way, as well as to the University of Sheffield various activities related to the development of doctoral researchers, as both have helped me develop a thorough understanding of the publication process and the quality required for publishable academic work.

Looking back on this journey, I feel satisfied and excited. I value hard work and persistence, and have become more resilient. Just like strategic choice theory suggests, I believe that my choices were important and I am pleased with their outcomes. I view pursuing a PhD as an amazing learning and development process, while reaching the milestone of completing as an important achievement. I am confident that I will continue to be curious, to ask questions and to learn, building on the knowledge and skills acquired through my PhD.

9.4 Chapter Summary

This Chapter discusses how this study's findings fit into existing work, the study's limitations, and suggests further research directions. The study's findings were discussed in the context of four key debates in the field of strategic management that were presented earlier. Further, the theoretical and managerial implications of the newly established relationship between strategic decision speed and organizational ambidexterity have been discussed. Limitations concerning sample size and methodological issues are presented, while acknowledging the challenges of conducting research with CEOs. Next, suggestions about different research designs that would provide important insights on the relationships between the variables tested in this study are presented, including further examining some interesting findings about control variables. At the end of the Chapter, the researcher presents some closing remarks and a personal reflection on the PhD journey.

The researcher believes that this study opens up a number of avenues for further research and hopes that this work will serve as the starting point for interesting future work. Overall, this project simultaneously examines factors at different levels that affect strategic decision-making, including the individual, firm-level and the environment, recommending an integrated multilevel approach. With different crises increasingly becoming part of the global reality recently, the need to take this integrative approach on strategic management is now higher than ever.

References

Adams, R. B., Almeida, H., & Ferreira, D. (2005). Powerful CEOs and their impact on corporate performance. *Review of Financial Studies*, 18(4), 1403–1432.

Adler, P. S., Goldoftas, B., & Levine, D. I. (1999). Flexibility versus Efficiency? A Case Study of Model Changeovers in the Toyota Production System. *Organization Science*, 10(1), 43–68.
Adomako, S., Frimpong, K., Amankwah-Amoah, J., Donbesuur, F., & Opoku, R.A. (2021).
Strategic Decision Speed and International Performance: The Roles of Competitive Intensity, Resource Flexibility, and Structural Organicity. *Management International Review*, 61(1), 27–55.

Aguinis, H., Boik, R. J., & Pierce, C. A. (2001). A Generalized Solution for Approximating the Power to Detect Effects of Categorical Moderator Variables Using Multiple Regression. *Organizational Research Methods*, 4(4), 291–323.

Aguinis, H., Edwards, J. R., & Bradley, K. J. (2017). Improving our understanding of moderation and mediation in strategic management research. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20, 665–685.

Aiken, L. S., & West, S. G. (1991). Multiple regression: *Testing and interpreting interactions*. Sage.

Ajayi, O. M., Odusanya, K., & Morton, S. (2017). Stimulating employee ambidexterity and employee engagement in SMEs. *Management Decision*, 55(4), 662–680.

Albin, P. S. & Foley, D. K. (1998). *Barriers and Bounds to Rationality: Essays on Economic Complexity and Dynamics in Interactive Systems*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Allaire, Y. & Firsirotu, M.E. (1989). Coping with strategic uncertainty. *Sloan Management Review*, 30(3): 7–16.

Aldrich, H. E. (1979). Asian shopkeepers as a middleman minority: A study of small businesses in Wandsworth. In D. Eversley & A. Evans (Eds.), *Inner city employment*: 389-407. London: Heinemann.

Alexander, R. A., & DeShon, R. P. (1994). Effect of error variance heterogeneity on the power of tests for regression slope differences. *Psychological Bulletin*, 115, 308–314.

Alghamdi, F. (2018). Ambidextrous leadership, ambidextrous employee, and the interaction between ambidextrous leadership and employee innovative performance. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, 7(1), 1–14.

Almond, G. A., Flanagan, S. & Mundt, R. (Eds.) (1973). *Crisis, choice and change: historical studies of political development*, Boston, Little Brown.

Amabile, T. M., Mueller, J. S., Simpson, W. B., Hadley, C. N., Kramer, S. J., & Fleming, L. (2003). *Time pressure and creativity in organizations: A longitudinal field study*. Harvard Business School Working Paper.

Ambrosini, V., & Bowman, C. (2009). What are dynamic capabilities and are they a useful construct in strategic management?. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 11(1), 29–49.

Ancona, D. G., Gerardo A. O., & Leslie A. P. (2001). Taking Time to Integrate Temporal Research. *The Academy of Management Review*, 26(4), 512–529.

Andreou, P. C., Karasamani, I., Louca, C., & Ehrlich, D. (2017). The impact of managerial ability on crisis-period corporate investment. *Journal of Business Research*, 79, 107–122.

Andrews, K. R. (1971). The concept of corporate strategy. Homewood, IL: Irwin.

Andriopoulos, C., & Lewis, M. W. (2009). Exploitation-exploration tensions and organizational ambidexterity: Managing paradoxes of innovation. *Organization Science*, 20(4), 696–717.

Ang, S., & Cummings, L. L. (1997). Strategic Response to Institutional Influences on Information Systems Outsourcing. *Organization Science*, 8(3), 235–256.

Ansoff, H. I. (1965). Corporate strategy. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Antonetti, P., & Maklan, S. (2016). Hippies, greenies, and tree huggers: How the "warmth" stereotype hinders the adoption of responsible brands. *Psychology & Marketing*, 33, 796–813. Ardichvili, A., Cardozo, R., & Ray, S. (2003). A theory of entrepreneurial opportunity identification and development. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 18(1), 105–123.

Arlene, F., & Mark, S. L. (1995). *How to measure survey reliability and validity*, Version 7, Sage.

Arend, R. J., & Bromiley, P. (2009). Assessing the dynamic capabilities view: spare change, everyone?. *Strategic Organization*, 7(1), 75–90.

Arogyaswamy, K., Barker Iii, V. L., & Yasai-Ardekani, M. (1995). Firm Turnarounds: an Integrative Two-Stage Model, *Journal of Management Studies*, 32(4), 493–525.

Atuahene-Gima, K., & Li, H. (2004). Strategic decision comprehensiveness and new product development outcomes in new technology ventures. *Academy of Management Journal*, 47(4), 583–597.

Auh, S., & Menguc, B., (2005). Balancing exploration and exploitation: The moderating role of competitive intensity. *Journal of Business Research*, 58, 1652–1661.

Avey, J. B., Hughes, L. W., Norman, S. M., & Luthans, K. W. (2008). Using Positivity, Transformational Leadership and Empowerment to Combat Employee Negativity. *Leadership* & Organization Development Journal, 29 (2), 110–126.

Avey, J. B., Luthans, F., & Jensen, S. M. (2009). Psychological Capital: A Positive Resource for Combating Employee Stress and Turnover. *Human Resource Management*, 48(5), 677–693.
Avey, J. B., Luthans, F., & Youssef, C. M. (2010). The Additive Value of Positive Psychological Capital in Predicting Work Attitudes and Behaviors. *Journal of Management*, 36(2), 430–452.

Avey, J. B., Reichard, R. J., Luthans, F., & Mhatre, K. H. (2011). Meta-analysis of the impact of positive psychological capital on employee attitudes, behaviors, and performance. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 22(2), 127–152.

Bae, J., & Lawler, J. J. (2000). Organizational and HRM strategies in Korea: Impact on firm performance in an emerging economy. *The Academy of Management Journal*, 43(3), 502–517.

Bagozzi, R. P., Dholakia, U. M., & Basuroy, S. (2003). How effortful decisions get enacted: The motivating role of decision processes, desires, and anticipated emotions. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 16(4), 273–295.

Bahemia, H., & Squire, B. (2010). A Contingent Perspective of Open Innovation in New
Product Development Projects. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 14(04), 603–627.

Bakker, R.M., & Shepherd, D. A. (2017). Pull the plug or take the plunge: Multiple opportunities and the speed of venturing decisions in the Australian mining industry. *Academy of Management Journal*, 60, 130–155.

Baluku, M. M., Kikooma, J. F., & Kibanja, G. M. (2016). Psychological Capital and The Startup Capital Entrepreneurial Success Relationship. *Journal of Small Business & Entrepreneurship*, 28(1), 27–54.

Baluku, M. M., Kikooma, J. F., & Otto, K. (2018). Positive mindset and entrepreneurial outcomes: the magical contributions of psychological resources and autonomy. *Journal of Small Business & Entrepreneurship*, 30(6), 473–498.

Bantel, K. A., & Jackson, S. E. (1989). Top Management and Innovation in Banking: Does the Composition of the Top Team Make a Difference?. *Strategic Management Journal*, 10 (s1) 107–124.

Barney, J. B. (1986). Types of competition and the theory of strategy: toward an integrative framework. *Academy of Management Review*, 11, 791–800.

Barney, J. (1991). Firm Resources and Sustained Competitive Advantage. *Journal of Management*, 17(1), 99–120.

Barney, J., & Felin, T. (2013). What are microfoundations?. Academy of Management perspectives, 27(2), 138–155.

Baron, R. A. (2006). Opportunity Recognition as Pattern Recognition: How Entrepreneurs "Connect the Dots" to Identify New Business Opportunities. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 20(1), 104–119.

Baron, R. A, Franklin, R. J., & Hmieleski, K. M. (2016). Why Entrepreneurs Often Experience Low, Not High, Levels of Stress: The Joint Effects of Selection and Psychological Capital. *Journal of Management*, 42(3), 742–768.

Baron, R., & Kenny, D. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173–1182.

Barreto, I. (2010). Dynamic Capabilities: A Review of Past Research and an Agenda for the Future. *Journal of Management*, 36(1), 256–280.

Barreto, I. (2012). A behavioral theory of market expansion based on the opportunity prospects rule. *Organization Science*, 23, 1008–1023.

Bartz, W., & Winkler, A. (2016). Flexible or fragile? The growth performance of small and young businesses during the global financial crisis — Evidence from Germany, *Journal of Business Venturing*, 31(2), 196–215.

Batsakis, G., & Theoharakis, V. (2021). Achieving the Paradox of Concurrent Internationalization Speed: Internationalizing Rapidly in Both Breadth and Depth. *Management International Review*, 61(4), 429–467.

Baum, J., & Wally, S. (2003). Strategic decision speed and firm performance. *Strategic Management Journal*, 24(11), 1107–1129.

Beatty, P. C., & Willis, G. B. (2007). Research Synthesis: The Practice of Cognitive Interviewing. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 71(2), 287–311.

Bechtoldt, M. N., De Dreu, C. K. W., Nijstad, B. A., & Choi, H.-S. (2010). Motivated information processing, social tuning, and group creativity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 99, 622–637.

Becker, S., Bryman, A., & Ferguson, H. (2012). *Understanding research for social policy and social work: themes, methods and approaches*. Bristol: Policy, 2012.

Beckman, C. M. (2006). The influence of founding team company affiliations on firm behavior. *Academy of Management Journal*, 49(4), 741–758.

Bednar, M. K., & Westphal, J. D. (2006). Surveying the Corporate Elite: Theoretical and Practical Guidance on Improving Response Rates and Response Quality in Top Management Survey Questionnaires. *Research Methodology in Strategy and Management*, 3, 37–55.

Behr, D. (2017). Assessing the use of back translation: the shortcomings of back translation as a quality testing method, *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(6), 573–584.

Belhadi, A., Kamble, S., Gunasekaran, A., & Mani, V. (2021). Analyzing the mediating role of organizational ambidexterity and digital business transformation on industry 4.0 capabilities and sustainable supply chain performance. *Supply Chain Management*, Vol. ahead-of-print No. ahead-of-print. https://doi-org.sheffield.idm.oclc.org/10.1108/SCM-04-2021-0152

Beneki, C., Giannias, D., & Moustakas, G. (2012). Innovation and economic performance: the case of Greek SMEs. *French Cultural Studies*, 12(1), 31–42.

Benner, M. J., & Tushman, M. L. (2003). Exploitation, exploration, and process management: The productivity dilemma revisited. *Academy of Management Review*, 28(2), 238–256.

Benson, J., & Dvesdow, S. (2003). Discovery mindset: a decision-making model for discovery and collaboration. *Management Decision*, 41(10), 997–1005.

Benton, T., & Craib, I. 2010. *Philosophy of social science: the philosophical foundations of social thought*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Berger, R., Dutta, S., Raffel, T., & Samuels, G. (2016). *Innovating at the top: How global CEOs drive innovation for growth and profit*. Palgrave Macmillan.

Berinsky, A. J., Margolis, M. F., & Sances, M. W. (2014). Separating the shirkers from the workers? Making sure respondents pay attention on self-administered surveys.

American Journal of Political Science, 58(3), 739–753.

Bertuglia, C. S., & Vaio, F. (2005). Nonlinearity, Chaos, and Complexity: The Dynamics of Natural and Social Systems, Oxford University Press, USA.

Bhaskar, R. (2008) *A Realist Theory of Science*. London: Verso (originally published by Harvester Press 1978).

Billings, R. S., Milburn, T. W., & Schaalman, M. L. (1980). A Model of Crisis Perception: A Theoretical and Empirical Analysis. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 25(2), 300–16.

Bingham, C. B., & Eisenhardt, K. M. (2008). Position, leverage and opportunity: a typology of strategic logics linking resources with competitive advantage. Managerial and Decision Economics, 29(2-3), 241–256.

Biron, M., Peretz, H., & Turgeman-Lupo, K. (2020). Trait Optimism and Work from Home Adjustment in the COVID-19 Pandemic: Considering the Mediating Role of Situational Optimism and the Moderating Role of Cultural Optimism. *Sustainability*, 12(22), 9773.

Bogler, R., & Somech, A. (2019) Psychological Capital, Team Resources and Organizational Citizenship Behavior. *The Journal of Psychology*, 153(8), 784–802.

Boomsma, A. (1982). The robustness of LISREL against small sample sizes in factor analysis models. In K. G. Jöreskog & H.Wold (Eds.), *Systems under indirect observation: Causality, structure, prediction* (Part I, pp. 149-175). Amsterdam: North-Holland.

Borini, F. M., Santos, L. L., Raziq, M. M., Pereira, R. M., & Brunhara, A. J.(2022). The differentiated role of organizational ambidexterity and organizational innovation in the subsidiary reverse knowledge transfer process. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 26(1), 146–164.

Bourgeois, L., & Eisenhardt, K. (1988). Strategic decision processes in high-velocity environments: Four cases in the microcomputer industry. *Management Science*, 34, 816–835.

Bryman, A. (2012). Social research methods. 4th edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Braun, S., Rosseel, Y., Kempenaers, C., Loas, G., & Linkowski, P. (2015). Self-Report of Empathy: A Shortened French Adaptation of the Interpersonal Reactivity Index (IRI) Using Two Large Belgian Samples. *Psychological Reports*, 117(3), 735–753.

Brislin, R. W. (1970). Back-translation for cross-cultural research. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 1, 185–216.

Brönnimann, A. (2022) How to phrase critical realist interview questions in applied social science research. *Journal of Critical Realism*, 21:1, 1-24.

Brouthers, K. D., Andriessen, F., & Nicolaes, I. (1998). Driving blind: Strategic decisionmaking in small companies. *Long Range Planning*, 31, 130–138.

Butler, R. (1995). Time in organizations: Its experience, explanations and effects. *Organization Studies*, 16, 925–950.

Butler, R. (2002). Decision making. In *Organization*, Sorge A. Thomson Learning: London; 224–251.

Byrne, B. M. (2013). *Structural equation modeling with AMOS: Basic concepts, applications, and programming*. Routledge.

Calás, M., & Smircich, L. (1997). *Postmodern Management Theory*. Aldershot: Ashgate/Dartmouth.

Cameron, K. S. (2008). Paradox in Positive Organizational Change. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 44, 7–24.

Campling, J. T., & Michelson, G. (1998). A Strategic Choice-resource Dependence Analysis of Union Mergers in the British and Australian Broadcasting and Film Industries. *Journal of Management Studies*, 35(5), 579–600.

Caniëls, M., & Neghina, C., & Schaetsaert, N. (2017). Ambidexterity of employees: The role of empowerment and knowledge sharing. *Journal of Knowledge Management*. 21(5), 1098–1119.

Cao Q., Gedajlovic E., & Zhang H. (2009). Unpacking organizational ambidexterity: Dimensions, contingencies, and synergistic effects. *Organization Science*, 20: 781–796.

Cao, Q., Simsek, Z., & Zhang, H. (2010). Modelling the joint impact of the CEO and the TMT on organizational ambidexterity. *Journal of Management Studies*, 47(7), 1272–1296.

Cappelli, P., & Neumark, D. (2001). Do "high-performance" work practices improve establishmentlevel outcomes? *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 54(4), 737–775.

Caprara, G. V., Alessandri, G., Eisenberg, N., Kupfer, A., Steca, P., Caprara, M. G., Yamaguchi, S., Fukuzawa, A., & Abela, J. (2012). The Positivity Scale. *Psychological Assessment*, 24(3), 701–712.

Carmeli, A., & Halevi, M. Y. (2009). How top management team behavioral integration and behavioral complexity enable organizational ambidexterity: The moderating role of contextual ambidexterity. *Leadership Quarterly*, 20: 207–218.

Carmine, S., Andriopoulos, C., Gotsi, M., Härtel, C. E. J, Krzeminska, A., Mafico, N., Pradies,
C., Raza, H., Raza-Ullah, T., Schrage, S., Sharma, G., Slawinski, M., Stadtler, L., Tunarosa,
A., Winther-Hansen, C., & Keller, J. (2021). A Paradox Approach to Organizational Tensions
during the Pandemic Crisis. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 30(2), 138–153.

Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., Snyder, C., & Lopez, S. (2002). *Handbook of Positive Psychology*. Oxford University Press: New York, NY, USA.

Cavana, R., Delahaye, B. L., & U. Sekeran, U. (2001). *Applied business research: Qualitative and quantitative methods*, John Wiley & Sons Australia.

Chang, Y.-Y. (2015). A multilevel examination of high-performance work systems and unitlevel organisational ambidexterity. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 25(1), 79–101.

Chang, Y.-Y., & Hughes, M. (2012). Drivers of innovation ambidexterity in small- to mediumsized firms. *European Management Journal*, 30(1), 1–17.

Chang, Y.-Y., Hughes, M., & Hotho, S. (2011). Internal and external antecedents of SMEs' innovation ambidexterity outcomes. *Management Decision*, 49(10), 1658–1676.

Chen, C.-C., Wang, Y. Chen, S.-J., Fosh, P., & Wang, R. (2021). High commitment work system and firm performance: impact of psychological capital and environmental uncertainty. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources*, 59(1), pp. 132–151.

Chen, M., & Hambrick, D. (1995). Speed, stealth and selective attack: How small firms differ. *Academy of Management Journal*, 38, 453–483.

Chen, S. T., & Chang, B. G. (2012). The Effects of Absorptive Capacity and Decision Speed on Organizational Innovation: A Study of Organizational Structure as an Antecedent Variable. *Contemporary Management Research*, 8(1), 027–050.

Chia, R. (2003). Organization theory as a postmodern science, in H. Tsoukas and C. Knudsen (eds) *The Oxford Handbook of Organization Theory: Meta-Theoretical Perspectives*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 113–40.

Child, J. (1972). Organizational structure, environment and performance: The role of strategic choice. *Sociology*, 6, 1–22.

Child, J. (1997). Strategic Choice in the Analysis of Action, Structure, Organizations and Environment: Retrospect and Prospect. *Organization Studies*, 18(1), 43–76.

Clark, K. D., & Maggitti, P. G. (2012). TMT potency and strategic decision-making in high technology firms. *Journal of Management Studies*, 49, 1168–1193.

Clark, P. (2000). *Organisations in action: Competition between contexts*. London: Routledge. Clapp-Smith, R., Vogelgesang, G. R., & Avey, J. B. (2009). Authentic Leadership and Positive Psychological Capital. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 15(3), 227–240.

Cohen, J., Cohen, P., West, S. G., & Aiken, L. S. (2003). *Applied multiple regression/correlation analysis for the behavioral sciences* (3rd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Cole, K., Daly, A., & Mak, A. (2009). Good for the Soul: The Relationship between Work, Wellbeing and Psychological Capital. *Journal of Socio-Economics*, 38 (3), 464–474.

Coleman, J. (1990). Foundations of social theory. Boston: Harvard University

Collis, D. J., & Montgomery, C. A. (2005). *Corporate Strategy: A Resource-Based Approach*. McGraw-Hill: Boston.

Comfort, L. K., Sungu, Y., Johnson, D., & Dunn, M. (2001). Complex Systems in Crisis: Anticipation and Resilience in Dynamic Environments. *Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management*, 9(3), 44–158.

Corbacioglu, S., Celik, S., & Saran, U. (2016). Self-Adaptation in Dynamic Disaster Environments: Response to the 2006 Avian Influenza Crisis in Turkey. *Journal of Asian and African Studies*, 51(6), 742–759.

Corley, K. G., & Gioia, D. A. (2011). Building Theory about Theory Building: What Constitutes a Theoretical Contribution?. *Academy of Management Review*, 36, 12–32.

Cox, A., & Verbaan, E. (2018). *Exploring research data management*. London: Facet Publishing.

Cramer, D. (2003). *Advanced Quantitative Data Analysis*. Maidenhead, Berkshire, England; Philadelphia, PA: Open University Press, McGraw-Hill Education, \$c 2003. Cronbach, L. J. (1970). Essentials of psychological testing. New York: Harper and Row.

Crotty, M. (1998). The Foundations of Social Research. London: Sage.

Crowne, D. P. & Marlowe, D. (1960). A new scale of social desirability independent of psychopathology. *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 24(4), 349–354.

Crossland, C., Zyung, J., Hiller, N. J., & Hambrick, D. C. (2014). CEO career variety: Effects on firm-level strategic and social novelty. *Academy of Management Journal*, 57(3), 652–674.

D'Aveni, R. A. (1989). The aftermath of organizational decline: A longitudinal study of the strategic and managerial characteristics of declining firms. *Academy of Management Journal*, 32, 577–605.

D'Aveni, R. A., & MacMillan, I. C. (1990). Crisis and the content of managerial communications: a study of the focus of attention of top managers in surviving and failing firms. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 35, 634–657.

D'Aveni, R. A., Dagnino, G. B., & Smith, K. G. (2010). The age of temporary advantage. *Strategic Management Journal*, 31, 1371–1385.

Daft, R. L., & Lengel, R. H. (1986). Organizational information requirements, media richness and structural design. *Management Science*, 32(5), 554–571.

Daft, R. L., & Weick, K. E. (1984). Toward a model of organizations as interpretation systems. *Academy of Management Review*, 9, 284–295.

Dai, Y., Du, K., Byun, G., & Zhu, X. (2017). Ambidexterity in new ventures: The impact of new product development alliances and transactive memory systems. *Journal of Business Research*, 75, 77–85.

Dane, E., & Pratt, M. G. (2007). Exploring intuition and its role in managerial decision making. *Academy of Management Review*, 32, 33–54.

Danneels, E., & Sethi, R. (2011). New Product Exploration Under Environmental Turbulence'. *Organization Science*, 22(4), 1026–1039.

Davis, J. P., Eisenhardt, K. M., & Bingham, C. B. (2009). Optimal Structure, Market Dynamism, and the Strategy of Simple Rules. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 54(3), 413–452.

Davis, M. H. (1980). A multidimensional approach to individual diff erences in empathy. *JSAS Catalog of Selected Documents in Psychology*, 10 (4), 85.

Dawson, J. F. (2014). Moderation in management research: What, why, when, and how. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 29, 1–19.

Delaney, J. T., & Huselid, M. A. (1996). The impact of human resource management practices on perceptions of organizational performance. *The Academy of Management Journal*, 39(4), 949–969.

De Koning, A. (2003). Opportunity development: a socio-cognitive perspective. *Advances in Entrepreneurship, Firm Emergence and Growth*, 6, 265–314.

Deligianni, I., Dimitratos, P., Petrou, A., & Aharoni, Y. (2016). Entrepreneurial Orientation and International Performance: The Moderating Effect of Decision Making Rationality. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 54(2), 462–480.

Dess, G. G., & Beard, D. W. (1984). Dimensions of organizational task environments. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 30, 52–73.

Dess, G. G., & Robinson, R. B. Jr. (1984). Measuring organization performance in the absence of objective measures: The case of the privately-held firm and the conglomerate business unit. *Straregic Managemenr Journal*, 5, 265–273.

De Vaus, D. A. (2002). Surveys in social research. Psychology Press.

Dean, J. W., & Sharfman, M. P. (1993). Procedural rationality in the strategic decision making process. *Journal of Management Studies*, 30, 587–610.

Dean, J. W. & Sharfman, M. P. (1996). Does decision process matter? A study of strategic decision making effectiveness. *Academy of Management Journal*, 39(2), 368–396.

Dezi, L., Santoro, G., Gabteni, H., & Pellicelli, A. C. (2018). The role of big data in shaping ambidextrous business process management: Case studies from the service industry. *Business Process Management Journal*, 24(5), 1163–1175.

Diamantopoulos, A., Sarstedt, M., Fuchs, C., Wilczynski, P., & Kaiser, S. (2012). Guidelines for choosing between multi-item and single-item scales for construct measurement: A predictive validity perspective. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 40(3), 434–449. Dimitratos, P., Petrou, A., Plakoyiannaki, E., & Johnson, J. E. (2011). Strategic decisionmaking processes in internationalization: Does national culture of the focal firm matter?. *Journal of World Business*, 46(2), 194–204.

Diener, E., Wirtz, D., Tov, W., Kim-Prieto, C., Choi, D.-W., Oishi, S., & Biswas-Diener, R. (2010). New Well-being Measures: Short Scales to Assess Flourishing and Positive and Negative Feelings. *Social Indicators Research*, 97(2), 143–156.

Dill, W. R. (1958). Environments as an influence on managerial autonomy. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 2, 409–443.

Doblinger, C., Wales, W., & Zimmermann, A. (2022). Stemming the downturn: How ambidexterity and public policy influence firm performance stability during economic crises. *European Management Journal*, 40(2), 163–174.

Dodd, S. D., & Patra, E., (2002). National differences in entrepreneurial networking. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 14(2), 117–134.

Dodou, D., & De Winter, J. C. F. (2014). Social desirability is the same in offline, online, and paper surveys: A meta-analysis. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 36, 487–495.

Døjbak Håkonsson, D., Eskildsen, J. K., Argote, L., Mønster, D., Burton, R. M., & Obel, B. (2016). Exploration versus Exploitation: Emotions and Performance as Antecedents and Consequences of Team Decisions. *Strategic Management Journal*, 37(6), 985–1001.

Dollinger, M. J. (1984). Measuring Effectiveness in Entrepreneurial Organizations. *International Small Business Journal*, 3(1), 10–20.

Dolnicar, S., Laesser, C., & Matus, K. (2009). Online Versus Paper. Journal of Travel Research, 47(3), 295–316.

Dolz, C., Iborra, M., & Safón, V. (2019). Improving the Likelihood of SME Survival during Financial and Economic Crises: The Importance of TMTs and Family Ownership for Ambidexterity. *Business Research Quarterly*, 22(2), 119–136.

Dormann, C.F., Elith, J., Bacher, S., Buchmann, C., Carl, G., Carré, G., Marquéz, J. R. G., Gruber, B., Lafourcade, B., Leitão, P. J., Münkemüller, T., McClean, C., Osborne, P. E., Reineking, B., Schröder, B., Skidmore, A. K., Zurell, D., & Lautenbach, S. (2013). Collinearity: a review of methods to deal with it and a simulation study evaluating their performance. *Ecography*, 2012, 36(1), 27–46.

Du, J., & Chen, Z. (2018). Applying Organizational Ambidexterity in Strategic Management under a "VUCA" Environment: Evidence from High Tech Companies in China. *International Journal of Innovation Studies*, 2(1), 42–52.

Duncan, R. B., 1972. Characteristics of Organisational Environments and Perceived Environmental Uncertainty. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 17, 313–327.

Duncan, R. B. (1976). The ambidextrous organization: Designing dual structures for innovation. In R. H. Kilmann, L. R. Pondy, & D. Slevin (Eds.), *The Management of Organization*, 1, 167–188. New York: North-Holland.

Durkheim, E. (1962). Socialism. New York: Collier, Reprint of 1928 edition.

Dweck, C. S. (2006). *Mindset: The New Psychology of Success*. Random House, New York, NY.

Dykes, B. J., Hughes-Morgan, M., Kolev, k. D., & Ferrier, W. J. (2019). Organizational speed as a dynamic capability: Toward a holistic perspective. *Strategic Organization*, 17(2), 266–278.

Easterby-Smith, M., Thorpe, R., & Jackson, P. R. (2012). *Management Research*. London: Sage.

Egfjord, K. F.-H., & Sund, K. J. (2020). Do you see what I see? How differing perceptions of the environment can hinder radical business model innovation. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 150, 119787.

Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). Making fast strategic decisions in high velocity environments. *Academy of Management Journal*, 32, 543–76.

Eisenhardt, K. M., & Bingham, C. (2017). Superior Strategy in Entrepreneurial Settings: Thinking, Doing, and the Logic of Opportunity. *Strategy Science*, 2, 246–257.

Eisenhardt, K. M., Furr, N. R., & Bingham, C. B. (2010). Microfoundations of performance: balancing efficiency and flexibility in dynamic environments. *Organization Science*, 21(6), 1263–1273.

Eisenhardt, K. M., & Martin, J. A. (2000). Dynamic capabilities: What are they? *Strategic Management Journal*, 21: 1105–1121.

Eisenhardt, K. M., & Sull, D. (2001). Strategy as simple rules. *Harvard Business Review*, 79(1), 107–116.

Eisenhardt, K. M., & Zbaracki, M. J. (1992). Strategic decision making. *Strategic Management Journal*, 13(S2), 17–37.

El Hajjar, S. T. (2018). Statistical analysis: internal-consistency reliability and construct validity. *International Journal of Quantitative and Qualitative Research Methods*, 6(1), 27–38. Elbanna, S. (2006). Strategic decision-making: Process perspectives. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 8(1), 1–20.

Elbanna, S. (2018). The constructive aspect of political behavior in strategic decision-making: The role of diversity. *European Management Journal*, 36(5), 616–626. Elbanna, S., Ali, A. J., & Dayan, M. (2011). Conflict in strategic decision making: do the setting and environment matter?. *The International Journal of Conflict Management*, 22(3), 278–299. Elbanna, S., & Child, J. (2007a). Influences on Strategic Decision Effectiveness: Development and Test of an Integrative Model. *Strategic Management Journal*, 28(4), 431–53.

Elbanna, S. & Child, J. (2007b). The influence of decision, environmental and firm characteristics on the rationality of strategic decision-making. *Journal of Management Studies*, 44(4), 561–591.

Elbanna, S., Child, J., & Dayan, M. (2013). A Model of Antecedents and Consequences of Intuition in Strategic Decision-making: Evidence from Egypt. *Long Range Planning*, 46(1-2), 149–176.

Elbanna, S., Thanos, I. C., & Colak, M. (2014). An Exploratory Study of the Determinants of the Quality of Strategic Decision Implementation in Turkish Industrial Firms. *Journal of General Management*, 40(2), 27–46.

Elbanna, S., Thanos, I. C., & Jansen, R. J. G. (2020). A Literature Review of the Strategic Decision-Making Context: A Synthesis of Previous Mixed Findings and an Agenda for the Way Forward. *Management*, 23(2), 42–60.

Ericson, M. (2010). Towards a sensed decision-making approach: From déjà vu to vu déjà, *Management Decision*, 48(1), 132–155.

Etzioni, A. (1964). Modern organizations. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

European Commission (2013). *European Economic Forecast, Winter 2013*. Brussels: European Commission.

Evered, R. (1980). Review of Strategic Management: A New View of Business Policy and Planning., by D. E. Schendel & C. W. Hofer. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 25(3), 536–543.

Fabrigar, L. R., & Wegener, D. T. (2012). *Exploratory factor analysis* [electronic resource].Oxford ; New York: Oxford University Press.

Fang, S. (E.), Prayag, G., Ozanne, L. K., & de Vries, H. (2020). Psychological capital, coping mechanisms and organizational resilience: Insights from the 2016 Kaikoura earthquake, New Zealand. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 34, 1–13.

Farrell, A. M. (2010). Insufficient discriminant validity: A comment on Bove, Pervan, Beatty, and Shiu (2009). *Journal of Business Research*, 63(3), 324–327.

Fernandes, N. (2020). Economic Effects of Coronavirus Outbreak (COVID-19) on the World Economy. *SSRN Electronic Journal* [Internet]. Available online: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3557504.

Ferraris, A., Erhardt, N., & Bresciani, S. (2019). Ambidextrous work in smart city project alliances: unpacking the role of human resource management systems. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 30(4), 680–701.

Fisher, R. A. (1932). *Statistical Methods for Research Workers*, 4th ed. Edinburgh, Scotland: Oliver & Boyd.

Fisher, R. J., & Katz, J. E., (2000). Social-desirability bias and the validity of self-reported values. *Psychology & Marketing*, 17(2), 105–120.

Floyd, S., & Lane, P. (2000). Strategizing throughout the organization: Managing role conflict in strategic renewal. *Academy of Management Review*, 25(1), 154–177.

Forbes, D. P. (2001). The performance implications of strategic decision-making: evidence from a new venture context. Presented at 2001 Academy of Management Meeting, Washington, DC.

Forbes, D. P. (2005). Managerial determinants of decision speed in new ventures. *Strategic Management Journal*, 26(4), 355–366.
Forbes, D. P. (2007). Reconsidering the Strategic Implications of Decision Comprehensiveness. *The Academy of Management Review*, 32(2), 361–376.

Fornell, C., & Larcker, D. F. (1981). Evaluating Structural Equation Models with Unobservable Variables and Measurement Error. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 18(1), 39–50.

Fourné, S., Rosenbusch, N., & Heyden, M., & Jansen, J. (2019). Structural and contextual approaches to ambidexterity: A meta-analysis of organizational and environmental contingencies. *European Management Journal*. 37, 564–576.

Fowler, F. J. (2009). Survey Research Methods (4th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.

Frantzis, A., Leaper, R., Alexiadou, P., Prospathopoulos, A., & Lekkas, D. (2019). Shipping routes through core habitat of endangered sperm whales along the Hellenic Trench, Greece: Can we reduce collision risks? *PLoS ONE*, 14(2), e0212016.

Fredrickson, J. W. (1984). The comprehensiveness of strategic decision processes: Extension, observations, future directions. *Academy of Management Journal*, 27: 445–466.

Frazer, M. L. (2015) The Noble Liar's Paradox?, *Perspectives on Political Science*, 44(3), 159–161.

Fredrickson, J. W. (1985). Effects of decision motive and organizational performance level on strategic decision processes. *Academy of Management Journal*, 28 (4), 821–843.

Fredrickson, J. W., & Iaquinto, A. L. (1989). Inertia and creeping rationality in strategic decision processes. *Academy of Management Journal*, 32, 543-576.

Fredrickson, J. W, & Mitchell, T. R. (1984). Strategic Decision Processes: Comprehensiveness and Performance in an Industry with an Unstable Environment. *Academy of Management Journal*, 27(2), 399–423.

Freel, M. S. (2005). Perceived Environmental Uncertainty and Innovation in Small Firms. *Small Business Economics*, 25(1), 49–64.

Frippiat, D., Marquis, N., & Wiles-Portier, E. (2010). Web Surveys in the Social Sciences: An Overview. *Population (English Edition, 2002-)*, 65(2), 285–311.

Furr, N. R., & Eisenhardt, K. M. (2021). Strategy and Uncertainty: Resource-Based View, Strategy-Creation View, and the Hybrid between Them. *Journal of Management*, 47(7), 1915– 1935.

Gao, Q., Wu, C., Wang, L., & Zhao, X. (2020). The Entrepreneur's Psychological Capital, Creative Innovation Behavior, and Enterprise Performance. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 1651– 1651.

Garaus, C., Güttel, W. H., Konlechner, S., Koprax, I., Lackner, H., Link, K., & Müller, B. (2016). Bridging knowledge in ambidextrous HRM systems: empirical evidence from hidden champions. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 27(3), 355–381.

Gardner, R. G., Harris, T. B., Lin, N., Kirkman, B. L., & Mathieu, J. E. (2017). Understanding "It depends" in organizational research: A theory-based taxonomy, review, and future research agenda concerning interactive and quadratic relationships. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20, 610–638.

García-Granero, A., Fernandez-Mesa, A., Jansen, J. J. P., & Vega-Jurado, J. (2018). Top management team diversity and ambidexterity: The contingent role of shared responsibility and CEO cognitive trust. *Long Range Planning*, 51(6), 881–893.

Garud, R., & Rappa, M. (1994). A socio-cognitive model of technology evolution: the case of cochlear implants. *Organization Science*, 5(3), 344–362.

Gatot, L., & Jacques, J. M. (1999). From Post-crisis to Preventive Learning: Some Empirical Evidences for a Preventive Crisis Learning Management Tool. *Academy of*

Management Meetings, Chicago.

Geerts, A., Blindenbach-Driessen, F., & Gemmel, P. (2010). Achieving a balance in exploration & exploitation in service firms: A longitudinal study. *Paper presented at the annual meetings of the Academy of Management*, Montreal.

Georgopoulos, A. & Glaister, K.W. (2018) Firm heterogeneity and performance in a turbulent economic environment: evidence from Greece. *European Management Review*, 15(2), 237–254.

Gerring. J. (2016). *Case Study Research: Principles and Practices (Strategies for Social Inquiry)*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. 2nd edition.

Gibson, C., & Birkinshaw, J. (2004). The Antecedents, Consequences, and Mediating Role of Organizational Ambidexterity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 47(2), 209–226.

Giddens, A. (1984). The constitution of society. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Gieske, H., George, B., van Meerkerk, I., & van Buuren, A. (2020). Innovating and optimizing in public organizations: does more become less?. *Public Management Review*, 22(4), 475–497.Gill, J., & Johnson, P. (2010). *Research methods for managers*, Sage.

Gioia, D. A. & Pitre, E. (1990). Multiparadigm perspectives on theory building. *The Academy* of Management Review, 15(4), 584–602.

Giotopoulos, I., Konstantinou, V., Kontolaimou, A. & Tsakanikas, A. (2022) Show me how to grow fast in turbulent times: Balancing human resource practices between employee training and educational attainment. *European Management Review*, 19(4), 581–597.

Giudici, A., & Reinmoeller, P. (2012). Dynamic capabilities in the dock: A Case of reification?. *Strategic Organization*, 10(4), 436–449.

Goll, I. and Rasheed, A.M.A. (1997). Rational decision making and firm performance: the moderating role of environment. *Strategic Management Journal*, 18, 583–591.

Goll, I., Johnson, N. B., & Rasheed, A. A. (2007). Knowledge capability, strategic change, and firm performance. *Management Decision*, 45(2), 161–179.

Gollwitzer P. M. (2012). *Mindset theory of action phases*. In Van Lange, P., Kruglanski, A. W., Higgins, E. T. (Eds.), Handbook of theories of social psychology (526–545). London, England: SAGE.

Gollwitzer P. M. & Bayer, U. C. (1999). *Deliberative versus implemental mindsets in the control of action*, in Chaiken, S. and Trope, Y. (Eds), Dual-Process Theories in Social Psychology, Guilford Press, New York, NY.

Goulding, C. (2002). Grounded theory: A practical guide for management, business and market researchers. London: Sage.

Griffin, M. A., Parker, S. K., & Neal, A. (2008). Is behavioral engagement a distinct and useful construct? *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 1, 48–51.

Grözinger, A.-C., Wolff, S., Ruf, P. J., & Moog, P. (2021). The power of shared positivity: organizational psychological capital and firm performance during exogenous crises. *Small Business Economics*, 58(2), 689–716.

Gu, J., Weng, Q., & Xie, F. (2012). Leadership, team and decision speed: empirical study using cross-provincial data. *Chinese Management Studies*, 6(4), 598–609.

Guba, E., & Lincoln, Y. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research, in Denzin, N.K. and Lincoln, Y.S. (Eds), *Handbook of Qualitative Research*, 3rd ed., SAGE Publications, Thousand Oaks, California, CA.

Guo, L. X., Liu, C.-F., & Yain, Y.-S. (2020). Social Entrepreneur's Psychological Capital, Political Skills, Social Networks and New Venture Performance. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 925–925.

Gupta, A. K., Smith, K. G., & Shalley, C. E. (2006). The Interplay between Exploration and Exploitation. *Academy of Management Journal*, 49(4), 693–706.

Gupta, A. K., & Govindarajan, V. (1986). Resource sharing among SBUs: Strategic antecedents and administrative implications. *Academy of Management Journal*, 29, 695–714.

Gupta A. K. & Govindarajan, V. (2002). Cultivating a global mindset, *Academy of Management Executive*, 16(1): 116–126.

Habermas, J. (1975). Legitimation crisis. Boston: Beacon Press.

Haggerty, J. J., & Wright, P. M. (2009). Strong situations and firm performance. *A proposed re-conceptualization of the role of the HR function*. In A. Wilkinson, N. A. Bacon, T. Redman, & S. Snell (Eds.), The Sage handbook of human resource management (pp. 100-114). London: Sage.

Halevi, M. Y., Carmeli, A., and Brueller, N. N. (2015). Ambidexterity in SBUs: TMT Behavioral Integration and Environmental Dynamism. *Human Resource Management*, 54(S1), S223–238.

Haleblian, J., & Finkelstein, S. (1993). Top Management Team Size, CEO Dominance, and Firm Performance: The Moderating Roles of Environmental Turbulence and Discretion, *Academy of Management Journal*, 36(4), 844–863.

Halford, G., W. Wilson, J. Guo, J. Wiles, J. Stewart. 1993. Connectionist implications for processing capacity limitations in analogies. K. J. Holyoak, J. A. Barnden, eds. *Advances in Connectionist and Neural Computation Theory, Analogical Connections*, Vol. 2. Ablex, Norwood, NJ.

Hambrick, D. C. (2007). Upper Echelons Theory: An Update. Academy Of Management Review, 32(2), 334–343.

Hambrick, D. C., & Finkelstein, S. (1987). Managerial discretion: A bridge between polar views of organizational outcomes. Research in Organizational Behavior, 9, 369–406.

Hambrick, D. C., & Mason, P. A. (1984). Upper Echelons: The Organization as a Reflection of Its Top Managers. *The Academy of Management Review*, 9(2), 193–206.

Hambrick, D. C., & Snow, C. (1977). A Contextual Model of Strategic Decision Making in Organizations. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 8(1), 109–125.

Handy, C. (1995). The age of paradox. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.

Hardy, C., Maguire, S., Power, M., & Tsoukas, H. (2020). Organizing risk: Organization and management theory for the risk society. *Academy of Management Annals*, 14(2), 1032–

1066.

Harper, D. A., & Lewis, D. A. (2012). New perspectives on emergence in economics. *Journal* of Economic Behavior and Organization, 02(2-3), 329–227.

Hart, C. (1998). Doing a Literature Review, London: Sage.

Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis:A regression-based approach. Guilford Press.

He, Z.-L. & Wong, P.-K. (2004). Exploration vs. Exploitation: An Empirical Test of the Ambidexterity Hypothesis. *Organization Science*, 15(4), 481–494.

HEFCE (Higher Education Funding Council for England) (2009) Research Excellence Framework: Second consultation on the assessment and funding of research, Bristol: HEFCE.

Helsloot, I., Boin, A., Jacobs, B. & Comfort, L. (eds) (2012). Mega-Crises: Understanding the Prospects, Nature, Characteristics and Effects of Cataclysmic Events, Charles Thomas,

Springfield.

Henderson, R. (1993). Underinvestment and incompetence as responses to radical innovation. *Rand Journal of Economics*, 24, 248–269.

Heracleous, L., Papachroni, A., Andriopoulos, C., & Gotsi, M. (2017). Structural Ambidexterity and Competency Traps: Insights from Xerox PARC. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 117, 327–38.

Hermann, C. F. (1963). Some consequences of crisis which limit the viability of organizations. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 8, 61–82.

Herrmann, P., & Datta, D. K. (2005). Relationships between top management team characteristics and international diversification: An empirical investigation. *British Journal of Management*, 16(1), 69–78.

Hickson, D., Butler, R., Cray, D. Mallory, G., & Wilson, D. (1986). *Top decisions: Strategic decision making in organizations*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Hill, S. A., & Birkinshaw, J. (2008). Strategy–organization configurations in corporate venture units: Impact on performance and survival. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 23(4), 423–444.

Hill, S. A., & Birkinshaw, J. (2014). Ambidexterity and Survival in Corporate Venture Units. *Journal of Management*, 40(7), 1899–1931.

Hills, G. E. (1995). Opportunity recognition by successful entrepreneurs: A pilot study. *Frontiers of Entrepreneurship Research*, 15, 105-117.

Hirsh, J. B., Mar, R. A., & Peterson, J. B. (2012). Psychological entropy: A framework for understanding uncertainty-related anxiety. *Psychological Review*, 119, 304–320.

Hitt, M. A., Arregle, J.-L., & Holmes, R. M. (2021). Strategic Management Theory in a Post-Pandemic and Non-Ergodic World. *Journal of Management Studies*, 58(1), 257–62.

Hitt, M. A, & Tyler, B. B. (1991). Strategic Decision Models: Integrating Different Perspectives. *Strategic Management Journal*, 12(5), 327–51.

Hmieleski, K., & Baron, R. (2009). Entrepreneurs' Optimism and New Venture Performance:A Social Cognitive Perspective. *Academy of Management Journal*, 52(3), 473–488.

Hmieleski, K. M., & Ensley, M. D. (2007). A contextual examination of new venture performance: Entrepreneur leadership behavior, top management team heterogeneity, and environmental dynamism. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 28(7), 865–889.

Hoand, H., & Rothaermel, F. T. (2010). Leveraging internal and external experience: exploration, exploitation, and R&D project performance. *Strategic Management Journal*, 31(7), 734–758.

Hofmann, D. A. (1997). An overview of the logic and rationale of hierarchical linear models. *Journal of Management*, 23(6), 723–744.

Hofstede, G. (1980) *Cultures' consequences: international differences in work-related values*, Beverly Hills: SAGE.

Holling, C. S. (1978). Myths of ecological stability: resilience and the problem of failure. *Journal of Business Administration*, 9 (2), 95–109.

Homburg, C., & Bucerius, M. (2006). Is speed of integration really a success factor of mergers and acquisitions? An analysis of the role of internal and external relatedness. *Strategic Management Journal*, 27(4), 347–367.

Hough, J. R., & White, M. A. (2003). Environmental Dynamism and Strategic Decision-making Rationality: An Examination at the Decision Level. *Strategic Management Journal*, 24(5), 481– 89.

Howell, J. P., Dorfman, P. W., & Kerr, S. (1986). Moderator variables in leadership. *Academy* of Management Review, 11, 88–102.

Hrebiniak, L. G., & Joyce, W. F. (1985). Organizational Adaptation: Strategic Choice and Environmental Determinism. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 30(3), 336–49.

Hu, L., & Bentler, P. M. (1998). Fit Indices in Covariance Structure Modeling: Sensitivity to Underparameterized Model Misspecification. *Psychological Methods*, 3(4), 424–453.

Huff, A. S., Milliken, F. J., Hodgkinson, G. P., Galavan, R. J., & Sund, K.J. (2016). A conversation on uncertainty in managerial and organizational cognition. In: Sund, K.J., Galavan, R.J., Huff, A.S. (Eds.), *Uncertainty and Strategic Decision Making*. Emerald Group Publishing Limited, Bingley, pp. 1–31.

Hughes, M. (2018) Organisational ambidexterity and firm performance: burning research questions for marketing scholars. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 34(1-2), 178–229.

Hughes, M., Filser, M., Harms, R., Kraus, S., Chang, M. L., & Cheng-Feng, C. (2018). Family firm configurations for high performance: The role of entrepreneurship and ambidexterity. *British Journal Of Management*, 29(4), 595–612.

Hughes, M., Hughes, P., Morgan, R. E., Hodgkinson, I. R., & Lee, Y. (2021). Strategic entrepreneurship behaviour and the innovation ambidexterity of young technology-based firms in incubators. *International Small Business Journal*, 39(3), 202–227.

Huselid, M. A. (1995). The impact of human resource management practices on turnover, productivity, and corporate financial performance. *The Academy of Management Journal*, 38(3), 635-672.

Hutzschenreuter, T., & Kleindienst, I. (2006). Strategy-Process Research: What Have We Learned and What Is Still to Be Explored. *Journal of Management*, 32(5), 673–720.

Iacobucci, D., Schneider, M. J., Popovich, D. L., & Bakamitsos, G. A. (2017). Mean centering, multicollinearity, and moderators in multiple regression: The reconciliation redux. *Behavior Research Methods*, 49(1), 403–404.

Idson, L. C., Chugh, D., Bereby-Meyer, Y., Moran, S., Grosskopf, B., & Bazerman, M. (2004). Overcoming focusing failures in competitive environments. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 17(3), 159–172.

Im, G., & Rai, A. (2008). Knowledge sharing ambidexterity in long-term interorganizational relationships. *Management Science*, 54(7), 1281–1296.

Im, J., Kim, H., & Miao, K. (2021). CEO letters: Hospitality corporate narratives during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 92, 102701.

Ingram, A. E., Lewis, M. W., Barton, S., & Gartner, W. B. (2016). Paradoxes and Innovation in Family Firms: The Role of Paradoxical Thinking. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 40(1), 161–176.

Irwin, J. R., & McClelland, G. H. (2001). Misleading heuristics and moderated multiple regression models. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 38, 100–109.

Isatayeva, G., Seitova, V., Koptayeva, G., Turlybekova, A., & Mutaliyeva, A. (2019). Financing of young knowledge-based companies after the financial crisis: the case of Kazakhstan, *Entrepreneurship and Sustainability Issues*, 6(3), 1226–1234.

Iyer, P., Davari, A., Zolfagharian, M., & Paswan, A. (2021). Organizational ambidexterity, brand management capability and brand performance. *The Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 36(6), 946–961.

James, E. H., & Wooten, L. P. (2005). Leadership as (un)usual: How to display competence in times of crisis. *Organizational Dynamics*, 34(2), 141–15.

James, E. H., Wooten, L. P., & Dushek, K. (2011). Crisis management: Informing a new leadership research agenda. *The Academy of Management Annals*, 5(1), 455–493.

Janoff-Bulman, R., & Frieze, I. H. (1983). A theoretical perspective for understanding reactions to victimization. *Journal of Social Issues*, 39, 1-17.

Jang, Y., & Lee, W. (2022). Never have a crisis like COVID-19. *SHS Web of Conferences*, 132, p. 01018.

Janis, I.L. (1989). *Crucial Decisions: Leadership in Policy and Crisis Management*. New York: The Free Press.

Jansen, J. J. P, Dusya, V, & Crossan, M. (2009a). Strategic leadership for exploration and exploitation: The moderating role of environmental dynamism. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(1), 5–18.

Jansen, J. J. P., George, G., Van Den Bosch, F. A. J., & Volberda, H. W. (2008). Senior team attributes and organizational ambidexterity: The moderating role of transformational leadership. *Journal of Management Studies*, 45(5), 982–1007.

Jansen, J. J. P., Tempelaar, M. P., Van Den Bosch, F. A. J., & Volberda, H. W. (2009b). Structural differentiation and ambidexterity: The mediating role of integration mechanisms. *Organization Science*, 20: 797–811.

Jansen, J. J., Van den Bosch, F. A., & Volberda, H. W. (2005). Exploratory innovation, exploitative innovation, and ambidexterity: The impact of environmental and organizational antecedents. *Schmalenbach Business Review*, 57, 351–363.

Jansen, J. J. P., Van den Bosch, F. A. J., & Volberda, H. W. (2006). Exploratory innovation, exploitative innovation, and performance: Effects of organizational antecedents and environmental moderators. *Management Science*, 52, 1661–1674.

Jansen, J. J. P., Kostopoulos, K. C., Mihalache, O. R., & Papalexandris, A. (2016). A Socio-Psychological Perspective on Team Ambidexterity: The Contingency Role of Supportive Leadership Behaviours. *Journal of Management Studies*, 53(6), 939–965.

Jarzabkowski, P. (2004). Strategy as Practice: Recursiveness, Adaptation, and Practices-in-Use. *Organization Studies*, 25(4) 529–560.

Jarzabkowski, P., Kavas, M., & Krull, E. (2021). It's practice. But is it strategy? Reinvigorating strategy-as-practice by rethinking consequentiality. *Organization Theory*, 2(3), 1–13.

Javidan, M., & House, R. J. (2001). Cultural acumen for the global manager: lessons from Project GLOBE. *Organizational Dynamics*, 29(4), 289–305.

Jaworski, B. J., & Kohli, A. K. (1993). Market orientation: antecedents and consequences. *Journal of Marketing*, 57(3), 53–70.

Johns, G. (1994). How often were you absent - A review of the use of self-reported absence data. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79, 574–591.

Johnson-Laird, P. N. (1983). *Mental Models: Towards a Cognitive Science of Language, Inference, and Consciousness.* Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA. Jones, M. V., & Coviello, N. E. (2005). Internationalisation: Conceptualising an Entrepreneurial Process of Behaviour in Time. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 36(3), 284–303.

Jones, K. (2010). The Practice of Quantitative Methods, Chapter 23. In B. Somekh, & C. Lewin (Eds.), *Research Methods in the Social Sciences* (Vol. 2nd edition, pp. 201 - 211). SAGE Publications Ltd.

Joo, B.-K., Lin, D. H., & Kim, S. (2016). Enhancing Work Engagement: The Roles of Psychological Capital, Authentic Leadership, and Work Empowerment. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 37(8), 1117–1134.

Jordan, P. J., & Troth, A. C. (2020). Common method bias in applied settings: The dilemma of researching in organizations. *Australian Journal of Management*, 45(1), 3–14.

Jovančević, A., & Milićević, N (2020). Optimism-pessimism, Conspiracy Theories and General Trust as Factors Contributing to COVID-19 Related Behavior – A Cross-cultural Study. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 167, 110216.

Judge, W. Q., & Blocker, C. P. (2008). Organizational capacity for change and strategic ambidexterity. Flying the plane while rewiring it. *European Journal of Marketing*, 42: 915–926.

Judge, W. Q., & Miller, A. (1991). Antecedents and outcomes of decision speed in different environmental contexts. *Academy of Management Journal* 34, 449–463.

Jukka, T. (2021). Top management team demography and firm operating performance: a path analysis. *Journal of Strategy and Management*, 14(1), 19-34.

Junni, P., Sarala, R. M., Taras, V., & Tarba, S. Y. (2013). Organizational ambidexterity and performance: A meta-analysis. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 27(4), 299–312.

Kafetzopoulos, D. (2021). Organizational ambidexterity: antecedents, performance and environmental uncertainty. *Business Process Management Journal*, 27(3), 922–940.

Kahneman D. D., Slovic P., & Tversky A. (1982). Judgment Under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases. Cambridge University Press: New York.

Kam, C. C. S., & Meyer, J. P. (2015). How careless responding and acquiescence response bias can influence construct dimensionality: The case of job satisfaction. *Organizational Research Methods*, 18(3), 512–541.

Kammerlander N., Burger D., Fust A., & Fueglistaller U. (2014). Exploration and exploitation established small and medium-sized enterprises: The effect of CEOs'regulatory focus. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 30, 582–602.

Kaplan, S., & Henderson, R. (2005). Inertia and incentives: Bridging organizational economics and organizational theory. *Organization Science*, 16(5), 509–521.

Kaufmann, L., Meschnig, G., & Reimann, F. (2014). Rational and intuitive decision making in sourcing teams: Effects on decision outcomes. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 20(2), 104–112.

Kaufmann, L., Wagner, C., & Carter, C. R. (2017). Individual modes and patterns of rational and intuitive decision-making by purchasing managers. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 23(2), 82–93.

Kauppila, O. P., & Tempelaar, M. P. (2016). The Social-Cognitive Underpinnings of Employees' Ambidextrous Behaviour and the Supportive Role of Group Managers' Leadership. *Journal of Management Studies*, 53(6), 1019–1044.

Katou, A. A., Budhwar, P. S. & Patel, C. (2021). A trilogy of organizational ambidexterity: Leader's social intelligence, employee work engagement and environmental changes. *Journal of Business Research*, 128, 688–700.

Kearney, E., Shemla, M., van Knippenberg, D., & Scholz, F. A. (2019). A paradox perspective on the interactive effects of visionary and empowering leadership. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 155, 20–30.

Kelemen, M. L., & Rumens, N. (2008). An Introduction to Critical Management Research. London: Sage.

Kelemen, M. L., & Rumens, N. (2011). *Organizational paradigms and management research*, An Introduction to Critical Management Research, SAGE Publications, London, pp. 1–16.

Kessler, E. H., & Chakrabarti, A. K. (1996). Innovation speed: a conceptual model of context, antecedents, and outcomes. *The Academy of Management Review*, 21(4), 1143–1191.

Kiesler, S., & Sproull, L. (1982). Managerial Response to Changing Environments: Perspectives on Problem Sensing from Social Cognition. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 27(4), 548–570.

Kimberly, J. R., & Evanisko, M. J. (1981). Organizational innovation: The influence of individual, organizational and contextual factors on hospital adoption of technological and administrative innovations. *Academy of Management Journal*, 24, 689–713.

Kirzner, I. M. (1973). *Competition and entrepreneurship*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Kirzner, I. (1997). Entrepreneurial discovery and the competitive market process: an Austrian approach. *Journal of Economic Literature*, XXXV: 60–85.

Kiss, A. N., Libaers, D., Barr, P. S., Wang, T., & Zachary, M. A. (2020). CEO cognitive flexibility, information search, and organizational ambidexterity. *Strategic Management Journal*, 41, 2200–2233.

Klockars, A., & Hancock, G. (1998). A More Powerful Post Hoc Multiple Comparison Procedure in Analysis of Variance. *Journal of Educational and Behavioral Statistics*, 23(3), 279–289.

Ko, W. W., & Liu, G. (2019). How Information Technology Assimilation Promotes Exploratory and Exploitative Innovation in the Small- and Medium-Sized Firm Context: The Role of Contextual Ambidexterity and Knowledge Base. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 36(4), 442–466.

Kolbe, L. M., Bossink, B., & de Man, A.-P. (2020). Contingent use of rational, intuitive and political decision-making in R&D. *Management Decision*, 58(6), 997–1020.

Koller, R. H. (1988). *On the source of entrepreneurial ideas*. Frontiers of Entrepreneurship Research. Babson College, Wellesley, MA, 78–85.

Kortmann, S. (2015). The Mediating Role of Strategic Orientations on the Relationship between Ambidexterity-Oriented Decisions and Innovative Ambidexterity. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 32(5), 666–684.

Koskey, K. L. K. (2016). Using the Cognitive Pretesting Method to Gain Insight into Participants' Experiences. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 15(1), 160940691562457.

Kownatzki, M., Walter, J., Floyd, S. W., & Lechner, C. (2013). Corporate Control and The Speed of Strategic Business Unit Decision Making. *Academy of Management Journal*, 56(5): 1295–324.

Krauss, S. E. (2005). Research paradigms and meaning making: A primer. *The Qualitative Report*, 10(4), 758–770.

Kuhn, T. S. (1970). *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions*. 2nd ed., The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

Kumar, T. K. (1975). Multicollinearity in Regression Analysis. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 57 (3) 365–366.

Kuncel, N. R., & Tellegen, A. (2009). A conceptual and empirical reexamination of the measurement of the social desirability of items: implications for detecting desirable response style and scale development. *Personnel Psychology*, 62, 201–228.

Kuokkanen, H., & Sun, W. (2016). Social desirability and cynicism: Bridging the attitudebehavior gap in CSR surveys In N. M. Ashkanasy, W. J. Zerbe, & C. E. J. Hartel (Eds.), *Emotions and organizational governance* (pp. 217–247). Bingley, UK: Emerald Group.

Kwak, D.-H., Ma, X., & Kim, S. (2021). When does social desirability become a problem? Detection and reduction of social desirability bias in information systems research. *Information & Management*, 58(7), 103500.

Laaksonen, O., & Peltoniemi, M. (2018). The Essence of Dynamic Capabilities and their Measurement. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 20(2), 184–205.

Lagadec, P., & Topper, B. (2012). How Crises Model the Modern World. *International Journal* of Risk Analysis and Crisis Response, 2(1), 21–33.

Lambert, C. E., Arbuckle, S. A., & Holden, R. R. (2016). The Marlowe–Crowne Social Desirability Scale outperforms the BIDR Impression Management Scale for identifying fakers. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 61, 80–86.

Langabeer, J. R., & DelliFraine, J. (2011). Does CEO optimism affect strategic process?. *Management Research Review*, 34(8), 857–868.

Lapavitsas, C. (2019). Political Economy of the Greek Crisis. *The Review of Radical Political Economics*, 51(1), 31–51.

Larson, R. B. (2019). Controlling social desirability bias. *International Journal of Market Research*, 61(5), 534–547.

Larson, R., Larson, M., & Luthans, F. (2006). Potential Added Value of Psychological Capital in Predicting Work Attitudes. Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies, 13(2), 75–92.B. (2019). Controlling social desirability bias. *International Journal of Market Research*, 61(5), 534–547. Laureiro-Martínez, D, Brusoni, S., Canessa, N. & Zollo, M. (2015). Understanding the exploration-exploitation dilemma: an fMRI study of attention control and decision-making performance. *Strategic Management Journal*, 36(3): 319–338.

Lavie, D., & Rosenkopf, L. (2006). Balancing Exploration and Exploitation in Alliance Formation. *Academy of Management Journal*, 49(4), 797–818.

Lavie, D., Kang, J., & Rosenkopf, L. (2011). Balance within and across domains: The performance implications of exploration and exploitation in alliances. *Organization Science*, 22(6), 1517–1538.

Lawrence, B. S. (1997). The black box of organizational demography. *Organization Science*, 8(1), 1–22.

Le Bris, S., Madrid-Guijarro, A., & Philippe Martin, D. (2019). Decision-making in Complex Environments under Time Pressure and Risk of Critical Irreversibility: The Role of Meta Rules. *Management*, 22(1), 1–29.

Lee, E., & Puranam, P. (2016). The implementation imperative: Why one should implement even imperfect strategies perfectly. *Strategic Management Journal*, 37(8), 1529–1546.

Lee, J., Lee, J., & Lee, H. (2003). Exploration and exploitation in the presence of network externalities. *Management Science*, 49, 553–570.

Lengnick-Hall, C. A., Wolff, J. A. (1999). Similarities and contradictions in the core logic of three strategy research streams. *Strategic Management Journal*, 20, 1109–1132.

Lester, S. W., Meglino, B. M., & Korsgaard, M. A. (2002). The antecedents and consequences of group potency: a longitudinal investigation of newly formed work groups. *Academy of Management Journal*, 45, 352–68.

Leung, K. (2011). Presenting Post Hoc Hypotheses as A Priori: Ethical and Theoretical Issues. *Management and Organization Review*, 7(3), 471–479.

Lewis, M. W. (2000). Exploring paradox: Toward a more comprehensive guide. *The Academy* of Management Review, 25, 760–776.

Levinthal, D. A., & March, J. G. (1993). The myopia of learning. *Strategic Management Journal*, 14(S2), 95–112.

Li, C.-R. (2013). How top management team diversity fosters organizational ambidexterity: The role of social capital among top executives. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 26(5), 874–896.

Lieberman, M. B., & Montgomery, D. B. (1988). First-mover advantages. *Strategic Management Journal*, 9(S1), 1–58.

Lin, H.-E., & McDonough, E. F. (2011). Investigating the Role of Leadership and Organizational Culture in Fostering Innovation Ambidexterity. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 58(3), 497–509.

Lin, H.-E., McDonough III, E. F., Lin, S.-J., & Lin, C. Y.-Y. (2012). Managing the Exploitation/Exploration Paradox: The Role of a Learning Capability and Innovation Ambidexterity. Journal of Product Innovation Management, 30(2), 262–278.

Lin, Z., Yang, H., & Demirkan, I. (2007). Empirical Investigation and Computational Theorizing. *Management Science*, 53(10), 1645–1658.

Lindell, M. K., & Whitney, D. J. (2001). Accounting for common method variance in cross sectional research designs. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86, 114–121.

Liu, J., Hong, C., & Yook, B. (2022). CEO as "Chief Crisis Officer" under COVID-19: A Content Analysis of CEO Open Letters Using Structural Topic Modeling. *International Journal of Strategic Communication*, 16(3), 444–468.

Loosveldt, G., & Sonck, N. (2008). An evaluation of the weighting procedures for an online access panel survey. *Survey Research Methods*, 2(2), 93–105.

López-Gamero, M. D., Molina-Azorín, J. F., & Claver-Cortés, E. (2011). Environmental uncertainty and environmental management perception: A multiple case study. *Journal of Business Research*, 64(4), 427–435.

Lomranz, J., & Benyamini, Y. (2016). The ability to live with incongruence: Aintegration— The concept and its operationalization. Journal of Adult Development, 23, 79–92.

Lubatkin, M., Simsek, Z., Ling, Y., & Veiga, J. F. (2006). Ambidexterity and performance on small- to medium-sized firms: The pivotal role of TMT behavioral integration. *Journal of Management*, 32, 646–672.

Luecke, R., & Barton, L. (2004). *Crisis management: master the skills to prevent disasters*, Boston, Mass., Harvard Business School Press.

Luger, J., Raisch, S., & Schimmer, M. (2018). Dynamic Balancing of Exploration and Exploitation: The Contingent Benefits of Ambidexterity. *Organization Science*, 29(3), 449–470.

Luo, B., & Zheng, S., Ji, H., & Liang, L. (2016). Ambidextrous leadership and TMT-member ambidextrous behavior: the role of TMT behavioral integration and TMT risk propensity. *International journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(2), 338–359.

Lüscher, L., & Lewis, M. W. (2008). Organizational change and managerial sensemaking: Working through paradox. *Academy of Management Journal*, 51(2), 221–240.

Luthans, F. (2002). The need for and meaning of positive organizational behavior. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 23, 695–706.

Luthans, F., Norman, S. M., Avolio, B. J. & Avey, J. B. (2008). The mediating role of psychological capital in the supportive organizational climate – employee performance relationship. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 29(2), 219–238.

Luthans, F., & Youssef, C. M. (2004). Human, Social, and Now Positive Psychological Capital Management: Investing in People for Competitive Advantage. *Organizational Dynamics*, 33(2), 143–160.

Luthans, F., & Youssef, C. M. (2007). Emerging Positive Organizational Behavior. *Journal of Management*, 33 (3): 321–349.

Luthans, F., Youssef, C. M., & Avolio, B. J. (2007a). *Psychological capital: Developing the human competitive edge*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Luthans, F., Youssef, C. M., & Avolio, B. J. (2007b). Psychological capital: Investing and developing positive organizational behavior. In D. Nelson & C. L. Cooper (Eds.), *Positive organizational behavior: Accentuating the positive at work*: 9–24. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. Luthans, F., Avey, J. B., & Avolio, B. J. (2010). The development and resulting performance impact of positive psychological capital. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 21(1): 41–67.

Machias, A., Tsagarakis, K., & Matsaganis, M. (2016). Greek fisheries and the economic crisis: Structural analogies. *Ethics in science and Environmental Politics*, 16(1), 19–23.

MacLean, D., MacIntosh, R., & Seidl, D. (2015). Rethinking dynamic capabilities from a creative action perspective. *Strategic Organization*, 13(4), 340–352.

Madjar, N., Greenberg, E., & Chen, Z. (2011). Factors for radical creativity, incremental creativity, and routine, noncreative performnace. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 96, 730–743.

Maitlis, S., & Sonenshein, S. (2010). Sensemaking in Crisis and Change: Inspiration and Insights From Weick. *Journal of Management Studies*, 47(3), 551–80.

Makadok, R. (1998). Can first-mover and early-mover advantages be sustained in an industry with low barriers to entry/imitation?. *Strategic Management Journal*, 19(7), 683–696.

333

Mammassis, C. S., & Kostopoulos, K. C. (2019). CEO goal orientations, environmental dynamism and organizational ambidexterity: An investigation in SMEs. *European Management Journal*, 37(5), 577–588.

Mandelbrot, B. (1982). The Fractal Geometry of Nature, W.H. Freeman, San Francisco.

Mandelbrot, B. (2005). Une approche fractale des marchés, Odile Jacob, Cambridge.

March J. G. (1991). Exploration and exploitation in organizational learning. *Organization Science*, 2(1), 71–87.

March, J. G. (2006) Rationality, foolishness, and adaptive intelligence. *Strategic Management Journal*, 27(3), 201–214.

Marcy, R. T. (2015). Breaking mental models as a form of creative destruction: The role of leader cognition in radical social innovations. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 26, 370–385.

Margolis, J. D., & Walsh, J. P. (2003). Misery Loves Companies: Rethinking Social Initiatives by Business. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 48(2), 268–305.

Markides, C., & Oyon, D. (2010). What to do against disruptive business models (when and how to play two games at once). *Sloan Management Review*, 51(4), 25–32.

Mason, R., & Mitroff, I. (1981). *Challenging Strategic Planning Assumptions*. New York: Wiley.

Mavrommati, A., & Papadopoulos, A (2005). Measuring advertising intensity and intangible capital in the Greek food industry. *Applied Economics*, 37(15), 1777–1787.

McCarthy, I., Lawrence, T., Wixted, B., & Gordon, B. (2010). A multidimensional conceptualization of environmental velocity. *The Academy of Management Review*, 35(4), 604–626.

McDonald, M. L., & Westphal, J. D. (2011). My brother's keeper? CEO identification with the corporate elite, social support among ceos, and leader effectiveness. *Academy of Management Journal*, 54(4), 661–693.

McKenny, A. F., Short, J. C., & Payne, G. T. (2013). Using computer aided text analysis to elevate constructs: An illustration using psychological capital. *Organizational Research Methods*, 16, 152–184.

McMullen, J. S., & Shepherd, D. A. (2006). Entrepreneurial Action and the Role of Uncertainty in the Theory of the Entrepreneur. *The Academy of Management Review*, 31(1), 132–152.

Meissner, P., & Wulf, T. (2014). Antecendents and effects of decision comprehensiveness: The role of decision quality and perceived uncertainty. *European Management Journal*, 32(4),

625–635.

Metaxas, T., & Tsavdaridou, M. (2013). CSR in metallurgy sector in Greece: A content analysis. *Resources Policy*, 38(3), 295–309.

Meyer, A. (1982). Adapting to environmental jolts. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 27(4), 515–537.

Meyer, A. D., Brooks, G. R. & Goes, J.B. (1990). Environmental jolts and industry revolutions:
Organizational responses to discontinuous change. *Strategic Management Journal*, 11, 93–110.
Miles, R. E., Snow, C. C., Meyer, A. D., & Coleman Jr, H. J. (1978). Organizational strategy,

structure, and process. Academy of Management Review, 546-562.

Miller, C. C. (2008). Decisional comprehensiveness and firm performance: towards a more complete understanding. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 21(5), 598–620.

Miller, C. C., Ogilvie, D. T., & Glick, W. H. (2006). Assessing the external environment: an enrichment of the archival tradition, in Ketchen, D.J. and Bergh, D.D. (Eds), *Research Methodology in Strategy and Management*, Vol. 3, JAI Press, Oxford, pp. 97–122.

Miller, D. (1987). Strategy making and structure: analysis and implications for performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 30, 7–32.

Miller, D. (1988). Relating Porter's Business Strategies to Environment and Structure: Analysis and Performance Implications. *Academy of Management Journal*, 280–309.

Miller, C. C., Burke, L. M., & Glick, W. H. (1998). Cognitive diversity among upper-echelon executives: implications for strategic decision processes. *Strategic Management Journal*, 19(1), 39–58.

Miller, D., & Friesen, P. H. (1980). Momentum and revolution in organizational adaptation. *Academy of Management Journal*, 23(4), 591–614.

Miller, D., Le Breton-Miller, I., & Lester, R.H. (2010). Family ownership and acquisition behavior in publicly-traded companies. *Strategic Management Journal*, 31(2), 201–223.

Milliken, F. J. (1987). Three types of perceived uncertainty about the environment: State, effect, and response uncertainty. *Academy of Management Review*, 12(1), 133–143.

Mintzberg, H., Raisinghani, D., & Theoret, A. (1976). The Structure of "Unstructured" Decision Processes. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 21(2), 246–75.

Mintzberg, H., & Waters, J. A. (1985). Of strategies, deliberate and emergent. *Strategic Management Journal*, 6, 257–72.

Miron-Spektor, E., Ingram, A., Keller, J., Smith, W. & Lewis, M. (2018). Microfoundations of Organizational Paradox: The Problem Is How We Think about the Problem. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(1), 26–45.

Mitchell, J. R., Shepherd, D. A., & Sharfman, M. P. (2011). Erratic strategic decisions: when and why managers are inconsistent in strategic decision making. *Strategic Management Journal*, 32(7), 683–704.

Mitroff, I. I., & Pearson, C. M. (1993). *Crisis Management*, Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Francisco.

Mobaraka, J., Elkazzaz, L., & Rizkalla, N. (2022). Challenges of Researchers in Conducting International Study during the Eruption of COVID-19: Student and Mentor Perspectives. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(2), 844. Mom, T., Chang, Y., Cholakova, M., & Jansen, J. (2019). A Multilevel Integrated Framework of Firm HR Practices, Individual Ambidexterity, and Organizational Ambidexterity. *Journal of Management*. 45(7), 3009–3034.

Mom, T. J. M., Fourné, S. P. L., & Jansen, J. J. P. (2015). Managers' Work Experience, Ambidexterity, and Performance: The Contingency Role of the Work Context. *Human Resource Management*, 54(S1), s133–s153.

Mom T. J. M., Van Den Bosch F. a. J., & Volberda H. W. (2007). Investigating managers' exploration and exploitation activities: The influence of top-down, bottom-up, and horizontal knowledge inflows. *Journal of Management Studies*, 44, 910–931.

Mom, T. J. M., van den Bosch, F. A. J., & Volberda, H. W. (2009). Understanding variation in managers' ambidexterity: Investigating direct and interaction effects of formal structural and personal coordination mechanisms. *Organization Science*, 20(4), 812–828.

Mosakowski, E. (1997). Strategy Making Under Causal Ambiguity: Conceptual Issues and Empirical Evidence. *Organization Science*, 8, 414–442.

Mudambi, R., & Swift, T. (2014). Knowing when to leap: Transitioning between exploitative and explorative R&D. *Strategic Management Journal*, 35(1), 126–145.

Narayanan, V. K. & Fahey, L. (1982). The micro-politics of strategy formulation. *Academy of Management Review*, 7, 25–34.

Mundfrom, D. J., Shaw, D. G., & Ke, T. L. (2005). Minimum Sample Size Recommendations for Conducting Factor Analyses, *International Journal of Testing*, 5(2), 159–168.

Mueller, E., & Spitz-Oener, A. (2006). Managerial Ownership and Company Performance in German Small and Medium-Sized Private Enterprises. *German Economic Review (Oxford)*, 7(2), 233–247.

Mwangi, L. (2012). Strategic Decision Speed and Firm Performance of the Two Major Firms in Photography Industry in Nairobi, Kenya, MBA, University of Nairobi, Kenya. Neter, J., Wasserman, W., & Kutner, M. H. (1985). *Applied Linear Statistical Models* (Irwin, Homewood, IL).

Netz, J., Svensson, M., & Brundin, E. (2020). Business disruptions and affective reactions: A strategy-as-practice perspective on fast strategic decision making. *Long Range Planning*, 53(5), 101910.

Noorderhaven, N. G. (1995). Strategic Decision Making. Wokingham: Addison-Wesley.

O'Connor, J. (1987). The meaning of crisis. New York: Basil Blackwell.

Nunnally, J. C. (1978). Psychometric Theory (2nd ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.

O'Reilly, C. A., & Tushman, M. L. (2008). Ambidexterity as a dynamic capability: Resolving the innovator's dilemma. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 28, 185–206.

O'Reilly, C. A., & Tushman, M. L. (2011). Organizational Ambidexterity in Action: How Managers Explore and Exploit. *California Management Review*, 53(4), 5–22.

O'Reilly, C. A., & Tushman, M. L. (2013). Organizational ambidexterity: Past, present and future. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 27(4), 324–338.

Ogrean, C. (2016). Solving strategic paradoxes through organizational ambidexterity- a foray into the literature -. *Studies in Business and Economics*, 11(2), 97–103.

Oliver, D., & Roos, J., (2005). Decision-making in high-velocity environments: the importance of guiding principles. *Organization Studies*, 26, 889–913.

Oppenheimer, D. M., Meyvis, T., & Davidenko, N. (2009). Instructional manipulation checks: Detecting satisficing to increase statistical power. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 45(4), 867–872.

Ossenbrink, J., Hoppmann, J., & Hoffmann, V. H. (2019) Hybrid Ambidexterity: How the Environment Shapes Incumbents' Use of Structural and Contextual Approaches. *Organization Science*, 30(6), 1319–1348.

Ott, T. E., & Eisenhardt, K. M. (2020). Decision weaving: Forming novel, complex strategy in entrepreneurial settings. *Strategic Management Journal*, 41(12), 2275–2314.

Ott, T. E., Eisenhardt, K. M., & Bingham, C. B. (2017). Strategy Formation in Entrepreneurial Settings: Past Insights and Future Directions. *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal*, 11(3), 306–325.

Ou, A. Y., Waldman, D. A., & Peterson, S. J. (2015). Do Humble CEOs Matter? An Examination of CEO Humility and Firm Outcoms. *Journal of Management*, 44, 1147–1173. Pallant, J. (2010). *A step by step guide to data analysis using the SPSS program: SPSS survival manual*. 4th ed, v. 494.

Oyserman, D., Sorensen, N., Reber, R., & Chen, S. X. (2009). Connecting and separating mindsets: culture as situated cognition. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 97(2), 217–235. Papachroni, A., Heracleous, L. & Paroutis, S. (2015). Organizational Ambidexterity Through the Lens of Paradox Theory: Building a Novel Research Agenda. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 51(1), 71–93.

Papadaki, V., & Papadaki, E. (2011). 'So, what about homosexuals?'-Views on homosexuality among social work students in Crete, Greece. *European Journal of Social Work*, 14(2), 265–280.

Papadakis, V. M., Lioukas, S., & Chambers, D. (1998). Strategic decision-making processes: The role of management and context. *Strategic Management Journal*, 19(2), 115–147.

Papadakis, V. M., Thanos, I., & Barwise, P. (2010). Research on strategic decisions: taking stock and looking ahead. In P. Nutt & D. Wilson (Eds.), *The handbook of decision-making* (pp.31–69). Chichester: Wiley.

Park, O., Bae, J., & Hong, W. (2019). High-commitment HRM system, HR capability, and ambidextrous technological innovation. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 30(9), 1526–1548.

339

Park, Y., Pavlou, P. A., & Saraf, N. (2020). Configurations for Achieving Organizational Ambidexterity with Digitization. *Information Systems Research*, 31(4), 1376–1397.

Parnell, J. A., Lester, D. L., & Menefee, M. L. (2000). Strategy as a response to organizational uncertainty: an alternative perspective on the strategy-performance relationship. *Management Decision*, 38(8), 520–530.

Patel, P. C., Messersmith, J. G., & Lepak, D. P. (2013). Walking the tightrope: An assessment of the relationship between high-performance work systems and organizational ambidexterity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 56(5), 1420–1442.

Paulhus, D. L. (1991). Measurement and control of response bias. In J. P. Robinson, P. R.
Shaver, & L. S. Wrightsman (Eds.), *Measures of personality and social psychological attitudes*(pp. 17–59). San Diego: Academic Press.

Paulhus, D. L. (1998). *Paulhus Deception Scales (PDS) user's manual*. North Tonawanda, NY: Multi-Health Systems.

Pearson, C. M., & Clair, J. A. (1998). Reframing Crisis Management. *The Academy of Management Review*, 23(1), 59–76.

Penrose, E. T. (1959). *The theory of the growth of the firm*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Perinelli, E., & Gremigni, P. (2016). Use of social desirability scales in clinical psychology: A systematic review. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 72, 534–551.

Perlow, L. A., Okhuysen, G. A., & Repenning, N. (2002). The speed trap: exploring the relationship between decision making and the temporal context. *Academy of Management Journal*, 45(5), 931–955.

Peterson, C. (2000). The Future of Optimism. The American Psychologist. 55(1), 44-55.

Peterson, S. J., Walumbwa, F. O., Byron, K., & Myrowitz, J. (2009). CEO Positive Psychological Traits, Transformational Leadership, and Firm Performance in High-Technology Start-up and Established Firms. *Journal of Management*, 35(2), 348–368.

Petrou, A. P., Hadjielias, E., Thanos, I. C., & Dimitratos, P. (2020). Strategic decision-making processes, international environmental munificence and the accelerated internationalization of SMEs. *International Business Review*, 29(5), p. 101735.

Pfeffer, J., & Salancik, G. R. (1978). *The external control of organizations : a resource dependence perspective*. New York ; London: Harper & Row.

Pfeffer, J., & Sutton, R. (2000). *The Knowing–Doing Gap*. Harvard Business School Press: Boston, MA.

Piening, E.P. (2013). Dynamic Capabilities in Public Organizations. *Public Management Review*, 15(2), 209–245.

Plambeck, N., & Weber, K. (2009). CEO ambivalence and responses to strategic issues. Organization *Science*, 20(6), 993–1010.

Pfefferbaum, B., & North, C. S. (2020). Mental Health and the Covid-19 Pandemic. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 383(6), 510–512.

Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J.-Y. & Podsakoff, N. P. (2003). Common method biases in behavioral research: A critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(5), 879–903.

Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2012). Sources of Method Bias in Social Science Research and Recommendations on How to Control It. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 63, 539–569.

Polonsky, M. J., Vocino, A., Grimmer, M., & Miles, M. P. (2014). The interrelationship between temporal and environmental orientation and pro-environmental consumer behaviour. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 38, 612–619.

Porter, M. E. (1980). *Competitive Strategy*. Free Press: New York.

Porter, M. E. (1996). What is strategy? Harvard Business Review, 74(6), 61-78.

Porter, M. E. (1998). *Competitive advantage : creating and sustaining superior performance : with a new introduction*. First Free Press edition. New York: Free Press.

Post, C., Sarala, R., Gatrell, C., & Prescott, J. E. (2020). Advancing Theory with Review Articles. *Journal of Management Studies*, 57(2), 351–376.

Powell, T. C., Lovallo, D., & Fox, C. R. (2011). Behavioral Strategy. *Strategic Management Journal*, 32(13): 1369–1386.

Prashantham, S., & Young, S. (2011). Post-Entry Speed of International New Ventures, *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 35(2), 275–292.

Pratt, M. G., & Foreman, P. O. (2000). Classifying managerial responses to multiple organizational identities. *Academy of Management Review*, 25, 18–42.

Presser, S., Couper, M. P., Lessler, J. T., Martin, E., Martin, J. Rothgeb, J. M., & Singer, E. (2004). Methods for Testing and Evaluating Survey Questions. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 68(1) 109–30.

Priem, R. L., Rasheed, A. M. A., Kotulic A. G. (1995). Rationality in strategic decision processes, environmental dynamism and firm performance. *Journal of Management*, 21, 913–929.

Protogerou, A., Caloghirou, Y., & Lioukas, S. (2012). Dynamic capabilities and their indirect impact on firm performance. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 21(3), 615–647.

Rahimnia, F. & Molavi, H. (2021). A model for examining the effects of communication on innovation performance: emphasis on the intermediary role of strategic decision-making speed *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 24 (3), 1035–1056.

Raisch, S. (2006). Exploration vs. exploitation: A metaparadigm view of ambidextrous organizational forms. Paper presented at the *Annual Meetings of the Academy of Management*. Atlanta, GA.

Raisch, S., Birkinshaw, J., Probst, G., & Tushman, M. L. (2009). Organizational ambidexterity: Balancing exploitation and exploration for sustained performance. *Organization Science*, 20, 685–695.

Rajagopalan, N., Rasheed, A. M., & Datta, D. K. (1993). Strategic decision processes: Critical review and future directions. *Journal of Management*, 19(2), 349–384.

Rao-Nicholson, R., Khan, Z., Akhtar, P., & Tarba, S. Y. (2020). The contingent role of distributed leadership in the relationship between HR practices and organizational ambidexterity in the cross-border M&As of emerging market multinationals. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 31(2), 232–253.

Reed, M. (2005). Reflections on the 'realist turn' in organization and management studies. *Journal of Management Studies*, 42, 1621–44.

Rego, A., Marques, C., Leal, S., Sousa, F., & Pina e Cunha, M. (2010). Psychological capital and performance of Portuguese civil servants: Exploring neutralizers in the context of an appraisal system. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 21, 1531–1552.

Rego, A., Sousa, F., Marques, C., & Pina e Cunha, M. (2012). Retail employees' self-efficacy and hope predicting their positive affect and creativity. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 21, 923–945.

Rego, L., Brady, M., Leone, R., Roberts, J., Srivastava, C., & Srivastava, R. (2022). Brand response to environmental turbulence: A framework and propositions for resistance, recovery and reinvention. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 39, 583–02.

Rialti, R., Marzi, G., Silic, M., & Ciappei, C. (2018). Ambidextrous organization and agility in big data era: The role of business process management systems. *Business Process Management Journal*, 24(5), 1091–1109.

Rogan, M., & Mors, M. L. (2014). A network perspective on individual-level ambidexterity in organizations. *Organization Science*, 25(6), 1860–1877.

Rothaermel, F. T. (2017). *Strategic management*. Third edition. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education.

Rothaermel, F. T., & Alexandre, M. T. (2009). Ambidexterity in technology sourcing: The moderating role of absorptive capacity. *Organization Science*, 4, 759–780.

Roundy, P. T., Harrison, D. A., Khavul, S., Pérez-Nordtvedt, L., & McGee, J. E. (2018). Entrepreneurial alertness as a pathway to strategic decisions and organizational performance. *Strategic Organization*, 16(2), 192–226.

Roux-Dufort, C. (2007). Is crisis management (only) a management of exceptions? *Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management*, 15(2), 105–114.

Russell, D. W. (2002). In Search of Underlying Dimensions: The Use (and Abuse) of Factor Analysis in Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin*, 28(12), 1629–1646.

Salminen, S. R., Mäkikangas, A. & Feldt, T. (2014). Job Resources and Work Engagement: Optimism as Moderator among Finnish Managers. *Journal of European Psychology Students*, 5(1), 69–77.

Samba, C., Tabesh, P., Thanos, I. C., Papadakis, V. M. (2021). Method in the madness? A metaanalysis on the strategic implications of decision comprehensiveness. *Strategic Organization*, 19(3), 414–440. Samba, C., Van Knippenberg, D., & Miller, C. C. (2018). The impact of strategic dissent on organizational outcomes: A meta-analytic integration. *Strategic Management Journal*, 39(2), 379–402.

Sánchez-Fernández, J., Muñoz-Leiva, F., & Montoro-Ríos, F. J. (2012). Improving retention rate and response quality in Web-based surveys. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28(2), 507–514.

Sariol, A. M. & Abebe, M. A. (2017). The influence of CEO power on explorative and exploitative organizational innovation. *Journal of Business Research*, 73, 38–45.

Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2019). *Research methods for business students*. 8th edition. Harlow: Pearson education.

Schaefer, D., & Dillman, D. (1998). Development of a standard e-mail methodology: Results of an experiment. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 62(3), pp. 378–397.

Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (1985). Optimism, coping, and health: Assessment and implications of generalized outcome expectancies. *Health Psychology*, 4, 219-247.

Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (1992). Effects of optimism on psycho psychological and physical well-being: Theoretical overview and empirical update. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 16, 201-228.

Scheier, M. F., Carver, C. S., & Bridges, M. W. (1994). Distinguishing Optimism from Neuroticism (and Trait Anxiety, Self-Mastery, and Self-Esteem). *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67(6), 1063–1078.

Schmitt, A., Probst, G., & Tushman, M. L. (2010). M@n@gement in Times of Economic Crisis: Insights into Organizational Ambidexterity. *Management*, 13(3), 128–150.

Schreiner, M., Kale, P., & Corsten, D. (2009). What really is alliance management capability and how does it impact alliance outcomes and success?. *Strategic Management Journal*, 30(13), 1395–1419.

Schriber, J. B., & Gutek, B. A. (1987). Some Time Dimensions of Work. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 72(4), 642–650.

Schriesheim, C. (1995). Multivariate and Moderated Within-Entity and Between-Entity Analysis (Waba) Using Hierarchical Linear Multiple-Regression. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 6(1), 1–18.

Scott, W. R. (1981). *Organizations: Rational, natural, and open systems*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

Seligman, M. E. P. (1991). Learned optimism. New York: Knopf.

Seo, M.-G., Putnam, L., & Bartunek, J. M. (2004). Dualities and tensions of planned organizational change. In S. Poole & A. Van de Ven (Eds.), *Handbook of organizational change*: 73–107. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Sepulveda, Jose, Schnettler, Berta, Denegri, Marianela, Orellana, Ligia, Sepulveda, Jocelyne, Canales, Pamela, Gonzalez, Sebastian, Mardones, Carolina, & Reyes, Ingrid (2020). Social Desirability in the Measurement of Subjective Well-Being: A Study With Chilean University Students. *Interdisciplinaria*, 37(2), 117–128.

Shamon, H., & Berning, C. (2020). Attention Check Items and Instructions in Online Surveys with Incentivized and Non-Incentivized Samples: Boon or Bane for Data Quality?. *Survey Research Methods*, 14, 55–77.

Shane, S., & Venkataraman, S. (2000). The promise of entrepreneurship as a field of research. *Academy of Management Review*, 25, 217–226.

Shankar, V., & Carpenter, G. (1998). Late mover advantage: how innovative late entrants outsell pioneers. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 35, 54–70.

Sharfman, M. P., & Dean Jr, J. W. (1997). Flexibility in Strategic Decision Making: Informational and Ideological Perspectives. *Journal of Management Studies*, 34(2), 191–217. Sharma, G., Bartunek, J., Buzzanell, P. M., Carmine, S., Endres, C., Etter, M. Fairhurst, G., Hahn, T., Lê, P., Li, X., Pamphile, V., Pradies, C., Putnam, L. L., Rocheville, K., Schad, J., Sheep, M., & Keller, J. (2021). A Paradox Approach to Societal Tensions during the Pandemic Crisis. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 30(2), 121–37.

Shepherd, N. G., Hodgkinson, G. P., Mooi, E. A., Elbanna, S., & Rudd, J. M. (2020). Political behavior does not (always) undermine strategic decision making: Theory and evidence. *Long Range Planning*, 53(5), 101943.

Shepherd, N. G., Mooi, E. A., Elbanna, S., & Rudd, J. M. (2021). Deciding Fast: Examining the Relationship between Strategic Decision Speed and Decision Quality across Multiple Environmental Contexts, *European Management Review*, 18(2), 119–140.

Shepherd, N. G., & Rudd, J. M. (2014). The Influence of Context on the Strategic Decision-Making Process: A Review of the Literature. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 16(3), 340–64.

Sideri, O. Papoutsidakis, M., Lilas, T., Nikitakos, N., & Papachristos, D. (2021). Green shipping onboard: acceptance, diffusion & adoption of LNG and electricity as alternative fuels in Greece. *Journal of Shipping and Trade*, 6(1), 1–29.

Silva, C., González-Loureiro, M., & Braga, V.L. (2021). The Influence of Organizational Ambidexterity on SME Speed of Internationalization. *Journal of Global Information Management*, 29(1), 68–84.

Simmel, G. (1974). Individuality and social forms. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Simmering, M. J., Fuller, C. M., Richardson, H. A., Ocal, Y., Atinc, G. M. (2015). Marker Variable Choice, Reporting, and Interpretation in the Detection of Common Method Variance. *Organizational Research Methods*, 18(3), 473–511.

Simon, H. A. (1955). A behavioral model of rational choice. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 69, 99–118.

Simsek, Z. (2009). Organizational ambidexterity: Towards a multilevel understanding. *Journal of Management Studies*, 46(4), 597–624.

Simsek, Z., Heavey, C., Veiga, J. F., & Souder, D. (2009). A typology for aligning organizational ambidexterity's conceptualizations, antecedents, and outcomes. *Journal of Management Studies*, 46(5), 864–894.

Singh, J. (1986). Performance, Slack, and Risk Taking in Organizational Decision Making. *Academy of Management Journal*, 29(3), 562–585.

Smart, C., & Vertinsky, I. (1984). Strategy and the environment: A study of corporate responses to crises. *Strategic Management Journal*, 5(3), 199–213.

Smith, J. A. (2004). Reflecting on the development of interpretative phenomenological analysis and its contribution to qualitative research in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 1(1), 39–54.

Smith, W. K. (2014). Dynamic Decision Making: A Model of Senior Leaders Managing Strategic Paradoxes. *Academy of Management Journal*, 57(6), 1592–623.

Smith, W. K., & Lewis, M. W. (2011). Toward A Theory of Paradox: A Dynamic Equilibrium Model of Organizing. *Academy of Management Review*, 36(2), 381–403.

Smith, W. K., & Tushman, M. L. (2005). Managing strategic contradictions: A top management model for managing innovation. *Organization Science*, 16(5), 522–536.

Snyder, C. R., & Rand, K. L. (2003). The case against false hope. *American Psychologist*, 58(10): 820–822.

Solberg Nes, L., Evans, D. R., & Segerstrom, S. C. (2009). Optimism and College Retention: Mediation by Motivation, Performance, and Adjustment. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 39(8), 1887–912. Solís-Molina, M., Hernández-Espallardo, M., & Rodríguez-Orejuela, A. (2018). Performance implications of organizational ambidexterity versus specialization in exploitation or exploration: The role of absorptive capacity. *Journal of Business Research*, 91, 181–194.

Sørensen, J. B., & Stuart, T. E. (2000). Aging, obsolescence, and organizational innovation. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 45(1), 81–112.

Soto-Acosta, P., Popa, S., & Conesa, I. (2018). Information technology, knowledge management and environmental dynamism as drivers of innovation ambidexterity: a study in SMEs. *Journal of Knowledge Management*. 22(4), 824–849.

Souitaris, V. (2002). Firm–specific competencies determining technological innovation: A survey in Greece. *R&D Management*, 32(1), 61–77.

Souitaris, V., & Maestro, B. M. M. (2010). Polychronicity in Top Management Teams: The Impact on Strategic Decision Processes and Performance of New Technology Ventures. *Strategic Management Journal*, 31, 652–678.

Spanos, Y. E., & Lioukas, S. (2001). An examination into the causal logic of rent generation: contrasting Porter's competitive strategy framework and the resource-based perspective. *Strategic Management Journal*, 22(10), 907–934.

Spector, P. E. (2021). Mastering the Use of Control Variables: the Hierarchical Iterative Control (HIC) Approach. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 36(5), 737–750.

Sri Ramalu, S., & Janadari, N. (2022). Authentic leadership and organizational citizenship behaviour: the role of psychological capital. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 71(2), 365–385.

Steinbach, A. L., Kautz, J., & Korsgaard, M. A. (2021). Caring for their own: How firm actions to protect essential workers and CEO benevolence influenced stakeholder sentiment during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 106(6), 811–824.
Stevenson, H., & Gumpert, D. (1985). The heart of entrepreneurship. *Harvard Business Review* 63(2), 85–94.

Stevenson, H. H., Roberts, M. J., & Grousbeck, H. I., (1985). New Business Ventures and the Entrepreneur. Irwin, Homewood, IL.

Sun, Y., & Huang, J. (2019). Psychological capital and innovative behavior: Mediating effect of psychological safety. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 47(9), 1–7.

Sun, S. L., Zhu, J., & Ye, K. (2015). Board Openness During an Economic Crisis. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 129(2), 363–377.

Swart, J., Turner, N., van Rossenberg, Y., & Kinnie, N. (2019). Who does what in enabling ambidexterity? Individual Actions and HRM practices. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 30(4), 508–535.

Swift, T. (2016). The perilous leap between exploration and exploitation. *Strategic Management Journal*, 37, 1688–1698.

Sutton, R. I., & Staw, B. M. (1995). ASQ forum: What theory is not. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 40: 371–384.

Tabesh, P., & Vera, D. M. (2020). Top managers' improvisational decision-making in crisis: A paradox perspective. *Management Decision*, 58(10), 2235–2256.

Tamayo-Torres, J., Roehrich, J. K., & Lewis, M. A. (2017). Ambidexterity, performance and environmental dynamism. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 37(3), 282–299.

Tanner, K. (2018). Chapter 6 - Survey designs in Williamson, K. & Johanson, G., *Research Methods* (Second Edition), Chandos Publishing, 2018, 159–192.

Tawse, A., & Tabesh, P. (2021). Strategy implementation: A review and an introductory framework. *European Management Journal*, 39(1), 22–33.

Teece, D. J., Pisano, G., & Shuen, A. (1997). Dynamic capabilities and strategic management. *Strategic Management Journal*, 18, 509–533.

Tempelaar, M. P., & Van De Vrande, V. (2012). Dynamism, Munificence, Internal and External Exploration-Exploitation and Their Performance Effects. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, p. 16656.

Tetlock, P. E., Peterson, R. S., & Berry, J. M. (1993). Flattering and unflattering personality portraits of integratively simple and complex managers. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 64, 500–511.

Thagard, P. (1996). Mind: Introduction to Cognitive Science. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.

Thanos, I. C. (2022). The complementary effects of rationality and intuition on strategic

decision quality. European Management Journal, [Preprint]. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2022.03.003

Thietart, R.-A. (2001). Doing management research: a comprehensive guide, Sage.

Thompson, J. D. (1967). *Organizations in action: Social science bases of administrative theory*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

Tiger, L. (1979). Optimism: The biology of hope. New York: Simon & Schuster.

Tippins, M. J., & Sohi, R. S. (2003). IT competency and firm performance: is organizational learning a missing link?. *Strategic Management Journal*, 24(8), 745–761.

Tiwana, A. (2008). Do bridging ties complement strong ties? An empirical examination of alliance ambidexterity. *Strategic Management Journal*, 29(3), 251–272.

Topper, B., & Lagadec, P. (2013). Fractal Crises - A New Path for Crisis Theory and Management. *Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management*, 21(1), 4–16.

Tsebelis, G. (2016). Lessons from the Greek Crisis. *Journal of European Public Policy*, 23(1), 25–41.

Tripsas, M., & Gavetti, G. (2000). Capabilities, cognition, and inertia: evidence from digital imaging. *Strategic Management Journal*, 21(10-11), 1147–1161.

Tsoukas, H., & Chia, R. (2011). *Research in the Sociology of Organizations*, Vol. 32: Philosophy and Organization Theory. Bradford: Emerald Publishing.

Tuan, L. T. (2016). Organizational Ambidexterity, Entrepreneurial Orientation, and I-Deals: The Moderating Role of CSR. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 135(1), 145–159.

Turner, B. (1976). The organizational and interorganizational development of disasters. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 21, 378–397.

Turner, N., Swart, J., & Maylor, H. (2013). Mechanisms for managing ambidexterity: A review and research agenda. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 15, 317–332.

Tushman, M. L. (1977). A political approach to organizations: A review and rationale. *Academy of Management Review*, 2, 206–216.

Tushman, M. L., & Anderson, P. (1986). Technological Discontinuities and Organizational Environments. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 31(3), 439–465.

Tushman M. L. & O'Reilly C.A. (1996). Ambidextrous Organizations: Managing evolutionary and revolutionary change. *California Management Review*, 38 (4), 8–30.

Úbeda-García, M., Claver-Cortés, E., Marco-Lajara, B., Zaragoza-Sáez, P., & García-Lillo, F. (2018). High performance work system and performance: Opening the black box through the organizational ambidexterity and human resource flexibility. *Journal of Business Research*, 88, 397–406.

Van de Ven, A. H, & Ferry, D. L. (1980). *Measuring and Assessing Organizations*. Wiley: New York.

Van Gelderen, M., Frese, M., & Thurik, R. (2000). Strategies, uncertainty and performance of small business startups. *Small Business Economics*, 15, 165–181.

Vassilopoulou, J., Kyriakidou, O., Da Rocha, J.P., Georgiadou, A. & Mor Barak, M. (2019) International perspectives on securing human and social rights and diversity gains at work in

352

the aftermath of the global economic crisis and in times of austerity. *European Management Review*, 16(4), 837–845.

Venkatraman, N., & Ramanujam, V. 1986. Measurement of business performance in strategy research: A comparison of approaches. *Academy of Management Review*, 11: 801–814.

Venugopal, A., Krishnan, T. N., & Kumar, M., (2018). Identifying the focal role of top management paradoxical cognition in ambidextrous firms. *Management Decision*, 56(1), 47–63.

Venugopal, A., Krishnan, T. N., Upadhyayula, R. S., & Kumar, M. (2020). Finding the microfoundations of organizational ambidexterity - Demystifying the role of top management behavioural integration. *Journal of Business Research*, 106(C), 1–11.

Volberda, H. W., & G. H. Van Bruggen. 1997. Environmental turbulence: A look into its dimensionality. M. T. A. Bemelmans, ed. *Dynamiek in Bedrijfsvoering*. NOBO, Enschede, The Netherlands.

Voss G. B., Sirdeshmukh D., & Voss, Z. G. (2008). The effects of slack resources and environmental threat on product exploration and exploitation. *Academy of Management Journal*, 51(1), 147–164.

Voss, G. B., & Voss, Z. G. (2013). Strategic Ambidexterity in Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises: Implementing Exploration and Exploitation in Product and Market Domains. *Organization Science*, 24(5), 1459–1477.

Wang, H., & Li, J. (2008). Untangling the effects of overexploration and overexploitation on organizational performance: The moderating role of organizational dynamism. *Journal of Management*, 34, 925–951.

Wahyuni, D. (2012). The research design maze: understanding paradigms, cases, methods and methodologies, *Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research*, 10(1), 69–80.

Waldman, D. A., Ramírez, G. G., House, R. J., Puranam, P. (2001). Does Leadership Matter? CEO Leadership Attributes and Profitability under Conditions of Perceived Environmental Uncertainty. *The Academy of Management Journal*, 44(1), 134–143.

Walters, B. A., & Bhuian, S. N. (2004). Complexity Absorption and Performance: A Structural Analysis of Acute-Care Hospitals. Journal of Management, 30(1), 97–121.

Wally, S., & Baum, J. R. (1994). Personal and structural determinants of the pace of strategic decision-making. *Academy of Management Journal*, 37(4), 932–956.

Walumbwa, F. O., Peterson, S. J., Avolio, B. J., & Hartnell, C. A. (2010). An investigation of the relationship between leader and follower psychological capital, service climate and job performance. *Personnel Psychology*, 63, 977–1003.

Wang, C. L., & Pervaiz, A. K. (2007). Dynamic capabilities: A review and research agenda. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 9(1), 31–51.

Weber, M. (1949). The methodology of the social sciences. New York: Free Press.

Weick, K. E. (1969). *The Social Psychology of Organizing*. Reading, Massachusetts: Addison Wesley.

Weick, K. E. (1988). Enacted Sensemaking in Crisis Situations. *Journal of Management Studies*, 25(4), 305–17.

Weick, K. E. (1990). *Cartographic myths in organizations*. A. S. Huff, ed. Mapping Strategic Thought. Wiley, New York.

Weick, K. E. (1993). The collapse of sensemaking in organizations: The Mann Gulch disaster. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 38, 628–652.

Weick, K. E., & Sutcliffe, K. M. (2006). Mindfulness and the Quality of Organizational Attention. *Organization Science*, 17(4), 514–524.

Weijters, B., Geuens, M., & Schillewaert, N. (2009). The proximity effect: the role of inter-item distance on reverse item bias. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 26:2–12.

Whittington, R., Jarzabkowski, P., Mayer, M., Mounoud, E., Nahapiet, J., & Rouleau, L. (2003). Taking strategy seriously: Responsibility and reform for an important social practice. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 12, 396–409.

Wiersema, M. F., & Bantel, K. A. (1992). Top Management Team Demography and Corporate Strategic Change. *Academy of Management Journal*, 35, 91–121.

Wilden, R., & Gudergan, S. P. (2015). The impact of dynamic capabilities on operational marketing and technological capabilities: investigating the role of environmental turbulence. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 43,181–199.

Willis, G. (2005). *Cognitive Interviewing: A Tool for Improving Questionnaire Design*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Wilms, R., Winnen, L. A., & Lanwehr, R. (2019). Top Managers' cognition facilitates organisational ambidexterity: The mediating role of cognitive processes. *European Management Journal*. 37, 589–600.

Wilson, D. (2003). Strategy as decision making. In Cummings, S. and Wilson, D. (eds), *Images of Strategy*. Oxford: Blackwell, pp. 383–41.

Wim, J., Katrien, W., Patrick, D. P., & Patrick, V. K. (2008). *Marketing Research with SPSS*. Prentice Hall; Pearson Education. ISBN: 978-0-273-70383-9. 274-275.

Winter, S. G. (2003). Understanding dynamic capabilities. *Strategic Management Journal*, 24(10), 991–995.

Wood, R., & Bandura, A. (1989). Social cognitive theory of organizational management. *The Academy of Management Review*, 14(3), 361–384.

Wright, A. (2021). How Mythical Constructs Inhabit Theorizing Spaces: A critique of dynamic capabilities. In *Academy of Management Annual Meeting Proceedings*, p. 11765.

Wu, Z., Salomon, R., & Martin, X. (2017). Complex strategic choices: A new approach and Application to foreign firm agglomeration. *Global Strategy Journal*, 7(3), 286–311.

Xie, X., & Lv, J. (2016). Social networks of female tech-entrepreneurs and new venture performance: the moderating effects of entrepreneurial alertness and gender discrimination. International Entrepreneurship Management Journal, 12 (4), 963–983.

Xue, J., Chen, J., Hu, R., Chen, C., Zheng, C., Su, Y., & Zhu, T. (2020). Twitter discussions and emotions about the COVID-19 pandemic: Machine learning approach. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(11), 20550.

Yao, J., Qiu, X., Yang, L., Han, X., & Li, Y. (2022). The Relationship between Work Engagement and Job Performance: Psychological Capital as a Moderating Factor. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 689–716.

Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: design and methods*. Los Angeles: SAGE, Sixth edition.

Yu, X., Meng, X., Chen, Y., Chen, Y., & Nguyen, B. (2018). Work-family conflict, organizational ambidexterity and new venture legitimacy in emerging economies. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 135, 229–240.

Yutchman, E., & Seashore, S. (1967). A system resource approach to organizational effectiveness. American *Sociological Review*, 32, 891–903.

Zahra, S. A., Sapienza, H. J., & Davidsson, P. (2006). Entrepreneurship and Dynamic Capabilities: A Review, Model and Research Agenda. *Journal of Sanagement Studies*, 43(4), 917–955.

Zehir, C., & Özşahin, M. (2008). A field research on the relationship between strategic decisionmaking speed and innovation performance in the case of Turkish large-scale firms. *Management Decision*. 46(5), 709–724.

Zhang, F., Wang, Y., Li, D., & Cui, V. (2017). Configurations of Innovations across Domains: An Organizational Ambidexterity View. *The Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 34(6), 821–841. Zhang, Y., Waldman, D. A., Han, Y., & Li, X. (2015). Paradoxical leader behaviors in people management: Antecedents and consequences. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58(2), 538–566.

Zhang, Y., & Han, Y. L. (2019). Paradoxical leader behavior in long-term corporate development: Antecedents and consequences. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Performance*, 155, 42–54.

Zhu, Z., Song, X., & Huang, W. (2018). Top management team demography, investor sentiment, and the investment levels of listed companies, *Asia-Pacific Journal of Accounting* & *Economics*, 25(3-4), 481-495.

Zimmermann, A., Raisch, S., & Cardinal, L. B. (2018). Managing Persistent Tensions on the Frontline: A Configurational Perspective on Ambidexterity. *Journal of Management Studies*, 55(5), 739–769.

Appendix

1. Comprehensive Table of Ambidexterity Conceptualization, Implementation and

Findings

Authors	Ambidexterity	Suggestions/	Ambidexterity	Methodology/
	concept/definition	Findings	implementation ²	empirical setting
Duncan	First introduction of	Organizations use	Sequential	Case studies
(1976)	organizational	dual structures when	ambidexterity	
	explorative and	facing contradictions,		
	exploitative activities.	by using cyclicality		
		regarding exploration		
		and exploitation		
Tushman &	In order for organizations	Different, separate	Structural	Case studies
O'Reilly	to be able to achieve	business units focus	ambidexterity	research in the
(1996)	long-term success, they	on alignment and		semi-conductor
	have to be ambidextrous.	others on adaptation.		sector
Adler et al.	Pursuing efficiency and	Efficiency &	Contextual	Case study of the
(1999)	flexibility entails trade-	flexibility were	ambidexterity/ paradox	ΤΟΥΟΤΑ
	offs that can be more	enabled by applying	approach (moving from	Production
	easily overcome by	4 organizational	either/or to both/and	System/
	ambidextrous	mechanisms (meta-	approach)	Qualitative
	organizations.	routines, job		research
		enrichment, role		(interviews)
		switching,		
		partitioning the		
		company's structure).		
		Leadership, learning		
		and trust were crucial		
		during the transition.		
Gibson &	Business units are able to	There is no trade-off	Contextual	Combination of
Birkinshaw	simultaneously align and	between adaptability	ambidexterity/ paradox	qualitative and
(2004)	adapt, through contextual	& alignment. In	approach.	quantitative data;
	ambidexterity.	successful business		survey with 4,195
		units, such		respondents from
		capabilities were		41 business units

 $^{^{2}}$ *Ambidexterity implementation* is either mentioned in the paper as ambidexterity approach or judged by the researcher, based on the organizational ambidexterity literature so far. For example, paradox theory is posterior to the work by Adler et al. (1999), but their approach is related to the paradox approach, even if they did not know it/mention it at the time.

		concurrently		
		developed using		
		simpler		
		organizational		
		structures and less		
		formality.		
He & Wong	The concurrent	An imbalance	Continuous balance of	CEOs survey on
(2004)	pursuit of exploratory &	between exploratory	exploration/	206
	exploitative strategies	strategies and	exploitation through	manufacturing
	(new product	exploitative ones	time.	firms
	development/new	concerning		
	markets entry) and	innovation, has a		
	innovative strategies	negative effect on		
	(improving current status	sales growth rate.		
	through technological	Organizations with		
	innovation)	low levels of		
		exploration or		
		exploitation should		
		not be viewed as		
		ambidextrous.		
Smith &	Ambidextrous	Top management	Structural	Theoretical model
Tushman	organizations have	teams develop	ambidexterity for the	based on literature
(2005)	differentiated, separate	cognitive capabilities	organization with	review
	business units assigned	that help them	separated units, but	
	with exploration and	balance contradicting	contextual approach for	
	exploitation	demands: short-term	top management	
		efficiency	executives (both/and	
		(exploiting) versus	approach).	
		long-term innovation		
		(exploring)		
Lubatkin et	The aptitude of	TMT behavioral	Contextual	Survey in 139
al. (2006)	organizations to	integration is critical	ambidexterity/ paradox	SMEs, both CEOs
	simultaneously exploit	to attaining	approach; inseparable	and team
	present competencies	ambidexterity in	nature of exploration	members
	and explore novel	SMEs. The	and exploitation as	
	competencies. This	simultaneous focus	facets of organizational	
	combination leads to	on both exploration	learning.	
	organizational learning.	and exploitation		
		positively affects		
		performance.		

		Ambidexterity is		
		possible at the		
		business unit level.		
Lavie &	The concept of	Organizations	Structural	Pooled time series
Rosenkopf	ambidexterity is	intensively involved	ambidexterity in	analysis of
(2006)	expanded to strategic	in R&D alliances that	partnerships, but	alliances formed
	alliances formation.	generate knowledge,	paradox approach is	by U.S. software
	Firms tend to balance	shift to	used over time	firms
	their exploratory and	marketing/production	(sequential	
	exploitative activities	partnerships that	implementation) and	
	over time and across	leverage knowledge.	across domains.	
	domains, when forming	A focus on		
	strategic alliances.	exploration in a		
		specific domain is		
		balanced by a shift in		
		focus on exploitation		
		on another.		
Lin et al.	A firm's alliance	Firm size matters:	There is no single	Analysis of
(2007)	behaviour is viewed as a	Larger firms benefit	implementation of	empirical data
	form of exploration and	from ambidextrous	ambidexterity; the	from 5 U.S.
	exploitation. Exploitative	strategic alliances,	approach needs to take	industries
	alliances aim to enhance	whereas smaller ones	into account the	spanning 8 years,
	existing capabilities,	benefit more when an	various external	and expansion of
	whereas exploratory	alliance is either	environments and	theoretical
	alliances aim to discover	exploratory or	organizational	insights to the
	new opportunities and to	exploitative.	characteristics.	network level by
	develop new capabilities.			building a
				computer
				simulation model.
Mom et al.	The ability to both	Top-down knowledge	Individual	Survey of
(2007)	explore, so as to be	positively	ambidexterity.	managers in an
	prepared for the future,	relates to exploitation	Contextual	international
	as well as exploit and	activities; bottom-up	implementation	electronics firm
	meet current demands.	and horizontal	concerning units (both	(104 responses)
		knowledge positively	exploit and explore),	
		relate to exploration	but structural	
		activities.	concerning individuals	
			(production managers	
			focus on exploitation,	
			product market	

			managers on	
			exploration).	
O'Reilly &	A capability and it refers	The role of the	Structural	Theoretical paper
Tushman	to the managers' ability	leadership team is	ambidexterity for units;	based on literature
(2008)	to adapt to changing	critical; cognitive and	paradox approach at	review
	demands.	behavioral flexibility	the organizational and	
		are needed.	individual level.	
		No trade-off between		
		efficiency and		
		innovation. Senior		
		teams must be		
		flexible in order to		
		enhance exploration		
		and exploitation.		
Wang & Li	There is an optimal	Overexploration and	Contextual	Data drawn from
(2008)	degree of exploration and	overexploitation are	ambidexterity/ paradox	S&P's
	exploitation. Exploring	harmful for	approach	Compustat, U.S.
	and exploiting beyond	organizational		patent data, and
	the optimal level should	performance.		the U.S. Census
	not be considered as	However,		of Manufacturers
	ambidexterity.	overexploration's		to construct a
		harmful effect on		model (using
		performance is lower		patent citations
		when there is		data to construct
		increased		the proxies for
		environmental		firm
		dynamism.		search behavior
				and to and to
				derive measures
				of search
				deviation)
Judge &	Ambidexterity has to do	Organizational	Paradox approach:	Theoretical paper
Blocker	with exploring new	capacity for change is	authors propose to not	based on literature
(2008)	markets and exploiting	an antecedent to	view ambidexterity as a	review
	existing ones.	strategic	dilemma (<i>either/or</i>	
		ambidexterity,	approach), and	
		moderated by	introduce strategic	
		environmental	ambidexterity	
		uncertainty and	(both/and approach).	

		organizational slack		
		(ability to adapt to		
		dramatic external		
		environment shifts).		
Andriopoulo	Ambidextrous firms	Managing paradoxes	Paradox approach:	Data collection
s & Lewis	exploit existing products	and making	innovation paradoxes:	over 4 years:
(2009)	and this leads to	ambidextrous	strategic intent	(1) semi-
	incremental innovation;	decisions is a	(profit-breakthroughs),	structured
	and explore new	responsibility that is	customer orientation	interviews,
	opportunities and this	shared across units	(tight-loose coupling),	(2) archival data,
	leads to radical	and levels in an	and personal drivers	(3) observation.
	innovation.	organization, and is	(discipline-passion).	
		not the responsibility		
		solely of top		
		management.		
Cao et al.	Ambidexterity has two	When resources are	Approach depends on	Survey on 122
(2009)	dimensions: the balance	limited (small firms	resources availability.	firms (CEOs and
	dimension (BD), which	or scarce-operating		CTOs) in three
	has to do with	environments), firms		high-tech parks in
	maintaining a balance	are better off when		China
	between exploration and	they manage trade-		
	exploitation, and the	offs between		
	combined dimension of	exploration and		
	ambidexterity (CD),	exploitation; when		
	which has to do with the	resources are		
	combined magnitude of	available, it is best to		
	exploration and	pursue both		
	exploitation.	exploration and		
		exploitation.		
Rothaermel	Ambidexterity is the	Increased levels of	Paradox approach: a	Combination of
&	ability of organizations	absorptive capacity	firm's ability to	survey (143 top
Alexandre	to	(the ability to	combine trade-offs	management
(2009)	concurrently balance	incorporate new	enhances performance.	executives) and
	diverse	information in		publicly available
	undertakings in the	commercial action)		data
	context of a trade-off	enable companies to		
		fully enjoy the		
		positive results of		
		ambidexterity in		
		sourcing technology		

Carmeli &	Ambidextrous firms are	TMTs apply	Contextual	Theoretical paper
Halevi	able to exploit existing	behavioral integration	ambidexterity/ paradox	based on literature
(2009)	competencies and	to put organizational	approach	review
	explore	ambidexterity into		
	new opportunities,	action.		
	simultaneously.			
Jansen et al.	Organizational	Structural	A combination of	Survey on
(2009b)	ambidexterity has to do	differentiation is	structural approach	multiple
	with routines and	important for	with paradox theory	respondents from
	processes; such routines	achieving	concerning the	a large European
	and processes integrate	ambidexterity, but it	integration of	financial services
	contradictory	is not enough.	contradictory efforts at	firm (89 executive
	efforts of separated	Integration	the organizational	directors and 305
	exploratory and	mechanisms like	level.	senior team
	exploitative units.	senior team social		members)
		integration and cross-		
		functional interfaces		
		are critical, whereas		
		senior team		
		contingency rewards		
		do not contribute to		
		the achievement of		
		ambidexterity.		
Markides &	An ambidextrous	There are no right	Company-specific	Case studies
Oyon	organization is an	and wrong answers	approach to	based on publicly
(2010)	organization that can	concerning separate	ambidexterity, either	available data
	compete with dual	or integrated business	structural or paradox	
	business models in the	models; answers are	approach, but creating	
	same industry	company-specific and	the appropriate context	
		the decision may	in terms of culture,	
		concern the	incentives, structures	
		separation of	and people is the key.	
		activities, not		
		business units.		
Turner et al.	Using and refining	Ambidexterity	Paradox approach	Theoretical paper
(2013)	existing knowledge, as	involves all levels		(systematic
	well as creating new	(organization, group,		literature review)
	knowledge.	and individual). It is		
		enabled by		

		intellectual capital		
		resources		
		(organizational,		
		social, and human		
		capital).		
Patel et al.	The ability to efficiently	It is specific HR	Both/and approach.	Survey on SMEs
(2013)	exploit present market	practices that put into	Link between HR	CEOs (215
	opportunities & innovate	action a high	practices and	respondents)
	for future market	performance	ambidexterity.	
	challenges.	work system, which		
		in turn enhances		
		resource flexibility		
		that leads to		
		ambidexterity.		
Junni et al.	The capability of a firm	Exploration and	Both/and approach:	Meta-analysis
(2013)	to pursue both	exploitation were	high levels of	
	explorative and	separately tested and	exploitation and	
	exploitative innovation	the overall effects of	exploration are highly	
	(definition by O'Reilly &	both on performance	desirable, but they can	
	Tushman, 2004).	were positive and	be costly and difficult	
		significant.	to achieve, requiring	
		Organizational	specific organizational	
		ambidexterity has a	structures and	
		positive effect on	mindsets.	
		performance under		
		conditions of		
		uncertainty. The		
		effect of		
		ambidexterity on		
		performance is		
		stronger for		
		technology and		
		service firms than for		
		manufacturing firms.		
Kammerland	An organization	In SMEs, CEOs with	Leadership-based	153 survey
er et al.	concurrent pursuit of	high promotion focus	contextual	responses of
(2014)	exploration and	engage in more	ambidexterity is better	CEOs of Swiss
	exploitation.	exploration and	for SMEs (paradox	SMEs
		exploitation activities	approach).	
		than those with high		

		prevention focus		
		(research based on		
		regulatory focus		
		theory (Higgins,		
		1997)). The CEO's		
		promotion focus has		
		a stronger effect		
		when the		
		environment is more		
		competitive.		
Hill &	The ability to leverage	Organizational	Paradox, both/and	Phase 1: 50
Birkinshaw	existing resources and	ambidexterity is	approach to the	persons
(2014)	create new combinations	positively related to	corporate venture	interviewed in 40
	in order to face future	the growth of a	business units level.	CV units across 8
	demands.	corporate venture		countries
		(CV) business unit.		Phase 2: survey of
		CV units		95 managers of
		last longer when they		CV units
		create new		Phase 3: Follow-
		capabilities, while at		up phone calls
		the same time they		
		take advantage of		
		existing strengths.		
Mudambi &	Ambidextrous firms	Important changes in	Sequential	Data on a sample
Swift (2014)	practice both R&D-based	R&D spending in a	ambidexterity (shifting	of publicly traded
	exploration and	short time-period,	between exploration	U.S.
	exploitation.	whether increases or	and exploitation).	manufacturing
		decreases, indicate		firms, publicly
		leaps between		available
		exploration and		(Compustat)
		exploitation, and they		Annual North
		have a positive effect		America
		on firm performance,		databases (S&P,
		given they are timed		2009).
		correctly. And the		
		correct timing is		
		signaled by whether		
		the company's short-		
		terms earnings are		

		lower than the		
		industry.		
Ou et al.	Ambidextrous strategic	CEOs' humility	Paradox approach	Survey &
(2015)	orientation has to do with	indirectly enhances	(recognize and accept	archival data
	concurrent orientation	the engagement of	paradoxical tensions).	collected at
	strategic activities	ambidextrous		multiple time
	towards exploration and	strategies and		points from 105
	exploitation.	contributes to firm		small-to-medium-
		performance, through		sized firms
		TMT integration and		in the computer
		pay equality		software and
				hardware industry
				in the USA.
Papachroni	Exploration and	Using the paradox	Paradox approach-	Theoretical paper
et al. (2015)	exploitation are not	lens to view	proposal for a shift in	based on a
	necessarily contrasting	ambidexterity shifts	research on	literature review
	activities, but they are	research towards a	organizational	
	connected and	combination of the	ambidexterity.	
	complementary.	paradoxical poles,		
		and of how they		
		interact over time.		
Ogrean	Ambidexterity refers to	Ambidexterity is the	Paradox approach.	Theoretical paper
(2016)	how an organization does	key to managing		(literature review)
	the job today while	strategic		
	keeping in mind of the	organizational		
	job it will do tomorrow.	paradoxes, which are		
		increasing in		
		complexity due to the		
		more diverse and		
		more dynamic		
		internal and external		
		firms' environments.		
Swift (2016)	Ambidexterity has to do	Big and fast R&D	Sequential	Analysis on data
	with R&D-based	changes in	ambidexterity.	publicly available
	exploration and	expenditure (i.e.		at the Compustat
	exploitation.	shifting from		Annual
		exploration to		North America
		exploitation and vice-		database
		versa) are linked with		(Standard S&P,
		higher probabilities		2012)

		of firm mortality.		
		Firms that have		
		achieved superior		
		learning and don't		
		reduce R&D		
		spending are more		
		likely to survive		
		during these swifts.		
Ajayi et al.	The dual focus on	In SMEs, an	Paradox approach-	Survey in 72
(2017)	exploration and	organizational	individual level as the	companies (398
	exploitation activities.	context with less	unit of analysis.	shop-floor
		centralization, more		employees) in the
		shared knowledge		Nigerian SMEs
		and responsibility,		manufacturing
		and focused on rapid		and
		reconfiguration to		services industry
		suit new		
		circumstances,		
		enhances employees'		
		engagement, which		
		leads to		
		ambidexterity; and		
		this increases the		
		chances of firm		
		survival.		
García-	Ambidexterity is the	Shared responsibility	Paradox approach	Survey on CEOs
Granero et	capability of a firm to	does not always lead	paradoxical tensions of	of Spanish firms
al. (2018)	concurrently pursue	to ambidexterity,	ambidexterity.	from the primary
	exploration and	unless TMT diversity		and secondary
	exploitation (Gibson &	is mainly based on		sectors and high-
	Birkinshaw, 2004).	age. When team		tech firms
		members have		from the tertiary
		diverse functional		sector (617
		backgrounds, it is		questionnaires)
		better that final		
		decisions are made		
		by the CEO. Thus, a		
		top-down decision		
		making initiative is		
		more effective when		

		TMTs are		
		functionally diverse.		
Venugopal	Ambidexterity is the	In SMEs, TMT	Paradox approach:	78 hi-tech SMEs
et al. (2018)	capability of a firm to	behavioral integration	recognizing the	(IT, biotech &
	concurrently pursue	facilitates org.	importance of	electronics).
	exploration and	ambidexterity; but	managing paradoxical	Multiple
	exploitation (Gibson &	once the exploration	innovation strategies to	responses from
	Birkinshaw, 2004).	and exploitation	sustain long-term	each firm (473
		decisions have been	performance.	usable surveys -
		made, top		240 TMT
		management does not		members and
		need to be involved		233 managerial
		in order to achieve		executives).
		organizational		
		ambidexterity.		
Hughes	Ambidexterity is the	Linking marketing	Paradox approach.	Theoretical paper
(2018)	capability of a firm to	and org.		(literature review)
	concurrently pursue	ambidexterity. (E.g.		
	exploration and	How could marketing		
	exploitation (Gibson &	be organized in order		
	Birkinshaw, 2004).	to facilitate		
		organizational		
		ambidexterity?)		
Venugopal	Combining and/or	Behavioral	Paradox approach.	Survey on 233
et al. (2020)	balancing innovations	integration processes		managers and 240
	that are simultaneously	mostly enhance a		TMT members of
	explorative and	firm's combined		Indian IT,
	exploitative	ambidexterity,		Biotechnology,
		although they also		and Electronics
		enhance balanced		SMEs
		ambidexterity.		
Katou et al.	Simultaneous pursuit of	The social	Paradox approach.	Survey on 657
(2021)	exploration and	intelligence of leaders		Greek employees
	exploitation	has stronger positive		of 99 private
		impact on creativity		firms
		through exploration		
		activities, than		
		productivity through		
		exploitation		
		activities.		

2. Emails Sent for Participation to the Survey's First Wave

2.1 Initial email communication about first wave

Dear Dr./Mrs._____,

Following our communication earlier today, I am sending you some more information on the research project titled "Leaders' mindsets and strategic management during the COVId-19 pandemic".

The research aims to understand how business leaders in Greece perceive the business environment during the pandemic, as well as how their way of thinking influences strategy. It is aimed at top executives who are responsible for making strategic decisions. The research is conducted online and completing the research questionnaire takes about 10 minutes. All answers are anonymous and confidential. After the completion of the research, we will send you the research results as a token of our appreciation for your contribution.

If you agree to participate, please click on the link below in order to access the online questionnaire:

[Qualtrics link for survey's first wave]

Please note that you may find more information on this research project at the attached file (Research_Info.doc).

In case you think that someone in a similar top executive position (as you would) be interested in answering the research survey, I would be grateful if you could forward them the research information or if you could forward me their contact information, so that I can inform them on this research project. The only restriction is that the company this person leads is a private (not a public sector) company.

I am at your disposal for any further clarifications.

Thank you in advance for your time.

Yours sincerely,

Maria Skordia

Doctoral Researcher, University of Sheffield, UK

2.1 Follow-up email communication about first wave

Dear Dr./Mr./Mrs. _____,

This is a kind reminder following our communication about two weeks ago concerning your potential participation to the research project titled "Leaders' mindsets and strategic management during the COVId-19 pandemic".

The research aims to understand how business leaders in Greece perceive the business environment during the pandemic, as well as how their way of thinking influences strategy. It is aimed at top executives who are responsible for making strategic decisions. The research is conducted online and completing the research questionnaire takes about 10 minutes. All answers are anonymous and confidential. After the completion of the research, we will send you the research results as a token of our appreciation for your contribution.

If you agree to participate, please click on the link below in order to access the online questionnaire:

[Qualtrics link for survey's first wave]

Please note that you may find more information on this research project at the attached file (Research_Info.doc).

In case you think that someone in a similar top executive position (as you would) be interested in answering the research survey, I would be grateful if you could forward them the research information or if you could forward me their contact information, so that I can inform them on this research project. The only restriction is that the company this person leads is a private (not a public sector) company.

I am at your disposal for any further clarifications.

Thank you in advance for your time.

Yours sincerely,

Maria Skordia

Doctoral Researcher, University of Sheffield, UK

371

3. Emails Sent for Participation to the Survey's Second Wave

3.1 Initial email communication about second wave

Dear Dr./Mrs._____,

We hope this message finds you well.

You are receiving this email because, a few months ago, you filled in a survey questionnaire for the research project titled "Leaders' mindsets and strategic management during the COVId-19 pandemic".

In order for the research to be completed and for the results to be sent to you as a token for our appreciation of your contribution, we are running a second wave of data collection and are kindly asking you to answer only one additional question regarding the performance of your company at the moment, compared to your competitors. The question you need to answer is the following:

Please consider how your company has performed compared to your main competitors in the last six months, choosing between 1 = Much worse than competitors, 2 = Worse than competitors, 3 = Somehow worse than competitors, 4 = The same as competitors, 5 = Somehow better than competitors, 6 = Better than competitors, and 7 = Much better than competitors.

- 1. Sales volume _____
- 2. Sales volume growth _____
- 3. Market share _____

- 4. Market share growth _____
- 5. Net profit _____
- 6. Profit margin _____
- 7. Return on equity _____

In order to answer to this question, please click on the following link and fill in the corresponding number (1 to 7) next to each performance indicator:

[Second wave link]

The survey results will be sent to you within the next few months. Thank you very much for your valuable contribution to this research.

Yours sincerely,

Maria Skordia

Doctoral Researcher, University of Sheffield, UK

3.2 Follow-up email communication about first wave

Dear Dr./Mrs._____,

We hope this message finds you well.

This is a kind reminder following our communication about two weeks ago concerning your participation to the second wave of data collection for the research project titled "Leaders' mindsets and strategic management during the COVId-19 pandemic".

You are receiving this email because, a few months ago, you filled in a survey questionnaire for the research project titled "Leaders' mindsets and strategic management during the COVId-19 pandemic".

In order for the research to be completed and for the results to be sent to you as a token for our appreciation of your contribution, we are running a second wave of data collection and are kindly asking you to answer only one question regarding the performance of your company at the moment compared to your competitors. The question you need to answer is the following:

Please consider how your company has performed compared to your main competitors in the last six months, choosing between 1 = Much worse than competitors, 2 = Worse than competitors, 3 = Somehow worse than competitors, 4 = The same as competitors, 5 = Somehow better than competitors, 6 = Better than competitors, and 7 = Much better than competitors.

- 1. Sales volume _____
- 2. Sales volume growth _____
- 3. Market share _____
- 4. Market share growth _____
- 5. Net profit _____
- 6. Profit margin _____
- 7. Return on equity _____

In order to answer to this question, please click on the following link and fill in the corresponding number (1 to 7) next to each performance indicator:

[Second wave link]

The survey results will be sent to you within the next few months. Thank you very much for your valuable contribution to this research.

Yours sincerely,

Maria Skordia

Doctoral Researcher, University of Sheffield, UK

4. Participant Information Sheet

As already mentioned, participants were sent the Information Sheet as an attachment to the email that invited them to participate in the research, and the content of the Participant Information Sheet was also the landing page of the link leading to the survey. The Sheet's content was the following:

Thank you for reading this text. You are invited to take part in a study, which will be part of a wider research project. Before deciding whether you want to participate, it is important that you understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part.

1. What is the project's purpose?

This project seeks to understand the individual behaviors and perceptions of organizational leaders that influence strategic decisions.

2. Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen to take part in this study because you are an organizational leader of a manufacturing company in Greece. Your experience and expertise are highly appreciated.

3. Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide whether or not to take part. If you do decide to take part you will need to give your consent at the bottom of this page. However, you can withdraw at any time and you do not have to give a reason.

4. What will happen to me if I take part? What do I have to do?

If you decide to take part, you will be asked to fill in an online questionnaire. This will require approximately 15 minutes of your time.

5. Will I be recorded, and how will the recorded media be used?

Your answers to the questionnaire will be recorded to the survey data files. Survey data will be analyzed by the Doctoral researcher, who will retain anonymity and confidentiality for all participants. All aspects of the Data Protection Act (1998) will be followed. No-one outside the project will be allowed access to the data.

6. What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

There are no disadvantages or risks for you of participating in this research project.

7. What are the possible benefits of taking part?

In case you are interested in research findings, they will be shared with you once the project is completed. Also, with your participation, you will also be contributing to the creation of new knowledge.

8. Will my taking part in this project be kept confidential?

376

All the information that we collect about you during the course of the research will be kept strictly confidential and will only be accessible to the researcher. You will not be identifiable in any reports or publications.

9. What is the legal basis for processing my personal data?

According to data protection legislation, we are required to inform you that the legal basis we are applying in order to process your personal data is that 'processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest' (Article 6(1)(e)). Further information can be found in the University's Privacy Notice <u>https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/govern/data-protection/privacy/general</u>.

10. What will happen to the data collected, and the results of the research project?The data will only be used by the researcher. Any personal data will be anonymised (removed).Results of the research will be publicly shared in research publications, academic conferences, etc. Data collected will be securely stored for 10 years after the survey completion, and will afterwards be destroyed.

11. Who is the Data Controller?

The University of Sheffield will act as the Data Controller for this study, and is responsible for looking after your information and using it properly.

5. Participant Consent Form

The next page, after clicking the Next button at the bottom of the Participant Information Sheet page, was the Participant Consent Form, which included the following text:

Before answering questions in this survey, we would like to ensure you have fully understood the research purpose and agree to participate in this research. I (the participant) have read the project information provided or the project has been fully explained to me. I agree to participate in this activity, realizing that I may withdraw at any time without reason and there will be no adverse consequences if I choose to withdraw.

I have been given the opportunity to ask questions about the project.

I understand that taking part in the project will include filling in an online questionnaire.

I understand that all answers in the survey are treated as strictly confidential and will not be released by the investigator in any form that may identify me.

I have been advised as to what data is being collected, the purpose for collecting the data, and what will be done with the data upon completion of the research.

I understand my personal details (name, phone number, email address, etc.) will not be revealed to people outside the project and will be deleted after the project is completed.

I understand and agree that other authorized researchers will have access to this data only if they agree to preserve the confidentiality of the information as requested in this form.

I give permission for the anonymized and confidential data set that is created from my survey answers to be stored at the researcher's personal computer, so it can be used for future research and learning. I agree that research data gathered for the study may be published provided any identifying information is not used.

For further information about this project, the lead researcher Maria Skordia (mskordia1@sheffield.ac.uk) should be contacted.

You are under no obligation to participate. Completion and return of the questionnaire by you implies consent.

Please select one:

Yes, I agree to participate

No, I do not want to participate

After clicking Yes, participants read the following message: We would like to thank you for taking part in this research project, which aims to examine how companies are coping with the current challenges of the business environment in Greece.

We are interested in strategic decisions and actions, as well as your personal perspective that may affect strategic decisions. Your experience and input are highly appreciated.

We appreciate you giving your time to answer this very important survey. We are interested in your opinion and your responses are confidential.

The questionnaire will take you about 15 minutes to complete. Please feel free to contact us (mskordia1@sheffield.ac.uk) for any clarifications.

6. Measures of Ambidexterity Considered

Organizational ambidexterity (Gibson & Birkinshaw, 2004)

<u>Alignment</u>: Please indicate the degree to which you agree with the following (0 = no agreement) to 1 = complete agreement):

1. The management systems in this organization work coherently to support the overall objectives of this organization.

2. The management systems in this organization cause us to waste resources on unproductive activities. (R)

3. People in this organization often end up working at cross-purposes because our management systems give them conflicting objectives. (R)

<u>Adaptability</u>: Pleas indicate the degree to which you agree with the following (0 = no agreement) to 1 = complete agreement):

1. The management systems in this organization encourage people to challenge outmoded traditions/practices/sacred cows.

2. The management systems in this organization are flexible enough to allow us to respond quickly to changes in our markets.

3. The management systems in this organization evolve rapidly in response to shifts in our business priorities.

Explorative and exploitative innovation strategy (He & Wong, 2004)

Objectives for undertaking innovation projects in the last 3 years (1 = not important to 5 = very important)

Explorative innovation strategy

Introduce new generation of products

380

Extend product range Open up new markets Enter new technology fields <u>Exploitative innovation strategy</u> Improve existing product quality Improve production flexibility Reduce production cost Improve yield or reduce material consumption

Organizational ambidexterity (Auh & Menguc, 2005)

We asked respondents to indicate the extent to which their firms use the given learning methods

on a five-point Likert scale (1 - much less than competitors; 5 - much more than competitors).

Exploitation

- 1. Modernization and automation of production processes
- 2. Efforts to achieve economies of scale
- 3. Capacity utilization

Exploration

- 1. Research and development expenditures for product development
- 2. Research and development expenditures for process innovation
- 3. Rate of product innovations
- 4. Innovations in marketing techniques

Organizational ambidexterity (Lubatkin et al., 2006)

In the following questions, please select the one that is closer to your company's strategy during

the past 3 years, ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree.

Exploratory orientation:

During the past 3 years, the firm:

- (a) looks for novel technological ideas by thinking "outside the box,"
- (b) bases its success on its ability to explore new technologies,
- (c) creates products or services that are innovative to the firm,
- (d) looks for creative ways to satisfy its customers' needs,
- (e) aggressively ventures into new market segments, and
- (f) actively targets new customer groups.

Exploitative orientation:

During the past 3 years, the firm:

- (a) commits to improve quality and lower cost,
- (b) continuously improves the reliability of its products and services,
- (c) increases the levels of automation in its operations,
- (d) constantly surveys existing customers' satisfaction,
- (e) fine-tunes what it offers to keep its current customers satisfied, and
- (f) penetrates more deeply into its existing customer base.

Organizational ambidexterity (Mom et al., 2007)

Managers' exploration activities

To what extent did you, last year, engage in work related activities that can be characterized as

follows (1 = to a very small extent to 7 = to a very large extent):

- 1. Searching for new possibilities with respect to products/services, processes or markets
- 2. Evaluating diverse options with respect to products/services, processes or markets
- 3. Focusing on strong renewal of products/services or processes
- 4. Activities requiring quite some adaptability of you

5. Activities requiring you to learn new skills or knowledge

Managers' exploitation activities

To what extent did you, last year, engage in work related activities that can be characterized as

follows (1 = to a very small extent to 7 = to a very large extent):

- 1. Activities of which a lot of experience has been accumulated by yourself
- 2. Activities which serve existing (internal) customers with existing services/products
- 3. Activities of which it is clear to you how to conduct them
- 4. Activities primarily focused on achieving short-term goals
- 5. Activities which you can properly conduct by using your present knowledge
- 6. Activities which clearly fit into existing company policy

Dimensions of organizational ambidexterity (Jansen et al., 2009)

1 = strongly disagree and 7 = strongly agree

Exploratory innovation

Our organization accepts demands that go beyond existing products and services

We invent new products and services

We experiment with new products and services in our local market

We commercialize products and services that are completely new to our organization

We frequently utilize new opportunities in new markets

Our organization regularly uses new distribution channels

We regularly search for and approach new clients in new marketsb

Exploitative innovation

We frequently refine the provision of existing products and services

We regularly implement small adaptations to existing products and services

We introduce improved, but existing products and services for our local market

We improve our provision's efficiency of products and services We increase economies of scales in existing markets Our organization expands services for existing clients Lowering costs of internal processes is an important objective

Organizational ambidexterity (Cao et al., 2010)

Please indicate, on a 1–7 scale, the importance of the following objectives regarding product development to your company over the last three years (or since founding if your firm is less than three years old):

- (1 = not at all important, 4 = moderately important, 7 = highly important)
- Introduce new generation of products
- Extend product range
- Open up new markets
- Enter new technology fields
- Improve existing product quality
- Improve production flexibility
- Reduce production cost
- Enhance existing markets

Org. Ambidexterity, leadership characteristics, structure (Chang & Hughes, 2012)

A: Leadership - (1) adaptability and (2) risk-taking tolerance

A01 We repeatedly tell employees that this firm's survival depends on its adapting to market trends

A02 We often tell employees to be sensitive to the activities of our competitors

A03 We keep telling people around here that they must gear up now to meet customers' future needs

A05 We like to take financial risks

A06 We encourage the development of innovative marketing strategies, knowing well that some will fail.

E: Innovation Ambidexterity - (1) Exploitative Innovation and (2) Explorative Innovation

E01 We improve our provision's efficiency of products and services.

E02 We increase economies of scales in existing markets

E03 Our company expands services for existing clients.

E04 Lowering costs of internal processes is an important objective.

E05 New-to-market products or services

E06 Transformation of new-to-market ideas into product lines

E07 New-to-product innovations first started in our firm

E08 Introduction of new generations of products

E09 New-to-market product innovations in Research and Development.

E10 Addition of new elements in current product range

E11 Opening up new markets for current products or services

E12 Improvement of our distribution channels in our current market

Organizational ambidexterity (Patel et al., 2013)

Exploration (1 = "strongly disagree", 5 = "strongly agree") Looks for novel technological idea by thinking "outside the box" Bases its success on its ability to explore new technologies Creates products or services that are innovative to the firm Looks for creative ways to satisfy its customers' needs Aggressively ventures into new market segments Actively targets new customers groups
<u>Exploitation</u> (1, "strongly disagree," to 5, "strongly agree")
Commits to improve quality and lower cost
Continuously improves the reliability of its products and services
Increases the levels of automation in its operations
Constantly surveys existing customers' satisfaction
Fine-tunes what it offers to keep its current customers satisfied
Penetrates more deeply into its existing customer base

7. Measures of Strategic Decision Speed Considered: Scales in Quantitative or Mixed

Methods Studies

Strategic decision-making speed (Baum & Wally, 2003)

<u>Three strategic decision scenarios ([R] indicates reverse scoring)</u>

Strategic decisions are important decisions that involve commitment of significant resources and that impact long-term profitability and growth. Please read the three strategic decision scenarios and answer the questions that follow:

<u>#1. Acquisition decision</u>

Assume that your company is one of four important competitors in your market. You believe that the Mills company has 10% of the market, you have 30% and the third and fourth companies also have 30% each. The Mills company has grown rapidly because their product has a feature that is technologically superior. The Mills company typically charges 10% more than your company charges for similar products. Of the remaining competitors, your quality is best and your price is highest. Your sales have been stagnant. Apparently, the Mills product advantage is not protected legally, but your efforts to duplicate the product have been unsuccessful.

You have just learned that the CEO of the Mills company has been authorized to talk to you to propose that your company acquire the Mills company for an amount that is 40% of your company's net worth.

Assume: (1) that your company does not have a policy that prevents growth through acquisition, (2) that you have not collected detailed information about the Mills company, and (3) that the CEO of the Mills company is a cooperative negotiator who has a normal level of self-interest.

Circle the approximate # of days it would take your organization to decide whether or not to invest significant time in pursuit of a merger with the Mills Company:

2 5 10 20 30 60 90 120 150 180 more [R]

#2. New product introduction decision

Assume that your company has just discovered a new way to enhance the value of one of your products. Unfortunately, there is little available information about the likelihood of its acceptance in the market place. None of your competitors has a similar product. There is a rumor that the Jones company has uncovered a similar enhancement,

but they may not be big enough to bring it to market quickly. If you proceed with a full commitment to develop and introduce this new product, you will probably invest an amount equal to 20% of your annual sales. Assume that you have sufficient research, prototype, and production resources to proceed with the new product introduction.

Circle the approximate # of days it would take you/your organization to decide whether or not to proceed with a commitment to develop and introduce this new product:

2 5 10 20 30 60 90 120 150 180 more [R]

#3. Technology adoption decision

Enterprise resource planning software (ERP) is designed to enhance the efficiency, effectiveness, and coordination of production, purchasing, shipping, inventory control, and cost accounting. Assume that a new version of ERP has just been released and you think it may help you manage your business; however, you know that it will affect every department and every employee. Business-as-usual will be interrupted. In fact, you

have a peer who said that he would never go through it again because implementation required the interaction and retraining of almost every employee. You have discovered that the investment amounts to 1/3 of your expected profits for 2002, not counting the internal expenses of the interruption. The ERP vendor said they had talked to one of your competitors.

Circle the approximate # of days it would take you/your organization to decide whether or not to proceed with a full commitment to new ERP software:

2 5 10 20 30 60 90 120 150 180 more [R]

Strategic decision speed (Souitaris & Maestro, 2010)

We prefer and tend to take our time when making strategic decisions.

We generally believe in making quick strategic decisions.

Please tick the extent (1 being 'not at all' to 5 being 'to a great extent') on which your company places on: speed when planning or thinking about strategies.

Decision Speed (Chen & Chang, 2012)

In making decisions, our firm's speed is very fast.

Our firm is able to integrate ideas and make decisions speedily.

In the implementation of decision-making, our speed is very fast.

Our firm launches new products faster than competitors.

Our firm incorporates new technologies into products faster than competitors

TMT Decision Speed (Clark & Maggitti, 2012)

1. This TMT routinely makes important decisions in under three months.

2. Relative to rivals, it take this TMT too long to make important decisions (reverse coded).

3. Given our competitive environment, this TMT moves quickly to make key strategic decisions.

Strategic decision speed (Mwangi, 2012)

We generally believe in making quick strategic decisions Our firm is able to integrate ideas and make decisions speedily Our firm launches new products faster than competitors We prefer and tend to take our time when making strategic decisions In the implementation of decision-making, our speed is very fast The firm incorporates new technologies into products faster than competitors

8. Organizational Performance Scales Considered

Performance (Spanos & Lioukas, 2001)

For the following questions, please select how your firm is performing compared with your main competitors in the past six months, from 1 = Much worse than competitors to 7 = Much better than competitors.

(1 = Much worse than competitors, 7 = Much better than competitors)

1. Sales volume

- 2. Growth in sales volume
- 3. Market share
- 4. Growth in market share
- 5. Net profits
- 6. Profit margin
- 7. Return on own capital

Business unit performance (Gibson & Birkinshaw, 2004)

Please reflect on performance over the last five years and indicate the degree to which you

agreed with the following: (1 = Strongly disagree, 7 = Strongly agree)

- 1. This business unit is achieving its full potential
- 2. People at my level are satisfied with the level of business unit performance
- 3. This business unit does a good job of satisfying our customers
- 4. This business unit gives me the opportunity and encouragement to do the best work I am capable of

Organizational performance (Chang & Hughes, 2012)

- 1. Our company is achieving its full potential
- 2. People at all levels are satisfied with the level of business performance
- 3. Our company does a good job of satisfying our customers
- 4. This company gives me the opportunity and encouragement to do the best work I am capable of

Financial performance (Kafetzopoulos, 2021)

Please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements, based on how well you reflected the actual situation at your work site. (1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree). Profitability is increased Gross margin has improved Profit levels have improved Productivity has improved Return on investment has improved

9. Measures of Paradoxical Thinking Considered

Ingram et al. (2016) Paradoxical Thinking Construct

(1 = Strongly disagree/Does not make sense, 5 = Strongly agree/Makes perfect sense)

1. It is possible to maintain and develop our core competencies, while simultaneously creating new innovations.

2. It is possible to embrace the traditions that made this firm successful, while simultaneously changing to meet the demands of our current market.

3. It is possible to emphasize efficiency and standardization of work processes, while simultaneously looking for new ways to do things and finding new opportunities.

Paradoxical Leader Behavior in People Management Scale (Zhang et al., 2015)

(1=strongly disagree to 6=strongly agree)

1. Treating subordinates uniformly while allowing individualization (UI)

(a) Uses a fair approach to treat all subordinates uniformly, but also treats them as individuals.

(b) Puts all subordinates on an equal footing, but considers their individual traits or personalities.

(c) Communicates with subordinates uniformly without discrimination, but varies his or her communication styles depending on their individual characteristics or needs.

(d) Manages subordinates uniformly, but considers their individualized needs.

(e) Assigns equal workloads, but considers individual strengths and capabilities to handle different tasks.

2. Combining self-centeredness with other-centeredness (SO)

(a) Shows a desire to lead, but allows others to share the leadership role.

(b) Likes to be the center of attention, but allows others to share the spotlight as well.

(c) Insists on getting respect, but also shows respect toward others.

(d) Has a high self-opinion, but shows awareness of personal imperfection and the value of other people.

(e) Is confident regarding personal ideas and beliefs, but acknowledges that he or she can learn from others.

3. Maintaining decision control while allowing autonomy (CA)

(a) Controls important work issues, but allows subordinates to handle details.

(b) Makes final decisions for subordinates, but allows subordinates to control specific work processes.

(c) Makes decisions about big issues, but delegates lesser issues to subordinates.

(d) Maintains overall control, but gives subordinates appropriate autonomy.

4. Enforcing work requirements while allowing flexibility (RF)

(a) Stresses conformity in task performance, but allows for exceptions.

(b) Clarifies work requirements, but does not micromanage work.

(c) Is highly demanding regarding work performance, but is not hypercritical.

(d) Has high requirements, but allows subordinates to make mistakes.

5. Maintaining both distance and closeness (DC)

(a) Recognizes the distinction between supervisors and subordinates, but does not act superior in the leadership role.

(b) Keeps distance from subordinates, but does not remain aloof.

(c) Maintains position differences, but upholds subordinates' dignity.

(d) Maintains distance from subordinates at work, but is also amiable toward them.

Paradoxical Leader Behavior in Long-term Corporate Development Scale (Zhang & Han, 2019)

(1=strongly disagree to 6=strongly agree)

1. Maintaining short-term efficiency and long-term development (S_L)

(1) Ensures the business's current efficiency while considering the need for future business development

(2) Emphasizes both short-term business profitability and long-term continuity

(3) Increases the effectiveness of current business models, but also introduces new models with future prospects

(4) Ensures current profits of existing businesses, but also insists on exploring new businesses with potential long-term gains

(5) Exploits current mature businesses, but also explores businesses with future growth potential

2. Conforming to and shaping collective forces in the environment (C_S)

(1) Abides by government policies, but also influences policy-making directions

(2) Maintains market rules, but also pushes to create new rules

(3) Respects industry rules, but also proactively promotes change and innovation in industry rules

(4) Follows market forces, but also creates market forces

393

(5) Conforms to collective forces in the environment, but also is good at changing those forces<u>3. Maintaining stability and flexibility (S_F)</u>

(1) Emphasizes standardizing internal organizing, but also emphasizes flexibility of the organizational system

(2) Focuses on routinizing internal organizational management, but also dares to keep adjusting and optimizing it

(3) Formalizes internal organizing methods, but also enables flexible transition among the methods

(4) Emphasizes prudent organizational decision-making process, but also emphasizes adapting to changes quickly

(5) Stabilizes organizational structure, but also adjusts or rebuilds it based on firm development

4. Focus on shareholders and the stakeholder community (S_S)

(1) Emphasizes resource competitiveness between shareholders and stakeholders (upstream, downstream, competitors, employees, government, and so on), but also emphasizes harmonious coexistence in the stakeholder community

(2) Regards the firm as an independent unit, but also as one part of the stakeholder community

(3) Takes a shareholder perspective, but also takes a stakeholder community perspective

(4) Manifests the opposite nature of shareholder interests and stakeholder interests, but also seeks alignment among them

(5) Seeks the firm's unique value, but also attends to its value increment to the stakeholder community

10. Measures of Environmental Impact Considered

Environmental Dynamism (Protogerou et al., 2012)

(1 = Strongly Disagree, 7 = Strongly Agree)

- 1. Products become outdated in this market very quickly.
- 2. The rate of change in technology is very high.
- 3. The intensity of innovation-based competition is very high.

Environmental dynamism (Jansen et al., 2006)

- (1 = Strongly Disagree, 7 = Strongly Agree)
- 1. Environmental changes in our local market are intense.
- 2. Our clients regularly ask for new products and services.
- 3. In our local market, changes are taking place continuously.
- 4. In a year, nothing has changed in our market. (R)
- 5. In our market, the volumes of products and services to be delivered change fast and often.

Environmental turbulence (Volberda & Van Bruggen, 1997)

(1 = Strongly Disagree, 7 = Strongly Agree)

Dynamism: Intensity

- 1. Changes in our market are very intense.
- 2. Our customers regularly ask for complete new products/services.
- 3. Our market can be characterized by more of the same. (R)

Dynamism: Frequency

- 4. In our market, changes are taking place continuously.
- 5. Within a year, nothing will have changed in our market. (R)
- 6. Our supply of products/services changes continuously.
- 7. In our market, the volumes of products/services to be delivered change fast and often.

Complexity: Number of elements

- 8. In making decisions in our market, a lot of variables should be taken into consideration.
- 9. In our market, developments are taking place which stem from all kinds of directions.

Complexity: Relatedness of elements

- 10. In our market, everything is related to everything.
- 11. A decision in our market, influences a large number of factors.

Predictability: Availability of information

12. Nothing of what happens in our market will stay a secret for us.

13. Information we need about our market, we will always get.

14. It is hard in this market to base decisions on reliable information. (R)

15. We have sufficient insight and information about who are customers are.

16. Information about our market exists, but is not available. (R)

Predictability: Predictability of changes

17. There is a clear trend in the changes in our market.

18. Although a lot changes in our market, it will always be possible to discover a pattern in these changes.

19. The entrance and exit of competitors is foreseeable.

Perceived Environmental Uncertainty (Waldman et al., 2001)

(1 = Strongly Disagree, 5 = Strongly Agree)

How would you characterize the external environment within which your corporation functions? In rating your environment, where relevant, please consider not only the economic but also the social, political, and technological aspects of the environment.

1. Very dynamic, changing rapidly in technical, economic, and cultural dimensions.

2. Very risky, one false step can mean the firm's undoing.

3. Very rapidly expanding through the expansion of old markets and the emergence of new ones.

4. Very stressful, exhausting, hostile, hard to keep afloat.

Market Turbulence (Jaworski & Kohli, 1993)

(1 = Strongly disagree, 5 = Strongly agree)

1. In our kind of business, customers' product preferences change quite a bit over time.

2. Our customers tend to look for new product all the time.

3. Sometimes our customers are very price-sensitive, but on other occasions, price is relatively unimportant.*

4. We are witnessing demand for our products and services from customers who never bought them before.

5. New customers tend to have product-related needs that are different from those of our existing customers.

6. We cater to many of the same customers that we used to in the past

Market turbulence (Wilden & Gudergan, 2015)

(1 = Strongly disagree, 7 = Strongly agree)

1. In our kind of business, customers' product preferences change quite a bit over time.

2. We are witnessing demand for our products and services from customers who have never

bought them before.

- 2. We cater to many of the same customers that we used to in the past.
- 4. It is very difficult to predict any changes in this marketplace.

11. Social Desirability Scales Considered

Balanced Inventory of Desirable Responding Scale (Paulhus, 1998)

Using the scale below as a guide, write a number beside each statement to indicate how much

you agree with it: 1 = Not true, 4 = Somewhat true, 7 = Very true.

- 1. My first impressions of people usually turn out to be right.
- 2. It would be hard for me to break any of my bad habits.
- 3. I don't care to know what other people really think of me.
- 4. I have not always been honest with myself.
- 5. I always know why I like things.
- 6. When my emotions are aroused, it biases my thinking.
- 7. Once I've made up my mind other people can seldom change my opinion.
- 8. I am not a safe driver when I exceed the speed limit.
- 9. I am fully in control of my own fate.
- 10. It's hard for me to shut off a disturbing thought.

- 11. I never regret my decisions.
- 12. I sometimes lose out on things because I can't make up my mind soon enough.
- 13. The reason I vote is because my vote can make a difference.
- 14. My parents were not always fair when they punished me.
- 15. I am a completely rational person.
- 16. I rarely appreciate criticism.
- 17. I am very confident of my judgments.
- 18. I have sometimes doubted my ability as a lover.
- 19. It's all right with me if some people happen to dislike me.
- 20. I don't always know the reasons why I do the things I do.
- 21. I sometimes tell lies if I have to.
- 22. I never cover up my mistakes.
- 23. There have been occasions when I have taken advantage of someone.
- 24. I never swear.
- 25. I sometimes try to get even rather than forgive and forget.
- 26. I always obey laws, even if I'm unlikely to get caught.
- 27. I have said something bad about a friend behind his or her back.
- 28. When I hear people talking privately, I avoid listening.
- 29. I have received too much change from a salesperson without telling him or her.
- 30. I always declare everything at customs.
- 31. When I was young I sometimes stole things.
- 32. I have never dropped litter on the street.
- 33. I sometimes drive faster than the speed limit.

Crowne & Marlowe Social Desirability Scale (Crowne & Marlowe, 1960)

Listed below are a number of statements concerning personal attitudes and traits. Read each item and decide whether the statement is true or false as it pertains to you.

1. Before voting I thoroughly investigate the qualifications of all the candidates.

2. I never hesitate to go out of my way to help someone in trouble.

3. It is sometimes hard for me to go on with my work if I am not encouraged.

4. I have never intensely disliked anyone.

5. On occasion I have doubts about my ability to succeed in life.

6. I sometimes feel resentful when I don't get my own way.

7. I am always careful about my manner of dress.

8. My table manners at home are as good as when I eat out in a restaurant.

9. If I could get into a movie without paying and be sure I was not seen, I would probably do

it.

10. On a few occasions, I have given up doing something because I thought too little of my ability.

11. I like to gossip at times.

12. There have been times when I felt like rebelling against people in authority even though I knew they were right.

13. No matter who I am talking to, I am always a good listener.

14. I can remember "playing sick" to get out of something.

15. There have been occasions when I took advantage of someone.

16. I'm always willing to admit it when I make a mistake.

17. I always try to practice what I preach.

18. I don't find it particularly difficult to get along with loud-mouthed, obnoxious people.

19. I sometimes try to get even, rather than forgive and forget.

20. When I don't know something I don't at all mind admitting it.

21. I am always courteous, even to people who are disagreeable.

22. At times I have really insisted on having things my own way.

23 There have been occasions when I felt like smashing things.

24. I would never think of letting someone else be punished for my own wrongdoings.

25. I never resent being asked to return a favour.

26. I have never been irked when people expressed ideas very different from my own.

27. I never make a long trip without checking the safety of my car.

28. There have been times when I was quite jealous of the good fortune of others.

29. I have almost never felt the urge to tell someone off.

30. I am sometimes irritated by people who ask favours of me.

31. I have never felt that I was punished without cause.

32. I sometimes think when people have a misfortune they only got what they deserved.

33. I have never deliberately said something that hurt someone's feelings.

12. Contemporaneous Data

12.1 Opening Remarks Summary of the Governor of the Bank of Greece

According to Dr. Stournaras and the analysis of economic data during the pandemic by the Bank of Greece (https://www.bis.org/review/r220318c.htm), the economy of the country experienced the second highest recession among countries in the Eurozone (–9% in 2020). Consumption and spending was postponed, leading to an increase in private sector deposits. Greek companies responded to the recession with a substantial decrease in investments; in 2020, the investments in Greece were at about 12% of GDP, while the respective average for countries in the Eurozone was 22%. This indicates that Greek companies mainly froze exploration activities in 2020 because of the pandemic. Investment in the country started to recover in 2021, with an important increase by the third quarter of 2021, thanks to the gradual reopening of the

economy in the summer of 2021 and financial aid provided by the Greek State and the European Union. Hence, concerning the time period examined in this study, according to the Bank of Greece, Greek companies were very hesitant to invest; therefore, it was difficult for them to be ambidextrous, since they were not engaged in exploration.

12.2 PWC Report

The PWC Greece Report presents the responses of 142 companies listed in the Athens Stock Exchange in the first of 2020 (https://www.pwc.com/gr/en/mediasemester centre/assets/Greece_Covid_Report_ENG.pdf). Although the report focuses on larger companies that are publicly traded and this sample is not representative of companies in Greece, it is important to gain an understanding of how larger companies that have more access to resources, than smaller ones, responded to the crisis. According to the report, at the end of the first semester of 2020 (compared to the first semester of 2019), listed companies reported significant decreases in revenues (-21.4%), operating costs (-19.2%), investments (-11.2%), earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA -37.2%), and earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT -74.1%). On the other hand, they reported an increase in cash of 9%, which was the result of reducing operating costs and restraining investments. Hence, the response of Greek companies to the pandemic in 2020 was mainly focused on exploitation (reducing costs), whereas exploration was paused. As the report states: "In the wake of the pandemic, listed companies were particularly hesitant as not only they did not proceed to new investments, but at the same time they created cash buffers, as a safeguard to the increasing uncertainty." (PWC Report, 2020). However, the report also notes that there were companies that managed to increase their revenues in this time period by being flexible and by taking advantage of the opportunities that the pandemic created. Examples mentioned include companies producing hygiene products, technology companies, office supplies producers and companies in the logistics sector. Therefore, on average, listed companies responded to the pandemic by freezing exploration and focusing on exploitation activities, which led them to inferior performance; but those companies that recognized and seized exploration opportunities, while at the same time being engaged in exploitation as every company was at the time, achieved superior performance. To sum up, the general trend among listed companies was to focus on exploitation and to not explore, whereas there was a subset of listed companies that managed to be ambidextrous, and these companies were superior performance.

12.3 Piraeus Bank Report

The Piraeus Bank Report (https://www.piraeusholdings.gr/en/oikonomiki-analisi-ependitikistratigiki/oikonomiki-analisi-ellinikis-oikonomias-kladikes-meletes/analysis-category/2022/ tracking-greek-corporate-balance) analyzes the balance sheets of 12,236 Greek companies in 2020 and uses the Hellenic Statistical Authority in order to model the impact of the pandemic on those companies. Based on the microsimulations used, 59.6% of firms, i.e. 6 out of 10 companies, in 2020 were estimated to have losses, although companies reduced their costs (in other words, were engaged in exploitation). The cost reductions were not enough to offset the remarkable drop in revenues, which led to a drastic deterioration of performance in 2020 compared to 2019, with 38.1% of companies being underperformers versus 16% in 2019. The inability of Greek companies, in general, to generate revenues indicates that they were not pursuing exploration opportunities that would create new revenues. Similarly to the other two reports, this report as well demonstrates how the responses of Greek companies mainly focused on exploitation, although there were companies that also explored.